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Copies have been served on the parties of record in accordance with the Certificate of 
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January 3, 2022 

 
Via Electronic Filing 
Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA  17120 
 

Re: Petition of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies for a Declaratory Order Regarding the Applicability of the Gas 
and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act 

 Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 I&E Answer in Opposition to Petition 
 

Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 
 
 Enclosed for electronic filing please find the Bureau of Investigation and 
Enforcement’s (“I&E”) Answer in Opposition to the Petition for Declaratory Order of 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies with regard 
to the above-referenced proceeding.  Due to the public safety concerns expressed in 
greater detail herein, I&E respectfully requests that this matter be ruled upon 
expeditiously. 
 

Copies are being served on the parties of record in accordance with the attached  
Certificate of Service. 
 
 Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov 

 
SMW/ac 
Enclosures 
 
cc: Michael L. Swindler, Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via email) 
 Kayla L. Rost, Prosecutor (via email) 
 As per Certificate of Service 
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BEFORE THE  
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
 

Petition of Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. d/b/a 
Westover Companies for a Declaratory 
Order Regarding the Applicability of the 
Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act  

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 

Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 

 
 
 

ANSWER OF THE BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION AND ENFORCEMENT  
IN OPPOSITION TO THE PETITION FOR DECLARATORY ORDER OF 

WESTOVER PROPERTY MANAGEMENT COMPANY, L.P.  
d/b/a WESTOVER COMPANIES 

 
Pursuant to Section 5.61(a) of the Commission’s regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 

5.61(a), the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) of the Pennsylvania Public 

Utility Commission (“Commission”), by and through its prosecuting attorneys, files this 

Answer in Opposition to the Petition for Declaratory Order (“Petition”) of the Westover 

Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover” or 

“Company”) and requests that the Commission deny the Company’s Petition, deem 

Westover to be a pipeline operator subject to the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines 

Act, 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq. (“Act 127”), and direct Westover to immediately comply 

with all applicable laws and regulations related to pipeline safety.   

Currently, Westover does not follow the requisite Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations in its operation of jurisdictional master meter systems at numerous apartment 

complexes in central and eastern Pennsylvania.  An immediate threat to public safety 

exists with each and every day that Westover fails to submit to the Commission’s 

jurisdiction and implement the pertinent pipeline safety rules.  Accordingly, I&E 

respectfully requests an expedited ruling from the Commission. 
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On January 3, 2022, I&E separately and concurrently filed a Formal Complaint 

against Westover alleging violations of Act 127 and Part 192 of the Federal pipeline 

safety regulations, 49 CFR §§ 192.1-192.1015.  Pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 1.33, I&E 

hereby incorporates by reference its Formal Complaint dated January 3, 2022.  

In support of its Answer, I&E avers as follows: 

I. BACKGROUND 

On May 22 and 23, 2018, inspectors from the I&E Safety Division1 visited a 

property owned and managed by Westover in response to a natural gas leak and service 

outage reported by PECO Gas.  PECO Gas reported that the outage impacted a master 

meter system at Westover’s Jamestown Village Apartments located at 2501 Maryland 

Road, Willow Grove, PA 19090.  After ensuring that the leak was properly repaired and 

service restored, the I&E Safety Division shifted the focus of its investigation to examine 

whether the pipeline facilities at the Jamestown Village Apartments constitute a “master 

meter system” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 and thus subject to Commission oversight 

through Act 127.   

The May 2018 leak and service outage alerted the I&E Safety Division to 

Westover’s master meter systems.  Prior to that time, the I&E Safety Division was 

unaware of Westover’s pipeline facilities as Westover had not registered as an Act 127 

pipeline operator. 

 
1  The Safety Division serves as an agent of the Federal Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 

(“PHMSA”) and enforces compliance with Pennsylvania laws and regulations as well as Federal pipeline safety 
laws and regulations governing the transportation of natural gas. 
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The I&E Safety Division began investigating Westover, which led to an inspection 

of Westover’s facilities and records on December 2, 2020.  During the inspection, 

inspectors from the Safety Division discussed with representatives from Westover the 

requirements that are necessary for Westover to comply with Act 127 and the Federal 

pipeline safety regulations in its operation of master meter systems at the apartment 

complexes that it owns and manages. 

On December 17, December 24, and December 31, 2020 as well as on January 11, 

and January 14, 2021, the Safety Division attempted to schedule a follow-up inspection 

with Westover that would review the manual and procedures that the Safety Division 

asked Westover to develop in order to become compliant.  Westover did not respond to 

any of the Safety Division’s attempts to communicate. 

By letter dated February 3, 2021, the Safety Division issued a non-compliance 

letter, NC-77-20, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.13 and 192.605 

for failing to have a manual as required in Part 192 of the Federal pipeline safety 

regulations and a procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance and Emergencies 

(“O&M Manual”).  The Safety Division requested that Westover respond to NC-77-20 in 

writing on or before March 17, 2021, with a response that demonstrates that it developed 

and implemented an O&M Manual, and a process to document and track all records 

required by the pertinent manuals and procedures.  NC-77-20 is appended to Westover’s 

Petition as Appendix 2.  Westover failed to respond to NC-77-20. 

By letter dated March 30, 2021, the Safety Division issued a second non-

compliance letter, NC-08-21, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR § 190.203(a) 
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(permitting agents of PHMSA to enter and inspect the records and properties of persons 

to determine the compliance of such persons with Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations).  The Safety Division requested that Westover respond in writing on or 

before April 29, 2021, with a response that schedules the Safety Division’s follow-up 

inspection of Westover’s facilities and records and replies to NC-77-20.  In NC-08-21, 

the Safety Division warned that continued failure to respond would result in I&E taking 

legal action against Westover, including seeking the imposition of civil penalties.  NC-

08-21 is appended to Westover’s Petition as Appendix 2.  Westover failed to respond to 

NC-08-21. 

The Safety Division referred the matter to I&E Enforcement.  Prior to initiating a 

formal complaint proceeding, I&E provided Westover with yet another opportunity to 

comply with Act 127 and the federal pipeline safety laws and regulations in its issuance 

of a warning letter dated June 2, 2021.  I&E’s warning letter is attached hereto as 

Attachment A. 

Subsequent to the issuance of the warning letter, Westover began taking steps to 

implement I&E’s suggested actions, which were designed to guide the Company into 

compliance with the applicable laws and regulations concerning the safety of its master 

meter systems without engaging in litigation.  On August 6, 2021, Westover filed an Act 

127 registration form, and on September 17, 2021, filed an amended Act 127 registration 

form that included several of its apartment complexes.2  However, Westover’s 

 
2  See Docket No. A-2021-3028141.   
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compliance efforts abruptly ceased in early November 2021, when I&E received a 

communication from the Company’s outside counsel challenging the applicability of 

federal pipeline safety laws and regulations on intrastate pipelines.3 

Though it was under no obligation to do so, I&E explained the jurisdictional 

framework for pipeline safety regulation of intrastate master meter systems in its letter 

dated November 22, 2021.4  Rejecting I&E’s legal explanation, Westover filed the instant 

Petition on December 13, 2021, requesting that the Commission declare that Westover is 

not subject to Act 127 and that Westover’s registration with the Commission as an Act 

127 pipeline operator be deemed null and void. 

As stated in greater detail herein, Westover’s position is legally erroneous and 

must be swiftly rejected as it contradicts well established law that the intrastate 

distribution of gas, such as through master meter systems, is subject to the Federal 

pipeline safety laws and regulations. 

II.  LEGAL STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO DECLARATORY ORDERS 
 

 Section 331(f) of the Public Utility Code (“Code”) authorizes the Commission to 

“issue a declaratory order to terminate a controversy or remove uncertainty.”5  Under 

Section 331(f), the issuance of a declaratory order is subject to the Commission’s 

discretion.6    

 
3  See Appendix 3 of Westover’s Petition. 
4  See Appendix 4 of Westover’s Petition.   
5  66 Pa.C.S. § 331(f); see also 52 Pa. Code § 5.42(a).   
6  66 Pa.C.S. § 331(f).    
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 Pennsylvania Courts have determined that Commission orders disposing of 

controversy or uncertainty through such petitions are adjudications, and when final, result 

in binding orders like any other Commission order.7  Thus, the Commission may use its 

discretion to grant or deny such petitions to achieve finality on a controversy or 

uncertainty concerning existing rights, status, or legal relations.8  Moreover, the 

Commission has determined that a declaratory order should be issued only when there is 

no outstanding issue of fact.9   

 Westover, as the proponent of a rule or order, has the burden of proof.10  Such a 

showing must be by a preponderance of the evidence.11  Additionally, the Commission’s 

decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record.  More than a mere trace 

of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact ought to be established.12   

 With respect to the instant matter, I&E requests that the Commission utilize its 

discretion to issue a Declaratory Order that conclusively determines Westover to be a 

pipeline operator subject to Act 127.  There are no material facts in dispute, rather, the 

question at issue is a matter of law. 

 
7  Professional Paramedical Services, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 525 A.2d 1274, 1276 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1987).   
8  Pennsylvania Indep. Petroleum Producers v. Dep’t of Envtl. Res., 525 A.2d 829 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1987), aff'd, 550 

A.2d 195 (Pa. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1096 (1989). 
9  Petition of the Pennsylvania State University for Declaratory Order Concerning the Generation Rate Cap of the 

West Penn Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power; Petition of the West Penn Power Company d/b/a Allegheny 
Power for Approval of its Retail Electric Default Service Program and Competitive Procurement Plan for 
Service at the Conclusion of the Restructuring Transition Period for Tariff 37 Providing Service to the 
Pennsylvania State University, Docket Nos. P-2007-2001828 and P-2008-2021608 (Order entered September 
11, 2008).     

10  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).   
11  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990).   
12  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 413 A.2d 1037 (Pa. 1980). 
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The issuance of such a Declaratory Order would send a clear message not only to 

Westover but also to similarly situated pipeline operators that have not yet registered with 

the Commission that master meter systems are, without question, subject to the 

Commission’s safety oversight. 

III.  ANSWER  

As further support to deny this Petition, I&E offers the following responses in 

enumerated fashion: 

Introduction 

1. Admitted upon information and belief.  By way of further response, 

Westover, and not the local natural gas distribution company (“NGDC”), owns and 

maintains the pipeline facilities that transport natural gas from the NGDC to Westover’s 

tenants.  

2. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that I&E sent Westover 

correspondence dated July 28, 2021.  This letter speaks for itself, and any interpretation 

or characterization thereof is denied.  It is also denied that I&E first notified on July 28, 

2021 that it was investigating Westover’s compliance with Act 127. 

3. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that I&E sent Westover 

the correspondence set forth in Appendix 2 of Westover’s Petition.  The letters speak for 

themselves, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied.  It is also 

admitted that Westover filed an Act 127 pipeline operator registration with the 

Commission.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to 

the truth of the remaining averments in this Paragraph and, therefore, they are denied. 
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4. Admitted.  By way of further response, Westover’s November 4, 2021 

letter speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

5. Admitted.  By way of further response, I&E’s November 22, 2021 letter 

speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

6. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law and request for relief to 

which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is 

denied. 

The Parties 

7. Admitted upon information and belief. 

8. Admitted upon information and belief. 

9. Admitted.  

Purported Facts 

10. Admitted upon information and belief.   

11. Admitted upon information and belief.  By way of further response, 

Westover, not the local NGDC, owns and maintains the pipeline facilities that are located 

on its property and which transport natural gas to Westover’s tenants. 

12. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a 

belief as to the truth of the averments in this Paragraph and, therefore, they are denied 

and strict proof thereof is demanded.  

Legal Standard 

13. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  
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14. Admitted upon information and belief. 

Argument 

15. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. 

16. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further response, the November 22, 2021 letter speaks for itself, and any interpretation or 

characterization thereof is denied. 

17. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further answer, it is specifically denied that the Commission lacks authority to regulate 

Westover pursuant to Act 127. 

18. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further answer, it is specifically denied that selective and discriminatory prosecution is 

increased absent regulations implementing Act 127.  It is also denied that binding norms 

do not exist as Act 127 provides such binding norms. 

19. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further response, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization 

thereof is denied. 
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20. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further response, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization 

thereof is denied.  

21. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further response, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization 

thereof is denied. 

22. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that I&E contends that 

Westover is a pipeline operator because it operates master meter systems.  The remainder 

of the averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required.  To the 

extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further response, 49 

CFR § 191.3 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

23. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further response, 49 CFR § 191.3 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or 

characterization thereof is denied. 

24. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of 

further response, 49 CFR § 191.3 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or 

characterization thereof is denied. 
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25. Admitted in part and denied in part.  Upon information and belief, it is 

admitted that Westover does not gather, transmit, or store gas.  The remainder of the 

averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required.  To the extent a 

response is deemed to be required, it is denied.    

26. Denied.  The minimum Federal pipeline safety standards apply broadly to 

both interstate and intrastate pipelines through the Federal Pipeline Safety Act, 49 U.S.C.            

§§ 60101-60143 (“PSA”).  Congress originally enacted the PSA in 1968 “to provide 

adequate protection against risks to life and property posed by pipeline transportation and 

pipeline facilities by improving the regulatory and enforcement authority of the Secretary 

of Transportation.”13   

The Commerce clause of the U.S. Constitution14 is the authority underlying the 

PSA.  It permits, inter alia, Federal regulation of the transportation of natural gas by 

pipeline.  Pursuant to that authority, Congress may mandate Federal regulation for the use 

of the channels of interstate commerce, the instrumentalities of and persons or things in 

interstate commerce, and any activity that has a substantial effect on interstate 

commerce.15  With regard to the third category, Congress is empowered to regulate 

purely local activities that are part of an economic “class of activities” that have a 

substantial effect on interstate commerce.16  Regulation is squarely within Congress’ 

 
13  Pipeline Safety Act, Pub. L. 90–481, 82 Stat. 720 (Aug. 12, 1968),13 currently codified at  

49 U.S.C. § 60102(a)(1).  A link to the original PSA can be found here:  
Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968.pdf    (dot.gov)     

14  U.S. Const. Art. I, § 8, cl. 3. 
15  Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 16-17 (2005).   
16  Id. at 17, citing Perez v. U.S., 402 U.S. 146, 151 (1971); Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111, 128-129 (1942).   
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commerce power when production of a commodity meant for home consumption, be it 

wheat or marijuana, has a substantial effect on supply and demand in the national market 

for that commodity.17  The transportation of gas by pipeline has a substantial effect on 

interstate commerce.  

Moreover, the legislative history of the PSA demonstrates that Congress clearly 

intended that the transportation of gas apply to intrastate pipeline systems distributing 

natural gas.  Congress reported as follows when defining the transportation covered under 

the PSA: 

The term “transportation of gas” is defined as the gathering, 
transmission or distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or 
affecting interstate or foreign commerce.  With exception as to 
gathering in certain circumstances, this means all aspects of the 
transportation of gas from the well head to the consumer.  As testified 
by Secretary Boyd: 
 

‘There is no question but what every element of a gas 
gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving 
gas which is either in or affects interstate commerce. * 
* *  (p. 35).   
 
I don’t think that it even requires any elasticity of the 
commerce clause of the Constitution to define 99 
44/100 percent of this activity as being clearly within 
the commerce clause.  (p. 36).’ 

 
H.R. Rep. No. 90-1390, at 18 (May 15, 1968).  The House Report is attached hereto as  
 
Attachment B.    
 

 
17  Delta Smelt Consol. Cases v. Salazar, 663 F. Supp. 2d 922, 937, (E.D. Cal. 2009)(citing Gonzales v. Raich, 545    

U.S. 1 (2005)).   
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Indeed, Congress provided PHMSA and States with the authority to regulate the 

transportation of natural gas by pipeline, including the intrastate transportation of natural 

gas.  The PSA defines “intrastate gas pipeline facility” as a “gas pipeline facility and 

transportation of gas within a State not subject to the jurisdiction of the [Federal Energy 

Regulatory] Commission pursuant to the Natural Gas Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 717, et seq.”18  

Notably, the Natural Gas Act limits the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory 

Commission (“FERC”) to the transportation and sale of natural gas in interstate and 

foreign commerce and not merely affecting interstate or foreign commerce, as is the case 

under the PSA.19  PHMSA has likewise determined that even though the transportation of 

gas may entirely be within one State, every element of a gas gathering, transmission, and 

distribution line is moving gas that is either in or affects interstate commerce.20  

Accordingly, pipeline safety jurisdiction is not limited only to interstate pipelines. 

Pursuant to the PSA, States may assume responsibility for regulating intrastate 

pipeline facilities by submitting an annual certification to the Secretary of the U.S. 

Department of Transportation pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105.  A State that has submitted 

a certification under Section 60105(a) of the PSA may adopt additional or more stringent 

safety standards for intrastate pipeline facilities and intrastate pipeline transportation only 

if those standards are compatible with the minimum Federal pipeline safety standards.21  

 
18  49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(9). 
19  See 15 U.S.C. § 717(a); 49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(8)(A)(ii).   
20  PHMSA Interpretation PI-71-036 (March 16, 1971).  PI-71-036 is attached hereto as Attachment C.   
21  49 U.S.C. § 60104.   

Page 14 of 628



14 

Pennsylvania, through the Commission’s I&E Safety Division, is certified to regulate the 

safety of intrastate pipelines.  

The Pennsylvania General Assembly adopted the Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations, as well as all amendments thereto, as the safety standards for non-public 

utility pipeline operators in Pennsylvania by enacting Act 127.22  Additionally, the 

Pennsylvania General Assembly authorized the Commission to supervise and regulate 

pipeline operators within Pennsylvania consistent with (but not more stringent than) 

Federal pipeline safety laws.23  In recognition that Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations apply to intrastate pipelines, the definitions of “pipeline” and “pipeline 

facility” in Act 127 exclude pipelines and pipeline facilities that are subject to the 

exclusive jurisdiction of FERC.24  Moreover, “transportation of gas” is defined in Act 

127 as “[t]he gathering, transmission or distribution of gas by pipeline or the storage of 

gas” and lacks any requirement that such transportation be interstate. 

a. Admitted in part and denied in part.  Upon information and belief, it 

is admitted that Westover purchases gas in Pennsylvania from an 

NGDC.  The remainder of the averment states a conclusion of law to 

which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed 

to be required, it is denied.    

b. Admitted upon information and belief. 

 
22  58 P.S. § 801.302.   
23  58 P.S. § 801.501.   
24  58 P.S. § 801.102.   
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c. Admitted upon information and belief.  By way of further answer, 

Congress has determined that the purchase, transportation, and sale 

of natural gas within one state affects interstate commerce and 

triggers the applicability of Federal pipeline safety laws.  

27. Denied.  It is specifically denied that Westover’s transportation of gas does 

not affect interstate or foreign commerce.  

28. Denied.  It is specifically denied that Westover is not a “pipeline operator” 

as defined in Act 127 since it owns and operates facilities regulated under Federal 

pipeline safety laws.   

29. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  

30. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  

31. Denied.  It is denied that intrastate natural gas systems are not within the 

purview of Act 127.  To hold otherwise would render Act 127 meaningless.  Since 1968, 

intrastate natural gas systems have been subject to Federal pipeline safety standards.  Act 

127, which became effective in 2012, adopted such standards and applied them to 

pipelines operated by non-public utility pipeline operators in Pennsylvania.  As the 

operator of master meter systems at apartment complexes, Westover fits squarely within 

the definition of “pipeline operator.”  It is specifically denied that Westover is not 

engaged in the “transportation of gas” as defined in the Federal pipeline safety laws. 
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32. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that PHMSA has issued 

several letters of interpretation concerning master meter systems.  Such letters provide 

guidance and are persuasive.  By way of further response, PHMSA has also issued letters 

of interpretation finding the definition of “master meter system” to be applicable to an 

apartment complex in Indiana.25  The remainder of the averment states a conclusion of 

law to which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, 

it is denied.    

33. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that landlords operating 

natural gas systems for compensation to tenants can be construed to be master meter 

systems subject to Federal pipeline safety laws.  It is denied that the General Assembly 

did not intend to regulate these entities under Act 127 and Westover presents no 

legislative history to illustrate that the General Assembly omitted master meter systems at 

apartment complexes from being subject to the Federal pipeline safety standards.  I&E is 

without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the 

averment reflecting the number of master meter systems in Pennsylvania and, therefore, it 

is denied and strict proof thereof is demanded.  

34. Denied.  Act 127 authorizes and obligates the Commission to regulate 

intrastate master meter systems that are subject to Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations, such as Westover’s master meter systems.  Master meter systems were 

subject to Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations prior to the enactment of Act 

 
25  PHMSA Interpretation PI-11-0014 (March 27, 2012) and (August 27, 2012).  PI-11-0014 is attached hereto as  

Attachment D.     
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127.26  However, the Commission lacked authority to regulate such master meter systems 

not operated by public utilities until Act 127 became effective.   

35. Denied.  It is denied that I&E’s correspondence fails to explain how 

Westover is subject to the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  By way of 

further response, the November 22, 2021 letter speaks for itself, and any interpretation or 

characterization thereof is denied.  The remaining averments state a conclusion of law to 

which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, they 

are denied.  

Conclusion 

Denied.  The averment sets forth a conclusion and request for relief to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  

 
26  See Assessment of the Need for an Improved Inspection Program for Master Meter Systems, Report of the 

Secretary of Transportation to Congress, prepared pursuant to Section 108 of Public Law 100-561, January 
2002.  The Report has been attached hereto as Attachment E. 
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WHEREFORE, based upon the reasons stated above, the Bureau of Investigation 

and Enforcement of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission respectfully requests 

that the Commission expeditiously deny the Petition for Declaratory Order of the 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies, deem 

Westover to be a pipeline operator subject to the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines 

Act, 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq., and direct Westover to immediately comply with all 

applicable laws and regulations related to pipeline safety.   

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522  
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 

 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 43319 

 
 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  
 
Dated:  January 3, 2022 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

& 
ENFORCEMENT 

 

 

June 2, 2021 

Via Electronic Mail Only 

Mr. Alexander Steffanelli 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 

d/b/a Westover Companies 

550 American Avenue 

Suite 1 

King of Prussia, PA 19406 

alex@westovercompanies.com 

Re: Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

I&E-Enforcement Warning Letter 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli, 

The purpose of this letter is to provide Westover Property Management Company, 

L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”) with one final opportunity to respond to the

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement’s (“I&E”) request that it comply with the laws and

regulations governing its master meter system.  If compliance is not achieved within the

timeframe set forth herein, I&E is prepared to initiate a formal enforcement action before the

Commission that would seek the imposition of stiff civil penalties on Westover, up to

$225,134 per violation for each day the violation continues, subject to a maximum penalty of

$2,251,334 for a related series of violations.

On May 22 and 23, 2018, inspectors from the I&E Safety Division of the 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission1 visited a property owned and managed by 

Westover in response to a natural gas leak and service outage reported by PECO Gas.  PECO 

Gas reported that the outage impacted a master meter system at the Jamestown Village 

Apartments located at 2501 Maryland Road, Willow Grove, PA 19090.  After ensuring that 

the leak was properly repaired and service restored, the Safety Division shifted the focus of 

its investigation to examine whether the pipeline facilities at the Jamestown Village 

Apartments constitute a “master meter system” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 and subject to 

Commission oversight through the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (“Act 127”), 58 

P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq.   

On December 2, 2020, the Safety Division completed an inspection of Westover’s 

facilities and records, and concluded that Westover operates a regulated master meter system.  

During the inspection, inspectors from the Safety Division discussed with representatives 

from Westover the requirements that are necessary for Westover to comply with Act 127 and 

1 The Safety Division serves as an agent of the federal Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 

(“PHMSA”) and enforces compliance with Pennsylvania laws and regulations as well as federal pipeline safety 

laws and regulations governing the transportation of natural gas. 

I&E Attachment A 
Page 1 of 3

Page 21 of 628



Mr. Alexander Steffanelli 
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Page 2 

 

 

the federal pipeline safety regulations.  On December 17, December 24, and December 31, 

2020 as well as on January 11, and January 14, 2021, the Safety Division attempted to 

schedule a follow-up inspection with Westover that would review the manual and procedures 

that the Safety Division asked Westover to develop in order to become compliant.  Westover 

did not respond to any of the Safety Division’s attempts to communicate with it. 

 

By letter dated February 3, 2021, the Safety Division issued a non-compliance letter, 

NC-77-20, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.13 and 192.605 for failing 

to have a manual as required in Part 192 of the federal pipeline safety regulations and a 

procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance and Emergencies (“O&M Manual”).  The 

Safety Division requested that Westover respond to NC-77-20 in writing on or before March 

17, 2021, with a response that demonstrates that it developed and implemented an O&M 

Manual and a process to document and track all records required by the pertinent manuals 

and procedures.  Westover failed to respond to NC-77-20. 

 

By letter dated March 30, 2021, the Safety Division issued a second non-compliance 

letter, NC-08-21, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR § 190.203(a) (permitting 

agents of PHMSA to enter and inspect the records and properties of persons to determine the 

compliance of such persons with federal pipeline safety laws and regulations).  The Safety 

Division requested that Westover respond in writing on or before April 29, 2021, with a 

response that schedules the Safety Division’s follow-up inspection of Westover’s facilities 

and records and replies to NC-77-20.  In NC-08-21, the Safety Division warned that a 

continued failure to respond would result in I&E taking legal action against Westover, 

including seeking the imposition of civil penalties.  Westover failed to respond to NC-08-21. 

 

The Safety Division referred this matter to I&E-Enforcement, which is the 

prosecutory arm of the Commission empowered to take legal action to enforce compliance 

with, inter alia, Act 127 and federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  Prior to initiating a 

formal enforcement proceeding before the Commission, which would entail extensive 

discovery, an evidentiary hearing, potential travel for witnesses and the filing of post-hearing 

briefs, I&E-Enforcement deemed it appropriate to make one final attempt to elicit 

Westover’s compliance with the applicable law.  I&E requests that Westover perform the 

following on or before June 22, 2021:  

 

• Develop and implement an O&M Manual as required by 49 CFR Part 192; 

• Develop a process to document and track all records required by the applicable 

manuals and procedures; 

• Arrange for a follow-up inspection with Safety Division Supervisor T. Cooper 

Smith and Safety Division Engineer S. Orr at tcsmith@pa.gov and 

scoorr@pa.gov, respectively; and 

• Register as a Pennsylvania pipeline operator pursuant to Act 127. 

 

Should Westover fail to fully perform each of the above-listed items by the date 

referenced herein, I&E-Enforcement will swiftly file a formal complaint against Westover 

I&E Attachment A 
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that seeks the imposition of a civil penalty.  I&E-Enforcement’s requested civil penalty 

would consider Westover’s well-documented failure to cooperate with the Safety Division’s 

investigation.  Please be advised that I&E is authorized to seek a civil penalty of $225,134 

per violation for each day the violation continues, with a maximum penalty of $2,251,334 for 

a related series of violations.2  Furthermore, as a corporation, Westover is required to be 

represented by legal counsel in contested proceedings before the Commission. 

 

Thank you for your immediate attention to this important matter.   

 

Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 

Senior Prosecutor 

 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

Commonwealth Keystone Building 

400 North Street 

Harrisburg, PA 17120 

(717) 772-8839 

stwimer@pa.gov   

 

 

cc: Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

 Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

Robert D. Horensky, Manager - Safety Division (via e-mail only) 

 

 
2  See 58 P.S. § 801.502 (a); 49 CFR § 190.223, as modified by Department of Transportation; Civil Penalty 

Amounts. 86 Fed. Reg. 23241 (May 3, 2021). 
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dal\192.1-a\13\71-03-16
1

March 16, 1971

Mr. J. H. Lambdin
Professional Engineer
349 Glenway
Jackson, Mississippi  39216

Dear Mr. Lambdin:

This is in reply to your letter of February 16, 1971, concerning the applicability of the Natural Gas
Pipeline Safety Act of 1968 to a line approximately 10 miles long operating at a pressure of 125
to 150 pounds, crossing various public and private rights-of-way and supplying only one
customer, a public utility owned generating station.

The Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968 (hereinafter called the Act), and the regulations
contained in 49 CFR, Parts 191 and 192 would appear to be applicable to this facility.  Section
2(3) of the Act defines "Transportation as gas" as "the gathering, transmission or distribution of
gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce...." (underscoring
added).  "Pipeline facility" as defined in Section 2(4) of the Act includes "any equipment, facility,
or building used in the transportation of gas or the treatment of gas during the course of
transportation."

It is our view, based on the legislative history of the Act, that even though the operation may be
entirely within one State there is no question but that every element of a gas gathering,
transmission and distribution line is moving gas, which is either in or affects interstate commerce.

We hope this answers your question, and if we can be of any further assistance, please let us
know.

Sincerely,

Joseph C. Caldwell
Director, Acting

Office of Pipeline Safety
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FOREWORD

This report was prepared by the Volpe National Transportation Systems Center (Volpe Center),

Research and Special Programs Administration (RSPA), U.S. Department of Transportation (U.S.

DOT), Cambridge, Massachusetts, for the Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS), RSPA/U.S. DOT,

Washington, D.C.  Paul Zebe of the Volpe Center and Ralph Kubitz of OPS compiled the material for

the report.  Contributions to the report were also made by Lloyd Ulrich of OPS.
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     1In addition to natural gas master meter systems, it might be noted that there are also water, electricity, and
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) master meter systems.  For the purposes of this study, the term "master meter
system" will refer to a natural gas master meter system, unless otherwise indicated.

     249 U.S.C. 60101 et seq.

1

1.  INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

Gas master meter systems are small intrastate gas distribution systems providing natural gas purchased
from local gas utilities (or, rarely, gas transmission systems) to consumers in connection with the rental,
leasing, or management of real property.1  Gas master meter systems, of which there are thousands,
operate in almost every state and supply natural gas for heating, cooking, and other uses to tens of
thousands of homes and businesses.  The systems can be found at a wide variety of locations, including
trailer parks, public housing projects, shopping centers, and apartment complexes.  

To ensure their safe operation, master meter systems, like other gas distribution systems, are regulated
by the U.S. Department of Transportation's (U.S. DOT’s) Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS) under the
authority of Federal pipeline safety law.2  Federal pipeline safety law allows states to assume
responsibility for inspecting master meter systems and for enforcing the Federal regulations that apply to
them by entering into cooperative agreements with the OPS.  The OPS actively encourages states to do
this by providing funds to states as an incentive under a Federal grant-in-aid program authorized by
Federal pipeline safety law.  As of the end of 1999, 42 states and the District of Columbia had assumed
partial or full responsibility for their master meter systems.  Inspection of the master meter systems in
these states is the responsibility of the state pipeline safety authorities.  Federal inspection, under OPS
policy, is limited to systems not covered by state regulation and is conducted only when (1) an accident
occurs, or (2) the OPS becomes aware of a safety concern. 

The OPS and its state partners, as well as many others in government and the general public, have an
abiding interest in ensuring the safety of the Nation’s gas pipeline systems.  A focus of that interest has
been on the adequate inspection of gas pipeline system systems.  Inspection is crucial to the efforts of
safety regulators working to ensure that gas pipeline systems are being operated in a safe manner. 
Inspection gives safety regulators an opportunity to work with gas pipeline system operators to identify
and correct problems before they can cause accidents, and this can be especially important for master
meter systems.

There are a number of factors complicating the inspection of master meter systems.  Arguably the most
important is the large numbers of such systems.  Currently, over eight thousand master meter systems
are believed to be operating in the U.S.  In contrast, probably less than 1,400 local natural gas
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     3While master meter systems are local and distribute gas, they are not generally referred to or classed as “local
distribution companies” or “local gas utilities.” 

     4Public Law 100-561.

     5See Section 108(c)(1).

     6See Section 108(c)(2).

2

distribution companies are currently operating in the U.S.3  It is difficult for state and Federal inspectors
to visit such a large number of operating entities on a regular basis.  

A second factor, closely rivaling the first in importance, is that there is no easy way of identifying master
meter systems.  Safety regulators frequently must rely on local gas utilities to identify master meter
systems.  In many cases, local gas utilities do not have or keep that type of information.  Furthermore,
master meter operators often do not realize that they are subject to gas safety regulations, so they
cannot be relied upon to identify themselves. 

A third factor complicating inspection is that master meter systems, unlike local gas utilities, are
frequently operated and maintained by people who are not gas pipeline professionals and who have, at
best, only a sketchy and vague understanding of the Federal safety standards for the distribution of
natural gas by pipeline as set forth in Part 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  Some
master meter operators reportedly do not realize that the local gas utilities supplying them with gas are
not responsible for the safety and maintenance of their systems.  As a consequence, inspectors must
often spend a disproportionate amount of time with master meter systems to ensure their safety.  

1.2. PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY

The purpose of this study is to assess the need for an improved inspection program for master meter
systems.  This is the obvious first step in any effort to ensure the safe operation of master meter
systems, since inspection is the primary means used to identify problems.    

This study was mandated by Congress in Section 108(c) of the Pipeline Safety Reauthorization Act of
1988,4 which directs the Secretary of Transportation to “...undertake a study to assess the need for an
improved inspection program for master meter systems.”5  The Act also directs that a report detailing
the findings of that study be submitted to Congress, along with any recommendations for appropriate
legislation that the Secretary of Transportation may wish to make.6

Additionally, Section 108(a) of the Pipeline Safety Reauthorization Act of 1988, in part, mandates that
the master meter systems for which the states have not assumed regulatory responsibility (i.e., the
systems for which the OPS retains regulatory responsibility) be inspected at least once every two years,
but gives the Secretary of Transportation the option of reducing the frequency of inspection.  This study
provides information that can be used to ascertain whether the frequency of inspection can be reduced
without compromising the safety of master meter systems.  
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The focus of this study is on natural gas master meter systems.  Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)
distribution systems are not considered.  The OPS regards LPG systems, including LPG master meter
systems, as a separate category of intrastate pipeline systems with somewhat different problems and
concerns than natural gas master meter systems.  

1.3. STRUCTURE OF THE REMAINDER OF THE REPORT

The remainder of this report is organized in the following manner.  In Chapter 2, an overview of master
meter systems is presented.  Included in this chapter is a description of master meter systems, the
definition of a master meter system contained in the Federal pipeline reporting requirements (49 CFR
191), an estimate of the number of systems currently in operation in the U.S., and an overview of the
safety record of the systems.  In Chapter 3, Federal and state regulation of the safety of master meter
systems is surveyed.  In Chapter 4, inspection and other activities undertaken by state and Federal
pipeline safety regulators to ensure the safety of the systems are detailed.  In Chapter 5, the need for
improved inspection of master meter systems is examined.  In Chapter 6, an alternative to an improved
inspection program is reviewed and evaluated.  Chapter 7 outlines the key findings of the report. 
Chapter 8 presents the report’s recommendations.  A selected bibliography listing the papers and
publications used in preparing the report, a list of those contributing to the study, and three appendices
conclude the report.
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     7Some condominium associations, cooperatives, and similar entities operate master meter systems as one of the
management services provided to their members.

     8A gas transmission system is a gas pipeline system used to transport natural gas from oil/gas fields or gas
processing plants (which are generally located near oil/gas fields) to local gas distribution utilities.

     9Master meters system that are not sub-metered are sometimes referred to as "centrally metered installations."

     10Sub-meters at public housing projects are sometimes referred to as "check meters".

     11According to Seisler, p. 147, as of July 1978, 27 states had banned sub-meters.  It is uncertain how this has
changed since then.
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2.  OVERVIEW OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS

2.1. INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides an overview of natural gas master meter systems.  The purpose of the overview
is to provide background information that will allow a better understanding of master meter systems and
the associated safety concerns.  In this chapter, master meter systems as a general concept and as
defined in the Federal pipeline reporting requirements by the Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS) are
described, salient information about master meter systems and their operation is presented, the number
of master meter systems currently in operation is discussed, and the recent safety record of master
meter systems is reviewed.  

2.2. WHAT IS A MASTER METER SYSTEM?

A master meter system is a distribution system providing gas to consumers in conjunction with the
rental, leasing, or management of real property.7  Master meter systems usually purchase product from
the local gas utility, although occasionally a master meter system's supplier may be a transmission
system.8  Master meter systems take their name from the "master meter" at the connection point
between a master meter system and its supplier, which measures the amount of gas taken from the
supplier by the system.9  

A master meter system operator will either (1) sell the gas it purchases from its supplier directly to the
consumer or (2) include the cost of the gas in the fee or charge assessed for the use of the real property
by the consumer (for example, in rent or condominium fee).  A master meter system may have sub-
meters (i.e., meters for each consumer or for groups of consumers)10 for measuring consumption and
allocating costs.  Sub-meters are banned in some states.11

Frequently, a master meter system obtains the gas that it distributes at a bulk rate discount.  This
discount will vary from utility to utility and from state to state, as well as over time, but it can be fairly
substantial.  In California in the early 1980s, for instance, Pacific Gas & Electric Co. was giving a 15
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     12U.S. DOT, "Exercise of Jurisdiction Over Master Meter Gas Operators," p. 24.  The original source is cited as a
letter from PG&E to Operators of Privately Owned Gas Distribution Systems in Mobile Home Parks, dated January 4,
1982.

     13According to a telephone conversation on January 3, 2001, between Steve Pott, Colorado Public Utility
Commission, and Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, this is the case currently in Colorado.  In that state, the price that the
master meter operator pays for gas is the maximum price that system customers can be charged.  According to an e-
mail on November 17, 2000, from Gary Hall, Kansas Corporation Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, master
meter operators in Kansas may not make a profit on the sale of natural gas.

     1449 CFR §191.3.

     15See U.S. DOT, "RSPA Responses to NAPSR Resolutions," pp. 115-116 (Note:  NAPSR is the National
Association of Pipeline Safety Representatives), which states, in part, that 
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percent discount to at least some master meter systems.12  Some of the savings realized by a master
meter system due to its purchase of gas at a bulk rate discount may be passed on to the system's
customers.  In some states, master meter systems are not allowed to charge final consumers more than
was originally paid for the gas, and in those states the entire discount will be passed on.13  This, of
course, will tend to discourage potential master meter operators from entering the business, which may
have a safety impact, as well as an economic impact.  Furthermore, it can induce existing operators to
leave the business, which may also have both safety and economic impacts.

Master meter systems provide gas at a variety of different types of facilities.  These include public
housing projects, trailer parks, colleges and universities, campgrounds, apartment buildings and
complexes, shopping malls, industrial parks, motels, golf courses, medical facilities, and churches.  The
category with the most gas master meter systems is apartment buildings and complexes, followed by
trailer parks and public housing projects. 

2.3. A MASTER METER SYSTEM AS DEFINED BY THE OPS

The safety of natural gas master meter systems is regulated under the statutory authority given to the
Secretary of Transportation by Federal pipeline safety law and delegated by the Secretary to the Office
of Pipeline Safety (OPS).  For purposes of its safety regulations, the OPS in 49 CFR §191.3 defines a
gas master meter system as follows:

Master Meter System means a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not
limited to, a definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing project, or apartment
complex, where the operator purchases metered gas from an outside source for resale
through a gas distribution pipeline system.  The gas distribution pipeline system supplies
the ultimate consumer who either purchases the gas directly through a meter or by other
means, such as by rents.14

OPS policy is that the term "master meter system" applies only to gas distribution systems serving
multiple buildings.  It does not apply to gas distribution systems consisting entirely or primarily of interior
piping located within a single building.15   Such systems, however, may be referred to as master meter
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Even though the present definition of 'master meter system' does not refer specifically to the
existence of exterior piping serving multiple buildings, the reference to a 'pipeline system for
distributing gas within...a mobile home park, housing project, or apartment complex' must involve
the distribution of gas through exterior or underground pipelines to more than one building.  The
phrase regarding exterior piping serving multiple buildings was not considered essential since the
use of exterior or underground pipelines to distribute gas to more than one building is implicit in
the language of the definition. 

This is a continuation of the policy adopted by the OPS prior to the publication of the regulatory definition of a
master meter system. [See OPS Advisory Bulletin 73-10, October 1973, or the May 1973 letter from Joseph Caldwell,
then Director of OPS, to Wayne Carlson, Public Service Commission of Utah.]

     16U.S. DOT, "RSPA Responses to NAPSR Resolutions," p. 116.

     17This policy is followed by regulators in some of the states that cooperate with the OPS in the regulation of
master meter systems.  Regulators in other states, such as Connecticut, report that they cannot follow the policy. 
State law in these states does not allow them to deviate from the Federal pipeline safety regulations.

     18Telephone conversation between Jim Thomas, Regional Director, Southwest Region, Office of Pipeline Safety,
U.S. DOT/RSPA, and Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, January 1990.

     19U.S. DOT, "RSPA Responses to NAPSR Resolutions," p. 116.
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systems by local utilities and utility regulators for rate purposes, as well as by some state gas pipeline
safety regulators for safety regulation purposes.  

Master meter systems consisting entirely or primarily of interior piping located within a single building
are excluded by the OPS from its definition because 

...such systems do not resemble the kinds of distribution systems to which Congress
intended the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act to apply because of the absence of any
significant amount of underground or external piping serving more than one building.16

In essence, the OPS regards such systems in the same way it regards the piping at a large commercial
building or industrial plant.  

It might be noted that it is OPS policy to exclude some piping in jurisdictional master meter systems
(i.e., in master meter systems as defined by the OPS) from regulation.17  Specifically, interior piping in
buildings that is "downstream" from the customers' meters, or the start of customer piping if there is no
sub-metering, is not regulated by the OPS.18  Interior piping that is "upstream" from the customers'
meters is subject to OPS regulation.19  

2.4. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS OF GAS MASTER METER SYSTEMS

A number of characteristics of master meter systems may impact the safety of the systems or the
severity of consequences that would result if an accident occurred.  Significant among these are the
number of customers that a system serves, the length of underground or exterior piping, and system
distribution pressure.
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     20U.S. DOT, "Exercise of Jurisdiction Over Master Meter Gas Operators," p. 3.

     21E-mail from John Clementson, Pipeline Safety Engineer, Maryland Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe,
Volpe Center, November  27, 2000.

     22E-mail from Craig Steele, Nevada Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, April 10, 2001.

     23E-mail from John Clementson, Pipeline Safety Engineer, Maryland Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe,
Volpe Center, November 27, 2000.

     24National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC), Utility Regulatory Policy in the United
States and Canada, Compilation 1995-1996, Washington, DC, 1996, Table 171, number of utilities by state.  Some
of the utilities operate in more than one state and therefore may have been counted more than once.  Also, counts
for some types of gas utilities in two states (Illinois and Nebraska) were unavailable, and counts of utilities in
another two states (Alabama and New Jersey) were for prior years.  

     25AGA, Gas Facts, 1996 edition (1995 data), p. 27.

     26Letter from Ernest Tronco, P.E., Gas Pipeline Safety Engineer, Colorado Public Utilities Commission, to Paul
Zebe, Volpe Center, November 22, 1989.
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2.4.1. The Number of Customers

A master meter system generally does not serve many customers.20  For instance, in Maryland, a
typical master meter system is reported to currently serve about 284 units (customers).21  In Nevada,
seven of the eight master meter systems in operation in that state are reported to have between
approximately 100 and 275 customers.22 

2.4.2. The Length of Underground Piping

The length of master meter system underground piping varies considerably.  It is generally not very long,
however.  The average length of the underground or exterior piping for master meter systems currently
operating in Maryland, for example, is 2,764 feet.23  This is short when compared to the average length
of the underground distribution main piping operated by local gas utilities.  In the U.S. in 1995 there
were, according to the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC),
approximately 1,350 gas utility operations24 and, according to the American Gas Association (AGA),
935,082 miles of gas utility distribution mains.25  Based on these figures, a gas utility in the U.S. has, on
average, about 693 miles of distribution mains.

2.4.3. The Distribution Pressure

In general, the distribution pressure of master meter systems is very low.  In Colorado, for example,
state pipeline safety regulators report that the pressure is generally two pounds or less in most
systems.26  In contrast, local gas utilities generally operate at much higher distribution pressures. 
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     27Telephone conversation between Lloyd Ulrich, OPS, and Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, September 11, 1990.
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Typically, the distribution pressure for a gas utility is 20 to 40 psig (pounds per square inch gauge).27 
The distribution pressure of master meter systems is also lower than the service line pressures found on
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     28E-mail from Lloyd Ulrich, OPS, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, March 20, 2001.

     29This estimate was derived by summing the figures given in Exhibit 1 and rounding the result, 7,352, to the
nearest thousand. 

     30Values are presented in Exhibit 1 for master meter systems in 44 (88 percent) of the states.  Assuming that the
states for which there are no values are not significantly different from those for which there are, then a total estimate
can be calculated by dividing 7,352, the sum of the figures given in Exhibit 1, by 0.88.  This simplistic estimation
approach ignores Puerto Rico and DC, as well as any under- or overreporting by the states.  Because underreporting
is considered more likely than overreporting, the estimate probably understates the actual number of systems.

     31Letter from Douglas Kilpatrick, P.E., Pipeline Safety Director, Washington Utilities and Transportation
Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, December 1, 2000.

     32E-mail from Chris Hoidal, Regional Director, Western Region, Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S. DOT/RSPA, to Paul
Zebe, Volpe Center, June 18, 2001. 

     33Telephone conversation between Mahendra Jhala, Chief, Utilities Safety Branch, California Public Service
Commission, and Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, December 19, 2000.
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many local gas utility systems.  The typical pressure in a local gas utility high pressure service line is
between 2 and 10 psig, although it can be considerably higher.28

2.5. THE NUMBER OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS CURRENTLY IN OPERATION

The exact number of jurisdictional master meter systems currently in operation in the U.S. is unknown. 
Exhibit 1 presents the best available information on the number of master meter systems in operation in
the U.S. in 1999 by state.  The information in the exhibit was obtained primarily from the annual
submissions of state and other pipeline safety regulators to the OPS.  Based on those submissions, there
are at least seven thousand jurisdictional master meter systems currently operating in the U.S.29  In total,
there are approximately 8.4 thousand jurisdictional master meter systems presently in operation.  This
estimate was derived from the information contained in Exhibit 1.30

For some states, the number of systems given in Exhibit 1 is the number of systems with "appreciable"
underground or exterior piping downstream of the master meter, while for other states additional master
meter systems are included.  Those with appreciable underground or exterior piping downstream of the
master meter are, of course, those meeting the OPS's definition of a master meter system and, as a
consequence, are covered by the Federal gas pipeline safety regulations.  State pipeline safety
regulations in some cases cover additional master meter systems not covered by the Federal
regulations.  The state of Washington is one example of a state that uses a broader definition of master
meter systems than used by the OPS.31  Utah is another example.32

For some states, the number of systems given in Exhibit 1 excludes some jurisdictional master meter
systems because the jurisdiction of some state pipeline regulators is limited.  For example, California
pipeline safety regulators only have jurisdiction over master meter systems at mobile home parks,33

while Missouri pipeline safety regulators do
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EXHIBIT 1.  NUMBER OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS IN
OPERATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1999

State Number State/Other Number

Alabama 93 Nebraska 2
Alaska Unknown Nevada 8
Arizona 1185 New Hampshire 3
Arkansas 200 New Jersey 57
California 2,704a New Mexico 219
Colorado 45 New York Unknownd

Connecticut 0 North Carolina 21
Delaware 8 North Dakota 11
Florida 13b Ohio 49
Georgia 127 Oklahoma 168
Hawaii Unknown Oregon 3
Idaho Unknown Pennsylvania Unknown
Illinois 22 Rhode Island 7
Indiana 52 South Carolina 8
Iowa 0 South Dakota 2
Kansas 28 Tennessee 59
Kentucky 106 Texas 776
Louisiana 147 Utah 472
Maine 0 Vermont 0
Maryland 62 Virginia 99e

Massachusetts Unknown Washington 258
Michigan 0 West Virginia 198
Minnesota 4 Wisconsin circa 30
Mississippi 74 Wyoming 0f

Missouri 8c D.C. 0
Montana 24 Puerto Rico Unknown

Notes:
a. Only includes master meter systems at mobile home parks.
b. Jurisdiction extends only to the furthest meter downstream.  For master meter 

systems without submetering, this will be the master meter.
c. Does not include master meter systems at public housing projects.
d. Local distribution companies are responsible for all underground gas facilities up 

to building wall.
e. Does not include master meter systems on Indian Reservations.

Sources of Information: Annual state/other agency filings with the Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S.
Department of Transportation, and other information from state pipeline safety agencies.
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     34Telephone conversation between Michael Loethen, Missouri Public Service Commission, and Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, February 7, 2001.

     35Annual submission of Virginia for 1999 to the Office of Pipeline Safety.

     36E-mail from Jon Jacquot, Public Service Commission of Wyoming, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, March 21, 2001.

     37E-mail from Warren Miller, Central District, Office of Pipeline Safety, RSPA/U.S. DOT, to Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, June 22, 2001.

     38E-mail from Warren Miller, Central District, Office of Pipeline Safety, RSPA/U.S. DOT, to Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, June 22, 2001.

     39SASC, An Analysis of Natural Gas Master Meter Systems (Definition & Program) From A Federal Perspective. 
The SASC estimate of 81 thousand does not include the number of master meter systems in Hawaii or New Jersey. 
SASC was unable to derive estimates for Hawaii and New Jersey because it received no usable data on the number
of master meter systems when it surveyed the utilities in those states.

     40It should be recognized that it is entirely possible the 81 thousand systems in existence in 1979 have all gone out
of business, and the systems currently in operation are new systems that have started up since 1979.
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not have jurisdiction over master meter systems operated by state housing authorities.34  Additionally,
some state pipeline safety regulators, such as those in Virginia, do not have
jurisdiction over publicly owned utilities and by extension the master meter systems that they serve.35 

Master meter systems on Indian Reservations fall outside the jurisdiction of state and Federal pipeline
safety regulators,36 except when those systems are operated by outside contractors, rather than by
residents of the reservations.37  The same applies to master meter systems on military bases and other
military facilities.38

In 1979, there were an estimated 81 thousand natural gas master meter systems in operation in the
U.S.  This estimate was derived for the OPS by the Systems & Applied Sciences Corporation
(SASC), based upon information obtained from gas utilities throughout the U.S.39  SASC’s estimates
of the number of master meter systems by state are presented in Appendix A of this report.  

With between 8 and 9 thousand master meter systems currently in operation, it appears that nearly 90
percent of all master meter systems in operation in 1979 have gone out of business.40  The decline in
the number of master meter systems since 1979 would appear, for the most part, to be the result of
two factors.  The first has been the desire of master meter system operators to make their gas
customers accountable for the cost of the gas they consume.  Master meter systems are often not sub-
metered (as mentioned before, in many states this is illegal).  When this is the case, consumers are not
directly accountable for the cost of the gas they consume, but instead are only indirectly accountable
through the rent paid to the landlord.  Sometimes this can result in the landlord getting hurt financially,
particularly when the price of gas is fairly volatile.  Metering is needed to make the consumers
accountable for the cost of the gas that they consume.  The installation of sub-meters also costs
money, however.  To avoid this cost and to make the customers accountable, it appears some master
meter system operators turned their systems over to their gas suppliers and went out of the gas
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     41Letter from Don Martin, Chief of Pipeline Safety, Arkansas Public Service Commission, Utilities Division, to Paul
Zebe, Volpe Center, Nov. 28, 2000.
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distribution business.

The second factor contributing to the decline of master meter systems has been pressure applied on
master meter operators and their gas suppliers by some state pipeline regulators, as well as by OPS
regional personnel, to get (1) the operators to agree to turn their systems over to their suppliers and
(2) the suppliers to agree to take over the systems from the operators.  This has been an actively
pursued goal of regulators in many states for years, and has reportedly been successful in many cases. 
The goal has been pursued primarily to help ensure the safety of those who obtain their gas from the
master meter systems.  This will be discussed in greater detail later in this report.  Some of the
pressure, it should be noted, has probably resulted from a concern by price regulators that master
meter systems were charging their customers (or could potentially charge their customers) too much
for natural gas.

2.6. THE SAFETY RECORD OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS

The safety record of master meter systems -- the violations of the Minimum Federal Safety Standards
(i.e., 49 CFR Part 192) that are found during inspections and the historical incident record for the
systems -- provides an indication of the types and magnitude of problems that master meter systems
face. 

2.6.1. Violations

Inspections of master meter systems by Federal and state inspectors often turn up violations of the
Minimum Federal Safety Standards.  Exhibit 2 identifies the most common violations and problems
found by inspectors at master meter systems.  As shown in the exhibit, there is considerable variation
among the states with respect to the most common violations and problems found by pipeline safety
inspectors.  Problems relating to corrosion control, cathodic protection, leak surveys, emergency
plans, and records preparation and maintenance are some of the more frequently cited violations.

Information on the numbers of violations and on the relative frequency of the types of violations found
by inspectors is not readily available for the entire country.  This information is available, however, for
a few states.

With respect to numbers of violations, the situation in Arkansas may not be atypical.  State pipeline
regulators in Arkansas report an average of two violations per inspection.41 This appears fairly
consistent with the situation in other states.  Kansas, for instance, has inspected an average of 33
master meter operators per year and has found an average of 79 violations per  

I&E Attachment E 
Page 19 of 86

Page 114 of 628



13

EXHIBIT 2.  THE MOST COMMON VIOLATIONS/PROBLEMS FOUND DURING
INSPECTIONS OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS

State Violations/Problems

Alabama Low cathodic protection measurements

Alaska No information

Arizona Leak surveys, valve maintenance, mapping, training, odor checks, cathodic protection,
atmospheric corrosion

Arkansas §192.355--customer meters and regulators: protection from damage

§192.463--External corrosion control: cathodic protection

§192.615--Emergency plans

§192.723--Distribution systems: leakage surveys

§192.727--Abandonment or deactivation of facilities

California No information

Colorado No information

Connecticut No master meter systems

Delaware Mostly record maintenance related

Florida Corrosion control and failure to lock meters where gas service has been interrupted or
discontinued

Georgia §192.465--External corrosion control: monitoring

§192.723--Distribution systems: leakage surveys

Hawaii No information

Idaho No information

Illinois No typical probable violation, but most problems are related to record keeping and the
operator’s knowledge of procedures

Indiana Insufficient records to show compliance

Iowa No master meter systems

Kansas §192.465--External corrosion controls, monitoring

§192.603--General provisions

§192.615--Emergency plans

§192.625--Odorization of gas

§192.739--Pressure limiting and regulating stations: inspection and testing
Kansas rules relating to leak surveys and valve maintenance

Kentucky §192.721--Distribution system patrolling

§192.727--Distribution valve maintenance

§192.465--External corrosion controls, monitoring

Louisiana Maximum allowable operating pressure, cathodic protection, and leak surveys

Maine No master meter systems

Maryland Key valves testing, hazards of gas notices, and emergency plan training
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Massachusetts No information

EXHIBIT 2. (CONT.)

State Violations/Problems

Michigan No master meter systems

Minnesota Meter set support, Maxitrol regulators, emergency response liaison,
emergency plan, operation and maintenance plan, external corrosion control, atmospheric
corrosion control, public education, line marker and warning signs, and depth of cover

Mississippi Leak repairs

Missouri No information

Montana Inspection program just getting established

Nebraska Inadequate operations and maintenance manuals

Nevada Inadequate operations and maintenance manuals, liaison with public officials, public
education, cathodic protection

New Hampshire Leak surveys, corrosion control, and education are problem areas

New Jersey Cathodic protection
O&M training

New Mexico Updating O&M plans

New York Inactive services

North Carolina No major problems with master meter systems

North Dakota No information

Ohio O&M plan, emergency plan, leakage surveys, critical valve inspection, and mapping

Oklahoma Lost O&M and records

Oregon Cathodic protection, atmospheric corrosion, and various problems relating to O&M and
emergency plans

Pennsylvania Lack of operating and maintenance manuals, including record keeping as required under 49
CFR Part 192

Rhode Island O&M plans, emergency plans, cathodic protection, leak surveys, atmospheric protection of
aboveground piping, key valve maintenance

South Carolina Only minor problems

South Dakota Lack of written procedures and adequate record keeping

Tennessee Leakage survey, cathodic protection, valve maintenance, record keeping

Texas Repair and construction; design, installation, maintenance and inspection of pressure control
equipment and corrosion facilities; testing; adequate operation, maintenance and emergency
plans; establishing MAOP (maximum allowable operating pressure); maintenance and
inspection tasks, such as patrolling, leak surveys, and inspection of valves

Utah Inspection program just getting established

Vermont No information
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Virginia Corrosion control procedures, monitoring, and records; O&M and emergency plans; MAOP;
odorization; and leakage surveys

EXHIBIT 2. (CONT.)

State Violations/Problems

Washington O&M plans, emergency plans, mapping and records, leak surveys, aboveground pipe
maintenance, cathodic protection, records, overpressure protection, odorization, valve
maintenance, non-participation in a locator service

West Virginia Written documentation and records, and maintenance

Wisconsin Because most systems are only being inspected for the first time, few safety requirements are
being fully met by operators

Wyoming No master meter systems

D.C. No master meter systems

Puerto Rico No information

Sources of information: Various state regulatory agencies; OPS Eastern Regional Office; annual agency filings with
the Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S. DOT.
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     42E-mail from Gary Hall, Kansas Commerce Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, Nov. 17, 2000.

     43E-mail from Mary McDaniel, Texas Railroad Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, Jan. 19, 2001. 

     44Annual filing with the OPS for 1999 by the Kentucky Public Service Commission. 

     45Letter from Eddie B. Smith, Gas Branch, Division of Engineering, Kentucky Public Service Commission, to  Paul
Zebe, Volpe Center, Nov. 14, 2000. 

     46Letter from Don Martin, Chief of Pipeline Safety, Arkansas Public Service Commission, Utilities Division, to Paul
Zebe, Volpe Center, Nov. 28, 2000.
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year, or little over 2 violations per inspected operator.42  Texas, which has performed 1,975 master
meter system evaluations since January 1, 1995, has found a total of 5,627 violations, or an average of
nearly 3 violations per evaluation.43  Kentucky inspected 54 master meter operators in 199944 and
found 59 violations,45 an average of a little over 1 violation per inspected operator.

With respect to the relative frequency of the types of violations found during inspections, information is
readily available for Arkansas and Maryland.  The situations in Arkansas and Maryland, while in many
ways similar, are by no means identical.  This may be the result of a number of factors including the
mix of types of master meter operators in the two states.  For instance, master meter systems at trailer
parks may be much more common in one state than the other, and master meter systems at trailer
parks may typically experience a different set of problems than those found elsewhere.  Another
possibility is that the proportion of newly discovered master meter systems to previously identified
systems may be different in the two states.  Newly discovered systems would appear to be more likely
to have problems than previously identified systems, all other things equal, because their operators are
typically unacquainted with the requirements of the Minimum Federal Safety Standards.

In Arkansas from 1995 through 1999, state pipeline safety inspectors found 1,148 violations.  Of
those, 16 percent were related to leakage surveys, 13 percent were related emergency plans, 13
percent were related to cathodic protection for external corrosion, 12 percent were related to
protection of meters from damage, 12 percent were related to abandonment or deactivation of
facilities, 8 percent were related to general corrosion control, 8 percent were related to general
atmospheric corrosion control, and the remaining 18 percent were related to a variety of other
conditions.46  

In Maryland from 1995 through 1999, 92 violations were found by state pipeline safety inspectors.  Of
those, 23 percent were related to testing key valves, 21 percent were related to hazards of gas notice,
17 percent were related to emergency plan training, 13 percent were related to checking corrosion
protection readings, 11 percent were related to leak surveys, 5 percent were related to checking
rectifiers, 3 percent were related to remedial action, 2 percent were related to lack of procedural
manuals, 2 percent were related to service vents, 1 percent were related to retention of records, and 1
percent were related to condition of exposed pipe.
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2.6.2. The Incident Record

Information on the number of master meter system incidents is incomplete.  This is mainly because
master meter incidents are not always identified as such in incident reports and incident databases.  As
a consequence, incident information is available for the master meter systems in some, but not all,
states.  Exhibit 3 presents readily available information on master meter incidents from 1995 through
1999 that resulted in a death, a serious injury (i.e., one requiring a hospital stay), or property damage
of $50,000 or more. 

As shown in Exhibit 3, complete incident information is available for the five-year period for master
meter systems in 37 states.  In these 37 states during the five-year period, there were 2 master meter
system incidents, which resulted in 2 injuries and over $200,000 of property damage.  Of the 2 master
meter incidents in the 37 states, 1 resulted from corrosion and 1 resulted from construction/operating
error.  

In comparison, the same 37 states during the same five-year period experienced 290 gas distribution
system incidents, which resulted in a death, injury, or $50,000 or more in property damage. In total,
those incidents resulted in  45 deaths, 218 injuries, and $53,165,561 in property damage.  Of the 290
gas utility system incidents in the 37 states, 12 (or 4 percent) were the result of corrosion and 11 (or 4
percent) were construction/operating  error.  The remaining 267 (92 percent) were the result of
damage by outside forces, accidentally caused by the operator, or the result of some other cause.47 
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EXHIBIT 3.  THE INCIDENT RECORD OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS, 
1995-1999a

State Incidents Deaths Injuries Property Damage

Alabama 0 0 0 $0

Alaska unk unk unk unk

Arizona 0 0 0 $0

Arkansas 1b 0 0  >$100,000

California unk unk unk unk

Colorado 0 0 0 $0

Connecticut na na na na

Delaware 0 0 0 $0

Florida 0 0 0 $0

Georgia 0 0 0 $0

Hawaii unk unk unk unk

Idaho unk unk unk unk

Illinois 0 0 0 $0

Indiana 0 0 0 $0

Iowa na na na na

Kansas 0 0 0 $0

Kentucky 0 0 0 $0

Louisiana 0 0 0 $0

Mained na na na na

Maryland 0 0 0 $0

Massachusetts unk unk unk unk

Michigan na na na na

Minnesota 0 0 0 $0

Mississippi 1b 0 1 >$100,000

Missouri 0 0 0 $0

Montana 0 0 0 $0

Nebraska 0 0 0 $0

Nevada 0 0 0 $0

New Hampshire 0 0 0 $0

New Jersey 0 0 0 $0

New Mexico 0 0 0 $0

New York 0 0 0 $0

North Carolina 0 0 0 $0
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North Dakota 0 0 0 $0

EXHIBIT 3. (CONT.)

State Incidents Deaths Injuries Property Damage

Ohio 0 0 0 $0

Oklahoma 0 0 0 $0

Oregon 0 0 0 $0

Pennsylvania unk unk unk unk

Rhode Island 0 0 0 $0

South Carolina 0 0 0 $0

South Dakota 0 0 0 $0

Tennessee 0 0 0 $0

Texas <10b unk unk unk

Utah 0 0 0 $0

Vermont 0 0 0 $0

Virginia 0 0 0 $0

Washington 0c 0 0 $0

West Virginia 0 0 0 $0

Wisconsind na na na na

Wyoming na na na na

D.C. na na na na

Puerto Rico unk unk unk unk

Key:

a Incident Definition: A release of gas from a pipeline and at least one of the following:  (1) death, (2) injury requiring in-patient
hospitalization, or (3) property damage valued at $50,000 or more.

b Incident causes: Arkansas--construction/operating error
Mississippi--external corrosion
Texas--various

c Known incidents; it is possible that incidents did occur during the time period.  This may apply to incident information from
other states, as well.

d Safety jurisdiction assumed between 1995 and 1999.

unk Unknown

na Not applicable--no gas master meter systems in operation during period

> Greater than

< Less than

Sources of information: State pipeline regulators; State filings with the U.S. Department of Transportation.
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3.  REGULATORY AUTHORITY OVER THE SAFETY OF MASTER METER
SYSTEMS

3.1. INTRODUCTION

Regulatory authority over master meter systems is vested by the Federal pipeline safety law48 with the
U.S. Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT) and, by delegation, with the OPS.  The law permits
the states to assume jurisdiction and take responsibility for inspection and enforcement of intrastate
pipeline systems, including master meter systems.  The OPS actively encourages the states to assume
jurisdiction over master meter systems because the OPS considers states “better equipped to inspect
and otherwise deal with these localized gas distribution systems,"49 and because it was never the
intention of Congress or "the Federal approach to budgeting and resources" that the Federal
government take permanent responsibility for intrastate distribution systems, including master meter
systems.50  The OPS exercises jurisdiction only over those master meter systems for which states have
not assumed responsibility.

The reporting and safety requirements applicable to master meter systems are contained in Parts 191
and 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR).  Part 191 details the incident reports
required, while Part 192, the Minimum Federal Safety Standards, details the mandated minimum
safety requirements that must be complied with by the systems.  States that assume jurisdiction over
master meter systems may impose safety standards that are more stringent than the Federal safety
standards, but those standards must not be inconsistent with the Federal standards.51  The safety and
reporting requirements for master meter systems are similar, but not identical, to those for local gas
distribution systems (i.e., local gas utilities).  

Master meter systems, like local gas utilities, are required to do such things as provide training and
written instruction for their staff, prepare written procedures to ensure the safe operation of the system
and to "minimize the hazards resulting from natural gas pipeline emergencies," and keep records of
inspection and testing.52 

In addition, master meter operators, like gas distribution system operators, are required to develop
written Operation and Maintenance (O&M) Plans.  The provisions that these O&M plans must
address are slightly different for master meter systems than for local gas utilities.  Specifically, the
odorization provision is different, and there are several other provisions that master meter operators
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     55U.S. DOT, Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Gas Systems, pp. VIII-34, VIII-37.

     5649 CFR 192.614(e)(1).

     57U.S. DOT, Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Gas Systems, p. I-1.

     58U.S. Code, Title 49, Section 60105, as amended.

     59U.S. Code, Title 49, Section 60106, as amended.
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will probably not need to include in their plans because they address situations or conditions not
generally found on master meter systems.53  

In addition to an O&M Plan, master meter systems, like local gas distribution systems, must have
written Emergency Plans that address emergency response procedures.  The Emergency Plan may be
included as part of the O&M Plan; however, this need not be the case.  The provisions in the O&M
and Emergency Plans must be consistent with Federal (and, where applicable, state) standards and
requirements and with the actual procedures and practices of the system.54  

Master meter operators are required to provide telephonic notification whenever there is a release of
natural gas that results in a death, serious injury, or property damage of $50,000 or more, or that is
considered significant by the operator.  Unlike local gas distribution systems, they are not required to
file annual reports or written incident reports with the OPS.55  (State rules, however, may require that
both be filed with the state.)  They are also not required to develop written damage prevention
programs.56  (Again, state rules may require this.)  In addition, employees of master meter systems are
not subject to the drug testing requirements of 49 CFR Part 199.57

3.2. STATE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION

States may assume jurisdiction over the master meter systems operating within their boundaries. To
assume jurisdiction, a state agency must either (1) be annually certified by the U.S. DOT in
accordance with Section 60105 of Title 49 of the U.S. Code58 or (2) enter into an agreement with the
U.S. DOT in accordance with Section 60106 of Title 49 of the U.S. Code.59  The text of both of
these sections can be found in Appendix B.  States certified under Section 60105 take responsibility
for both inspection and enforcement, while states under a Section 60106 agreement take responsibility
for inspection and leave the responsibility for enforcement with the OPS.  

States are encouraged by the OPS to assume jurisdiction over their master meter systems.  The OPS
provides the states with financial incentives to take responsibility for their pipeline systems through the
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State Pipeline Safety Grants program.60  

At present, 43 states and the District of Columbia participate with the OPS in the regulation of the
safety of master meter systems.  Most states have assumed regulatory jurisdiction over master meter
systems under Section 60105 certifications.  Over the years, a few states have chosen to enter into
60106 agreements with the U.S. DOT.  Currently, Delaware is the only state whose master meter
system responsibility is covered by a 60106 agreement with the OPS.  States can surrender
jurisdictional authority if they so choose.  

Exhibit 4 identifies those states that had regulatory jurisdiction as of December 31, 1999, along with
the responsible state agencies.  Exhibit 5 presents a map showing the states with and without
jurisdiction.  In addition, the map identifies those states in which there are no master meter systems. 

To ensure that state inspection of pipeline facilities, including master meter systems, and state
enforcement actions are both appropriate and adequate, the OPS, through its Regional Offices,
regularly monitors the state pipeline safety programs.  As part of this effort, the OPS annually reviews
state inspection documentation (i.e., completed inspection forms and supporting documents) and
enforcement actions.  It also periodically observes state inspectors in the field.  Any inspection or
enforcement problems observed by the OPS are called to the attention of the inspectors or, where
appropriate, the state regulatory agency. 

To help ensure the quality of the state pipeline inspection program, the OPS requires that all state
pipeline inspectors complete a nine to ten course training program over a three-year period at the U.S.
Department of Transportation's Transportation Safety Institute (TSI) in Oklahoma City.  The OPS
also encourages the states to send their inspectors to TSI periodically for refresher courses to help
them keep up with changes in pipeline regulations.  

3.3. FEDERAL EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION

The OPS exercises jurisdiction over master meter systems only in cases where no state agency has
assumed jurisdiction.  Where it has jurisdiction, it is OPS policy to inspect master meter systems only
when there has been an accident or when the OPS becomes aware of a safety concern.61  The OPS
can become aware of a safety concern through a variety of means, including complaints from members
of the general public, reports of problems by state pipeline regulators, or observations made during
previous inspections. 

Currently, the OPS exercises full jurisdiction over master meter systems, if any, in Alaska, Hawaii,
Idaho, Michigan, Vermont, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, and Puerto Rico.  It also is responsible for
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enforcement activities in Delaware.  In addition, the OPS is responsible in states

EXHIBIT 4.  REGULATORY JURISDICTION OVER THE SAFETY OF MASTER
METER SYSTEMS BY STATE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1999

State Jurisdiction? Agency State Jurisdiction? Agency

Alabama Yes PSC Nebraska Yes SFM

Alaska No -- Nevada Yes PUC

Arizona Yes CC New Hampshire Yes PUC

Arkansas Yes PSC New Jersey Yes BPU

California Yes PUC New Mexico Yes SCC

Colorado Yes PUC New York Yes PSC

Connecticut Yes DPUC North Carolina Yes UC

Delaware Yes PSC North Dakota Yes PSC

Florida Yes PSC Ohio Yes PUC

Georgia Yes PSC Oklahoma Yes CC

Hawaii No -- Oregon Yes PUC

Idaho No -- Pennsylvania No --

Illinois Yes CC Rhode Island Yes DPUC

Indiana Yes URC South Carolina Yes PSC

Iowa Yes UB South Dakota Yes PUC

Kansas Yes CC Tennessee Yes RA

Kentucky Yes PSC Texas Yes RRC

Louisiana Yes DNR Utah Yes DC

Maine Yes PUC Vermont No --

Maryland Yes PSC Virginia Yes SCC

Massachusetts No -- Washington Yes UTC

Michigan No -- West Virginia Yes PSC

Minnesota Yes DPS Wisconsin Yes PSC

Mississippi Yes PSC Wyoming Yes PSC

Missouri Yes PSC D.C. Yes PSC

Montana Yes PSC Puerto Rico No --

Key:  BPU =Board of Public Utilities PSC = Public Service (or Safety) Commission
BRC =Board of Regulatory Commissioners PUC = Public Utility(ies) Commission
CC =Corporation (or Commerce) Commission RA = Regulatory Authority
DC =Department of Commerce RRC = Railroad Commission
DNR =Department of Natural Resources SCC = State Corporation Commission
DPS =Department of Public Service (or Safety) SFM = State Fire Marshal
DPU =Department (or Division) of Public Utilities UB = Utilities Board
DPUC =Department of Public Utility Control     UC = Utilities Commission 

   or Division of Public Utilities and Carriers      URC = Utility Regulatory Commission
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UTC = Utilities and Transportation Commission                                
                        

Sources of information: Various state agencies; state filings with OPS
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     62E-mail from Lloyd Ulrich, Office of Pipeline Safety, RSPA/U.S. DOT, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, August 16, 2001.
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with Section 60105 certifications or Section 60106 agreements for master meter systems that those
states do not oversee.  For example, California state pipeline safety regulators only have responsibility
for master meter systems at trailer parks, so the OPS is responsible for all other natural gas master
meter systems in that state.62

Federal inspection and enforcement is undertaken primarily by the OPS's five Regional Offices.  These
offices, the Eastern, Southern, Central, Southwestern, and Western, are located in Washington, D.C.;
Atlanta, Georgia; Kansas City, Missouri; Houston, Texas; and Lakewood, Colorado, respectively. 
Exhibit 6 lists the states served by each of the Regional Offices and Exhibit 7 presents a map of the
OPS regions.  
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EXHIBIT 6.  STATES SERVED BY THE OPS REGIONAL OFFICES

Regional Office States (and Others) Served

Eastern.............................................................. Connecticut, Delaware, the District of
Columbia, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New
Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania,
Rhode Island, Vermont, Virginia, and West Virginia

Southern........................................................... Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia,
Kentucky, Mississippi, North Carolina,
Puerto Rico, South Carolina, and Tennessee

Central.............................................................. Iowa, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Michigan,
Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio,
South Dakota, and Wisconsin

Southwestern.................................................... Arizona, Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma, 
and Texas

Western............................................................ Alaska, California, Colorado, Hawaii,
Idaho, Montana, Nevada, Oregon, Utah, Washington,
and Wyoming.
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4.  ONGOING EFFORTS TO IMPROVE/ENSURE THE SAFETY OF
MASTER METER SYSTEMS

4.1. INTRODUCTION

The states and the Federal government are currently engaged in a number of activities aimed at
improving or ensuring the safety of master meter systems in the U.S.  The primary activity undertaken
to improve or ensure the safety of the systems is inspection.  Other activities undertaken by regulators
include identifying master meter systems, providing operators of master meter systems with training,
encouraging master meter system operators to transfer their systems to gas suppliers, and encouraging
gas suppliers to accept operational responsibility or ownership of master meter systems.  

4.2. INSPECTION 

Inspection is one method used by both Federal and state safety regulators to ensure and improve the
safety of the master meter systems.  Exhibit 8 provides information on the frequency of inspection of
master meter systems by both Federal and state inspectors.  Exhibit 9 is a map showing the frequency
of master meter system inspection by state. The states are categorized according to the length of time
between each inspection.  

As shown in the two exhibits, in 19 states the frequency of inspection of master meter systems is at
least once a year.  Inspection occurs most frequently in Delaware, where state regulators report that
they inspect several times a year.  In seven states, the frequency of inspection is at least once every
two years.  Eight states inspect at least once every three years.  Two states, Virginia and California,
perform their inspections at intervals greater than three years.  Six states and D.C. have no master
meter systems.  In two states, Montana and Utah, the responsibility for master meter systems has
recently been assumed by state pipeline regulators, and regular inspection programs have not
commenced.  Georgia inspects systems consisting of steel pipe on an annual basis and inspects those
consisting of plastic pipe less frequently.  In all other states and in Puerto Rico, inspection is the
responsibility of the OPS and is irregular. 

It would seem that in those states with a greater frequency of inspection, safety would be enhanced
and the number of incidents would be less.  Unfortunately, it is not possible to test this hypothesis,
because information on master meter system incidents is not adequate for that purpose.

The number of state inspections performed at master meter systems in 1999 is presented in Exhibit 10. 
Master meter systems are sometimes composed of multiple parts, or “inspection units.” This can occur
when the system is large, or when the system has several discrete pieces that are not collocated.  As
shown in Exhibit 10, in 1999 a total of 3,092 master meter systems were inspected by the states.  This
appears to include multiple inspections of some
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EXHIBIT 8.  FREQUENCY OF INSPECTION OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS

State Responsibility for
Inspection

Frequency of Inspection

Alabama State Annually (at least)

Alaska Federal Irregular.  No state inspection.  Federal inspection in case of an
incident, complaint, or OPS learns of a safety concern.

Arizona State Annual--Schools, child day care centers, retirement care centers,
hospitals, churches, health care facilities, rehabilitation centers

Biennial--Prisons, apartments, mobile home parks, RV centers,
condos, businesses, campgrounds, industrial site, motels, hotels.

Arkansas State All master meter systems inspected at 12 to 24 month intervals

California State Less than once every three years, on average

Colorado State Annually

Connecticut State No master meter systems

Delaware State One to three times per year

Florida State Systems under PSC jurisdiction are evaluated annually.  Systems not
under direct PSC jurisdiction are required to be leak surveyed
annually by the utilities supplying those systems with their natural
gas.

Georgia State Systems with steel pipe may be inspected annually; systems that
have all plastic pipe are inspected less frequently; based on annual
reports to OPS, 

Hawaii Federal Irregular.  No state inspection.  Federal inspection in case of an
incident, complaint, or OPS learns of a safety concern.

Idaho Federal Irregular.  No state inspection.  Federal inspection in case of an
incident, complaint, or OPS learns of a safety concern.

Illinois State Annually, on average

Indiana State Inspected annually

Iowa State No master meter systems

Kansas State Inspected annually

Kentucky State Inspections occur on a three-year cycle

Louisiana State At least once per year

Maine State No master meter systems

Maryland State Once every 15 months

Massachusetts Federal Irregular.  No state inspection.  Federal inspection in case of an
incident, complaint, or OPS learns of a safety concern.

Michigan Federal No master meter systems

Minnesota State At least once each calendar year

Mississippi State Once per year
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Missouri State Currently inspected annually

EXHIBIT 8.  (CONT.)

State Responsibility for
Inspection

Frequency of Inspection

Montana State Not yet established

Nebraska State Once every two to three years

Nevada State Once every two years

New Hampshire State Once per year is goal

New Jersey State Once per year

New Mexico State At least once comprehensively every 36 months

New York State Annually or at least every other year

North Carolina State Inspected annually

North Dakota State Inspected annually

Ohio State Biennially

Oklahoma State Inspections occur on a one to three year cycle

Oregon State Try to inspect annually; maximum time allowed between inspections
is three years; longest actual time between inspections is two years

Pennsylvania Federal Irregular.  No state inspection.  Federal inspection in case of an
incident, complaint, or OPS learns of a safety concern.

Rhode Island State Once a year

South Carolina State Varies, but all sites are inspected at least once per year

South Dakota State Once each calendar year

Tennessee State Annually

Texas State Systems are scheduled for evaluation every three years

Utah State Not yet established

Vermont Federal No master meter systems

Virginia State Inspections are on a five year cycle

Washington State An average of 168 master meter system inspections per year have
occurred in the past five years

West Virginia State Once every 2½ years or sooner if deemed necessary

Newly recognized master meter systems inspected as soon as
practicable after identification

Wisconsin State Once every three years

Wyoming State No master meter systems

D.C. Local No master meter systems

Puerto Rico Federal Irregular.  No local inspection.  Federal inspection in case of an
incident, complaint, or OPS learns of a safety concern.
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Sources of information: Various state agencies; annual agency filings with the Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S. DOT.
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EXHIBIT 10.  INSPECTIONS OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS IN 1999

State/Other
Number Inspected

State/Other
Number Inspected

 Operators
(% of Total)

 Inspection
Units (% of

Total)*

 Operators
(% of Total)

Inspection
Units (% of

Total)*

Alabama 93 (100%) 111 (100%) Nebraska 1 (50%) 1 (50%)

Alaska 0 0 Nevada 2 (25%) 2 (25%)

Arizona 816 (69%) 816 (69%) New Hampshire 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

Arkansas 128 (64%) 230 (66%) New Jersey 20 (35%) 31 (34%)

California 622 (23%) 622 (23%) New Mexico 143 (65%) 181 (63%)

Colorado 40 (89%) 40 (89%) New York unk unk

Connecticut na na North Carolina 22 (104%) 22 (104%)

Delaware 8 (100%) 12 (100%) North Dakota 11 (100%) 11 (100%)
Florida 13 (100%) 13 (100%) Ohio 34 (69%) 54 (71%)

Georgia 50 (39%) 50 (39%) Oklahoma 75 (44%) 75 (44%)

Hawaii 0 0 Oregon 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

Idaho 0 0 Pennsylvania unk unk

Illinois 17 (77%) 17 (77%) Rhode Island 7 (100%) 7 (100%)

Indiana 52 (100%) 52 (100%) South Carolina 8 (100%) 8 (100%)

Iowa na na South Dakota 1 (50%) 1 (50%)

Kansas 27 (96%) 27 (96%) Tennessee 59 (100%) 59 (100%)

Kentucky 54 (51%) 54 (51%) Texas 286 (37%) 297 (35%)
Louisiana 145 (99%) 145 (99%) Utah 23 (5%) 23 (5%)

Maine na na Vermont na na

Maryland 53 (85%) 54 (86%) Virginia 34 (34%) 69 (32%)

Massachusetts 0 0 Washington 60 (23%) 60 (23%)

Michigan na na West Virginia 95 (48%) 147 (56%)

Minnesota 4 (100%) 4 (100%) Wisconsin circa 1 (3%) circa 1 (3%)

Mississippi 67 (91%) 74 (93%) Wyoming na na

Missouri 8 (100%) 8 (100%) D.C. na na
Montana 13 (54%) 13 (54%) Puerto Rico 0 0

Key:

unk = Unknown
na = Not applicable (no master meter systems)

Notes: 

*Master meter systems, especially large ones, may be composed of more than one inspection unit.

Source: Annual state/other agency filings with the Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S. DOT.
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Problem."

36

master meter systems (see, for example, North Carolina in Exhibit 10).  A total of 3,391 master meter
inspection units were inspected in 1999. This figure appears to include multiple inspections of some
inspection units.

4.3. OTHER ACTIVITIES

In addition to inspection, the Federal government and the states have undertaken a number of activities
to help improve or ensure the safety of master meter systems.  Exhibit 11 lists the major activities other
than inspection undertaken by the various agencies of the Federal government and the states.

4.3.1. Other Activities Undertaken by the States

As shown in Exhibit 11, a number of states report that they train master meter operators, either
formally or informally.  This is probably the most common activity beyond inspection undertaken by
the states to help improve or ensure the safety of master meter systems.  

A number of states have formal training programs.  Arizona, for example, annually provides master
meter operators with a day of classroom training and a day of hands-on field training with various
equipment.  In addition, it has a program for master meter operators that will lend them equipment for
use in leak surveys, corrosion control surveys, and pipe locating.63  Illinois, unlike most other states,
mandates formal training for everyone involved in the operation of gas systems, including master meter
systems.  Illinois state regulations stipulate, in some detail, the minimum requirements for the
procedures used in the training of the operations personnel.  The regulations allow master meter
operators, as well as operators of other small gas systems, to use training programs conducted by local
gas utilities, colleges and universities, consultants and others to obtain the required training.  The
section of the Illinois state regulations on training procedures is provided in Appendix C of this report.

In addition to formal training, information obtained from state pipeline regulators indicates that almost
every state that inspects master meter systems provides some level of informal training during
inspection.  This is needed to ensure that system operators have some understanding of what is
required of them and why.  When North Carolina began regulating the safety of master meter systems,
it found that the formal training it provided to operators had little effect on their performance.  It found
that the only way to get the operators to operate their systems in accordance with the Minimum
Federal Safety Standards was to work with the operators during inspection.64
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EXHIBIT 11.  ACTIVITIES BEYOND INSPECTION UNDERTAKEN TO IMPROVE
THE SAFETY OF MASTER METER SYSTEMS

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies

Alabama PSC Conducts seminars

Conducts workshops

Encourages Alabama Line Location Center membership

Alaska State has not assumed jurisdiction

Arizona CC Conducts annual master meter seminars 

Has a program for master meter operators under which they can borrow equipment  to
use for leak surveys, corrosion control surveys, and pipe locating

Arizona Administrative Code prohibits construction of new or expansion of existing
permanent residential mobile home parks

Encourages master meter operators to allow local distribution companies to install
individual meters and take over their systems

Arkansas PSC Provides training to new managers/owners of master meter systems (i.e., those with
less than two years of experience) on the minimum safety standards

Copies of all leak surveys and cathodic protection monitoring surveys must be
submitted by master meter operators to the state for review.  If reports indicate
problems, proof of actions to rectify deficiencies must be submitted by master meter
operators for review

Local distribution utilities are forbidden by state regulations to supply service to
“newly constructed”facilities through master meter systems, barring specific
exemptions

California PSC Local distribution companies have been encouraged to take over master meter systems

Colorado PUC Emphasizes training

Tries to encourage local distribution companies to absorb master meter systems

Connecticut PUC Pressed local distribution companies to avoid creating new master meter situations

Delaware PSC Regular pipeline safety educational seminars are offered locally or in conjunction with
neighboring states

Provides free updates of pipeline safety regulation booklets

When practicable, owners of new master meter systems are informed in advance of the
pipeline safety rules and regulations

Encourages master meter operators to let the local distribution  companies maintain
their systems for compliance with safety regulations
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EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

Florida PSC Ensures that all master meter systems are members of the local one-call notification
system

New master meter systems are banned for investor-owned utilities

New master meter systems are strongly discouraged for public gas systems

For regulated utilities, new requirements have been added, including leak surveys for
non-owned systems

Georgia PSC Offers training for master meter operators to help with compliance with state and
Federal regulations

Assists with qualifications for plastic fusion welding

Encourages local distribution companies to absorb master meter systems

Encourages master meter systems to enter into maintenance contracts

Hawaii State has not assumed jurisdiction

Idaho State has not assumed jurisdiction

Illinois CC Strongly encourages master meter operators to participate in educational and training
programs sponsored by state agencies and industry associations/organizations

Has encouraged local gas distribution companies to absorb the master meter systems
that they serve

Indiana URC Hosts bi-annual TSI seminar, which master meter operators are encouraged to attend

Encourages master meter operators to attend the annual Purdue University Corrosion
Short Course

Inspectors work with and provide information to master meter operators, upon request. 
Recent activities in this area relate to educating master meter operators about the
Operator Qualification rule and providing information to assist in compliance with the
rule

Iowa State does not allow master metering

Kansas CC Engages in random drop-in visits throughout the year

Currently has proposed regulation that master meter operators cannot make a profit on
gas sales

Currently has proposed regulation that new master meters will not be allowed
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EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

Kentucky PSC Works closely with the Kentucky Gas Association to encourage master meter
operators to take advantage of the training opportunities offered through that
organization

Training sessions specifically for master meter systems 

Training sessions for all utilities, including master meter systems

Encourages local distribution companies to absorb master meter systems

Louisiana DNR Conducts two small operator/master meter operator seminars annually

Performs operator training upon request

Maine No master meter operators

Maryland PSC Provides O&M manuals and emergency plans

Provides emergency plan training

Provides small operators’ course triennially

Massachusetts State has not assumed jurisdiction

Michigan No master meter systems

Minnesota DPS Master meter operators are invited to attend the annual Minnesota Office of Pipeline
Safety Educational Conference

Encourages local distribution companies to offer safety training to their master meter
operators

Newly identified master meter operators are encouraged to work with their local
distribution companies for replacement and/or take-over by the local distribution
companies

Underground master meter facilities are listed in the Gopher State Once Call database
for location and marking prior to planned excavation activities

Existing master meter operators have arrangements with their local distribution
company gas providers to perform most required safety functions

Mississippi PSC Holds training seminars
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Missouri PSC Working with investor-owned utilities to systematically replace facilities of master
meter systems using rates and tariffs of the utilities as the funding mechanism

Local investor-owned distribution companies have been tasked with performing leak
surveys for the master meter systems that they service.  Some leaks that are found
during those surveys are repaired by the local distribution company, which bills the
master meter operator for the cost.  Other leaks are left to the master meter operator to
repair.  In those cases, the operator has six months to complete the repairs.

EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

Montana PSC Provides training in the requirements, such as operation and maintenance plans and
emergency plans

Encourages master meter operators to let their local distribution company take over
their facilities

Nebraska SFM Treats master meter operators exactly the same as any other gas system operator

Will do occasional on-site training, if needed

Nevada PUC Hosts a pipeline safety seminar every three years with a portion dedicated to small
operators

Maintains a list of qualified contractors for distribution to small operators if requested

Inspectors often act as consultants to small operators

Will encourage local distribution companies to absorb master meter systems that are
unsafe or do not make any effort to comply with the safety codes 

New Hampshire PUC Encourages local distribution companies to perform operations and maintenance on
system

Strongly urges not installing a master meter system unless the local distribution
company will be performing the operations and maintenance for the system

New Jersey BPU Routinely corresponds with master meter operators to advise them of the requirement
to file annual master meter compliance certifications

Meets occasionally with local distribution companies to discuss ways of ensuring that
the master meter operators they serve continue to perform master meter safety
inspections

State pipeline safety regulations ban new master meter systems

When master meter operators have difficulty meeting their safety obligations, they are
encouraged to meet with their local gas supplier to discuss available options,
including turning the system over to the supplier

New Mexico SCC Teach operators while inspecting, and advise operators when appropriate
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New York PSC The local gas distribution company is required to take total responsibility for all
underground piping from gas mains to building walls regardless of where meters are
located

North Carolina Provides training for master meter operators

Holds operator meetings to which master meter system operators are invited

EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

North Dakota PSC All master meter operators are invited to an annual Federal/State gas pipeline safety
seminar

Provides assistance to any master meter operator needing help in writing or updating
plans

All O&M/Emergency Response Plans of master meter operators undergo a full review
at least once every three years 

Efforts being made to encourage local distribution companies to absorb master meter
systems

Efforts are being made to limit new master meter systems 

Ohio PUC Hosts safety seminars throughout Ohio to educate master meter operators

Has distributed copies of the Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Natural Gas
Systems and of Parts 191 and 192 to master meter operators

Has invited all master meter operators to their TSI seminars

Encourages local distribution companies to take over master meter systems

Oklahoma CC Holds two to three master meter seminars per year, which cover how to attain
compliance with state and Federal regulations

Works closely with local distribution companies to take over master meter systems
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Oregon PUC When staff is in the area, they try to take cathodic protection readings for master meter
systems

Encourages master meter operators to coordinate and communicate with the local
distribution company

Provides additional training, encourages operators to contact them with any questions
they may have, and encourages operators to read the Guidance Manual for Operators
of Small Natural Gas Systems 

Has made efforts to get local distribution companies to take over master meter systems

Gets immediate notification from local distribution companies of any requests to
become master meter operators, and meets with the requestors to explain the
requirements of the pipeline safety regulations

Pennsylvania State has not assumed jurisdiction

EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

Rhode Island DPUC Provides Microsoft Powerpoint presentation on gas safety, compliance with the codes,
and basic maintenance issues associated with gas master meter systems to the owners,
management, and maintenance workers at each master meter facility

Trying to get the one local distribution company with master meter customers to
absorb all of them and have offered to have the expenses absorbed by the ratepayers
in the interest of public safety

South Carolina PSC Makes the same resources available to master meter operators as are available to other
operators, including training, video tapes, publications, and visitations between
inspections

Has made efforts to get local distribution companies to absorb master meter systems

South Dakota PUC Has adopted rules that generally prohibit the construction of new master meter
systems.  A variance is needed from the Commission before a new master meter system
may begin operation
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Tennessee RA Sponsors gas pipeline safety seminars for master meter systems and small distribution
system operators

Encourages membership and participation in Tennessee Gas Association to promote
education and training in natural gas operations

Has recently conducted training on the Federal Operator Qualification (OQ) rule and
on the guidelines for developing OQ plans

Inspectors have informally encouraged master meter operators to consider transferring
ownership to local distribution companies if the operators are unable to comply with
all of the Minimum Federal Safety Standards

Texas RRC Annually conducts seminars for pipeline operators, including master meter system
operators

Conducts special investigations to assist master meter operators in understanding
applicable safety rules 

Has mandated that local distribution companies install and maintain over pressure
equipment at master meter locations where ten or more consumers are served low
pressure gas

Utah DPU Hosts an annual seminar to which master meter operators are invited in order to refresh
their knowledge of what is important concerning the safety of their systems

Has an agreement with a local distribution company to limit new master meters to
situations where individual meters would be impractical

Vermont No master meter systems

EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

Virginia CC Holds biennial pipeline safety seminars to which master meter operators are invited

Is working with gas utilities in the state to develop training materials specifically
designed for master meter operators.  After these materials have been developed, it is
planned that local seminars will be held at various locations around the state to train
master meter operators.

Encourages local distribution companies to work with the master meter systems they
serve in order to help ensure the safe delivery of gas
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Washington UTC Uses a more stringent definition of master meter operators than the U.S. DOT’s Office
of Pipeline Safety

Educates during inspection, walking the master meter operators through the process
and assisting the operators in meeting compliance requirements

Invites master meter operators to DOT-sponsored seminars

Requires annual reporting of pipe inventory and cause of leaks

Provides master meter operators with samples of plans, procedures, and forms

Encourages master meter operators to replace their systems with an individually
metered utility system

West Virginia PSC Copies of Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Natural Gas Systems are provided
during initial inspection of master meter systems (and sometimes during follow-ups),
along with sample O&M plans and emergency plans

Encourages master meter operators to contact Miss Utility of West Virginia, Inc., the
local one-call notification system, about membership

Has worked closely with some local distribution companies to encourage them to
acquire master meter systems

Wisconsin PSC Copies of Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Natural Gas Systems are provided
to operators

Copies of pipeline safety regulations are provided to operators

Staff is currently in the process of creating a model O&M plan for master meter
operators that will be made available for their use

Encourages local distribution companies to acquire master meter systems

Encourages master meter systems to allow their facilities to be taken over by local
distribution companies

Wyoming No jurisdictional master meter systems

D.C. No master meter systems

EXHIBIT 11.  (CONT.)

Agency Activities

State/Local Agencies (Cont.)

Puerto Rico Commonwealth has not assumed jurisdiction

Federal Agencies
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U.S. Department of
Transportation

Prepares, updates, and distributes the Guidance Manual for Operators of Small
Natural Gas Systems.  To facilitate and extend distribution, an electronic version of
this manual has been made available on the Internet

Holds, co-sponsors, and/or participates in training seminars for pipeline operators,
including master meter operators, throughout the U.S.  Some of these seminars are
specifically designed to help small operators, such as master meter operators.

Provides telephone help and assistance to pipeline operators, including small
operators

Works and participates with associations that support small operators

Has developed a PowerPoint training presentation for in-house use by staff of small
operators.  This presentation can be downloaded from the Internet

Offers participation to small operators, including master meter operators, in PEPG
(Pipeline Employee Performance Group) training development meetings

Prepares, updates, and distributes Pipeline Safety Regulations.  Also makes
regulations available on the Internet

Encourages states that do not regulate master meter systems to seek authority to do
so

U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban
Development

Various activities directed at helping to ensure the safety of master meter systems
associated with public housing

Key:

BRC = Board of Regulatory Commissioners PSC = Public Service Commission
CC = Corporation (or Commerce) Commission PUC = Public Utility(ies) Commission
DC = Department of Commerce PC = Railroad Commission
DNR = Department of Natural Resources SCC = State Corporation Commission
DPS = Department of Public Service SFM = State Fire Marshall
DPU = Department (or Division) of Public Utilities TSI = U.S. DOT/RSPA/Transportation Safety Institute
DPUC = Department of Public Utility Control     
UC = Utilities Commission 
OPS = Office of Pipeline Safety        URC = Utility Regulatory Commission

UTC = Utilities and Transportation Commission                        
                                

Sources of information: Various state agencies; OPS Regional Offices; TSI; state filings with OPS
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     65Letter from Philip Sher, Associate Engineer, Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control, to Paul Zebe,
Volpe Center, December 18, 1989.  

     66Letter from Terry Fronterhouse, Chief of Pipeline Safety, Pipeline Safety Section, Arizona Corporation
Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 21, 2000.

     67Letter from W.R. Ellis, Pipeline Safety Program Manager, Missouri Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe,
Volpe Center, December 4, 1989.

     68Information from Richard C. Huriaux, P.E., Director, Office of Engineering, Public Service Commission of the
District of Columbia, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 15, 1989, and subsequent information.

     69E-mail from Edward Mills, Florida Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 3, 2000.

     70Letters from Ram Veerapaneni, Supervisor, Gas Operations, Michigan Public Service Commission, of December
1, 1989 and February 11, 1993 to U.S. DOT. 

     71E-mail from David McMillan, New Jersey Board of Public Utilities, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, December 4, 2000.

     72Letter from Donald J. Stursma, P.E., Principal Gas & Water Engineer, Bureau of Rate & Safety Evaluation, Iowa
State Utilities Board, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 15, 1989.
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A number of states attempt to (1) get master meter system operators to let their facilities be taken over
by the local gas utilities supplying them,  (2) get operators to have the maintenance or operation and
maintenance of their systems be taken over by their gas suppliers, or (3) ban master meter systems.  

Regulators in various states report that their agencies have made efforts to get the facilities of master
meter systems taken over by the utilities supplying the systems with gas. These efforts have frequently
met with success.  In Connecticut, for example, due to the efforts of regulators, all existing master
meter systems were phased out.65  In Arizona, local gas distribution companies and state pipeline
regulators have encouraged master meter operators to allow their gas suppliers to install individual
meters.  As a result of these efforts, approximately 350 master meter operators were eliminated in
Arizona between 1995 and 2000.66  In Missouri in 1984, state regulators worked with KPL Gas
Service and got KPL to take over the facilities from a majority of the master meter systems at trailer
parks in the KPL service area.67  In the District of Columbia as a result of regulator activities, all
master meter systems, as defined by the OPS, have been taken over by the local gas distribution
company.68  In Florida, new master meter systems have been banned for investor-owned utilities. 
New systems are strongly discouraged for public utilities.  As a result, it is reported that no new master
meter systems have been built in years.69  In Michigan, as a result of Michigan Public Service
Commission Cases U-4211 (April 29, 1974) and U-4985 (August 29, 1977), and a plan developed
in 1992 in cooperation with utility representatives, "...the installation of centrally metered facilities has
essentially been banned....”70  In New Jersey, state pipeline safety regulations do not permit new
master meter systems.71

Only one state, Iowa, has effectively banned master meter systems completely.  Iowa state regulations
do not permit master meters.72  The regulations of the state require that
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     73Iowa Rules, 199-19.3(1)b.

     74E-mail from Jeffrey Kline, Senior Valuation Engineer, Safety Section, Office of Gas & Water, New York State
Department of Public Service to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 6, 2000.

     75A service regulator is "a device designed to reduce and limit the gas pressure to a consumer" [Guidance
Manual for Operators of Small Gas Systems, p. A-4.].
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All gas delivered to multi-occupancy premises where units are separately rented or owned shall
be sold by a utility on the basis of individual meter measurement for each unit except for that gas
used in centralized heating, cooling or water-heating systems, where individual metering is
impractical, where a facility is designated for elderly or handicapped persons and utility costs
constitute part of the operating cost and are not apportioned to individual tenants, or where
submetering or resale of service was permitted prior to 1966.73

New York State, which permits master meter systems, requires that local gas utilities take
responsibility for all underground piping from gas mains to building walls.74  This effectively eliminates
much of the risk associated with master meter systems.  

4.3.2. Other Activities Undertaken by the Federal Government

The U.S. DOT has undertaken a number of activities to improve or ensure the safety of master meter
systems, as can be seen in Exhibit 11.  It periodically updates and distributes its Guidance Manual
for Operators of Small Gas Systems.  This manual was developed to provide a broad, general
overview of the requirements of the Federal pipeline safety regulations for a non-technical audience.  It
covers reports and plans required by the OPS, the materials qualified for use in gas systems,
construction and repair of systems, and the proper location and design of customer meters and service
regulators.75  It also provides the reader with a list of sources of additional information.  The manual,
last revised in 1997, has been widely distributed to master meter systems.  A new update of the
manual is currently being prepared. The 1997 version is currently available not only in hard copy, but
also an electronic version of the manual is available on the Internet at
www.tsi.dot.gov/divisions/pipeline/pipe_docs/som.htm.  

The OPS Regional Offices provide some informal training to the master meter system operators with
whom they come into contact in the course of inspecting master meter systems.  The OPS Regional
Offices are also active in sponsoring, participating in, and encouraging formal training seminars for
master meter systems.  They also encourage states that have not assumed master meter jurisdiction to
do so.

The U.S. DOT’s Transportation Safety Institute (TSI), which, like the OPS, is part of the Research
and Special Programs Administration, is a key player in the formal training of master meter and other
gas pipeline system operators.  Each year it conducts training seminars and meetings in Oklahoma
City, where it is located, and at many other sites throughout the country.  Many states, as well as the
OPS regional offices, sponsor TSI training seminars for gas pipeline system operators, including
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     76Arthur D. Little, Inc., Natural Gas Pipeline Safety in Master-Metered Residential Areas, p. iii.

     77S. Atallah, P. Athens, D. Jeffreys, R. Linstrom, and J. O'Brien, Handbook on Natural Gas Pipeline Safety in
Residential Areas Served by Master Meters.

     78Atallah, S., Athens, P., Jeffreys, D., Linstrom, R., and O'Brien, J., Handbook on Natural Gas Pipeline Safety in
Residential Areas Served by Master Meters, p. I.

     79Telephone conversation between Charles Ashmore, HUD, and Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, January 11, 1990.

     80Letter from James S. Stites, Chief, Gas Department, Utilities Division, South Carolina Public Service Commission,
Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 14, 1989.
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master meter system operators.

Like the U.S. DOT, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (U.S. HUD), which is
responsible at the Federal level for public housing in the U.S., also has an interest in the safety of
master meter systems because many public housing projects in the U.S. are served by gas master
meter systems.  In the mid-1970s, U.S. HUD had Arthur D. Little, Inc., do a study "...to assess
natural gas pipeline safety in residential areas served by master meters."76  This study was used as the
basis for a HUD master meter system safety guide entitled, Handbook on Natural Gas Pipeline
Safety in Residential Areas Served by Master Meters, which was published in 1975.77  The
underlying purpose of this guide was 

...to make housing project managers, maintenance engineering staff, and designers and architects
of HUD-assisted and HUD-insured housing projects and mobile home parks aware of their
responsibilities under the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act.78

The U.S. HUD guide was superseded by DOT's Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Gas
Systems, which U.S. HUD has distributed in the past to public housing authorities around the
country.79

U.S. HUD has operated a variety of programs over the years that could be used by public housing
authorities to obtain funding to bring their master meter systems into compliance with the minimum
Federal Safety Standards.  Master meter operators in a number of states, including South Carolina,
are reported to have availed themselves of U.S. HUD funding in order to finance system safety
improvements.80
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     81Dixon, "How North Carolina Solved Its Master Meter Problem," p. 26.
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5.  IMPROVING THE MASTER METER SYSTEM INSPECTION PROGRAM

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Inspection is one of the important activities undertaken by the states and the Office of Pipeline Safety
(OPS) to ensure and improve the safety of master meter systems in the U.S.  While other activities
may have a potential for improving the safety of the systems (these will be discussed in the next
chapter), none is currently as widely used as inspection.  

When the states or the OPS send an inspector to a master meter system, the inspector almost always
provides informal training in one form or another.  The inspector may explain how to operate a pipe
locator, or why it is important to periodically do leak surveys, or how to do a leak survey.  In some
cases, the inspector will sit down with the operator and review the regulations, explaining what the
operator needs to do and how it is to be done.  The training provided by inspectors is essential to the
safe operation of master meter systems.  In fact, in many cases it is the only gas pipeline safety training
an operator receives.  

Inspectors also help identify problems before those problems get worse.  This is an important function
of inspectors at any pipeline operation.  It is an essential function at master meter systems, because the
operators often may not recognize a problem and, if they do, often may not know how to correct it. 
When the OPS inspects and finds violations, it undertakes enforcement actions requiring the master
meter system operator to take remedial action to bring the system into compliance with the Federal
pipeline safety code.  The states with Section 60105 certifications take similar actions when violations
are found, while those with Section 60106 agreements refer enforcement actions to the OPS.

Master meter system operators, unlike the operators of most other types of gas pipeline systems, are
not usually gas pipeline professionals.  They are property owners, property managers, property
maintenance people, and sometimes even janitors.  They generally have little or no understanding of
natural gas or how to handle it safely.  It is reported, for instance, that one master meter operator was
surprised to find that natural gas did not flow through the pipes as a liquid.81  

It is evident from the foregoing that inspection is quite important to the safety of master meter systems. 
Given its importance, the question arises as to whether the current Federal/state cooperative program
of inspection is sufficient, and, if not, how it might be improved.  

5.2. IS THERE A NEED FOR AN IMPROVED INSPECTION PROGRAM?

The need for an improved inspection program would logically appear to hinge on the historical safety
performance of master meter systems.  If the performance has been good and there is no reason to
assume that it will change in the future, then there is no need for an improved inspection program.  If
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     82Of the 37 states with master meter systems for which incident data is provided in Exhibit 3, 20 inspect master
meter systems at least once a year, 8 inspect them at least once every two years, and 7 inspect less frequently than
biennially.  Two of the states have not yet established an inspection schedule.

     83U.S. DOT, "Exercise of Jurisdiction Over Master Meter Gas Operators," p. 9.

     84Letter from Myron Thompson, Chief, Pipeline Safety, Arkansas Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, December 1, 1989; letter from R. Lynnard Tessner, Georgia Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, December 5, 1989.
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the performance is poor or there is some compelling reason to believe that today's good performance
will deteriorate in the future, then an improved inspection program might be in order.  Unfortunately,
the data available on master meter incidents (see Exhibit 3) is too sparse to support an analysis to
make such a determination.  Furthermore, the data that exists is mostly from states with active master
meter inspection programs, limiting its usefulness in any determination of the impact of an improved
inspection program on the safety of master meter systems in states without such programs.82  Little
data exists for those states without active master meter inspection programs.  

Because OPS policy in the states where it exercises jurisdiction is to inspect only when there is an
accident or a safety concern, it might be assumed that OPS inspections conducted following incidents
could be counted and used to bolster the available state incident data.  Unfortunately, it is not clear
that the OPS is notified of all master meter incidents where it exercises jurisdiction.  Many master
meter operators may not know that they are supposed to report accidents.  Others may know that
they are supposed to report, but not how or to whom, and still others may simply ignore the
requirement for various reasons (this may also be true in some of the states where state agencies have
assumed jurisdiction).  In the 1970s and early 1980s when the OPS required annual reporting by all
master meter operators, only an estimated 1.5 to 2.3 percent ever filed a report.83  Although this
experience may not necessarily be reflective of the experience of the OPS with the reporting of master
meter system incidents, it is indicative of the possibility of under-reporting.

Although there is a paucity of master meter accident data, there are some indications of the relative
performance of master meter systems. Many regulators have found from their experience that master
meter system operators, unlike the operators of other gas distribution systems, are generally
inadequately trained to safely operate and maintain their systems.  Consequently, the potential for
problems is considered greater on master meter systems than on other distribution systems.  It should
be noted that the opinion that master meter systems are not as safe as other systems is not universal. 
Pipeline regulators in several states have reported that the safety of master meter systems in their states
is no worse than that of any other distribution system.84

  
One way to assess the adequacy of the current regime of master meter system inspection (and thereby
assess the need for an improved inspection program) without accident data would be to compare the
frequency of master meter system inspection with the frequency of inspection of similar types of
pipeline systems, such as other gas distribution systems.  The frequency of inspection that is needed for
a particular type of system will depend, to a greater or lesser extent, on the risk of an accident (i.e., the
probability of an accident times its expected consequences).  Consequently, comparing the relative
risk of accidents on master meter systems with that of accidents on other gas distribution systems

I&E Attachment E 
Page 57 of 86

Page 152 of 628



51

would provide some indication of the frequency of inspection needed for master meter systems.  To
perform this comparison, it is necessary to look at the relative probabilities of accidents on the two
types of systems and the relative consequences of accidents.

If master meter systems are less safe than other gas distribution systems, the probability of a master
meter accident will be greater than that of an accident on other gas distribution systems.  If master
meter systems are no less safe than other gas distribution systems, the probability of a master meter
accident will be about the same as that of an accident on other gas distribution systems.  In the
absence of good data, the probability of an accident on a master meter system can be expected to be
greater than or equal to the probability of an accident on other gas distribution systems.

Master meter systems often serve mobile home parks, public housing authorities, apartment
complexes, and other locations where there are concentrations of people.  Many other gas distribution
systems also serve concentrations of people.  The concentrations of people served by master meter
systems are almost certainly no less dense than the concentrations of people served by other gas
distribution systems, and they may be denser.  Consequently, the consequences of an accident on a
master meter system will be no less than those of an accident on some other gas distribution system. 
This assumes that (1) accidents on other gas distribution systems are no more damaging than accidents
on master meter systems and (2) property in the vicinity of accidents on master meter systems is no
less valuable than property in the vicinity of accidents on other gas distribution systems.

Based on the foregoing, it would appear that the risk of an accident on a master meter system will be
no less than that of an accident on other gas distribution systems, and, in fact, it may be greater. 
Therefore, based on comparative risk, it would appear that inspections of master meter systems should
be no less frequent than inspections of other gas distribution systems.  It may be, of course, that
inspections should be more frequent.

Under Section 108(a) of the Pipeline Safety Reauthorization Act of 1988, if necessary funds are
appropriated, the OPS is required to inspect all gas distribution systems over which it exercises
jurisdiction at least once every two years.  The OPS is permitted to inspect master meter systems at a
reduced frequency, should this be considered appropriate.  If two years is taken as the maximum
acceptable interval between inspections, then master meter systems in at least 15 states are not being
inspected often enough (see Exhibits 8 and 9).  In 5 of those states -- Alaska, Hawaii, Idaho,
Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania -- inspection is solely the responsibility of the OPS.  In the others --
California, Kentucky, Nebraska, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Oregon, Texas, Virginia, West Virginia,
and Wisconsin -- inspection is performed by the state.
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     85E-mail from William Gute, Regional Director, Eastern Region, Office of Pipeline Safety, RSPA/U.S. DOT, to Paul
Zebe, Volpe Center, June 19, 2001.

     86Telephone conversation between Mahendra Jhala, Chief, Utilities Safety Branch, California Public Service
Commission, and Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, December 19, 2000.
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5.3. PROBLEMS TO BE OVERCOME IN IMPLEMENTING AN IMPROVED
INSPECTION PROGRAM 

If an improved inspection program that increases the frequency of inspection of master meter systems
is implemented, it will require the participation of pipeline regulators in every state.  This will be
necessary because (1) the states are better equipped to deal with local distribution systems and (2) the
OPS does not have resources to take responsibility for inspection of the master meter systems. 
Undertaking improvement of master meter system inspection at the state level, however, will require
overcoming several potential problems.  

5.3.1. Getting States to Assume Jurisdiction Over Their Master Meter Systems

An improved master meter inspection program will necessitate that all states assume safety jurisdiction
for their master meter systems.  Currently, the states of Alaska, Hawaii, Idaho, Massachusetts, and
Pennsylvania, as well as the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, do not regulate master meter systems and
cannot say definitively that they have no natural gas master meter systems. Michigan also does not
regulate master meter systems, but that state eliminated them prior to giving up jurisdiction.  Vermont
does not regulate master meter systems, but does not have any.  

It is reported that the most common reason why state regulators do not regulate master meter systems
is that they have not been given the statutory authority to do so, and, as a matter of policy, generally
do not seek to expand their authority.  Furthermore, regulating master meter systems would require
additional staff and most do not have a funding mechanism.  It should be noted that most of these state
regulators are not against regulating master meters.  If legislation were introduced giving them authority
over master meter system safety,  they would generally not oppose it.85  

The situation in California may not be atypical with regard to expansion of regulatory authority. 
California currently only regulates master meter systems at mobile home parks.  California regulators
report that they would need to show the state legislature the benefits of expanded regulation before the
legislature would approve an expansion.  Currently, they feel that they are incapable of doing so
because they lack hard data on master meter system incidents and consequences at sites in California
other than mobile home parks.86   

5.3.2. Getting States to Increase Inspection Frequency

Getting states to increase the frequency of master meter inspection may require action by state
legislatures to approve funding and increased numbers of safety inspectors, and will definitely require
action by state safety agencies to undertake and allocate funding to support increased numbers of
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     87NARUC, Utility Regulatory Policy in the United States and Canada, Compilation 1995-1996, Washington,
DC, 1996, Table 297.

     88This was range was derived as follows.  Currently, there are 7,342 known master meter systems.  It is estimated
that there are 8,343 master meter systems in total.  This means that 1,001 systems additional systems would need to
be inspected once every two years, or 501 additional systems would need to be inspected per year.  Also, the
frequency of inspection would need to be increased in California, Kentucky, Nebraska, New Mexico, Oklahoma,
Texas, Virginia, West Virginia, and Wisconsin (see Exhibit 8).  If these states were to inspect biennially, then a total
of 716 more systems would need to be inspected annually (to be conservative, where a range was given in Exhibit 8,
the longest time between inspections was used in the calculations that were made).  Adding 501 and 716 yields 1,217
more systems to be inspected each year.  Assuming the information in Exhibit 10 is representative of the relationship
between systems and inspection units, then 1,325 additional inspection units would need to be inspected per year. 
One inspection per inspection unit was assumed.  To be conservative, a general (non-statistical) range was used,
rather than the point estimate of 1,325.  

     89In 1996, a recent year for which data is readily available, 294 inspectors working a total of 272 labor years
inspected 8,107 natural gas inspection units (see U.S. DOT, “Report on Pipeline Safety, Calendar Years 1995-1996",
p. 44).  This is an average of 29.8 inspections per labor year.  In 1995, 288 inspectors working a total of 234.79 labor
years inspected 8,435 natural gas inspection units (see U.S. DOT, “Report on Pipeline Safety, Calendar Years 1995-
1996", p. 42).  This is an average of 35.9 inspections per labor year.
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inspections per year.  In some cases, this might require convincing state legislatures and regulators that
increased inspection frequency would be beneficial.  The total cost of increased inspection to the states
that inspect less frequently than biennially would appear fairly low, even when including the states that
do not currently regulate master meter system safety.

Assuming that all existing state pipeline inspectors are now fully employed, undertaking at least biennial
master meter inspections for the master meter systems by state agencies will involve the hiring of
additional inspection staff.  If a state has no pipeline safety jurisdiction whatsoever, new offices may
need to be created that would include not only inspectors but also managerial and clerical staff.  The
average annual salary, as of December 31, 1995, of the full-time gas safety inspectors employed by
the states participating in the gas pipeline safety program, according to the National Association of
Regulatory Utility Commissioners, ranged from $16,000 in Vermont to $62,304 in Colorado.87  After
overhead and other costs are added to the salaries, the cost of hiring an inspector can be substantial. 
In some states, such as California, where the number of master meter systems unregulated by the state
is probably quite large, several new hires might be required.  

On the basis of master meter systems being inspected at least once every two years, it is quite possible
that it would be necessary to perform 1,000 to 1,500 additional master meter inspections per year.88 
Those inspections would be distributed across 14 different states, plus Puerto Rico (these are where
inspection occurs less frequently than once every two years). To perform those inspections, a total of
about 28 to 50 additional inspectors would be needed.  This estimate of the number of additional
inspectors needed assumes that (1) the state or commonwealth undertakes to perform all needed
inspections, (2) all state pipeline inspectors are currently fully employed (i.e., they have no free time to
do any additional inspections), and (3) an inspector can be expected perform between 30 and 36
inspections, on average, per year.89  

I&E Attachment E 
Page 60 of 86

Page 155 of 628



     90Telephone conversation with Al Kirchem, California Public Service Commission, March 9, 1990.

     91SASC, An Analysis of Natural Gas Master Meter Systems (Definition & Program) From A Federal Perspective,
p. 5-10.

     92Telephone conversation with Ronald Wiest, MN OPS, March 6, 1990; Telephone conversation with Ronald
Wiest, Steven Sweeney, and Scott Olsen, MN OPS, March 7, 1990; letter from Walt Kelly, Director, MN OPS, to
RSPA, February 12, 1993. 
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To put the number of additional inspectors into perspective, in 1996 there were 294 state inspectors
involved with natural gas safety.  An additional 28 to 50 would represent a 10 to 17 percent increase
in the total number of inspectors.  It would, of course, represent an even greater percentage of the
number of inspectors employed by the states where the inspection frequency falls short of once every
2 years.  If it is assumed that the total cost of a state pipeline inspector, including salary and benefits
and direct support costs (e.g., travel, training, and equipment) is $50,000 per year, on average, then
the additional inspectors will cost the states and commonwealths between $1,400,000 and
$2,500,000 per year (not including any associated management, administrative, and legal costs). 
Spread among 14 states plus Puerto Rico, this is not an enormous amount of money.  Assuming that
the total cost is $100,000 per year per inspector, the total cost, which is between $2.8 million and $5
million, still does not appear excessive when spread among 14 states and Puerto Rico.  Of course, this
total cost will not necessarily be borne equally by all of the states, and the additional amount required
could be viewed as burdensome by some state legislatures or regulatory agencies.

One impediment to states assuming jurisdiction may be industry resistance.  Although the California
Public Service Commission now has jurisdiction over master meter systems at mobile home parks, it is
reported that the mobile home industry was instrumental in blocking some legislation that would have
given the PSC that jurisdiction at an earlier date.90  Resistance by industry, where it exists, is probably
the result, in great measure, of a fear that changes in safety regulation will result in additional costs that
will have to be borne by industry.  

5.3.3. Identifying Master Meter Systems

Whenever jurisdiction is obtained, one of the first tasks facing state agencies is that of identifying the
master meter systems operating in the state.  This is not necessarily a simple process.  It can prove to
be both time-consuming and expensive if it requires an on-site inspection to determine whether a
purchaser of gas is operating a master meter system.  This is often the case, because local gas utilities,
the primary source of information, will not always have sufficiently detailed records to determine if a
system is a master meter system as defined by the OPS.91

In 1988-89, the Minnesota Office of Pipeline Safety (MN OPS) began a program to identify all of the
master meter systems in the state.  As a first step, the OPS asked all the utilities in Minnesota for the
names of everyone who purchased gas for redistribution.  Unfortunately, the information gathered was
inadequate, and site visits by OPS staff were necessary.92  
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     93Federal Register, August 27, 1999, Vol. 64, No. 166, pp. 46853-46867. 

     94E-mail from Frederick A. Joyner, Regional Director, Southern Region, Office of Pipeline Safety, RSPA/U.S. DOT,
to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, May 24, 2001. 
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In Ohio, the original list of potential master meter operators was 550.  This was reduced by the Ohio
Public Utilities Commission (OH PUC) staff to 295. Then, in 1989, an additional 850 potential
operators were found.  By the end of 1992 the number of identified master meter systems was 149,
with a list of 596 potential ones remaining for the OH PUC to investigate. 

5.3.4. Obtaining Sufficient Inspectors to Perform the Inspections

To perform additional inspections, some state regulatory agencies will undoubtedly need to hire
additional inspectors.  This may present some problems, at least in the short-term, since the number of
individuals who are both qualified and willing to be inspectors is not unlimited.  The problem appears
to be that salaries paid by the state pipeline safety agencies are often too low to attract many people
who are qualified.  

From time to time, state pipeline safety agencies report that they come under a hiring freezes and are
not permitted to hire inspectors.  This could prove to be a problem if, after assuming jurisdiction, the
state agencies find that they have a relatively large number of master meter systems to inspect. 
Although it is likely that a hiring freeze would be relaxed if the additional responsibility (i.e., the need to
inspect master meter systems) considerably increased the workload of an agency, this is not certain.  If
the hiring freeze were not relaxed, it is likely that master meter system inspection by the state, though
officially authorized, would not get underway (i.e., the state would probably not cut back on its other
inspection programs to accommodate master meter system inspection).  The same kind of problem
would result if state agencies are not under a hiring freeze but are turned down when they seek
permission to hire the additional inspectors needed.

5.4.  OPERATOR QUALIFICATION AND MASTER METER SYSTEMS

In 1999, the Office of Pipeline Safety issued a final rule requiring “...pipeline operators to develop and
maintain a written qualification plan for individuals performing covered tasks on pipeline facilities.” 
This new rule, which is currently being phased in, covers master meter operators, along with most
other hazardous liquid and gas pipeline operators.  The rule is expected to “...ensure a qualified work
force and...reduce the probability and consequence of incidents caused by human error.”93 

This rule to some extent represents an alternative to an improved program master meter system
inspection.94  It is expected by both Federal and state pipeline safety regulators that the new Operator
Qualification rule will improve the safety performance of master meter systems by forcing master meter
operators to do one of the following:  (1) hire qualified staff, (2) hire qualified contractors, or (3) turn
their operations over to the local gas distribution systems and get out of the gas distribution business. 
In some cases, it might be noted, to meet the requirements of the Operator Qualification rule, master
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meter operators are likely to hire their local gas distribution companies. 

In some cases, the new Operator Qualification rule may indeed obviate the need for an improved
program of master meter system inspection.  It will not do so, however, in all cases.  There are master
meter operators who do not currently understand what their responsibilities are with respect to
ensuring the safety of their systems, and as a consequence do not perform those functions in an
appropriate (and safe) manner.  There is some question as to whether the Operator Qualification rule
will have much of an impact on those operators, unless state or Federal pipeline regulators force the
issue.  Its impact on operators not currently subject to regular inspection is problematic, and arguably
it is these very same operators who need the rule the most.
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     95Letter from Myron Thompson, Chief, Pipeline Safety, Arkansas Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, December 1, 1989.

     96Letter from Myron Thompson, Chief, Pipeline Safety, Arkansas Public Service Commission, to Paul Zebe, Volpe
Center, December 1, 1989.
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6.  AN ALTERNATIVE TO AN IMPROVED INSPECTION PROGRAM

6.1. INTRODUCTION 

A problem with inspection of master meter systems is that the gains in safety made by additional
inspections are often temporary.  As discussed earlier, persons who operate master meter systems are
generally not qualified gas pipeline professionals.  The training provided during inspection helps make
those who operate master meter systems better able to run their systems safely.  Unfortunately, there is
a high turnover of people working at master meter systems (which, in large part, appears to be the
result of low wages).  It is reported that in Arkansas, for example, an inspector often deals with a
different person every time a system is contacted.95  When individuals who have received training from
inspectors leave, they take their training and gas pipeline "experience" with them.  It is lost to the
master meter system.  Important records may also be lost.96   

The goal to improve the safety of master meter systems may not necessarily involve improving their
inspection by Federal or state personnel.  Since local gas utilities have qualified gas pipeline
professionals, an alternative would be to turn responsibility for master meter systems over to the local
gas utility companies.  This alternative, which can be accomplished in three different ways, is discussed
in the remainder of this chapter. 

6.2. BAN MASTER METER SYSTEMS

One way to get local gas utility companies to assume the responsibility for master meter systems would
be to ban master meter systems. This would effectively eliminate any safety problems associated with
the distribution of natural gas by master meter systems.  It would, of course, also eliminate the need for
the inspection of master meter systems.  

A ban on master meter systems would force the transfer of gas customers from master meter systems
to local gas utilities (provided, of course, that the master meter systems did not circumvent the ban by
switching to another fuel, such as propane).  Utilities may require that landlords who formerly operated
master meter systems pay a portion of the cost of hooking their tenants up to the gas distribution
system (the portion may be as high as 100 percent).  This charge should be no greater than what it
would be for hooking up a new property of comparable size.  Landlords may be able to recoup part
of their costs by selling or transferring the facilities of their master meter systems to the gas utilities,
though many utilities would not be interested in the underground piping of systems unless they are able
to verify that it is in compliance with the Minimum Federal Safety Standards.  To ensure that landlords
get fair prices for the facilities they transfer to utilities, it may be necessary for state regulators to
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     97Order, Case No. U-4211, Michigan Public Service Commission, April 29, 1974, p. 4, and its February 11, 1993 letter
to RSPA.

     98E-mail from Jeffrey Kline, Senior Valuation Engineer, Safety Section, Office of Gas & Water, New York State
Department of Public Service, to Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, November 6, 2000.

     99Telephone conversation with Dean Scott, Texas Railroad Commission.
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establish pricing guidelines.

Only one state, Iowa, has effectively banned all gas master meter systems.  Three other states,
Arkansas, Michigan, and New Jersey, have banned all new master meter systems.  Existing systems in
these states, however, are not affected by the ban and may continue to operate (no systems operate in
Michigan any longer due to the restrictions imposed on them by the Michigan Public Service
Commission in its Order in Case No. U-421 and to the state’s 1992 requirement that local gas utilities
offer to take master meter systems over).97  By making the local gas utility responsible for underground
piping up to the building wall, New York State's regulations apparently have had the effect of
discouraging the establishment of new master meter systems and the continued operation of existing
systems.98 

Some state governments, it should be noted, appear to be opposed to expanding the regulatory
control that they currently exercise over master meter systems.  Regulators in at least one state, Texas,
feel that their state government would be opposed to any additional governmental interference in the
operation of master meter systems.99  This, of course, means that the state government would probably
be opposed to banning master meter systems.

A ban on natural gas master meter systems may cause the operators of some existing systems to
change the fuel used in the system.  For instance, an operator might switch to propane or a propane/air
mixture.  This would not necessarily represent an improvement in the safety of the system, since the
operator may not know any more about propane and the safe operation of an LPG distribution system
(propane is a type of LPG) than about natural gas and the safe operation of a natural gas distribution
system.  Therefore, while natural gas safety improves, overall public safety remains more or less the
same as before.  In the case of a switch to LPG, it might be noted, a system would still be subject to
the Minimum Federal Safety Standards, as they apply to LPG.  A system would not be subject to the
Minimum Federal Safety Standards, of course, if the switch were to electricity.

There appears to be a tendency for legislatures and regulators to "grandfather" existing systems by
allowing systems already in operation to continue as before.  If this is done, then the safety of the
current systems is not effected by banning master meter systems in a state.  If existing systems are
“grandfathered”, then only in states with a growing number of master meter systems would there be
any appreciable safety impact from a ban on master meter systems.  As can be seen from a
comparison of Exhibit 1 with Appendix A, there appear to be few states that have experienced a
growth in master meter systems.
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     100The pipeline inspection unit into which the facilities of the master meter system have been incorporated will, of
course, continue to be inspected.  In the inspection, the records and procedures of the operator of the unit will be
expected to cover the facilities obtained from the master meter operator, just as they will be expected to cover all
other facilities of the unit.  Furthermore, spot checks made in the field during the inspection might be made at the
former master meter system facilities, just as they might be made anywhere else in the unit.  In general, however,
unless problems are discovered, the facilities obtained from the master meter operator will not be a focus of the
inspection.

     101Some utilities, as a standard practice, require the systems that they take over to be replaced to ensure that they
meet current Federal standards.
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6.3. REQUIRE THAT LOCAL GAS UTILITIES ABSORB THE FACILITIES OF MASTER
METER SYSTEMS

Another way to get local gas utilities to assume responsibility for master meter systems would be to
require that they take over and absorb the facilities of those master meter systems they supply with
natural gas.  Under this approach, sometimes referred to as master meter system conversion, the
utilities assume both ownership and operation of all of the jurisdictional facilities of the master meter
systems (i.e., all of the facilities of the master meter systems that are subject to the minimum Federal
Safety Standards).  These facilities are incorporated and integrated into the utilities' systems, and the
master meter systems, as operating units, cease to exist.  

The absorption or conversion of master meter systems would eliminate most, if not all, of the safety
problems associated with the systems, as well as the need for targeted system inspection.100  The
facilities would be operated by gas pipeline professionals who understand the requirements of the
minimum Federal Safety Standards and whose systems are generally in compliance with those
standards.  Furthermore, liability considerations, among other things, will tend to ensure that the
facilities are brought into compliance with 49 CFR 192.  

The absorption of a master meter system by its gas supplier often necessitates some modifications to
the system to bring it into compliance with the Minimum Federal Safety Standards.  These can include
such things as re-piping the system or making other modifications to the piping both inside and outside
of the buildings.  It appears that these modifications are generally expected to be paid for by the
master meter operator, not the utility.  It should be noted that master meter system operators who find
that they must pay for modifications to their systems to bring them into compliance with the Minimum
Federal Safety Standards could be liable for these same costs even if their systems are not absorbed
by their gas suppliers, since they are obligated by law to bring their systems into full compliance with
the Minimum Federal Safety Standards and may face civil penalties that can be as much as $10,000
for each violation if they fail to do so.101

The actual costs that master meter system operators will face when they have their systems converted
will vary somewhat, depending on what needs to be done.  In 1986, the Stamford, Connecticut,
Housing Authority had Connecticut Light and Power (CL&P) convert its system on Lawn Avenue and
Custer Street, which had connections to 22 buildings.  CL&P installed new underground service lines
and connected the new lines into the existing building piping.  The charge by CL&P for this work
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     102Enclosures with letter from Philip Sher, Associate Engineer, Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control, to
Paul Zebe, Volpe Center, December 18, 1989.

     103Section B5.3(D), Rules of Service, Michigan Consolidated Gas Company, March 17, 1987.

     104Section B5.3(D), Rules of Service, Michigan Consolidated Gas Company, March 17, 1987.

     105Telephone conversation with Richard Sanders, Chief, Pipeline Safety Division, Transportation Safety Institute,
U.S. DOT, February 20, 1990.
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averaged approximately $3,900 per building.102

In addition to the cost of the modifications required to bring a master meter system into compliance
with the regulations, a master meter system operator may also be required by the utility to pay for the
installation of individual meters (and system changes associated with the installation of meters), if the
system is not already sub-metered.  For instance, in the late 1980s, Michigan Consolidated Gas
Company, requires master meter systems without sub-metering that are converting to individual meters
to pay for  

...(a) installation of meters and regulators, but not the cost of meters and regulators, (b) relocation
of any service lines, (c) additional service lines, (d) additional main in excess of twice the
increased annual revenue resulting from conversion, and (e) removal of existing facilities.103

A master meter system, it might be noted, would be credited by Michigan Consolidated Gas Company
for the "salvage value of the facilities removed except meters and regulators."104

One inducement that can be used to encourage master meter operators who may not be in full
compliance with the pipeline safety regulations (or are not sure whether they are in compliance) to let
their systems be taken over by their gas suppliers is to point out the cost of bringing a system into
compliance with the Minimum Federal Safety Standards.  These costs can be substantial.  Master
meter operators can avoid some (though, as mentioned earlier, not all) of these costs by turning their
systems over to their gas suppliers.  For example, operators can avoid most, if not all, of the cost of an
O&M plan, because it costs relatively little for a gas utility to modify its existing O&M plan to include
the pipeline facilities obtained from a master meter operator.105  Because of the cost savings that can
be realized, conversion can often make economic sense in spite of the costs that may be incurred by
the master meter system operator.  It makes even more economic sense when the civil penalties that
can be imposed for failure to bring a system into compliance are taken into consideration.

Many regulators at both the Federal and state levels appear to feel that the takeover of master meter
systems by the utility is the best way to handle the safety problems of master meter systems.  In a
number of states (see Exhibit 9), regulators encourage master meter systems to allow their system to
be taken over by the utility.  In many cases, some of which were discussed earlier (see Section 4.3.1),
these regulators have been successful in their efforts.  It should be noted that no state currently requires
that master meter systems be taken over by their gas supplier. Any takeovers are voluntary both on
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     106Telephone conversation with Fred Joyner, Regional Chief, Southern Region, Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA.

     107Telephone conversations with Richard Sanders, Chief, Pipeline Safety Division, Transportation Safety Institute,
U.S. DOT/RSPA, and Fred Joyner, Regional Chief, Southern Region, Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S. DOT/RSPA.

     108Telephone conversation with Richard Sanders, Chief, Pipeline Safety Division, Transportation Safety Institute,
U.S. DOT/RSPA.

     109Telephone conversation with Ed Ondak, Regional Director, Central Region, Office of Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA.
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the part of the local gas utility and on the part of the master meter system.

There may be some resistance to the takeover of master meter systems by their suppliers.  This
resistance may come from any one of three sources:  the utilities, the master meter operators, or the
master meter system customers.

Some utilities are reportedly concerned about liability.106  This concern can probably be overcome if it
is left to the master meter operator to bring the system up to specifications before it is transferred to
the utility.  Utilities are also concerned about getting paid for the gas they supply.107  When a master
meter system is the customer, one person, the system's operator, is responsible for paying for the gas. 
When a utility takes over a master meter system, each of the customers of the former master meter
system becomes individually responsible for paying for the gas that they use.  

The cost to the utilities will increase if they take over the master meter systems that they supply with
natural gas.  This may also be a cause for utilities to resist taking over master meter systems.  One cost
to utilities that will increase if they take over master meter systems is the cost of billing--that is, the cost
of preparing and mailing bills, and the cost of processing the paid bills that are received.  This will be
the result of having to send bills for the gas that is sold to each household, rather than just to owners of
the master meter systems.  Another related cost that may also go up is the cost of collecting on unpaid
bills.  

Master meter operators may resist giving up their systems because they would be giving up the profits
they make on the gas they provide their customers.  This resistance, however, may not be too
significant.  It is reported that with stable gas prices, many systems are profitable, but with relatively
unstable gas prices, systems are quite unprofitable.108  Recently, systems probably have not been
particularly profitable because of increases in gas prices.

Some operators may switch fuels rather than let their systems be taken over by the pipeline utility.  In
Missouri, after the Missouri Public Service Commission issued its order requesting that utilities take
over master meter systems for one dollar after the master meter system had been brought up to
specifications, some systems are reported to have switched to propane or propane/air mixtures.109   

Customers may object to the takeover of master meter systems by a utility company if they believe
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that gas costs will increase.  Many, if not most, master meter systems purchase gas at a discount from
their supplier.  Sometimes, all or part of this discount is passed on to the system's customers.  When
this is the case, the customer's cost of gas can be expected to rise once a system is taken over by the
utility.  It should be noted that in some instances, the cost of gas from the master meter system may be
higher than the cost of gas from the local utility.  When this is the case, the cost of gas to the customer
will go down as a result of the takeover of the master meter system.

6.4. REQUIRE THAT MASTER METER OPERATORS TURN OVER OPERATION OF
THEIR SYSTEMS TO LOCAL GAS UTILITIES

A third way to get local gas utilities to assume responsibility for master meter systems would be to
require master meter operators to turn over the operation of their systems to local gas utilities.  Under
this approach, the local gas utilities assume operational control of the master meter systems, but the
master meter operators retain ownership of their systems.  Master meter system operators would be
responsible for reimbursing the local gas utilities for their work.

The safety impact of this approach would be very similar to that resulting from master meter system
conversion (see Section 6.3).  The approach would ensure that natural gas professionals who
understand the requirements of the Minimum Federal Safety Standards would operate the master
meter facilities.  As a consequence, the safety of those facilities should be comparable to the safety of
those of local gas utilities.

The cost of this approach would also be very similar to that of master meter system conversion.  It is
likely, however, that 100 percent of those costs would be borne by the master meter system
operators, themselves, who would be likely to pass them on to the ultimate consumers of the gas
through higher rents and fees.  Economies of scale available to the local gas utilities should mean that
the costs to master meter operators would generally be less than if they operated their systems in a
manner consistent with the Minimum Federal Safety Standards but independently of their local gas
utilities.
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7.  FINDINGS 

7.1. INTRODUCTION

This report has examined master meter systems in the U.S., their safety regulation, and the need for an
improved inspection program for the systems.  The principal findings of the report are summarized
below.

7.2. KEY FINDINGS

The key findings of this study concern (1) change over time in the number of master meter systems, (2)
the expanding assumption of the responsibility for the safety of those systems by the states, and (3) the
ongoing efforts to improve and ensure the safety of those systems.

7.2.1. Number of Master Meter Systems 

There were an estimated 8.3 thousand master meter systems in the U.S. in 1999.  This represents a
decline from 1979, when it was estimated that there were approximately 81 thousand master meter
systems in operation.  This decline in the number of master meter systems is due, at least in part, to (1)
efforts by master meter system operators to make their customers directly accountable for the cost of
the natural gas that they use; and (2) efforts by regulators to get master meter systems to merge with
the utilities that supply the systems with gas.

7.2.2. Responsibility for the Safety of Master Meter Systems

Responsibility for master meter system safety has shifted over the years to the point where the state
agencies are now very much in the majority (OPS favors this on the basis that jurisdiction of this kind
is best handled by the states, and urges states accordingly).  At the end of 1999, 43 states exercised
either partial or full jurisdiction over master meter system safety.  The figures for ten years earlier,
1989, were 37 with either partial or full jurisdiction.  This upward trend in the number of states
assuming full  responsibility for the safety of their pipeline systems is expected to continue.  Of the
seven states not undertaking partial or full responsibility for their master meter systems, at least two
have no such systems within their borders.

7.2.3. Ongoing Efforts to Improve and Ensure the Safety of Master Meter Systems

In 1999, master meter systems were inspected at least once a year in 19 states (Alabama, Colorado,
Delaware, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Louisiana, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, New
Hampshire, New Jersey, North Carolina, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South
Dakota, and Tennessee); at least once every two years in 7 states (Arizona, Arkansas, Nevada, New
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     110Section 108a of the Pipeline Safety Reauthorization Act of 1988 requires the OPS, if funds are available, to
inspect gas distribution systems at least once every two years.
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York, Maryland, Ohio, and Washington);110 and at least once every three years in 8 states (Kentucky,
Nebraska, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Oregon, Texas, West Virginia, and Wisconsin).  Inspection
occurs at intervals greater than three years in two states (California and Virginia).  Intervals were
irregular in five states (Alaska, Hawaii, Idaho, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania), as well as Puerto
Rico (for further explanation of "irregularly" see Exhibit 8).  Of the remaining eight states, two are in the
process of doing an initial identification of master meter systems and have not yet established an
inspection frequency (Montana and Utah), six states (Connecticut, Iowa, Michigan, Vermont, Maine,
and Wyoming) and the District of Columbia have no master meter systems, and definitive information
is unavailable for one state (Georgia).

In addition to inspection, the OPS and states engage in a number of activities to help improve and
ensure the safety of master meter systems.  Included among these activities are formal and informal
training programs and the production and distribution of training and informational aides, such as the
OPS's Guidance Manual for Operators of Small Gas Systems.
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8. RECOMMENDATION

8.1 CONCLUDING RECOMMENDATION 

The concluding recommendation of this report is that OPS continue the present policy of (1) pressing
for all states to have full jurisdiction over master meter system safety, (2) where a state has not taken
jurisdiction, continuing with OPS inspections of those master meter systems (including enforcement
action as needed) where in OPS's judgement there is a likelihood of probable violations or there are
other safety concerns, and (3) investigating master meter system incidents not being covered by
another qualified agency.  This recommendation is based on the following:

C The declining number of master meter systems, as summarized in 7.2.1 

C Increasing state involvement in improving and ensuring master meter system safety, as
summarized in 7.2.2 and 7.2.3, and

C The efforts being made to ban new master meter systems, and encourage local gas distribution
companies to take over the  responsibility for the safety of existing ones, as discussed in
Sections 4.3, 6.2, and 6.3.

I&E Attachment E 
Page 72 of 86

Page 167 of 628



66

A SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

American Gas Association, Gas Facts, AGA, Arlington, VA, 1996.

Arthur D. Little, Inc., Natural Gas Pipeline Safety in Master-Metered Residential Areas, ADL,
Cambridge, MA, April 1975.

Atallah, S., Athens, P., Jeffreys, D., Linstrom, R., and O'Brien, J., Handbook on Natural Gas
Pipeline Safety in Residential Areas Served by Master Meters, U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development, Washington, DC, April 1975.

Dixon, T., "How North Carolina Solved Its Master Meter Problem," Gas Industries, October 1981,
pp.26, 28.

National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners, Utility Regulatory Policy in the United
States and Canada, Compilation 1995-1996, NARUC, Washington, DC, 1996.

Seisler, J. M., "Escaping the Energy Bite:  Converting Master Meters,"  Journal of Property
Management, May/June 1980, pp. 146-151.

Systems & Applied Sciences Corporation (SASC), An Analysis of Natural Gas Master Meter
Systems (Definition & Program) From A Federal Perspective, Final Report, SASC, Riverdale,
MD, June 1979.

U.S. Department of Transportation, Office of Pipeline Safety, “Report on Pipeline Safety, Calendar
Years 1995-1996," U.S. DOT/RSPA/OPS, Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of Transportation, Office of Pipeline Safety, "Exercise of Jurisdiction Over Master
Meter Operators," U.S. DOT/RSPA/OPS, Washington, DC., March 1984.

U.S. Department of Transportation, Office of Pipeline Safety, Guidance Manual for Operators of
Small Gas Systems, U.S. DOT/RSPA/OPS, Washington, DC, Revised August 1997.

U.S. Department of Transportation, "RSPA Response to NAPSR Resolutions," Reauthorization of
Pipeline Safety Programs, Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Surface Transportation of the
Committee on Public Works and Transportation, U.S. House of Representatives, 100th Congress, 1st
Session, May 14, 1987.

I&E Attachment E 
Page 73 of 86

Page 168 of 628



67

INDIVIDUALS  PROVIDING INFORMATION FOR THIS STUDY

Alabama

Chris J. Harvey, Alabama
Public Service Comm.

Alaska

Staff, Alaska Department of
Commerce and Economic
Development

Arizona

Terry Fronterhouse, Arizona
Corporation Commission

Dan Weaklend, Arizona
Corporation Commission

Arkansas

Don Martin, Arkansas
Public Service Comm.

Myron E. Thompson,
Arkansas Public Service
Commission

California 

Russell Copeland, California
Public Utilities Commission

Mahendra Jhala, California
Public Service Commission

Al Kirchem, California
Public Utilities Commission

Colorado

Steve Pott, Colorado Public
Utilities Commission

Ernest Tronco, Colorado
Public Utilities Commission

Connecticut

Philip Sher, Connecticut
Department of Public Utility
Control

Delaware

Malak S. Michael,
Delaware Public Service
Commission

Leon H. Ryan, Jr.,
Delaware Public Service
Commission

District of Columbia

Richard D. Huriaux,
DC Public Service Comm.

Florida

C. Edward Mills, Florida
Public Service Commission

Georgia

Danny McGriff, Georgia
Public Service Commission

R. Lynnard Tessner,
Georgia Public Service
Commission

Hawaii
 
Yukio J. Onaka, Hawaii
Public Utilities Commission

Idaho

David Schunke, Idaho
Public Service Commission

Illinois

Rex Evans, Illinois
Commerce Commission

Steve Smock, Illinois
Commerce Commission

Indiana

Larry V. Nisley, Indiana
Utility Regulatory Comm.

Iowa

Donald J. Strusma, Iowa
State Utilities Board

Kansas

Gary Hall, Kansas
Corporation Commission

Leo Haynos, Kansas
Corporation Commission

Glenn Smith, Kansas
Corporation Commission
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Kentucky

Eddie B. Smith, Kentucky
Public Service Commission

E. Scott Smith, Kentucky
Public Service Comm.

Louisiana

John E. Land, Louisiana
Department of Natural
Resources

James M. Mergist,
Louisiana Department of
Natural Resources

Maine

David Di Profio, Maine
Public Utilities Commission

Gary Farmer, Maine Public
Utilities Commission

Maryland

John Clementson, Maryland
Public Service Commission

Alex Dankanich, Maryland
Public Service Commission

Simon Hoplin, Maryland
Public Service Commission

Massachusetts

David Weber,
Massachusetts Department
of Public Utilities

Michigan

Paul Proudfoot, Michigan
Public Service Comm.

Ram Veerapaneni, Michigan
Public Service Commission

Minnesota

Brad Ardner, Minnesota
Office of Pipeline Safety

William Barbeau, 
Minnesota Office of Pipeline
Safety

Walt Kelly, Minnesota
Office of Pipeline Safety

Charles Kenow, Minnesota
Office of Pipeline Safety

Michael J. McGrath,
Minnesota Office of Pipeline
Safety

Steve Sweeney, Minnesota
Office of Pipeline Safety

Ronald Wiest, Minnesota
Office of Pipeline Safety

Mississippi

Lyla Carnley, Mississippi
Public Service Comm.

Rickey L. Cotton,
Mississippi Public Service
Commission

Jessie Parker, Mississippi

Public Service Commission

Missouri

Ron Ellis, Missouri Public
Service Commission

Michael Loethen, Missouri
Public Service Commission

Montana

Dennis Crawford, Montana
Public Service Commission

Joel Tierney, Montana
Public Service Comm.

Nebraska

Lavern Rinehart, Nebraska
State Fire Marshal’s Office

Leonard Steiner, Nebraska
State Fire Marshall’s Office

Nevada

Jeffrey L. Maples, Nevada
Public Service Commission

Craig C. Steele, Nevada
Public Utilities Commission

New Hampshire

Paula M. Bergeron, New
Hampshire Public Utilities
Commission

Richard G. Marini, New
Hampshire Public Utilities
Commission
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New Jersey

David McMillan, New
Jersey Board of Public
Utilities

Nusha Wyner, New Jersey
Board of Public Utilities

New Mexico

Vince Martinez, New
Mexico State Corporation
Commission

Rey S. Medina, New
Mexico State Corporation
Commission

New York

John E. Gawronski, New
York Public Service
Commission

Jeffrey Kline, New York
Public Service Commission

North Carolina

Tom Dixon, North Carolina
Utilities Commission

North Dakota

Alan G. Moch, North
Dakota Public Service
Commission

Ohio

Ed Steel, Ohio Public
Utilities Commission

Robert S. Stone, Ohio
Public Utilities Commission

Oklahoma

Dennis Fothergill, Oklahoma
Corporation Commission

Oregon

Jack P. Dent, Oregon Public
Utility Commission

H. R. Garabrant, Oregon
Public Utility Commission

Pennsylvania

William E. Smeigh, Jr.,
Pennsylvania Public Utility
Commission

Rhode Island

Paul G. Grieco, Rhode
Island Public Utilities
Commission

Don Leverdis, Rhode Island
Public Utilities Commission

South Carolina

Vernon L. Gainey, South
Carolina Public Service
Commission

James S. Stites, South
Carolina Public Service
Commission

South Dakota

Martin Bettmann, South
Dakota Public Service
Commission 

Tennessee

Glenn Blanton, Tennessee
Public Service Commission

Texas

Mary L. McDaniel, Texas
Railroad Commission

Dean Scott,
Texas Railroad Comm.

Utah

S. Kent Evans, Utah
Department of Commerce

John Strawn, Utah
Department of Business
Regulation

Vermont

Kenneth W. Wood,
Vermont Department of
Public Service 

Virginia

Ryland Y. Bailey, Virginia
State Corporation
Commission

Massoud Tahamtani,
Virginia State Corporation
Commission

Washington

I&E Attachment E 
Page 76 of 86

Page 171 of 628



70

Ray C. Colby,
Washington Utilities and
Transportation Comm.

Douglas Kilpatrick,
Washington Utilities and
Transportation Commission

West Virginia

David Hippchen,
West Virginia Public Service
Commission

Darrell A. McKown, West
Virginia Public Service
Commission

Wisconsin

Harold Meyer, Wisconsin
Public Utilities Comm.

Wyoming

Jon F. Jacquot, Wyoming
Public Service Comm.

U.S. HUD

Charles Ashmore, U.S.
Department of Housing and
Urban Development

Mark A. Isaacs, U.S.
Department of Housing and

Urban Development

U.S. DOT

Zack Barrett, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Buzz Fant, Transportation
Safety Institute, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

William Gute, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Jaime A. Hernandez, Office
of Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Chris Hoidal, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Fred Joyner, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Ralph Kubitz, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Warren Miller, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Ed Ondak, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Jack Overly, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Richard Sanders,
Transportation Safety
Institute, U.S. DOT/RSPA 

Jeff Stahoviak, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Jim Thomas, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA

Lloyd Ulrich, Office of
Pipeline Safety, U.S.
DOT/RSPA
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APPENDIX A.
ESTIMATED NUMBER OF GAS MASTER METER SYSTEMS 

IN OPERATION IN 1979

95 Percent Confidence Interval 95 Percent Confidence Interval

State
Lower
Limit Expected

Upper
Limit State

Lower
Limit Expected

Upper 
Limit

Alabama 376 468 850 Nebraska 906 1,242 2,574

Alaska na 28 na Nevada 105 108 160

Arizona 527 975 1,423 New Hampshire 27 35 55

Arkansas 888 1,756 2,624 New Jersey unk unk unk

California 11,877 12,935 24,986 New Mexico 89 421 753

Colorado 1,611 3,623 5,635 New York 238 345 715

Connecticut na 0 na North Carolina 369 428 772

Delaware 16 16 16 North Dakota 107 113 178

Florida 172 277 506 Ohio 89 207 585

Georgia 365 422 587 Oklahoma 836 2,309 4,761

Hawaii unk unk unk Oregon na 4 na

Idaho 3 3 3 Pennsylvania 681 1,171 2,192

Illinois 474 1,142 2,388 Rhode Island 29 30 40

Indiana 105 115 125 South Carolina 166 252 338

Iowa 15 27 54 South Dakota 591 966 1,341

Kansas 463 1,127 1,791 Tennessee 318 430 542

Kentucky 484 1,019 1,554 Texas 23,553 39,404 55,255

Louisiana 434 2,623 4,812 Utah 196 196 196

Maine 0 0 0 Vermont 0 0 0

Maryland 207 214 303 Virginia 588 762 1,362

Massachusetts 241 386 531 Washington 29 33 37

Michigan 459 1,136 2,816 West Virginia 186 514 1,504

Minnesota 70 72 166 Wisconsin 1,051 1,317 2,176

Mississippi 139 178 270 Wyoming 459 710 961

Missouri 111 245 359 D.C. 85 85 85

Montana 1,004 1,046 1,111 Total for U.S.a 64,738 80,915 101,901

Key:
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na = Not applicable
unk = No data received
a = Estimates include nothing for Hawaii or New Jersey.

Source of information:  SASC, pp. 5-15 to 5-17.
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APPENDIX B
U.S. CODE, TITLE 49, SECTIONS 60105 AND 60106

Sec. 60105. State pipeline safety program certifications 

(a) General Requirements and Submission. - Except as provided in this section and sections 60114
and 60121 of this title, the Secretary of Transportation may not prescribe or enforce safety standards
and practices for an intrastate pipeline facility or intrastate pipeline transportation to the extent that the
safety standards and practices are regulated by a State authority (including a municipality if the
standards and practices apply to intrastate gas pipeline transportation) that submits to the Secretary
annually a certification for the facilities and transportation that complies with subsections (b) and (c) of
this section. 

(b) Contents. - Each certification submitted under subsection (a) of this section shall state that the
State authority - 

(1) has regulatory jurisdiction over the standards and practices to which the certification applies; 
(2) has adopted, by the date of certification, each applicable standard prescribed under this chapter
or, if a standard under this chapter was prescribed not later than 120 days before           certification,
is taking steps to adopt that standard; 
(3) is enforcing each adopted standard through ways that include inspections conducted by State
employees meeting the qualifications the Secretary prescribes under section          60107(d)(1)(C)
of this title; 
(4) is encouraging and promoting programs designed to prevent damage by demolition, excavation,
tunneling, or construction activity to the pipeline facilities to which the certification applies; 
(5) may require record maintenance, reporting, and inspection substantially the same as provided
under section 60117 of this title; 
(6) may require that plans for inspection and maintenance under section 60108 (a) and (b) of this
title be filed for approval; 
and 
(7) may enforce safety standards of the authority under a law of the State by injunctive relief and civil
penalties substantially the same as provided under sections 60120 and 60122(a)(1) and (b)-(f) of
this title. 

(c) Reports. - (1) Each certification submitted under subsection (a) of this section shall include a report
that contains - 

(A) the name and address of each person to whom the certification applies that is subject to the
safety jurisdiction of the State authority; 
(B) each accident or incident reported during the prior 12 months by that person involving a
fatality, personal injury requiring hospitalization, or property damage or loss of more than an
amount the Secretary establishes (even if the person sustaining the fatality, personal injury, or
property damage or loss is not subject to the safety jurisdiction of the authority), any other
accident the authority considers significant, and a summary of the investigation by the authority of
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the cause and circumstances surrounding the accident or incident; 
(C) the record maintenance, reporting, and inspection practices conducted by the authority to
enforce compliance with safety standards prescribed under this chapter to which the certification
applies, including the number of inspections of pipeline facilities the authority made during the
prior 12  months; and 
(D) any other information the Secretary requires. 

(2) The report included in the first certification submitted under subsection (a) of this section is only
required to state information available at the time of certification. 

(d) Application. - A certification in effect under this section does not apply to safety standards
prescribed under this chapter after the date of certification. This chapter applies to each applicable
safety standard prescribed after the date of certification until the State authority adopts the standard
and submits the appropriate certification to the Secretary under subsection (a) of this section. 

(e) Monitoring. - The Secretary may monitor a safety program established under this section to ensure
that the program complies with the certification. A State authority shall cooperate with the Secretary
under this subsection. 

(f) Rejections of Certification. - If after receiving a certification the Secretary decides the State
authority is not enforcing satisfactorily compliance with applicable safety standards prescribed under
this chapter, the Secretary may reject the certification, assert United States Government jurisdiction, or
take other appropriate action to achieve adequate enforcement. The Secretary shall give the authority
notice and an opportunity for a hearing before taking final action under this subsection. When notice is
given, the burden of proof is on the authority to demonstrate that it is enforcing satisfactorily
compliance with the prescribed standards. 

Sec. 60106. State pipeline safety agreements 

(a) General Authority. - If the Secretary of Transportation does not receive a certification under
section 60105 of this title, the Secretary may make an agreement with a State authority (including a
municipality if the agreement applies to intrastate gas pipeline transportation) authorizing it to take
necessary action. Each agreement shall - 

(1) establish an adequate program for record maintenance, reporting, and inspection designed to
assist compliance with applicable safety standards prescribed under this chapter; and 
(2) prescribe procedures for approval of plans of inspection and maintenance substantially the same
as required under section 60108 (a) and (b) of this title. 

(b) Notification. - Each agreement shall require the State authority to notify the Secretary promptly of
a violation or probable violation of an applicable safety standard discovered as a result of action taken
in carrying out an agreement under this section. 

(c) Monitoring. - The Secretary may monitor a safety program established under this section to ensure
that the program complies with the agreement. A State authority shall cooperate with the Secretary
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under this subsection. 

(d) Ending Agreements. - The Secretary may end an agreement made under this section when the
Secretary finds that the State authority has not complied with any provision of the agreement. The
Secretary shall give the authority notice and an opportunity for a hearing before ending an agreement.
The finding and decision to end the agreement shall be published in the Federal Register and may not
become effective for at least 15 days after the date of publication. 

I&E Attachment E 
Page 83 of 86

Page 178 of 628



77

APPENDIX C

TITLE 83:  PUBLIC UTILITIES
CHAPTER I:  ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION

SUBCHAPTER d:  GAS UTILITIES

PART 520
TRAINING PROGRAMS FOR NATURAL GAS SYSTEM OPERATING PERSONNEL

(GENERAL ORDER 204)

Section
520.10 Training Procedures
520.20 Definitions
520.30 “Natural Gas System”

AUTHORITY:  Implementing Section 6 and authorized by Section 3 of the “Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety
Act” (Ill. Rev. Stat. 1985, ch. 111 2/3, pars. 556 and 553).

SOURCE:  Adopted at 4 Ill. Reg. 8, p. 134, effective February 18, 1980; codified at 8 Ill. Reg. 5147.

Section 520.10  Training Procedures

a) In order to reasonably assure the safety and well being of the populace, each natural gas system
operator in Illinois shall develop training procedures which will assure that its field employees
engaged in construction, operation, inspection and maintenance of the gas system are properly
trained.

1) The procedures shall contain adequate descriptions of the types of training each job classification
requires including those of field foremen, field crew leaders, leak inspectors, new construction
inspectors, servicemen and corrosion technicians and/or equivalent classifications.

2) The procedures shall include scheduling of verbal instruction and/or on-the-job training for each
job classification.

3) The procedures shall include provisions for evaluating the performance of personnel to assure
their competency in performing the work assigned to them.

4) The procedures shall include subject matter relating to recognition of potential hazards, and
actions to be taken toward prevention of accidents.

5) The procedures shall be updated periodically to include new materials, new methods of operation
and installation, and changes in general procedures.
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6) The procedures shall be made a part of the gas system's operation, inspection and maintenance
plans, and shall be filed with the Commission.

7) The procedures shall be developed and ready for implementation within one year of the date of
adoption of this Part.

b) Operators of small gas systems, such as municipal gas systems and master meter gas systems, may
satisfy the requirements of Section 520.10(a) if the gas system personnel attend regularly scheduled
instructional courses held by utility companies or participate in courses such as the Institute of Gas
Technology (IGT) Gas Distribution Home Study Course, or programs developed and presented by
community colleges, vocational schools, universities, consultants or other recognized gas distribution
oriented agencies, which includes the procedures outlined in Section 520.10(a) which will pertain
to their particular system.

Section 520.20  Definitions

As used in this Part, unless the context requires otherwise, the terms defined in Sections 520.10 through
520.30, inclusive, have the meanings ascribed therein.

Section 520.30  “Natural Gas System”

“Natural Gas System” means transmission or distribution facilities that transport natural gas as defined in
Sections 1-3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (Ill. Rev. Stat. 1981, ch. 111 2/3, pars. 551-553).
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******** End of Document********
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BEFORE THE  
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
 

Petition of Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. d/b/a 
Westover Companies for a Declaratory 
Order Regarding the Applicability of the 
Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act  

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 

Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 

 
 
 

VERIFICATION 
 
 I, Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2, in the Bureau of Investigation 

and Enforcement’s Safety Division, hereby state that the facts above set forth are true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief and that I expect to be able to 

prove the same at a hearing held in this matter.  I understand that the statements herein 

are made subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsification to 

authorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
Date: January 3, 2022    ________________________________ 

Scott Orr  
Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
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BEFORE THE 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
Petition of Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. d/b/a 
Westover Companies for a Declaratory 
Order Regarding the Applicability of the 
Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act 
 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
 

 
 

Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that I have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document 

upon the parties, listed below, in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 
(relating to service by a party). 
 

Service by Electronic Mail:1

 
1  See Waiver of Regulations Regarding Service Requirements, Docket No. M-2021-3028321 (Order entered 

September 15, 2021) (permitting electronic service by Commission staff on parties).   

 
David P. Zambito, Esq. 
Jonathan P. Nase, Esq. 
Cozen O’Connor 
17 North Second Street, Suite 1410 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
dzambito@cozen.com 
jnase@cozen.com  
Counsel for Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies  
 
 
Patrick Cicero, Esq. 
Acting Consumer Advocate 
Office of Consumer Advocate 
555 Walnut Street 
Forum Place, 5th Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
pcicero@paoca.org  
 
 
 
 
 
Dated:  January 3, 2022 

 
Steven C. Gray, Esq. 
Senior Supervising Assistant Small 
Business Advocate 
Office of Small Business Advocate 
555 Walnut Street 
Forum Place, 1st Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
sgray@pa.gov  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  
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Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission

Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265
EFILING - FILING DETAIL

Date Created Filing Number
1/3/2022 2362175

Your filing has been electronically received. Upon review of the filing for conformity with the Commission's filing 
requirements, a notice will be issued acknowledging acceptance or rejection (with reason) of the filing. The matter will 
receive the attention of the Commission and you will be advised if any further action is required on your part.

The date filed on will be the current day if the filing occurs on a business day before or at 4:30 p.m. (EST). It will be the 
next business day if the filing occurs after 4:30 p.m. (EST) or on weekends or holidays.

Docket Number: P-2021-3030002
Case Description: 
Transmission Date: 1/3/2022 3:47 PM
Filed On: 1/3/2022 3:47 PM
eFiling Confirmation Number: 2362175

File Name Document Type Upload Date

P-2021-3030002 I&E Answer in 
Opposition to Petition 
FINAL.pdf

Answer to Petition 1/3/2022 3:47:03 PM

For filings exceeding 250 pages, the PUC is requiring that filers submit one paper copy to the Secretary's Bureau within 
three business days of submitting the electronic filing online.  Please mail the paper copy along with copy of this 
confirmation page to Secretary, Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 400 North Street, Harrisburg PA 17120 a copy of 
the filing confirmation page or reference the filing confirmation number on the first page of the paper copy.

No paper submission is necessary for filings under 250 pages.

You can view a record of this filing and previous filings you have submitted to the PUC by using the links in the Filings 
menu at the top of the page. Filings that have been submitted within the last 30 days can be viewed by using the Recent 
Filings link. Older filings can be viewed by using the search options available in the Filing History link.

1/3/2022 3:47:33 PM Page  1 of  1
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 COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

 
BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATION 
& 

ENFORCEMENT 

January 3, 2022 
 
Via Electronic Filing 
Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building  
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
 

Re: Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v.  
Westover Property Management Company, L.P.  
d/b/a Westover Companies  
Docket No. C-2022-_________ 
I&E Formal Complaint 

 
Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 
 
 Enclosed for electronic filing please find the Formal Complaint on behalf of the 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission in 
the above-referenced matter.  Copies have been served on the parties of record in accordance 
with the Certificate of Service. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 43319 

 
SMW/ac 
Enclosures 
 
cc:  Per Certificate of Service 
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BEFORE THE  
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION  

 

 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, 
L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 
 
 

Docket No. C-2022-_________ 

 
 

NOTICE 
 

A. You must file an Answer within twenty (20) days of the date of service of this 
Complaint.  The date of service is the date as indicated at the top of the Secretarial Letter.  
See 52 Pa. Code § 1.56(a).  The Answer must raise all factual and legal arguments that you 
wish to claim in your defense, include the docket number of this Complaint, and be verified.  
The Answer must be submitted by efiling with the Secretary of the Commission by opening 
an efiling account through the Commission’s website and accepting eservice at 
http://www.puc.state.pa.us/efiling/default.aspx.  If your filing contains confidential material, 
you are required to file by overnight delivery to ensure the timely filing of your submission.   
 
Additionally, please electronically serve a copy on: 
 

Stephanie M. Wimer, Senior Prosecutor 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
stwimer@pa.gov  

 
B. If you fail to answer this Complaint within twenty (20) days, the Bureau of 

Investigation and Enforcement will request that the Commission issue an Order imposing the 
civil penalty and other requested relief.  
 

C. You may elect not to contest this Complaint by paying the civil penalty and 
performing the additional remedies set forth in the requested relief within twenty (20) days.  
A certified check, cashier’s check or money order containing the civil penalty should be 
made payable to the “Commonwealth of Pennsylvania” and mailed to: 
 

Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

 
Your payment is an admission that you committed the alleged violations and an agreement to 
cease and desist from committing further violations.  Upon receipt of your payment, the 
Complaint proceeding shall be closed.   
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2 

D. If you file an Answer, which either admits or fails to deny the allegations of 
the Complaint, the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement will request the Commission to 
issue an Order imposing the civil penalty and granting the requested relief as set forth in the 
Complaint.     
 

E. If you file an Answer which contests the Complaint, the matter will proceed 
before the assigned presiding Administrative Law Judge for hearing and decision.  The Judge 
is not bound by the penalty set forth in the Complaint and may impose additional and/or 
alternative penalties as appropriate.   

 
F. If you are a corporation, you must be represented by legal counsel.  52 Pa. 

Code § 1.21. 
 
G. Alternative formats of this material are available for persons with disabilities 

by contacting the Commission’s ADA Coordinator at (717) 787-8714. 
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BEFORE THE 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 

 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, 
L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 
 
 

Docket No. C-2022-________ 

 
 
 

FORMAL COMPLAINT 
 

 
 

NOW COMES the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement (“I&E”), by its prosecuting attorneys, pursuant to Section 501 of the Gas and 

Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. § 801.501, and files this Formal Complaint against 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover” or 

“Respondent”) alleging violations of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. §§ 

801.101 et seq. (“Act 127”), and Part 192 of the Federal pipeline safety regulations, 49 CFR §§ 

192.1-192.1015.  On January 3, 2022, I&E separately and concurrently filed an Answer in 

Opposition to the Petition of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 

Companies for a Declaratory Order Regarding the Applicability of the Gas and Hazardous 

Liquids Pipeline Act, Docket No. P-2021-3030002, seeking an expedited ruling from the 

Commission finding Respondent to be a “pipeline operator” subject to Act 127 and directing 

Respondent to immediately comply with all applicable laws and regulations related to pipeline 

safety.  Pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 1.33, I&E hereby incorporates by reference its Answer in 

Opposition dated January 3, 2022.  

In support of its Formal Complaint, I&E alleges the following:   
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I. Parties and Commission Jurisdiction 

1. The Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission” or “PUC”), with a 

mailing address of 400 North Street, Harrisburg, PA 17120, is a duly constituted agency of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania empowered to regulate pipeline operators pursuant to Section 

501(a) of Act 127, 58 P.S. § 801.501(a). 

2. Complainant is the Commission’s Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement, 

which is the bureau established to take enforcement actions against public utilities and other 

entities subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.  66 Pa.C.S. § 308.2(a)(11); see also 

Implementation of Act 129 of 2008; Organization of Bureaus and Offices, Docket No. M-2008-

2071852 (August 11, 2011) (delegating authority to initiate proceedings that are prosecutory in 

nature to I&E).    

3. Complainant’s prosecuting attorneys are as follows: 

Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
stwimer@pa.gov 

 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
karost@pa.gov  
 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
mswindler@pa.gov 
 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
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4. The Commission, through the I&E Safety Division, serves as an agent of the 

Federal Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) and is certified to 

regulate intrastate pipeline facilities for safety purposes pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105.   

5. Respondent Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 

Companies maintains a principal business address of 550 American Avenue, Suite 1, King of 

Prussia, PA 19406.   

6. Respondent owns and/or maintains thirty-four (34) residential apartment 

complexes in Pennsylvania. 

7. At approximately seventeen (17) apartment complexes in Pennsylvania, 

Respondent operates master meter systems where Respondent purchases metered gas from a 

natural gas distribution company (“NGDC”) for resale to its tenants through a gas distribution 

pipeline system that is owned and maintained by Respondent.1  It is believed and therefore 

averred that Respondent operated master meter systems when Act 127 became effective on 

February 20, 2012.  

8. Respondent is a “pipeline operator” as that term is defined under Act 127 in that it 

“owns or operates equipment or facilities in this Commonwealth for the transportation of gas . . . 

by pipeline or pipeline facility regulated under Federal pipeline safety laws.” 58 P.S. § 801.102. 

9. Respondent first registered with the Commission as a “pipeline operator” on June 

29, 2021 at Docket No. A-2021-3027219.  Such registration included only one of its apartment 

complexes – the Jamestown Village Apartments LP (“Jamestown Village”).  On August 19, 

2021, Respondent requested that this registration be withdrawn.  By Secretarial Letter dated 

August 30, 2021, the Commission cancelled Respondent’s Act 127 with regard to Jamestown 

 
1  In addition to these seventeen (17) apartment complexes, it is believed that Respondent operates master meter 

systems at the following eight (8) commercial locations in Pennsylvania: Audubon Village Shopping Center, 
Bryn Mawr Medical Building, Center Point Place, Devon Square, Maple Lawn Village, Oxford Square, 
Pennsburg Square Shopping Center and The Centre at French Creek.  These commercial locations have not 
been included in this version of the Formal Complaint as the I&E Safety Division has been unable to complete 
inspections at these sites.  I&E reserves the right to amend the instant Formal Complaint or to initiate separate 
enforcement action as additional information becomes known. 
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Village. 

10. Respondent again registered with the Commission as a “pipeline operator” on 

August 6, 2021 at Docket No. A-2021-3028141.  This registration included master meter systems 

operated at several apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  Respondent filed an amended Act 127 

registration at this docket on September 17, 2021. 

11. “Pipeline” is defined in Act 127 as: 

A part of the physical facilities through which gas or hazardous 
liquids move in transportation, including a pipe valve and other 
appurtenance attached to the pipe, compressor unit, metering 
station, regulator station, delivery station, holder and fabricated 
assembly.  The term only includes pipeline regulated by Federal 
pipeline safety laws.  The term does not include a pipeline subject 
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission.  

 
58 P.S. § 801.102. 
 

12. “Pipeline facility” is defined in Act 127 as: 
 
A new or existing pipeline, right-of-way and any equipment, facility 
or building used in the transportation of gas or hazardous liquids or 
in the treatment of gas or hazardous liquids during the course of the 
transportation.  The term does not include a pipeline facility subject 
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission.  
 

58 P.S. § 801.102. 

13. “Transportation of gas” is defined in Act 127 as “[t]he gathering, transmission or 

distribution of gas by pipeline or the storage of gas.”  58 P.S. § 801.102. 

14. “Master Meter System” is defined in the Federal pipeline safety regulations as:  

. . . a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited to, 
a definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing project, or 
apartment complex, where the operator purchases metered gas from 
an outside source for resale through a gas distribution pipeline 
system.  The gas distribution pipeline system supplies the ultimate 
consumer who either purchases the gas directly through a meter or 
by other means, such as by rents. 
 

49 CFR § 191.3. 
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15. The minimum Federal pipeline safety standards apply broadly to both interstate 

and intrastate pipelines, such as master meter systems, through the Federal Pipeline Safety Act, 

49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60143 (“PSA”). 

16. The legislative history of the PSA when it was originally enacted in 1968 

demonstrates that Congress intended the transportation of gas to apply to, inter alia, intrastate 

pipeline systems distributing natural gas.  Congress reported as follows when defining the 

transportation covered under the PSA: 

The term “transportation of gas” is defined as the gathering, transmission or 
distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate or foreign 
commerce.  With exception as to gathering in certain circumstances, this means all 
aspects of the transportation of gas from the well head to the consumer.  As testified 
by Secretary Boyd: 
 

‘There is no question but what every element of a gas 
gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving gas 
which is either in or affects interstate commerce. * * *   
(p. 35).   
 
I don’t think that it even requires any elasticity of the 
commerce clause of the Constitution to define 99 44/100 
percent of this activity as being clearly within the commerce 
clause.  (p. 36).’ 

H.R. Rep. No. 90-1390, at 18 (May 15, 1968).  The House Report is attached hereto as I&E  

Exhibit 1. 

17. Section 801.302 of Act 127 adopts the Federal pipeline safety laws as 

implemented in 49 CFR Subtitle B, Chapter I, Subchapter D as the safety standards and 

regulations for pipeline operators in Pennsylvania.  58 P.S. § 801.302. 

18. Section 501(a) of Act 127 authorizes and obligates the Commission to supervise 

and regulate pipeline operators within this Commonwealth consistent with Federal pipeline 

safety laws.  58 P.S. § 801.501(a). 
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19. Section 501(a)(7) of Act 127, authorizes the Commission to enforce Federal 

pipeline safety laws and, after notice and opportunity for  

a hearing, impose civil penalties and take other appropriate enforcement action.  58 P.S. § 

801.501(a)(7). 

20. Section 502(a) of Act 127 authorizes the Commission to impose civil penalties on 

pipeline operators who violate the Act.  58 P.S. § 801.502(a).  Under Section 502(a), pipeline 

operators can be subject to a civil penalty provided under Federal pipeline safety laws or Section 

3301(c) of the Public Utility Code, whichever is greater.  58 P.S. § 801.502(a); 66 Pa.C.S. § 

3301(c).  Section 3301(c) of the Public Utility Code allows for the imposition of a separate civil 

penalty for each violation and each day’s continuance of such violation(s).  66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(c). 

21. Civil penalties for violations of Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations are 

adjusted annually to account for changes in inflation pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties 

Inflation Adjustment Act Improvements Act of 2015, Pub. L. 114-74, 129 Stat. 599, codified at 

28 U.S.C. § 2461 note (Nov. 2, 2015)(amending the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment 

Act of 1990).  The most recent adjustment made by PHMSA occurred in May 2021 and revises 

the maximum civil penalty to $225,134.00 for each violation for each day the violation 

continues, with a maximum penalty not to exceed $2,251,334.00 for a related series of 

violations.  86 Fed. Reg. 23241 (May 3, 2021). 

22. Respondent, as a pipeline operator, is subject to the power and authority of this 

Commission pursuant to Section 501(b) of Act 127 which requires pipeline operators to comply 

with the Act and the terms and conditions of the orders issued under the Act.  58 P.S. § 

801.501(b). 

23. Pursuant to the provisions of the applicable Commonwealth and Federal statutes 

and regulations, the Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this Complaint and 

the actions of Respondent related thereto. 
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II. Background 

24. Respondent owns and/or maintains thirty-four (34) residential apartment 

complexes in Pennsylvania.  As a result of the I&E Safety Division’s preliminary review, 

approximately seventeen (17) apartment complexes contain jurisdictional master meter systems. 

25. At each of these seventeen (17) apartment complexes, Respondent purchases and 

receives gas from an NGDC, specifically PECO Gas and UGI Utilities Inc.  The gas flows via 

pipeline to the NGDC-owned meter located at a Westover apartment complex.  After the outlet 

of the NGDC master meter, the gas flows in pipelines that are wholly owned and/or operated by 

Respondent where the gas is then distributed to the tenants in the apartment complex.  

Respondent charges its tenants for the gas either through a metered charge or rent. 

26. Respondent owns or operates master meter systems at the following apartment 

complexes in Pennsylvania: 

a. Park Court 
28 South Water Street 
Womelsdorf, PA 19567 
Berks County 

 
b. Oak Forest  

2220 Alsace Road 
Reading, PA 19604 
Berks County 

 
c. Woodland Plaza 

1701 State Hill Road 
Wyomissing, PA 19610 
Berks County 

 
d. Mill Creek 

255 East Lincoln Highway 
Penndel, PA 19407 
Bucks County 

 
e. Country Manor 

2151 E. Lincoln Highway 
Levittown, PA 19056 
Bucks County 
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f. Fox Run 
365 Newtown Road 
Warminster, PA 18974 
Bucks County 

 
g. Main Line Berwyn 

750 Old Lancaster Road 
Berwyn, PA 19312 
Chester County 

 
h. Black Hawk 

1 Black Hawk Circle 
Downingtown, PA 19335 
Chester County 

 
i. Paoli Place 

27 E. Central Avenue 
Paoli, PA 19301 
Chester County 

 
j. Concord Court 

3701 Concord Road 
Aston, PA 19014 
Delaware County 

 
k. Gladstone Towers 

223 Scottdale Road 
Lansdowne, PA 19050 
Delaware County 

 
l. Hillcrest 

785 West Providence Road 
Lansdowne, PA 19050 
Delaware County 

 
m. Lansdowne Towers 

772 East Providence Road 
Aldan, PA 19018 
Delaware County 

 
n. Lansdale Village 

219 York Avenue 
Lansdale, PA 19446 
Montgomery County 

 
o. Norriton East 

2620 Dekalb Pike 
East Norriton, PA 19401 
Montgomery County  
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p. Valley Stream 
2100 North Line Street 
Lansdale, PA 19446 
Montgomery County 

 
q. Willow Run 

3505 Moreland Road 
Willow Grove, PA 19090 
Montgomery County 

 
27. Respondent refuses to acknowledge the Commission’s jurisdiction as it relates to 

intrastate pipeline safety and continues to refuse to comply with Act 127 and the Federal pipeline 

safety regulations.  

28. The I&E Safety Division first became aware of Respondent’s master meters 

systems when inspectors visited a Westover property on May 22, 2018 and May 23, 2018 in 

response to a natural gas leak and service outage reported by PECO Gas.   

29. PECO Gas reported to I&E Safety Division that the outage impacted a master 

meter system at Respondent’s Jamestown Village Apartments located at 2501 Maryland Road, 

Willow Grove, PA 19090, Montgomery County.   

30. After ensuring that the leak was properly repaired and service restored, the I&E 

Safety Division shifted the focus of its investigation to examine whether the pipeline facilities 

operated by Respondent constitute “master meter systems” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 and are 

therefore subject to Commission regulation through Act 127.  The I&E Safety Division 

concluded that Respondent operates “master meter systems” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3.  

31. The I&E Safety Division first inspected Westover’s facilities and records on 

December 2, 2020. During the inspection, the I&E Safety Division explained the requirements 

that are necessary for Respondent to comply with Act 127 and the Federal pipeline safety 

regulations in its operation of master meter systems at the apartment complexes that it owns and 

operates in Pennsylvania.  
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32. On December 17, December 24, and December 31, 2020 as well as on January 11, 

and January 14, 2021, the I&E Safety Division attempted to schedule follow-up inspections with 

Respondent to review the manual and procedures that the I&E Safety Division asked Respondent 

to develop in order to become compliant with Act 127 and the Federal pipeline safety 

regulations.  Respondent did not respond to any of the I&E Safety Division’s attempts at 

communication. 

33. By letter dated February 3, 2021, the I&E Safety Division issued a non-

compliance letter, NC-77-20, finding Respondent to be in violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.13 and 

192.605 for failing to have a manual as required in Part 192 of the Federal pipeline safety 

regulations and a procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance and Emergencies (“O&M 

Manual”).  The I&E Safety Division requested that Respondent respond to NC-77-20 in writing 

on or before March 17, 2021, with a response that demonstrates that it developed and 

implemented an O&M Manual and a process to document and track all records required by the 

pertinent manuals and procedures.  NC-77-20 is appended hereto as I&E Exhibit 2.  Respondent 

failed to respond to NC-77-20. 

34. By letter dated March 30, 2021, the I&E Safety Division issued a second non-

compliance letter, NC-08-21, finding Respondent to be in violation of 49 CFR § 190.203(a) 

(permitting agents of PHMSA to enter and inspect the records and properties of persons to 

determine the compliance of such persons with Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations).  

The I&E Safety Division requested that Respondent respond in writing on or before April 29, 

2021, with a response that schedules the I&E Safety Division’s follow-up inspection of 

Respondent’s facilities and records, and which replies to NC-77-20.  In NC-08-21, the I&E 

Safety Division warned that continued failure to respond would result in I&E taking legal action 

against Respondent, including seeking the imposition of civil penalties.  NC-08-21 is appended 

hereto as I&E Exhibit 3.  Respondent failed to respond to NC-08-21. 
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35. Consequently, the I&E Safety Division referred the matter to I&E Enforcement.  

Prior to initiating a formal complaint proceeding, I&E Enforcement provided Respondent with 

yet another opportunity to comply with Act 127 and the Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations in its issuance of a warning letter dated June 2, 2021.  I&E’s warning letter is 

attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 4. 

36. Subsequent to the issuance of the warning letter, Respondent finally began taking 

steps to implement I&E’s suggested actions which were designed to guide Westover into 

compliance with the applicable laws and regulations concerning the safety of its master meter 

systems without engaging in litigation.  On August 6, 2021, Respondent filed an Act 127 

registration form, and on September 17, 2021 filed an amended Act 127 registration form that 

included master meter systems at various apartment complexes in Pennsylvania. See Docket No. 

A-2021-3028141.  However, Respondent’s compliance efforts abruptly ceased at the beginning 

of November 2021.  

37. By email dated November 3, 2021, Respondent communicated to the I&E Safety 

Division its belief that none of its apartment complexes operate jurisdictional master meter 

systems.  Respondent’s November 3, 2021 email is attached as I&E Exhibit 5. 

38. By letter dated November 4, 2021, Respondent, through its legal counsel, 

challenged the applicability of Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations on intrastate 

pipelines.  Respondent November 4, 2021 letter is attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 6. 

39. Consequently, the I&E Safety Division was left with no recourse but to cancel a 

November 5, 2021 meeting with Respondent’s outside consultant that was intended to discuss 

Respondent’s efforts to comply with Part 192 of the Federal pipeline safety regulations as it 

relates to its Operations and Maintenance Manual. 
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40. By letter dated November 22, 2021, I&E explained to Respondent the 

jurisdictional framework for pipeline safety regulation of intrastate master meter systems.  I&E’s 

November 22, 2021 letter is attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 7. 

41. Rejecting I&E’s legal explanation, Respondent filed a Petition for Declaratory 

Order on December 13, 2021 at Docket No. P-2021-3030002, requesting that the Commission 

declare that Westover is not subject to Act 127 and that Westover’s registration with the 

Commission as an Act 127 pipeline operator be deemed null and void. 

42. On January 3, 2022, I&E filed an Answer in Opposition to Respondent’s Petition 

for Declaratory Order at Docket No. P-2021-3030002. 

43. Over thirteen (13) months have passed since the I&E Safety Division’s initial 

inspection of Respondent’s facilities and records.  Respondent has failed to cooperate with I&E 

and comply with the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations, as adopted by Pennsylvania 

through Act 127, in its operation of master meter systems. 

44. An immediate threat to public safety exists with each and every day that Westover 

fails to submit to the Commission’s jurisdiction and implement the pertinent pipeline safety 

rules. 

III. Violations 

45. Paragraphs 1-44 above are incorporated herein as if stated in their entirety.  I&E 

has reviewed the actions of Respondent and alleges as follows: 

a. Respondent failed to submit reports with the Commission as an Act 127 
pipeline operator on an annual basis in that it failed to report total regulated 
intrastate distribution pipeline miles at the following times:  
 

(i) An Initial Registration Form by March 15, 2012 pursuant to Act 
127 of 2011 – The Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act; 
Assessment of Pipeline Operators, Docket No. M-2012-2282031 
(Order entered February 17, 2012); 

(ii) On or before March 31, 2013 for pipelines in operation during the 
2012 calendar year; 
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(iii) On or before March 31, 2014 for pipelines in operation during the 
2013 calendar year; 

(iv) On or before March 31, 2015 for pipelines in operation during the 
2014 calendar year; 

(v) On or before March 31, 2016 for pipelines in operation during the 
2015 calendar year; 

(vi) On or before March 31, 2017 for pipelines in operation during the 
2016 calendar year; 

(vii) On or before March 31, 2018 for pipelines in operation during the 
2017 calendar year; 

(viii) On or before March 31, 2019 for pipelines in operation during the 
2018 calendar year;  

(ix) On or before March 31, 2020 for pipelines in operation during the 
2019 calendar year; and 

(x) On or before March 31, 2021 for pipelines in operation during the 
2020 calendar year. 

 
This is a violation of 58 P.S. § 801.503(d). (3 counts)2 
 
b. Respondent failed to pay an appropriate assessment to the Commission in 
that it did not register its total regulated intrastate distribution pipeline miles that 
were in operation during the 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 
calendar years would have been assessed for the following fiscal years: 

 
(i) July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014 (related to 2012 calendar year); 
(ii) July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015 (related to 2013 calendar year); 
(iii) July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 (related to 2014 calendar year); 
(iv) July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 (related to 2015 calendar year); 
(v) July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 (related to 2016 calendar year); 
(vi) July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 (related to 2017 calendar year); 
(vii) July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 (related to 2018 calendar year); and 
(viii) July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 (related to 2019 calendar year).  

 
This is a violation of 58 P.S. § 801.503(b). (2 counts)3  

 
2  I&E only seeks a civil penalty for Respondent’s failure to file Act 127 reports that were due on March 31, 2019, 

March 31, 2020, and March 31, 2021.  I&E is not seeking any civil penalty for Respondent’s failure to file 
annual Act 127 reports prior to March 31, 2019 pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S. § 3314. 

3  Pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S. § 3314, I&E only seeks a civil penalty for Respondent’s failure to pay Act 127 
assessments related to the July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 and July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 fiscal years, and not 
any prior fiscal years. 
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c. Respondent failed to demonstrate compliance with Part 192 of the Federal 
pipeline safety regulations in that it operates segments of pipelines with only 
partially completed procedures applicable to some, but not all regulated pipeline 
facilities, and does not maintain any records necessary to show the 
implementation of procedures established in the regulations. 
 
This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.603(a)-(b).  (multiple counts) 
 
d. Respondent failed to demonstrate compliance with Part 192 of the Federal 
pipeline safety regulations in that it operates pipelines without a completed and 
comprehensive procedural manual for operations, maintenance and emergencies. 
 
This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(a)-(e).  (multiple counts) 
 
e. Respondent failed to demonstrate compliance with Part 192 of the Federal 
pipeline safety regulations in that it has not completed emergency plans to 
minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency. 
 
This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.615(a)-(c).  (multiple counts) 
 
f. Respondent failed to demonstrate compliance with Part 192 of the Federal 
pipeline safety regulations in that it failed to produce records illustrating that the 
gas in its distribution lines contains the proper concentration of odorant. 
 
This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.625(f)(1)-(2).  (multiple counts) 
 
g. Respondent failed to demonstrate compliance with Part 192 of the Federal 
pipeline safety regulations in that has not developed or implemented a 
qualification program that identifies qualified tasks and ensures that the 
individuals performing the covered tasks are qualified. 
 
This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.805(a)-(i) and 192.809(a)-(e).  (multiple 
counts) 
 
h. Respondent failed to demonstrate compliance with Part 192 of the Federal 
pipeline safety regulations in that it does not maintain any records related to the 
requisite qualification program showing that individuals are qualified to perform 
covered tasks. 
 
This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.807(a)-(b).  (multiple counts) 
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i. Respondent prohibited the I&E Safety Division from completing 
inspections of Respondent’s records, procedures and facilities and, therefore, the 
I&E Safety Division has been unable to verify that Respondent complies with 
many other sections of Part 192 of the Federal pipeline safety regulations, 
including 49 CFR § 192.53 (related to General – Materials), 49 CFR § 192.55 
(related to Steel pipe), 49 CFR § 192.59 (related to Plastic pipe), 49 CFR § 
192.145 (related to Valves), 49 CFR § 192.363 (related to Service lines: Valve 
requirements); 49 CFR § 192.365 (related to Service lines: Location of Valves), 
49 CFR § 192.371 (related to Service lines: Steel); 49 CFR § 192.375 (related to 
Service lines: Plastic); 49 CFR § 192.385 (related to Manual service line shut-off 
valve installation); 49 CFR Subpart I (related to Requirements for Corrosion 
Control); 49 CFR § 192.503 (related to General requirements for testing 
pipelines), 49 CFR § 192.509 (related to Test requirements for pipelines to 
operate below 100 p.s.i. (689 kPa) gage), 49 CFR § 192.511 (related to Test 
requirements for service lines), 49 CFR § 192.513 (related to Test requirements 
for plastic pipelines), 49 CFR § 192.517 (related to Records for tests), 49 CFR § 
192.703 (related to General – Maintenance), 49 CFR § 192.721 (related to 
Distribution systems: Patrolling), 49 CFR § 192.723 (related to Distribution 
systems: Leakage surveys), 49 CFR § 192.727 (related to Abandonment or 
deactivation of facilities) and 49 CFR § 192.747 (related to Valve maintenance: 
Distribution systems).4 
 
This is a violation of 58 P.S. § 801.501(a)(1), (b).  (multiple counts) 
 

WHEREFORE, for all the foregoing reasons, the Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission respectfully requests that: 

a. After consideration of the record, the Office of Administrative Law Judge 
and the Commission find Respondent in violation of each and every violation as 
set forth herein, and that Respondent be assessed a total civil penalty in the 
amount of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000).  Said payment shall be 
made by certified check payable to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and 
presented to the undersigned prosecutors within twenty (20) days of the date of 
the Commission’s order sustaining this Complaint;  

 
b. Respondent be directed to report all regulated intrastate distribution 
pipeline miles for pipelines in operation during the 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 
2017, 2018, and 2019 calendar years; 
  

 
4  I&E reserves the right to amend this Complaint to add additional violations of Part 192 of the Federal pipeline 

safety regulations should it be determined, through physical facility inspections or otherwise, that Respondent 
does not comply with the same. 
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c. Respondent be directed to pay an assessment that will be generated by the 
Commission’s Bureau of Administration based on the reported regulated 
intrastate distribution pipeline miles for pipelines that were in operation during 
the 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, and 2019 calendar years; 
 
d. Respondent be directed to fully comply with all applicable sections of Part 
192 of the Federal pipeline safety regulations and Act 127 now and on a going-
forward basis; 
 
e. Respondent be directed to cooperate with the I&E Safety Division during 
all inspections, including the coordination of such inspections, access to all 
physical facilities, and unfettered access to all documents, maps, and procedures; 
and 

 
f. That the Commission grant such further relief as deemed just and 
reasonable. 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 43319 

 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Commonwealth Keystone Building  
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
 
Dated:  January 3, 2022
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90TH CONGRESS t HOUSE OF REPRESENTANTIES REPORT
Od Ses8ion No. 1390

NATURAL GAS PIPELINE SAFETY ACT OF 1968

MAY 15, 1968.-Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State
of the Union and ordered to be printed

Mr. STAGGERS, from the Committee on Interstate and Foreign
Commerce, submitted the following

REPORT

[To accompany S. 1166]

The Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, to whom
was referred the bill (S. 1166) to authorize the Secretary of Transpor-
tation to prescribe safety standards for the transportation of natural
and other gas by pipeline, and for other purposes, having considered
the same, report favorably thereon with an amendment and recom-
mend that the bill as amended do pass.

The amendment is as follows:
Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert in lieu thereof

the following:

That this Act may be cited as the "Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968".

DEFINITIONS

SEc. 2. As used in this Act-
(1) "Person" means any individual, firm, joint venture, partnership, corpora-

tion, association, State, municipality, coopertive association, or joint stock associa-
tion, and includes any trustee, receiver, assignee, or personal representative
thereof;

(2) "Gas" means natural gas, flammable gas, or gas which is toxic or corrosive;
(3) "Transportation of gas" means the gathering, transmission or distribution

of gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce
except that it shall not include the gathering of gas in those rural locations which
lie outside the limits of any incorporated or unincorporated city, town, village,
or any other designated residential or commercial area such as a subdivision, a
business or shopping center, a community development, or any similar populated
area which the Secretary may define as a nonrural area;

(4) "Pipeline facilities" includes, without limitation, new and existing pipe,
rights-of-way, and any equipment, facility, or building used in the transportation
of gas or the treatment of gas during the course of transportation, but "rights-of-
way" as used in this Act does not authorize the Secretary to prescribe the location
or routing of any pipeline facility;

(5) "State" includes each of the several States, the District of Columbia, and
the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico;

(6) "Municipality" means a city, county, or any other political subdivision of a
State;
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(7) "National organization of State commissions" means the national organiza-
tion of the State commissions referred to in part II of the Interstate Commerce
Act;

(8) "Interstate transmission facilities" means pipeline facilities used in the
transportation of gas which are subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power
Comiiiission'under the Natural Gas Act; and

(9) "Secretary" means the Secretary of Transportation.

STANDARDS ESTABLISHED

SEC. 3. (a) As soon as practicable but not later than three months after the
enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall, by order, adopt as interim minimum
Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas in
each State the State standards regulating pipeline facilities and the transporta-
tion of gas within such State on the date of enactment of the Act. In any State
in which no such standards are in effect, the Secretary shall, by order, establish
interim Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of
gas in such State which shall be such standards as are common to a majority of
States having safety standards for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities
on such date. Interim standards shall remain in effect until amended or revoked
pursuant to this section. Any State agency may adopt such additional or more
stringent standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas not subject
to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commissioner under the Natural Gas Act
as are not incompatible with the Federal minimum standards, but may not
adopt or continue in force after the interim standards provided for above become
effective any such standards applicable to interstate transmission facilities.

(b) Not later than twenty-four months after the enactment of this Act, and
from time to time thereafter, the Secretary shall, by order, establish minimum
Federal safety standards for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities.
Such standards may apply to the design, installation, inspection, testing, construc-
tion, extension, operation, replacement, and maintenance of pipeline facilities.
Standards affecting the design, installation, construction, initial inspection, and
initial testing shall not be applicable to pipeline facilities in existence on the date
such standards are adopted. Whenever the Secretary shall find a particular facility
to be hazardous to life or property, he shall be empowered by order to require the
person operating such facility to take such steps necessary to remove such hazards.
Such Federal safety standards shall be practicable and designed to meet the need
for pipeline safety. In prescribing such standards, the Secretary shall consider-

(1) relevant available pipeline safety data;
(2) whether such standards are appropriate for the particular type of

pipeline transportation;
(3) the reasonableness of any proposed standards; and
(4) the extent to which such standards will contribute to public safety.

Any State agency may adopt such additional or more stringent standards for
pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas not subject to the jurisdiction of
the Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act as are not incom-
patible with the Federal minimum standards, but may not adopt or continue in
force after the minimum Federal safety standards referred to in this subsection
become effective any such standards applicable to interstate transmission facilities.

(c) Any standards prescribed under this section, and amendments thereto,
shall become effective thirty days after the date of issuance of such standards
unless the Secretary, for good cause recited, determines an earlier or later effective
date is required as a result of the period reasonably necessary for compliance.

(d) The provisions of subchapter II of chapter 5 of title 5 of the United States
Code shall apply to all orders establishing, amending, revoking, or waiving
compliance with, any standard established under this Act. The Secretary shall
afford interested persons an opportunity to participate fully in the establishment
of such safety standards through submission of written data, views, or arguments
with opportunity to present oral testimony and argument.

(e) Upon application by any person engaged in the transportation of gas or
the operation of pipeline facilities, the Secretary may, after notice and oppor-
tunity for hearing and under such terms and conditions and to such extent as he
deems appropriate, waive in whole or in part compliance with any standard
established under this Act, if he determines that a waiver of compliance with such
standard is not inconsistent with gas pipeline safety. The Secretary shall state
his reasons for any such waiver. A State agency, with respect to which there is
in effect a certification pursuant to section 5(a) or an agreement pursuant to section
5(b), may waive compliance with a safety standard in the same manner as the
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Secretary, provided such State agency gives the Secretary written notice at least
sixty days prior to the effective date of the waiver. If, before the effective date
of a waiver to be granted by a State agency, the Secretary objects in writing to
the granting of the waiver, any State agency action granting the waiver will be
stayed. After notifying such State agency of his objection, the Secretary shall
afford such agency a prompt opportunity to present its request for waiver, with
opportunity for hearing, and the Secretary shall determine finally whether the
requested waiver may be granted.

TECHNICAL PIPELINE SAFETY STANDARDS COMMITTEE

SEC. 4. (a) The Secretary shall establish a Technical Pipeline Safety Standards
Committee. The Committee shall be appointed by the Secretary, after consulta-
tion with public and private agencies concerned with the technical aspect of the
transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities, and shall be composed
of fifteen members each of whom shall be experienced in the safety regulation of
the transportation of gas and of pipeline facilities or technically qualified by
training and experience in one or more fields of engineering applied in the trans-
portation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities to evaluate gas pipeline
safety standards, as follows:

(1) Five members shall be selected from governmental agencies, including
State and Federal Governments, two of whom, after consultation with
representatives of the national organization of State commissions, shall be
State commissioners;

(2) Four members shall be selected from the natural gas industry after
consultation with industry representatives, not less than three of whom
shall be currently engaged in the active operation of natural gas pipelines;
and

(3) Six members shall be selected from the general public.
(b) The Secretary shall submit to the Committee all proposed standards and

amendments to such standards and afford such Committee a reasonable oppor-
tunity, not to exceed ninety days, unless extended by the Secretary, to prepare a
report on the technical feasibility, reasonableness, and practicability of each such
proposal. Each report by the Committee, including any minority views, shall be
published by the Secretary and form a part of the proceedings for the promul-
gation of standards. In the event that the Secretary rejects the conclusions of the
majority of the Committee, he shall not be bound by such conclusions but shall
publish his reasons for rejection thereof. The Committee may propose safety
standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas to the Secretary for
his consideration. All proceedings of the Committee shall be recorded and the
record of each such proceeding shall be available for public inspection.

(c) Members of the Committee other than Federal employees may be compen-
sated at a rate to be fixed by the Secretary not to exceed $100 per diem (including
travel time) when engaged in the actual duties of the Committee. All members,
while away from their homes or regular places of business, may be allowed travel
expenses, including per diem in lieu of subsistence as authorized by section 5703 of
title 5, United States Code, for persons in the Government service employed
intermittently. Payments under this section shall not render members of the Com-
mittee employees or officials of the United States for any purpose.

STATE CERTIFICATIONS AND AGREEMENTS

SEC. 5. (a) Except as provided in subsection (d) of this section, the provisions
of this Act shall not apply to pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas
(not subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission under the
Natural Gas Act) within a State when the safety standards and practices applic-
able to same are regulated by a State agency (including a municipality) which
submits to the Secretary an annual certification that such State agency (1) has
regulatory jurisdiction over the safety standards and practices of such pipeline
facilities and transportation of gas; (2) has adopted each Federal safety standard
applicable to such pipeline facilities and transportation of gas established under
this Act as of the date of the certification; (3) is enforcing each such standard;
and (4) has the authority to require record maintenance, reporting, and inspection
substantially the same as are provided under section 12 and the filing for ap-
proval of plans of inspection and maintenance described in section 11; and that
the law of the State makes provision for the enforcement of the safety standards
of such State agency by way of injunctive and monetary sanctions. Each annual
certification shall include a report, in such form as the Secretary may by regula-
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tion provide, showing (i) name and address of each person subject to the saiety
jurisdiction of the State agency; (ii) all accidents or incidents reported during
the preceding twelve months by each such person involving personal injury
requiring hospitalization, fatality, or property damage exceeding $1,000, to-
gether with a summary of the State agency's investigation as to the cause and
circumstances surrounding such accident or incident; (iii) the record maintenance,
reporting, and inspection practiced by the State agency to enforce compliance
with such Federal safety standards, including a detail of the number of inspec-
tions made of pipeline facilities by the State agency during the preceding twelve
months; and (iv) such other information as the Secretary may require. The
report included with the first annual certification need not show information
unavailable at that time. If after receipt of annual certification, the Secretary
determines that the State agency is not satisfactorily enforcing compliance with
Federal safety standards, he may, on reasonable notice and after opportunity
for hearing, reject the certification or take such other action as he deems appro-
priate to achieve adequate enforcement including the assertion of Federal
jurisdiction.

(b) With respect to any pipeline facilities and transportation of gas (not
subject to the juridsiction of the Federal Power Commission under the Natural
Gas Act) for which the Secretary does not receive an annual certification under
subsection (a) of this section, the Secretary is authorized by agreement with a
State agency (including a municipality) to authorize such agency to assume
responsibility for, and carry out on behalf of the Secretary as it relates to pipeline
facilities and the transportation of gas not subject to the jurisdiction of the
Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act the necessary actions to-

(1) establish an adequate program for record maintenance, reporting, and
inspection designed to assist compliance with Federal safety standards;

(2) establish procedures for approval of plans of inspection and main-
tenance substantially the same as are required under section 11;

(3) implement a compliance program acceptable to the Secretary including
provision for inspection of pipeline facilities used in such transportation of
gas; and

(4) cooperate fully in a system of Federal monitoring of such compliance
program and reporting under regulations prescribed by the Secretary.

Any agreement executed pursuant to this subsection shall require the State agency
promptly to notify the Secretary of any violation or probable violation of a Federal
safety standard which it discovers as a result of its program.

(c)(1) Upon an application submitted not later than September 30 in any
calendar year, the Secretary is authorized to pay out of funds appropriated
pursuant to section 15 up to 50 per centum of the cost of the personnel, equip-
ment, and activities of a State agency reasonably required to carry out a safety
program under a certification under subsection (a) or an agreement under sub-
section (b) of this section during the following calendar year. No such payment
may be made unless the State agency making application under this subsection
gives assurances satisfactory to the Secretary that the State agency will provide
the remaining cost of such a safety program and that the aggregate expenditures
of funds of the State, exclusive of Federal grants, for gas safety programs will be
maintained at a level which does not fall below the average level of such expendi-
tures for the last two fiscal years preceding the date of enactment of this section.

(2) Payments under this section may be made in installments, in advance or
by way of reimbursement, with necessary adjustments on account of overpay-
ments and underpayments.

(3) The Secretary may, by regulation, provide for the form and manner of
filing of applications under this section, and for such reporting and fiscal pro-
cedures as he deems necessary to assure the proper accounting for Federal funds.

(d) A certification which is in effect under sub, ection (a) of this section shall not
apply with respect to any new or amended Federal safety standard for pipeline
facilities or the transportation of gas, not subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal
Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act, established pursuant to this Act
after the date of such certification. The provisions of this Act shall apply to any
such new or amended Federal safety standard until the State agency has adopted
such standard and has submitted an appropriate certification in accordance with
the provisions of subsection (a) of this section.

(e) Any agreement under this section may be terminated by the Secretary if,
after notice and opportunity for a hearing, he finds that the State agency has failed
to comply with any provision of such agreement. Such finding and termination
shall be published in the Federal Register, and shall become effective no sooner
than fifteen days after the date of publication.
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JUDICIAL REVIEW OF ORDERS

SEC. 6. (a) Any person who is or will be adversely affected or aggrieved by any
order issued under this Act may at any time prior to the sixtieth day after such
order is issued file a petition for a judicial review with the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia or for the circuit wherein such petitioner is
located or has his principal place of business. A copy of the petition shall be forth-
with transmitted by the clerk of the court to the Secretary or other officer desig-
nated by him for that purpose.

(b) Upon the filing of the petition referred to in subsection (a), the court shall
have jurisdiction to review the order in accordance with chapter 7 of title 5 of the
United States Code and to grant appropriate relief as provided in such chapter.

(c) The judgment of the court affirming or setting aside, in whole or in part, any
such order of the Secretary shall be final, subject to review by the Supreme Court
of the United States upon certiorari or certification as provided in section 1254 of
title 28 of the United States Code.

(d) Any action instituted under this section shall survive, notwithstanding
any change in the person occupying the office of Secretary or any vacancy in such
office.

(e) The remedies provided for in this section shall be in addition to and not in
substitution for any other remedies provided by law.

COOPERATION WITH FEDERAL POWER COMMISSION AND STATE COMMISSIONS

SEC. 7. Whenever the establishment of a standard or action upon application
for waiver under the provisions of this Act, would affect continuity of any gas
services, the Secretary shall consult with and advise the Federal Power Com-
mission or State commission having jurisdiction over the affected pipeline facility
before establishing the standard or acting on the waiver application and shall
defer the effective date until the Federal Power Commission or any such com-
mission has had reasonable opportunity to grant the authorizations it deems
necessary. In any proceedings under section 7 of the Natural Gas Act (15 U.S.C.
717f) for authority to establish, construct, operate, or extend a gas pipeline
which is or will be subject to Federal or other applicable safety standards, any
applicant shall certify that it will design, install, inspect, test, construct, operate,
replace, and maintain the pipeline facilities in accordance with Federal and
other applicable safety standards and plans for maintenance and inspection.
Such certification shall be binding and conclusive upon the Commission unless
the relevant enforcement agency has timely advised the Commission in writing
that the applicant has violated safety standards established pursuant to this Act.

COMPLIANCE

SEC. 8. (a) Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or
operates pipeline facilities shall-

(1) at all times after the date any applicable safety standard established
under this Act takes effect comply with the requirements of such standard;
and

(2) file and comply with a plan of inspection and maintenance required by
section 11; and

(3) permit access to or copying of records, and make reports or provide
information, and permit entry or inspection, as required under section 12.

(b) Nothing in this Act shall affect the common law or statutory tort liability of
any person.

CIVIL PENALTY

SEC. 9. (a) Whenever the Secretary has reason to believe any person is violating
any portion of section 8(a), or any regulation issued under this Act, he shall give
notice to such person and permit such person reasonable opportunity to achieve
compliance prior to imposing the penalties hereinafter provided. If compliance has
not been achieved in a reasonable time, the Secretary may impose a civil penalty
not to exceed $500 for each day that such violation persists, except that the nmaxi-
mum civil penalty shall not exceed $100,000 for any related series of violations.
In addition, the Secretary may seek injunctive relief tinder the provisions set
forth in section 10.

(b) Any such civil penalty may be compromised by the Secretary. In deter-
mining the amount of such penalty, or the amount agreed upon in compromise,
the appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business of the person
charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person charged
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in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a violation, shall be
considered. The amount of such penalty, when finally determined, or the amount
agreed upon in the compromise, may be deducted from any sums owing by the
United States to the person charged or may be recovered in a civil action in the
United States district courts.

INJUNCTION AND JURISDICTION

SEC. 10. (a) The United States district courts shall have jurisdiction, subject
to the provisions of rule 65 (a) and (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,
to restrain violations of this Act (including the restraint of transportation of
gas or the operation of a pipeline facility) or to enforce standards established
hereunder upon petition by the appropriate United States attorney or the At-
torney General on behalf of the United States. Whenever practicable, the Secre-
tary shall give notice to any person against whom an action for injunctive relief
is contemplated and afford him an opportunity to present his views, and, except
in the case of a knowing and willful violation, shall afford him reasonable oppor-
tunity to achieve compliance. However, the failure to give such notice and afford
such opportu.iity shall not preclude the granting of appropriate relief.

(b) In any proceeding for criminal contempt for violation of an injunction or
restraining order issued under this section, which violation also constitutes a
violation of this Act, trial shall be by the court or, upon demand of the accused, by
a jury. Such trial shall be conducted in accordance with the practice and procedure
applicable in the case of proceedings subject to the provisions of rule 42(b) of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

(c) Actions under subsection (a) of this section and section 9 may be brought in
the district wherein any act or transaction constituting the violation occurred, or
in the district wherein the defendant is found or is an inhabitant or transacts
business, and process in such cases may be served in any other district of which
the defendant is an inhabitant or transacts business or wherever the defendant
may be found.

(d) In any action brought under subsection (a) of this section and section 9,
subpenas for witnesses who are required to attend a United States district court
may run into any other district.

INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE PLANS

SEC. 11. Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or
operates pipeline facilities not subject to the jursidcition of the Federal Power
Commission under the Natural Gas Act shall file with the Secretary or, where a
certification or an agreement pursuant to section 5 is in effect, with the State
agency, a plan for inspection and maintenance of each such pipeline facility
owned or operated by such person, and any changes in such plan, in accordance
with regulations prescribed by the Secretary or appropriate State agency. The
Secretary may, by regulation, also require persons who engage in the trans-
portation of gas or who own or operate pipeline facilities subject to the provisions
of this Act to file such plans for approval. If at any time the agency with respon-
sibility for enforcement of compliance with the standards established under this
Act finds that such plan is inadequate to achieve safe operation, such agency
shall, after notice and opportunity for a hearing, require such plan to be revised.
The plan required by the agency shall be practicable and designed to meet the
need for pipeline safety. In determining the adequacy of any such plan, such
agency shall consider-

(1) relevant available pipeline safety data;
(2) whether the plan is appropriate for the particular type of pipeline

transportation;
(3) the reasonableness of the plan; and
(4) the extent to which such plan will contribute to public safety.

RECORDS, REPORTS, AND INSPECTION FOR COMPLIANCE

SEC. 12. (a) Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who
owns or operates pipeline facilities shall establish and maintain such records, make
such reports, and provide such information as the Secretary may reasonably
require to enable him to determine whether such person has acted or is acting in
compliance with this Act and the standards established under this Act. Each
such person shall, upon request of an officer, employee, or agent authorized by the
Secretary, permit such officer, employee, or agent to inspect books, papers, records,
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and documents relevant to determining whether such person has acted or is
acting in compliance with this Act and the standards established pursuant to
this Act.

(b) The Secretary is authorized to conduct such monitoring of State enforce-
ment practices and such other inspection and investigation as may be necessary
to aid in the enforcement of the provisions of this Act and the standards estab-
lished pursuant to this Act. He shall furnish the Attorney General any information
obtained indicating noncompliance with such standards for appropriate action.
For purposes of enforcement of this Act, officers, employees, or agents authorized
by the Secretary, upon presenting appropriate credentials to the individual in
charge, are authorized (1) to enter upon, at reasonable times, pipeline facilities,
and (2) to inspect, at reasonable times and within reasonable limits and in a
reasonable manner, such facilities. Each such inspection shall be commenced and
completed with reasonable promptness.

(c) Accident reports made by any officer, employee, or agent of the Department
of Transportation shall be available for use in any civil, criminal, or other judicial
proceeding arising out of such accident. Any such officer, employee, or agent may
be required to testify in such proceedings as to the facts developed in such in-
vestigations. Any such report shall be made available to the public in a manner
which need not identify individuals. All reports on research projects, demonstra-
tion projects, and other related activities shall be public information.

(d) All information reported to or otherwise obtained by the Secretary or his
representative pursuant to subsection (a), (b), or (c) which information contains
or relates to a trade secret referred to in section 1905 of title 18 of the United States
Code shall be considered confidential for the purpose of that section, except
that such information may be disclosed to other officers or employees concerned
with carrying out this Act or when relevant in any proceeding under this Act.
Nothing in this section shall authorize the withholding of information by the
Secretary or any officer, employee, or agent under his control, from the duly
authorized committees of the Congress.

ADMINISTRATION

SEC. 13. (a) The Secretary shall conduct research, testing, development, and
training necessary to carry out the provisions of this Act. The Secretary is au-
thorized to carry out the provisions of this section by contract, or by grants to
individuals, States, and nonprofit institutions.

(b) Upon request, the Secretary shall furnish to the Federal Power Commission
any information he has concerning the safety of any materials, operations, devices,
or processes relating to the transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline
facilities.

(c) The Secretary is authorized to advise, assist, and cooperate with other
Federal departments and agencies and State and other interested public and
private agencies and persons, in the planning and development of (1) Federal
safety standards, and (2) methods for inspecting and testing to determine com-
pliance with Federal safety standards.

ANNUAL REPORT

SEC. 14. (a) The Secretary shall prepare and submit to the President for
transmittal to the Congress on March 17 of each year a comprehensive report
on the administration of this Act for the preceding calendar year. Such report
shall include-

(1) a thorough compilation of the accidents and casualties occurring in
such year with a statement of cause whenever investigated and determined
by the National Transportation Safety Board;

(2) a list of Federal gas pipeline safety standards established or in effect
in such year with identification of standards newly established during such
year;

(3) a summary of the reasons for each waiver granted under section 3(e)
during such year;

(4) an evaluation of the degree of observance of applicable safety standards
for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities including a list of enforce-
ment actions, and compromises of alleged violations by location and company
name;

(5) a summary of outstanding problems confronting the administration
of this Act in order of -priority.;
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(6) an analysis and evaluation of research activities, including the policy
implications thereof, completed as a result of Government and private
sponsorship and technological progress for safety achieved during such year;

(7) a list, with a brief statement of the issues, of completed or pending
judicial actions under the Act;

(8) the extent to which technical information was disseminated to the
scientific community and consumer-oriented information was made available
to the public;

(9) a compilation of-
(A) certifications filed by State agencies (including municipalities)

under section 5(a) which were in effect during the preceding calendar
year, and

(B) certifications filed under section 5(a) which were rejected by the
Secretary during the preceding calendar year, together with a summary of
the reasons for each such rejection; and

(10) a compilation of-
(A) agreements entered into with State agencies (including municipal-

ities) under section 5(b) which were in effect during the preceding
calendar year, and

(B) agreements entered into under section 5(b) which were terminated
by the Secretary during the preceding calendar year, together with a
summary of the reasons for each such termination.

(b) The report required by subsection (a) shall contain such recommendations
for additional legislation as the Secretary deems necessary to promote cooperation
among the several States in the improvement of gas pipeline safety and to
strengthen the national gas pipeline safety program.

APPROPRIATIONS AUTHORIZED

SEC. 15. For the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this Act over a period
of three fiscal years, beginning with the fiscal year ending June 30, 1969, there is
authorized to be appropriated not to exceed $500,000 for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1969; not to exceed $2,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1970;
and not to exceed $3,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1971.

BRIEF STATEMENT OF PURPOSE OF THE BILL

The purpose of the bill as reported is to provide for the prescription
and enforcement of minimum Federal safety standards for the trans-
portation of natural and other gas by pipeline and for pipeline
facilities.

To achieve this purpose, the bill:
1. Directs (see. 3) the Secretary of Transportation within 24 months

to establish minimum safety standards for the gathering, transmission,
and distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage, and for pipeline
facilities used in the transportation or treatment of gas. (Provision is
made for interim standards.) Certain standards apply retroactively
and the Secretary otherwise is empowered to order removal of hazards
to life or property.

2. Places a duty (sec. 8) upon each person engaging in the trans-
portation of gas or who owns or operates pipeline facilities to:

(1) comply with these safety standards;
(2) file and comply with a plan of inspection and maintenance

required by section 11; and
(3) permit access to records, make reports, and permit entry

or inspection as required by section 12.
3. Provides (sec. 5) for the enforcement of these standards:

(1) as to pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas subject
to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission, by the
Secretary; and

(2) as to all other pipeline facilities and transportation of gas
either by the Secretary or by delegation to a State agency through
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either: (a) an effective certification by the State agency to the
Secretary; or (b) an effective written agreement between the State
agency and the Secretary. (As here used a State agency may mean
a municipality.)

4. In addition, the bill provides (see. 4) for the establishment of a
technical pipeline safety standards committee; (see. 6) for the judicial
review of orders; (see. 7) for cooperation with the Federal Power
Commission; (see. 9) for civil penalities; (see. 10) for injunctions and
jurisdiction; (see. 13) for research; (sec. 14) for reports to the Congress;
and (sec. 15) for the authorization of the sums of $500,000, $2 million,
and $3 million for the next 3 fiscal years.

BACKGROUND AND NEED FOR LEGISLATION

Authority to improve the public safety as it is affected by trans-
portation by private auto, bus, truck, railroad train, airplane, ship
and pipelines which carry products other than gas and water, now
exists in the Department of Transportation. The only significant
mode of transportation which is presently beyond the reach of effec-
tive comprehensive safety regulation is the transportation of gases
by pipeline. The anomaly of this exception is that the Department
of Transportation now exercises safety regulation over flammable
and other hazardous gases moving other than by pipeline, and safety
regulation over pipeline movements of many other commodities
including petroleum but not of natural gas.

Growth of Natural Gas Industry
There are now over 800,000 miles of gas pipeline in the United

States including approximately 63,000 miles of gathering lines,
224,000 miles of transmission lines, and 536,000 miles of distribution
lines. These lines range in diameter from less than 1 inch to 42 inches
with 48-inch lines under consideration. They vary in condition from
old, unprotected lines to new, well-protected lines. They differ in
function from low-pressure distribution lines operated at one-fourth
pound per square inch to, high-pressure transmission lines operated
at 1,300 pounds per square inch, which is equivalent to a force of
over 93 tons pushing against the pipeline wall over every square
foot. Most of this pipeline system is of recent development.

Since World War II there has been-
1. A tremendous increase in the mileage of interstate trans-

mission lines;
2. An increase in the number of these lines which now traverse

populous areas;
3. Introduction of natural gas into city distribution mains

originally constructed for manufactured gas; and
4. A tremendous increase in the number of city distribution

mains to distribute natural gas.
In 1945 there existed some 27,000 miles of gathering lines. This has

more than doubled.
In 1945 there existed some 77,000 miles of transmission lines. This

has tripled.
In 1945 there were some 68,000 miles of distribution lines for manu-

factured gas. The total now is less than 1,000.
In 1945 there existed some 113,000 miles of natural gas distribution

lines. This is now nearly five times greater.
H. Rept. 1390, 90-2- 2
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In summary, while in 1945 natural gas supplied something like one-
eighth of the Nation's total consumption of the energy fuels and
energy, today it supplies one-third. The population of the Nation at
the same time has grown, but even so, the per capita consumption of
natural gas has increased from 30 to 88 million British thermal units.

This tremendous increase in the use of natural gas and the con-
current increase in the number of miles of gaslines makes considera-
tion of the industry's safety record and standards most important.
The tremendous growth in the population in the United States during
the same period; that is, from 132 to over 200 million, immeasurably
increases the need for that consideration.

Natural gas safety
The testimony of the Secretary of Transportation and the Chair-

man of the Federal Power Commission is that the safety record of the
transmission industry has been a relatively good one. Studies made by
the Federal Power Commission for the 18 years, 1950 up to November
15, 1967, show that only 67 people have been killed during this time
of whom 31 were nonemployees and 36 were employees. Of these 31
of the general public, 17 were killed in one accident. Of the remainder,
eight were killed as a result of their bulldozer or plow or road grader
cutting the pipeline, and two were killed as a result of a runaway
truck smashing into a pipeline metering station.

While the number of deaths has been low in relation to other indus-
tries, the recital of this fact alone, however, does not indicate ade-
quately the seriousness of transmission systems failures. Over this
period there has been an operational failure about every 5 days and a
large number of failures during testing. In most cases the gas which
escaped as a result of those failures did not ignite. In addition, the
danger of injury and death has not been as great in the case of trans-
mission lines which have been located away from areas of population
density. When a transmission line failure occurs in a populated locale
and ignition follows, the resultin explosion can be highly destructive.
For example, the rupture and explosion at Natchitoches, La., in March
1965, gutted a 13-acre area, killed 17 people, burned five houses, and
melted cars and rocks in the vicinity.

As to the safety record of distribution systems Secretary Boyd
further testified:

Problems of the distribution lines are more complicated.
Distribution systems have been in existence for many years
and much of the original pipe is still in use even though it is
now 30 or 40 years old. In some instances, it may be twice
as old as that. There is no readily available information
concerning past accidents in distribution systems as there
is with transmiss on pipelines. However, in the first few
months of this year, there were several major accidents in
distribution systems. On January 13, there was a fire which
engulfed an area equivalent to an entire block in Queens,
Long Island, in which seven people were injured and 19
families left homeless. On February 19, there was an explo-
sion in a rehearsal hall in South Milwaukee, Wis., where 250
people had been located just 20 minutes prior to the explo-
sion, 14 people were injured. Simple chance and the heroic
action of the police prevented loss of life in both these
incidents.
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On February 27, in Hastings, N.Y., one person was killed
and 15 injured and 35 families left homeless. On March 14,
a crack in a main located in Logansport, Ind., caused a
blowup leaving eight injured. Another recent accident
occurred in Fort Worth, Tex., where a gas main failed during
a test, resulting in a blowup in which 12 were injured. The
most recent incident of which we are aware occurred less
than a month ago, on November 11, in St. Louis. Fortu-
nately, the office building, which reportedly was leveled,
was unoccupied since the blast occurred at night. However,
records and documents were destroyed and two passersby
were slightly injured.

How many major accidents have occurred in past years
and how many minor ones this year is pure conjecture,
but this emphasizes the need for safety jurisdiction over
distribution lines to help prevent accidents of the type I
have related (pp. 14-15).

As to the gathering lines, Mr. C. W. Miller, president, Natural
Gas Processors Association, testified before the committee:

Since we testifid before the Senate committee, we have
supplemented the data there in evidence with another full
year of safety information on gathering lines and can now
inform the subcommittee that in 1966 forty-six members
of this association who, in the aggregate handle more than
90 percent of all gas liquids produced in the Nation, gathered,
through 61,956.23 miles of pipeline, 86.91 percent of the
nearly 17.5 trillion cubic feet of gas produced in the United
States.

Of these lines, 19.42 percent operated at pressures between
50 and 200 psig and 40 percent at pressures lower than psig.
No lost-time accidents occurred on these two categories of
pipelines during the six years ended December 31, 1967.
Of these lines, 98.05 percent were rurally located. The
remaining 40.58 percent of gathering lines carrying pressures
exceeding 200 psig, were 98.42 percent rural and the three
lost-time accidents which occurred on this category of lines
during the six years ended December 31, 1967, resulted
from man-failures which no code or regulation could have
prevented. No lost-time accidents on any of this 61,956.23
miles of line occurred in 1966 or 1967 (p. 255).

Federal interest in natural gas safety
In 1950 a member of this committee, Mr. John Heselton, of Massa-

chusetts, introduced in the 81st Congress H.R. 5933, which would
authorize the Federal Power Commission to prescribe safety require-
ments for natural gas companies. He reintroduced the bill in the 82d
and 83d Congresses. He indicated that his attention had been called
to certain explosions on transmission lines that had led to his making
inquiries as to the frequency of such accidents, and that in cooperation
with many of the gas transmission lines and the Federal Power Com-
mission he was able to develop a considerable amount of data which
led to his originally filing the bill.
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In a hearing in the 83d Congress on his bill, H.R. 134, Mr. Heselton
on June 10, 1954, testified that after he had filed his original bill:

Certain representatives of the industry came to see me
and told me very frankly and honestly, that they felt there
was a need for an improved and revised code and asked
whether I would be willing to defer any action on the legis-
lation pending an effort on their part to develop such a code.
I told them I would be very glad to do so.

Since that time there has been, as will appear from the
testimony, a very considerable effort on the part of the indus-
try, with certain representatives from Government to
develop that code.

I have been told that probably that will take the balance
of the year before that can be done.

Therefore, I am not interested in having the bill enacted
until that action is completed.

Then, it seems to me, it will be useful from everybody's
point of view to have some action on this bill, or some
similar type of bill, so that it would have Federal sanction.

The activity on the part of the industry and of the regulatory
agencies led to the adoption in 1955 of a substantially improved
revision of the industry code B-31.8. Further revisions have been
made in the code in 1958, 1961, 1963, and 1967.

During the course of these years the Federal Power Commission
actively engaged in the work on an improved code. The Commission
first in 1953 expressed a position favoring some Federal authority over
the promulgation of standards although then expressing opposition to
the Commission's enforcement of any standards. In ensuing years with
changing circumstances the Commission has recommended that the
Natural Gas Act be amended to give it authority in the field. Lately
the Commission has used the authority which it has under section 7
of the Natural Gas Act in the granting of certificates of convenience
and necessity for the construction of new interstate pipelines to impose
certain requirements that the construction be in accordance with the
specifications of the industry code.

In 1963 the Report on the Movement of Dangerous Cargoes, an
interagency study coordinated by the Office of the Under Secretary of
Commerce for Transportation, recommended:

The Federal Power Commission should be given specific
statutory authority and responsibility for safety regulation
of gas pipelines operating in interstate or foreign commerce.

In 1965 the Senate committee conducted hearings on a bill assigning
additional safety responsibility to the Federal Power Commission,
during the course of which the Commission was directed to make a
study of the safety of transmission lines referred to above. This study
was subsequently printed by that committee.

On February 16, 1967, President Lyndon B. Johnson, in his consumer
message, stated:

With the creation of the Department of Transportation,
one agency now has responsibility for Federal safety regu-
lations of air, water, and land transportation, and oil pipe-
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lines. It is time to complete this comprehensive system of
safety by giving the Secretary of Transportation authority to
prescribe minimum safety standards for the movement of
natural gas by pipeline.

I recommend the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1967.

State interest in natural gas safety
Over the years a number, but far from all, of the States, has pre-

scribed pipeline safety standards by legislative or State commission
action.

By the time of the report of the Federal Power Commission to the
Senate committee of March 25, 1966, 26 States had adopted safety
codes and of these, 25 used ASA B.31-8 as their basic code.

The creation of the Department of Transportation and the interest
of that Department in natural gas pipeline safety resulted in many
more States adopting safety standards, and in response to the question-
naire submitted by the National Association in April 1967, the 40 of
the 51 States (including the District of Columbia) which replied
indicated they had authority to establish safety standards. The asso-
ciation stated they understood that three more of the remaining 11
had regulations while the others did not have any codes.

At the time of testifying before our committee in February of 1968,
the National Association stated that 47 States had adopted programs
for the regulation of gas safety which was a gain of 20 States in 18
months, and that an additional two States were expected shortly to be
added to this number.

While it is evident that the States recently have enlarged their
jurisdiction in the field, their adoption of the codes is not uniform.
Some have stricter standards than the codes and others have much
less. This situation is described in the FPC report of 2 years ago to the
Senate committee as follows:

Some of the States have prescribed pipeline safety stand-
ards by legislative or State commission action in most cases
making the ASA Code mandatory for pipelines within their
jurisdiction. Twenty-six States have safety codes, and of
these 25 use the ASA Code either unchanged or with amend-
ments. Although a few of the remaining States require
odorization of gas, most have no transmission line safety regu-
lations at all. Even in States where a State safety code is in
force, limitations of State law restrict some of the code appli-
cations to intrastate facilities. Thus, a State may be unable to
regulate much of the transmission line mileage within its
borders if it is part of an interstate facility.

Despite adoption of the ASA Code in half the States, 58
percent of the Nation's transmission line mileage 1 is not
subject to State safety regulation and even greater mileage
was not subject to regulation when installed. In 1964,
85,310 miles of transmission pipeline were in the ground in
States having safety codes, while lines in nonregulating States
totaled 119,420 miles. Of the 5,100 miles of net increase in
pipelines installed during 1963, 3,470 miles-more than two-
thirds of the total-were in States without a safety code.

I Both interstate and Intrastate pipelines.

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 13 of 57

Page 217 of 628



Most of the States which have basically adopted the ASA
Code deviate considerably from it in many particulars. Sev-
eral have found the ASA Code insufficiently strict, and have
made extensive additions and amendments. Thus Connecticut
has, among other changes, prescribed minimum electric
resistivity standards for pipe coatings to protect pipe from
corrosion and required the use of cathodic protection; the
importance of these matters is recognized, but left to the
pipeline operator's discretion by the ASA Code. For a further
example, the ASA Code does not require that any welds
made in the field be examined by X-rays. Ne York, on theother hand, requires X-ray examination of at least a pre-

scribed minimum sample of the welds in each project. More-
over, nine States have added the requirement, absent in the
ASA Code, that accidents be reported immediately.

An example of the diversity existing among the States
can be found in their provisions concerning automatic shutoff
valves. Of the States which have added to the ASA Code
in this respect, two, Connecticut and Rhode Island, require
automatic valves under certain circumstances, while New
Jersey, New York, and Washington forbid them unless it can
be shown in each case that they will contribute to safer
operation.

Despite the extensive additions found desirable in some
States, eight jiurisdictions have adopted the ASA Code
virtually without change; and one has made a number of
amendments relaxing the code requirements. In addition,
at least six States have made no provision for incorporating
revisions in the code as these are promulgated by the ASA.
Thus, in some States the less stringent 1955 version of the
ASA Code is still in force, although the association has
revised it twice since that time. And while many, if not most,
of the code's provisions are expressed as recommendations
rather than requirements, only one State, California, has
so drafted its regulations as explicitly to translate the code
provisions into mandatory language.

Most long-distance natural gas transmission companies
operate in several States and in hundreds of different local
government subdIvisions. Thus the applicable legal safety
restraints are frequently not uniform in respect to various
segments of a single pipeline company system.

(Committee print, pp 9-10, Senate Commerce Committee, "Safety
of Interstate Natural Gas Pipelines," 89th Cong., second sess., Apr. 19,
1966.)

The analysis of the natural gas safety questionnaire conducted at
the request of the Department of Transportation by the National
Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners a year ago shows that
while the authority to establish standards exists, this authority has
been exercised in a variety of forms. For example, of the 40 commissions
replying, only 10 had authority to establish standards for publicly
owned gas utilities; only 31 of the 40 had adopted the USASI code, of
whom 14 had modified sections of the code and 18 had adopted addi-
tional or other safety standards. Only 21 of the 40 had a staff to provide
for inspection. The analysis of the varying degree of exercise of
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authority is set forth herein in appendix A. The authority of State
commissions to have their orders enforced by court injunction and the
amount of fine which may be imposed for willful violation of com-
mission orders is set out in appendix B.

One of the matters on which the committee had most difficulty in
ascertaining the facts was that of the extent to which the State
regulatory bodies exercised their jurisdiction to prescribe safety
standards for gathering lines. Since gathering lines as such are not
present in a number of States, the statistics as to the total are not
meaningful. It does appear, however, that in some of the primary
producing States, there is no State regulation. A summary of the
situation is included as appendix C.
The industry code

The Industry Code B-31.8 was created by the American Society of
Mechanical Engineers and the U.S.A. Standards Institute. It was
first published in 1935 and since 1952 there have been 4 complete
new editions and numerous supplements and amendments.

Primary responsibility for its development has centered in the code
committee, made up of representatives of professional engineering
societies, associations, and governmental agencies such as the National
Safety Council, the Bureau of Ships, U.S. Coast Guard, the American
Society of Safety Engineers, the American Society for Testing & Ma-
terials, the American Insurance Association, and the American
Institute of Mining, Metallurgical & Petroleum Engineers, as well
as industry groups such as the American Gas Association, American
Iron & Steel Institute, and the American Petroleum Institute.

The code committee includes approximately 70 to 75 members;
representatives of the Federal Power Commission, the Bureau of
Mines, State public service commissions, university engineering de-
partments, research institutes, consulting engineers, contractors, in-
spection services, manufacturers, pipeline companies, the National
Energy Board of Canada, the American Gas Association, and others.

In addition, the B-31.8 code incorporates many standards and spec-
ifications by reference from other organizations, such as the Amer-
ican Society for Testing & Materials, American Standards Associa-
tion, American Petroleum Institute, ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel
Code, and the National Board of Fire Underwriters.

Chairman White has referred to the code committee as "made up
of technical experts, people who are the best this country has pro-
duced." Secretary Boyd referred to the members of the B-31.8
code committee with these words:

I believe that they have performed a meritorious and
public-spirited task over these past years. A counterpart in
other industries is difficult to find. Few industries have
devoted the time and attention to safety procedures as has
this one.

Secretary Boyd went on to say, however, that he felt there were
shortcomings in the code.

Yet pipeline transportation of the commodity in which this
industry deals is inherently dangerous. The examples of
pipeline accidents which I described to you a few moments
ago gives us some idea of the magnitude of the destruction
which results from such accidents. The steadily and rapidly
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increasing population densities where gas is used presents, in
my judgment, a compelling and convincing case for assuring
that additional measures to protect the public are taken.
Clear authority to establish comprehensive safety standards
must be enacted; we believe that the exercise of such author-
ity by the Federal Government will assure the best frame-
work within which the standards can be developed and
implemented.

I do not believe that we can provide such protection
through the enactment of the present code. I have attached
to my statement a list of some of the major areas where the
code would not provide the kind of protection which we
believe is essential (p. 15).

APPENDIX TO STATEMENT OF HON. ALAN S. BOYD, SECRETARY,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Some of the major areas where the USASI B31.8 Code does
not provide the safety standards essential for gas pipeline
systems:

1. The Code does not provide for a systematic testing or
evaluation of pipe already in the ground.

2. The code does not require a pressure test for all up-
grading of pipeline systems.

3 The code mentions use of varying types of construction
materials to be used in cold climates, but offers no positive
specifications to insure materials with special properties are
used.

4. The code does not require uniform marking of the exact
location of lines.

5. The code does not define welding inspection procedures;
specifically, the frequency of inspection of welds by radio-
graphic methods.

6. The code does not specify uniform construction speci-
fi cations for new pipeline.

7. The code requires that companies have a plan for pipe-
line maintenance, but it does not specify the extent, thorough-
ness, or any specific points of such a plan.

8. The code establishes design factor requirements for pipe-
line according to location. In rural areas, the code limits the
operating pressure to 72 percent of the design stress. In
urban areas, the code limits the operating pressure to 40
percent of the design stress, i.e., giving a greater safety
factor.

It does not provide a method for changing these require-
ments as population density changes. Consequently, we now
have suburban homes, office buildings, and shopping centers
in close proximity to pipelines originally designed to operate
at a higher percent of design stress.

9. The code does not give inspection procedures during
construction for each type of pipeline.

10. The procedures for revision of the code are extremely
time consuming. The time required for a revision can be 2
years or more. This timelag is too great when the public
safety is concerned (pp. 19-20).
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Need for Federal regulation
In summary, the accident record of the industry has been a spotty

one. In certain areas it has been good; in other areas, statistics are
lacking but many illustrations can be given of unfortunate and dis-
astrous failures.

Present regulation by State commissions is varied and indeed there
is difficulty in determining the effectiveness of State enforcement
inasmuch as many of the States only recently have prescribed safety
standards.

The primary problem results from the fact that whatever standards
have been applied, have been applied primarily to new pipe and to
new construction. Secretary Boyd testified that he considered the
major shortcoming of the code which has been adopted by most of
the States and by the industry is that it does not provide for system-
atic testing or evaluation of pipe already in the ground.

The tremendous increase in the number and location of pipelines
has great bearing on the potential danger associated with pipeline
failures. Such of these failures as have occurred in the past on our
transmission lines up to now have not been accompanied by too many
disasters. Most of these lines were laid to code specifications, but the
code deviated between populated and unpopulated areas and today
we now have pipe in the ground that does not necessarily meet today's
standards under today's conditions of growing population. Grave as
may be this hazard, it is small compared with that resulting from the
introduction of natural gas into the distribution mains of our cities,
many of which were laid years ago for the handling of manufactured
gas, and the tremendous growth of the natural gas distribution in-
dustry itself. The industry growth plus population growth enhances
the need for adequate safety standards and enforcement.

HEARINGS

Hearings on S. 1166, the bill here being reported, and on H.R.
6551, a bill which was the reintroduction of the recommendation
made by the Federal Power Commission in previous years for au-
thority being placed with it for the regulation of interstate trans-
mission lines safety, were held by the Subcommittee on Communica-
tions and Power starting December 6, 1967, and continuing during the
latter part of February until March 1 of this year.

S. 1166 was supported as to principle, with several amendments sug-
gested, by the Department of Transportation, the Federal Power Com-
mission, and the Bureau of the Budget. Other persons testified that
they would have no objection to the bill if amended in the fashion
they indicated; namely American Petroleum Institute, Independent
Natural Gas Association of America, American G as Association,
Natural Gas Producers Association, American Public Gas Associa-
tion, certain as companies, National Association of Regulatory
Utility Commissioners, and State Commissions. Representatives of
unions also appeared for or filed statements urging the adoption of a
bill. No one appeared in opposition.

SCOPE OF THE BILL

The reported bill provides for the establishment and enforcement
of minimum Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the
transportation of natural and other gases.

H. Rept. 1390, 90-2---3
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Section 2 contains definitions which describe the persons, gas,
transportation, and facilities covered.

Persons covered
Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns

or operates pipeline facilities comes within the jurisdiction of the
bill. "Person" means any individual, State or municipality, including
personal representatives therefor. The jurisdiction extends to opera-
tions of public bodies, for example, municipally owned distribution
companies, but the Secretary has indicated it was not the intent that
its provisions apply to federally operated facilities, including the
military (p. 335).

Gas covered
Gas is defined as meaning natural gas, flammable gas, or gas which

is toxic or corrosive. Thus gases other than natural gas are covered
by the bill, including what might be liquids when they are transported
in gaseous form. (The Department of Transportation has certain
other authority over transportation in liquid form.) The jurisdiction
extends even to manufactured gas (testimony of Secretary Boyd,
p. 36).

The bill as referred used the phrase "or nonflammable hazardous
gas." The committee has amended this to "or gas which is toxic or
corrosive." The original language could have implied jurisdiction
over any gas when under a pressure creating a hazard such as steam
or even compressed air. The Secretary testified that it was not the
intent to provide for such coverage but for toxic and corrosive gases,
chlorine, for example (p. 16).
Transportation covered

The term "transportation of gas" is defined as the gathering,
transmission or distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or
affecting interstate or foreign commerce. With exception as to gather-
ing in certain circumstances, this means all aspects of the transporta-
tion of gas from the well head to the consumer. As testified by Secre-
tary Boyd:

There is no question but what every element of a gas
gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving
gas, which is either in or affects interstate commerce. * * *

(p. 35).
I don't think that it even requires any elasticity of the

commerce clause of the Constitution to define 99%00 percent
of this activity as being clearly within the commerce clause
(p. 36).

It should be noted that storage of gas "in or affecting interstate
commerce" is included in the coverage.

Gathering
During the course of the hearings much testimony was presented

as to the need for the establishment of Federal standards over gather-
ing pipelines. This jurisdiction had not been in the bill as reported by
the Senate committee, but had been added on the floor of the Senate.
There is no question that there exist certain gathering lines which
are located in populous areas but the tremendous bulk of such lines
is located in rural areas. Testimony was offered as to the safety record
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of these lines and that no man-days had been lost as the result of
accidents on gathering lines during the past 6 years. The safety
record is impressive.

On the other hand, as the Secretary of Transportation testified,
many of these lines originally were located in rural areas which since
have become populated and it can be expected that gathering lines
in the future also may become surrounded by people. The committee,
accordingly, in the reported bill has provided an exception for the
Federal jurisdiction over the prescription of safety standards for
gathering lines where gathering occurs in rural locations which lie
outside the limits of an incorporated or unincorporated city, town,
village, or other designated residential or commercial area such as a
subdivision, a business or shopping center, a community develop-
ment, or similar populated area.

Since the population within an area can change inthe future and
since the illustrations of populated areas set forth in the language may
not cover all situations and are subject to interpretation as well, the
Secretary is given the authority to define from time to time what is
a nonrural area. The committee wishes it to be clear that its thought
as to a populated area does not mean that it must be one with a total
of a large number of people. It is evident that to a few the safety stand-
ards pertaining to a pipeline passing near their houses, their school,
or their place of employment is of as much concern as though they
were part of a large group.
Pipeline facilities covered-treatment plans

The term "pipeline facilities" is defined to include any new or exist-
ing pipe, rights-of-way, and equipment, facilities, or buildings used
in the transportation of gas or the treatment of gas during the course
or transportation. There is a qualification contained in this definition
which provides that the term "rights-of-way" as used in the legislation
does not authorize the Secretary of Transportation to prescribe the
location or routing of any pipeline facility, which is discussed later in
this report.

The bill as referred included all pipeline facilities used in the treatment
of gas just as it included all gathering lines. Consistent with the amend-
ment which the committee has made for an exemption of gathering
lines where gathering occurs in rural locations lying outside populated
areas, the committee has modified the coverage over facilities used in
the treatment of gas so that facilities located on the exempted gather-
ing lines are excluded from coverage of the bill. This is accomplished
by providing that the jurisdiction applies to the facilities used in the
treatment of gas during the course of transportation, and transporta-
tion has been defined to exclude certain gathering lines.

Other definitions
Other definitions are included in this section covering what is meant

by State (includes District of Columbia and the Commonwealth of
Puerto Rico); municipality (includes county or other political sub-
division of a State as well); and a few other terms as used in the bill.

DUTY OF SECRETARY OF TRANSPORTATION To ESTABLISH FEDERAL
SAFETY STANDARDS

The basic tool created by this bill to improve the safety of gas
pipelines and facilities is the direction given to the Secretary of
Transportation in section 3 to set minimum safety standards to be

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 19 of 57

Page 223 of 628



observed by all persons engaged in the transportation of gas or
owning or operating pipeline facilities.

Not more that 2 years after enactment of this legislation, the
Secretary is required to establish permanent minimum Federal
safety standards for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities.
New or amended standards may be established from time to time
thereafter. Such standards may apply to the design, installation,
inspection, testing, construction, extension, operation, replacement,
and maintenance of pipeline facilities. Such standards necessarily
will take into account geology and above-surface conditions and
structures, although the Secretary may not prescribe the location
or routing of any pipeline facility.

To assure that Federal safety standards will be practicable and
designed to meet the need for pipeline safety, the Secretary of Trans-
portation, in prescribing such standards, is required to take into
consideration (1) relevant available pipeline safety data, (2) whether
such standards are appropriate for the particular type of pipeline
transportation, (3) the reasonableness of proposed standards, and
(4) the extent to which such standards will contribute to public
safety.

With respect to both interim and permanent Federal safety stand-
ards, a State agency may adopt additional or more stringent stand-
ards not incompatible with the Federal standards. Additional or more
stringent State standards are prohibited as to interstate transmission
facilities, that is, pipeline facilities used in the transportation of gas
which are subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission
under the Natural Gas Act. With respect to these facilities, the Fed-
eral standards will apply, providing for uniformity of regulation where
the lines of a single company may traverse a number of States.

INTERIM STANDARDS

The committee believes that the need for meaningful pipeline safety
regulation is serious enough that no vacuum should be permitted to
exist during the period in which the Secretary is developing standards.
Therefore, he is required by section 3(a) to establish interim Federal
safety standards within 3 months after enactment. As noted elsewhere
in this report, not all States have safety codes or regulations applying
to all phases of pipeline operation. To fill these gaps quickly, the
Secretary shall establish as the Federal mandatory interim standards
existing State standards. Where all or part of the distribution and
transmission operations in any State are not covered by State stand-
ards, the Secretary must develop and establish interim standards
which will consist of the standards common to a majority of existing
State standards. To further guard against gaps in the standards, any
interim standard will remain in effect until specifically amended, or
revoked, even if this is not done until more than 24 months after
enactment of this bill.

APPLICATION OF STANDARDS TO, AND REMOVAL OF, HAZARDS IN EXISTING

PIPELINE FACILITIES

The standards to be developed by the Secretary under section
3(b) may apply to the design, installation, inspection, testing, con-
struction, extension, operation, replacement, and maintenance of
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pipeline facilities except that those standards affecting the design,
installation construction, initial inspection, and initial testing shall
not be applicable to pipeline in existence on the date such standards
are adopted. In other words, any Federal standard leading to inspec-
tion and testing (other than initial inspecting and testing), extension,
operation, replacement, and maintenance may be applied to existing
pipe as well as new pipe. In addition, although certain standards
established for the laying of new pipe may not apply to existing pipe,
the Secretary of Transportation nevertheless is given the authority
to require the removal of hazards whenever he finds a particular
facility to be hazardous to life or property.

A designation of the type of standards which would and would not
apply to existing pipe was contained in the bill as it was referred to
this committee. The reasons prompting such designation as set out
in the Senate report on the bill is as follows:

The committee appreciates the fear of the industry that it
might be required to bear the expense of removing large
quantities of pipeline laid before a standard becomes effective
for no other reason than that it does not comply with the Federal
standard, irrespective of whether the pipe is sound and safe.
For this reason, the committee has provided that standards
affecting the design, installation, construction, initial inspec-
tion, and initial testing shall not be applicable to pipeline
facilities in existence on the date such standard is adopted,
unless the Secretary finds that a potentially hazardous situ-
ation exists, in which case, he may by order require com-
pliance with any such standard. This provision requires the
Secretary to make a finding of potential hazard before apply-
ing certain standards to existing pipe. When such finding and
order has been issued, the standards can be made imme-
diately applicable to remedy the potentially hazardous
situation (subject to judicial review of the order) since all
of the requirements of the rulemaking will have previously
been satisfied.

In the course of the hearings before this committee, the Secretary
urged an amendment to this section which would strike this provision
differentiating the standards to be applied to existing pipe. He said
that he felt that the fears of the industry were unjustified, that the bill
contained adequate restraints on the authority of the Secretary in
establishing standards; that it imposed obligations to consider criteria,
and that the action of the Secretary was subject to procedural require-
ments of the Administrative Procedure Act and eventually to judicial
review.

During the course of the hearings, representatives of the Inde-
pendent Natural Gas Association asserteda need for the exemption
of the application of standards to those activities which had been
completed prior to the effective date of any new standard on the
ground that it might be contended that all existing facilities tech-
nically would become nonconforming immediately upon adoption of
any new standard and that under such interpretation this wold occur
not only on adoption of initial standards but would recur whenever
any new or amended standards were adopted in the future. These
representatives argued that the language in the bill as referred might
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be interpreted to permit the Secretary to wipe out the exemption in
its entirety as to existing facilities by a finding that all facilities not
constructed in accordance with the newly adopted standards created
a potentially hazardous situation. "Ihey urged that this language be
amended.

Although the committee is of belief that the fears of the Secretary
as to the possible restrictive effect of the language of the bill as
referred, and the fears of the industry as to the possibly unrestrained
authority contained in such language are unfounded, the committee
in the reported bill has adopted language which it thinks makes
completely clear that it is the committee's intent that hazards in the
pipe in the ground are to be removed, regardless of applicability or
nonapplicabiity of any given standards.

The representatives of the gas industry in speaking to the question
of existing pipe made the following observations as to safety.

In other governmental codes covering ships, planes,
buildings, and other structures, the incorporation of new
requirements for construction, design, etc., has never been
felt to render all ships, planes, buildings, etc., previously
constructed, obsolete and unsafe. This is particularly true of
airplanes where the rapidly developing science of design
has created new and better planes but this has not required
the scrapping of all older planes which have been proven safe
for operation within their prescribed limitations (p.166).

The committee believes that the gas industry reference to the
aviation industry is especially apt. The committee feels that it is not
necessary that the adoption of new standards automatically must be
made applicable to existing pipelines or to existing aircraft; but the
committee does feel that when it develops that existing pipelines,
just like existing aircraft, develop hazards, these must be corrected
and corrected promptly.

Depending upon the severity or degree of the hazard ascertained
to exist in one of a given type of aircraft, to any part of or equipment
used in the aircraft or to the entire plane itself, the Federal Aviation
Administrator can direct that all such parts or all such aircraft must
be inspected for a similar hazard within a certain number of hours,
can order the parts modified, strengthened, or replaced within a given
time, or can even order all such planes grounded until such inspection,
modification, strengthening, or replacement has been made.

An examination of some representative actions taken by the
Administrator shows that he has required the replacement of a
defective drive system coupling, new design parts for torsion strap
assemblies and main rotor hub clevis bearing, and modification of
longitudinal control difficulties, in each case before further flight. He
has required a flap system modification within 10 flight hours, an
elevator train tab flutter modification within 5 hours, modification of
cyclic input swash plate ring within 25 hours, and inspection of tail
rotor blades prior to first flight each day and later modification. He
has required inspection of drive system component within 15 hours,
tail rotor shaft drive failure within 10 hours, selective valve control
cables within 10 hours, aileron control idler within 15 hours. He has
required deactivation of a yaw damper within 10 hours, deactivation
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of a passenger cabin blanket heater switch, and prohibited use of
propeller reverse, until modifications were made. Many other illus-
trations could be given.

Just so, when the Secretary finds that a particular type of pipeline
valve is hazardous, the Secretary should have and the bill does give
to him, the authority to require the removal of this hazard by removing
or replacing this type of valve wherever it exists. If the Secretary
finds that a particular kind of pipe has a metallurgical specification
when located in a particular type of soil which leads to accelerated
corrosion, the Secretary should have the authority to require, and the
reported bill gives him this authority to require, the replacement of
this type of pipe wherever the same soil conditions exist.

The Secretary's action shall be taken by order which is subject to
procedures contained elsewhere in the act, as well as to judicial
review in the event it should be necessary, but the committee wishes
it to be quite clear that this order can be issued to any person operating
the particular type of facility which the Secretary has found to be
hazardous.

The committee believes that in giving the Secretary this authority
to move directly to remove a hazard, the Secretary has the power
permitting him to achieve protection to the public much more quickly
and effectively than he might have were he to invoke the cumber-
some and more restrictive route of attempting to apply standards of
general universality to a given situation.

COMPANY DUTY To COMPLY WITH SAFETY STANDARDS

Section 8 places the duty to comply with the safety standards
established by the Secretary of Transportation under section 3 upon
each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or
operates pipeline facilities. These sections plus section 5 are the basic
framework for the achievement of greater safety.

Under section 8, each person who engages in the transportation of
gas or who owns or operates pipeline facilities shall-

(1) at all times after the date any applicable safety standard
established under this act takes effect, comply with the re-
quirements of such standard; and

(2) file and comply with a plan of inspection and maintenance
required by section 11; and

(3) permit access to or copying of records, and make reports or
provide information, and permit entry or inspection, as required
under section 12.

The bill as reported here differs from the bill as referred in that it is
made clear that owners and operators of facilities as well as those
engaged in transportation have the duty to comply.

Tort liability
Section 8(b) of the bill provides that nothing in this legislation will

affect the common law or the statutory tort liability of any person.
This language is designed to assure that the tort liability of any person
existing under common law or any statute will not be relieved by
reason of the enactment of this legislation or compliance with its
provisions.
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COMPANY PLANS FOR INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE

An important part of the program proposed by this legislation to
achieve pipeline safety is the plan of inspection and maintenance
according to which the company maintains surveillance of its lines
and facilities.

Section 11 of the reported bill requires each person who engages in
the transportation of gas or owns or operates pipeline facilities to
file a plan for inspection and maintenance with the Secretary of Trans-
portation, or with the State agency where a certification under section
5(a) or an agreement under section 5(b) is in effect. The filing of such
plans is mandatory under the bill as to all gathering, transmission,
and distribution pipelines and pipeline facilities which are not under
the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission under the Natural
Gas Act. The filing by interstate transmission lines subject to Com-
mission jurisdiction is optional with the Secretary.

If the agency with responsibility for enforcement of compliance
with the standards established under this legislation finds that such
plan is inadequate to achieve safe operation, such agency must
(after notice and hearing) require that such plan be revised. In
determining the adequacy of any such plan, and to assure that it
will be practicable and designed to meet the need for pipeline safety,
such agency is required to take into consideration (1) relevant avail-
able pipeline safety data, (2) whether the plan is appropriate for the
particular type of pipeline transportation, (3) the reasonableness of
the plan, and (4) the extent to which the plan will contribute to
public safety.

The bill as reported here differs from the bill as referred in that
it is made clear that owners and operators of facilities as well as those
engaged in transportation have the duty to comply.

RECORDS, REPORTS, AND INSPECTIONS

Section 12 provides that the Secretary of Transportation may
require the maintenance of such records, reports, and information
as he deems reasonably necessary to enable him to determine whether
persons subject to this legislation are acting in compliance with
this legislation and the standards established thereunder. Each such
person must permit authorized agents of the Secretary to inspect
records and documents for the purpose of determining whether such
person is acting in compliance with this legislation and the standards
established thereunder.

The section authorizes the Secretary of Transportation to monitor
State enforcement practices and authorized agents of the Secretary
may, at reasonable times, enter upon pipeline facilities for the pur-
pose of conducting an inspection of such facilities. The Secretary is
required to furnish the Attorney Genera] any information obtained
indicating noncompliance with standards established under this
legislation.

In requiring that accident reports and facts developed in accident
investigations be available for use in both civil and criminal judicial
proceedings, the committee does not intend to predetermine its
admissibility as evidence. That determination is, of course, a preroga-
tive of the courts and a decision each court must make for itself under
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applicable rides of evidence. The section does preclude the Secretary
from withholding any such report.

The section further provides that any information obtained by the
Secretary of Transportation or his representative which contains or
relates to a trade secret will be considered confidential for the purpose
of section 1905 of title 18, United States Code, which provides criminal
penalties for the disclosure by an officer or employee of the United
States of information relating to trade secrets in any manner or to
any extent not authorized by law. The section authorizes disclosure
to other officers or employees of the Department of Transportation
concerned with carrying out this legislation and also when relevant
in any proceeding under this legislation. Nothing in this provision of
the bill is to be construed as authorizing the withholding of informa-
tion from duly authorized committees of the Congress.

ENFORCEMENT OF THE SAFETY STANDARDS

The relationship of Federal-State regulatory authority created by
this bill differs as between local pipelines and interstate transmission
lines. In the latter area, the lines of a single transmission company
may traverse a number of States and uniformity of regulation is a
desirable objective. For this reason, section 3 provides for a Federal
preemption in the case of interstate transmission lines.

On the other hand, in the case of local lines exempted from the
economic regulatory authority of the Federal Power Commission under
the Natural Gas Act, States may establish additional or more
stringent standards, provided they are not inconsistent with the
Federal minimum standards. The committee has provided for this
different treatment because each State authority is uniquely equipped
to know best the special aspects of local pipeline safety which are
particularly applicable to that community.

This bill also gives the States an important role in enforcement, as
well. Because of preemption, the safety standards for interstate trans-
mission lines will always be Federal standards, and enforcement will
be a Federal responsibility. Consistent, however, with the role this
bill gives the States in amplifying distribution standards, the com-
mittee has sought to give the States a primary role in enforcement of
local pipeline safety standards.

Section 5 envisions that the States may substitute State for Federal
enforcement of the safety standards as they apply to gathering, dis-
tribution and local transmission lines in one of two ways, either (1)
by the submission to the Secretary of an annual certification by a
State agency regarding its authority and enforcement activities, or
(2) in situations when the State agency does not or cannot submit such
certification, through a written agreement with the Secretary for the
State agency to carry out on behalf of the Secretary the administration
of the Federal standards.

State agency certification
Under section 5(a) of the reported bill an arrangement is provided

whereby the provisions of this legislation will not apply to pipeline
facilities and the transportation of gas (other than interstate trans-
mission facilities) within a State when the safety standards and

H. Rept. 1890, 90-2---4
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practices applicable to such facilities and transportation are regulated
by a State agency (including a municipality) which submits annually
to the Secretary of Transportation a certification that such State
agency-

(1) has regulatory jurisdiction over safety standards and
practices of such facilities and transportation;

(2) has adopted each Federal safety standard applicable to
such facilities and transportation as of the date of the certifica-
tion;

(3) is enforcing each such standard; and
(4) has authority to require record maintenance, reporting,

and inspection substantially the same as provided under section
12 and filing for approval of plans of inspection and maintenance
described in section 11.

The State agency must also certify that the law of the State provides
for the enforcement of the safety standards of such State agency
by way of injunctive and monetary sanctions.

Each annual certification must include a report showing--
(1) the name and address of each person subject to the juris-

diction of the State agency;
(2) all accidents or incidents reported during the preceding 12

months by each such person involving personal injury requiring
hospitalization, fatality, or property damage exceeding $1,000,
together with a summary of the State agency's investigation as to
the cause and circumstances surrounding each such accident or
incident;

(3) the record maintenance, reporting, and inspection practiced
by the State agency to enforce compliance with Federal safety
standards, including a detail of the number of inspections made of
pipeline facilities by the State agency during the preceding 12
months; and

(4) such other information as the Secretary may require.

State agency agreement
Section 5(b) provides that in the case of pipeline facilities and trans-

portation of gas (not subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power
Commisson) for which the Secretary does not receive an annual
certification, he is authorized to enter into an agreement with a
State agency (including a municipality) under which such agency
will carry out on behalf of the Secretary such actions as may be
necessary to-

(1) Establish an adequate program for record maintenance,
reporting, and inspection designed to assist compliance with
Federal safety standards;

(2) Establish procedures for approval of plans of inspection
and maintenance substantially the same as required under
section 11;

(3) Implement a compliance program acceptable to the
Secretary, including provision for inspection of pipeline facilities
used in the transportation of gas; and

(4) Cooperate fully in a system of Federal monitoring of such
compliance program and reporting under regulations prescribed
by the Secretary.
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Any such agreement will require the State agency to promptly
notify the Secretary of any violation or probable violation of a Federal
safety standard which it discovers as a result of its program.

Grants to aid State enforcement
Under section 5(c) of the reported bill, the Secretary is authorized

to make grants from appropriated funds. In the case of a State agency
which submits an application not later than September 30 in any
calendar year, the Secretary may pay up to 50 percent of the cost
of a State safety program, whether carried out pursuant to a certifi-
cation under section 5(a) or an agreement under section 5(b). The
State agency must assure the Secretary that it will provide for the
payment of that portion of the cost of such safety program which
exceeds the amount of the Federal grant. At the request of the Sec-
retary the committee amended the bill to require that such State
agency must also provide assurances that State expenditures for gas
safety programs (excluding Federal grants) will not fall below the
average level of such expenditures for the last 2 fiscal years preceding
the date of enactment of this legislation.

Recertification
Section 5(d) provides that a certification which is in effect under

section 5(a) will not apply to any new or amended Federal safety
standard established after the date of such certification. The pro-
visions of this legislation will apply to any new or amended Federal
safety standard until the State agency has adopted such standard
and submitted an appropriate certification under section 5(a).
Rejection of certification or termination of agreement

Section 5(a) provides that if the Secretary determines, after receipt
of an annual certification, that the State agency is not satisfactorily
enforcing compliance with Federal safety standards, he may reject
the certification or take such other action as he deems appropriate
to achieve adequate enforcement, including the assertibn of Federal
jurisdiction.

Section 5(e) provides that the Secretary may terminate any agree-
ment in effect under section 5(b) if he finds that the State agency has
failed to comply with any provision of such agreement. Such termina-
tion is required to be published in the Federal Register and will
become effective no sooner than 15 days after the date of such pub-
lication.

In either case, whether rejection or termination, the Secretary's
action must be after notice and hearing.
Committee changes

The bill as referred provided for two types of agreements between
the Secretary and a State agency. The committee has retained the
second type, but substituted a certification procedure for the other.

In the bill as referred, section 5(a) authorized the Secretary-

by written agreement with a State agenc to exempt from
the Federal safety standards pipeline facilities and the
transportation of gas not subject to the jurisdiction of the
Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act, under
which agreement such State agency-
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(1) adopts each Federal safety standard applicable to
such transportation of gas and pipeline facilities and
any amendment to each such standard, established under
this act;

(2) undertakes a program satisfactory to the Secre-
tary, designed to achieve adequate compliance with such
standards and with the plans of inspection and mainte-
nance required by section 11; and

(3) agrees to cooperate fully in a system of Federal
monitoring of such compliance program and reporting
under regulations prescribed by the Secretary.

No such agreement may be concluded with any State
agency which does not have the authority (i) to impose the
sanctions provided under sections 9 and 10, (ii) to require
record maintenance, reporting, and inspection responsibilities
substantially the same as are provided under section 12, and
(iii) to require the filing for approval of plans of inspection
and maintenance described in section 11.

The Senate report describes the intent of this provision as follows:
Section 5(a) envisions a series of agreements between the

Secretary and the States, substituting State for Federal
enforcement for gas distribution and local transmission lines.

To obtain such substitution, the State must adopt the
Federal standards as its own; impose the same sanctions as
would the Federal Government (including requiring records,
reports, inspections, and the filing of plans of inspection);
implement an effective compliance program; and agree to
cooperate in Federal monitoring of its compliance program.
Under these agreements, in effect, State law and State en-
forcement responsibility replace the Federal law for local
facilities because the State has undertaken to do the job
conscientiously and effectively. Thus, this subsection creates
a mechanism whereby the States may participate to the
utmost in establishing and enforcing gas pipeline safety
standards for distribution lines and local transmission lines.

In the course of the hearings before the committee it was pointed
out that whereas a condition precedent to a written agreement was
that the State agency had authority to impose the penalties pro-
vided under section 9 and seek the injunction relief provided by sec-
tion 10, most State agencies did not have such authority as to
penalties, although most of them could seek enforcement through
injunctions (see app. B). It thus appeared that some amendment
to section 5(a) must be made if any such State enforcement program
were to be initiated.

During the hearings also the National Association of Regulatory
Utility Commissioners appeared, and numerous State agencies filed
statements, in support of H.R. 6551, a bill amending the Natural
Gas Act which would have placed safety regulation over interstate
transmission lines in a Federal agency (the Federal Power Commission)
but clearly, by reason of section 1(c) of that act preserved a traditional
line of demarcation between Federal and State regulatory respon-
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sibilities in the natural gas industry.' The association urged as an
alternative approach an amendment to S. 1166 along the lines of
section 1 (c) which would provide for State regulation upon an annual
certification covering its authority and activities in the field. 2 It urged
its amendment as creating "a Federal safety floor below which no
State could fall, yet the enforcement burden would remain with the
State commissioners. Direct Federal regulation would only apply to
those systems not subject to effective State regulation."

In the bill as reported, the committee incorporates the results of its
consideration of the need to amend the agreement conditions and the
alternative proposal.

The language adopted by the committee indicates a reaffirmation
of the intent that State law and State enforcement replace the Federal
law for local facilities where the State agency has undertaken conscien-
tiously and effectively to adopt and enforce the Federal standards.

It should be clear that the committee language while adopting
the certification (instead of agreement) suggestion, otherwise departs
radically from the NARUC proposal. The committee in nowise
accepts the declaration that gas safety matters are primarily of local
concern and subject to regulation by the States. On the contrary, it is
the Federal safety standards which are in effect and the ultimate
responsibility for establishment and enforcement of the Federal
safety standards is the responsibility of the Secretary. The bill reported
gives to the States in certain circumstances, a role in the enforcement
of these standards. This role not only initially but annually is up for
review. If the Secretary is not satisfied with the State's performance
of the role, he is not bound by the State's certification, but may
reject it.'

I (C) The provisions of this act shall not apply to any person engaged in or legally authorized to engage in
the transportation in interstate commerce, or the sale il interstate commerce for resale, of natural gas re-
ceived by such person from another person within or at the boundary of a State if all the natural gas so re-
ceived is ultimately consumed within such State, or to any facilities used by such person for such transpor-
tation or sale, provided that the rates and service of such person and facilities be subject to regulation by a
State commission. The matters exempted from the provisions of this act by this subsection are hereby
declared to be matters primarily of local concern and subject to regulation by the several States. A certifica-
tion from snch State commission to the Federal Power Commission that such State commission has
regulatory jurisdiction over rates and service of such person and facilities and is exercising such jurisdiction
shall constitute conclusive evidence of such regulatory power or jurisdiction. [68 Stat. 36 (1954); 15 U.S.C.
see. 717(c). Natural Gas Act.]
2 "Basically, this proposal may be accomplished by striking subsoc. (a) of section 5 of S. 1166 and inserting

in lieu thereof the following provision modeled after the 'Htinshaw' amendment (see. l of the Natural Gas
Act):

"Sc. 5. (a) The provisions of this Act shall not apply to pipeline facilities asd the transportation of gas
within a State when the safety standards and practices applicable to same arc subject to regulation hy a
State agency which submits to the Secretary an annual certification that such State agency: (i) has regula-
tory jurisdiction over the safety standards and practices applicable to such pipeliie facilities and transpor-
tation of gas; (ii) has adopted each Federal safety standard applicable to such pipeline facilities and
transportation of gas established under this Act as of the date of certification; and (iii) is enforcing each such
standard. The certificate shall constitute conclusive evidence of such regulatory jurisdiction for one year
following the date of each such certification. The matters exempted by this subsection from the pro visions
of this Act are hereby declared to be matters primarily of local concern and subject to regulation by the
several States. Any State may adopt such additional or more stringent standards for such pipeline facilities
and the transportation of gas as are not incompatible with the Federal minimum standards."

3 State regulation and enforcement in a Federal field is not new. This committee reported and the Con-
gress enacted the Securities Acts Amendments of 1964, which provided in sec. 12(g)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 for the enforcement of certain Federal programs by the commissioners of insurance of
the several States-

"(2) The provisions of this subsection shall not apply in respect of-
"(G) any security issued by an insurance company if all the following conditions are met:
"(i) Such insurance company is required to and does file an annual statement with the Commissioner

of Insurance (or other officer or agency performing a similar function) of its domiciliary State, and such
annual statement conforms to that prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners
or in the determination of such State commissioner, officer or agency substantially conforms to that
so prescribed.

"(ii) Such insurance company is subject to regulation by its domiciliary State of proxies, consents,
or authorizations in respect of securities issued by such company and such regulation conforms to that
prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

"(iii) After July 1, 1966, the purchase and sales of securities issued by such insurance company by
beneficial owners, directors or officers of such company are subject to regulation (including reporting)
by its domiciliary State substantially in the manner provided in section 16 of this title."

See also see. 204(a)(4) (a) of the Interstate Commerce Act regarding State regulation of interstate motor
carriers.
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The committee language also takes from the States and gives to
the Secretary the regulation of safety of the interstate transmisson
lines.

The committee believes the certification route to be more feasible
and fully as effective in achieving the ends here sought as the agreement
route. The committee feels observance of the Federal standards will
be obtained more quickly.

In addition the American Public Gas Association proposed that
municipalities be treated the same as State regulatory agencies where
State law provides that they are exempt from the jurisdiction of such
agencies. The committee has accepted the association's suggestion as
to an amendment, namely, the indication that as to this section the
term State agency includes a municipality. The committee points
out however that under the conditions set forth in the section only
municipalities which have franchise or similar authority to regulate
private gas companies would stand in such stead where the State law
makes provision for enforcement by monetary sanctions and injunctive
relief.

It would seem impractical as well as inappropriate for municipalities
owning their own systems to fine or enjoin themselves. Therefore this
would seem to come under the direct jurisdiction of the Secretary
until such time as State law might provide for their safety regulation
by a State agency.

OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE BILL

PROCEDURES APPLYING TO SAFETY STANDARDS

Effectiveness of standards
Under section 3(c) of the reported bill standards prescribed by the

Secretary of Transportation, including amendments thereto, become,
effective 30 days after date of their issuance. The Secretary may
however, prescribe an earlier or later effective date if he determines
a different date is required because of the period of time reasonably
necessary for compliance.

Obviously in instances such as the promulgation of any set of stand-
ards far-reaching enough to involve considerable leadtime for the de-
sign of the equipment or the production of materials to the specifica-
tion involved, a much longer period may be necessary. On the other
hand where it may be a simple change in operation or in equipment, a
shorter time may be feasible. Inasmuch as the committee change to
section 3(b) relative to the authority of the Secretary to meet hazard-
ous situations has been to give him the power to move directly to
remove the hazards, rather than to do so by applying safety standards
to the situation, the need for the shorter effective date would appear
less pressing.

Administrative procedures
In establishing standards, the Secretary is required to comply with

the provisions of subchapter II of title 5, United States Code relating
to administrative procedure (formerly part of the Administrative
Procedure Act). Under these provisions the Secretary would normally
have the discretion to proceed with rulemaking with or without
oral argument but the bill requires the Secretary to provide oppor-
tunity to present oral testimony and argument.
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Technical Pipeline Safety Standards Committee
Under section 4 of the reported bill, the Secretary of Transportation

is required to establish a Technical Pipeline Safety Standards Com-
mittee composed of 15 members. Five members must be selected
from governmental agencies (including State and Federal Govern-
ments) two of whom must be State commissioners, selected after
consultation with the national organization of State commissions.
Four members must be selected from the natural gas industry, after
consultation with industry representatives, not less than three of
whom must be currently engaged in the actual operation of natural
gas pipelines. Six members must be selected from the general public.
Each of the 15 members must be experienced in the safety regulation
of the transportation of gas and of pipeline facilities or technically
qualified by training and experience in one or more fields of engineering
applied in the transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline
facilities.

There was substantial testimony as to the highly complicated and
technical nature of developing and applying safety standards to gas
pipelines. Therefore, the bill creates the committee described above
and requires the Secretary to obtain their counsel before formally
proposing any safety standard. The committee did revise the structure
of the committee to provide that persons experienced in safety regula-
tion of the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities would be
eligible to serve as well as persons technically qualified by formal
training. Also, recognizing that State commissions have amassed the
most expertise in this field, the committee provided that two of the
five members selected from governmental agencies must be State
commissioners. To assure that the general public would be adequately
represented, the committee increased the members selected from the
general public from five to six and reduced the number selected from
the natural gas industry from five to four.

Waivers
Under section 3(e), whenever the Secretary of Transportation

determines that a waiver of compliance with any standard is not
inconsistent with pipeline safety, he may waive compliance (in whole or
in part) under such terms and conditions as he deems appropriate, and
after notice and opportunity for hearing. He is also required to state
his reasons for granting any such waiver. Elsewhere in this report,
there is described procedures under which States may be exempt from
Federal standards or agree to enforce Federal standards (see. 5).
Where such an exemption exists, or such an agreement is in effect, a
State agency will have the same waiver authority as the Secretary.
The waiver authority of the State agency is limited in that it must give
the Secretary at least 60 days advance notice, and the Secretary may
stay the proposed grant of a waiver by a State agency and afford such
agency a bearing on the matter. After opportunity for such hearing,
the Secretary will make the final determination as to whether the
requested waiver may be granted.
Judicial review

Section 6 of the reported bill provides that any person adversely
affected or aggrieved by any order issued by the Secretary of Trans-
portation may, within 60 days after such order is issued, file a petition
for judicial review with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of
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Columbia or the court of appeals for the circuit in which the petitioner
is located or has his principal place of business. The court in which
the petition is filed will have jurisdiction to review the order in accord-
ance with chapter 7 of title 5 of the United States Code which provides,
among other things, for the scope of the review and the granting of
appropriate relief, including relief pending review. The judgment of
the court will be final, subject to review by the Supreme Court of
the United States as provided in section 1254 of title 28 of the United
States Code. Any change or vacancy in the office of the Secretary of
Transportation will not affect any action initiated under this section.
The provisions of this section will not affect any other remedies which
an aggrieved party may have under any other provision of law.

The bill as referred to the committee defined the term "adversely
affected" to include exposure to personal injury or property damage.
The reported bill omits this definition. The judicial review provision
-of the bill, as noted above, provides that any person "adversely
affected or aggrieved" by an order of the Secretary may obtain
judicial review of such order. This is a description of the persons
who have legal standing to seek such review. This term is frequently
used in statutes to describe persons who may obtain judicial review
of administrative action. The meaning of the term has been judicially
defined by the gradual process of inclusion and exclusion based in
part on the judgment of the courts with respect to the legislative
intent of a particular statutory scheme. The committee feels that
definition of the term should continue to rest with the courts.
Cooperation with other agencies

The Federal Power Commission and some States issue certificates of
public convenience and necessity authorizing gas transportation.

xtablishment of a standard by the Secretary of Transportation, or
action on a waiver, could affect the continuity of service under one of
these certificates. If that appears to be the case, the Secretary is re-
quired by section 7 to consult with the Federal Power Commission
or the State commission, as the case may be, before establishing the
standard or acting on a waiver and will be required to defer his
action until the appropriate commission has had reasonable op-
portunity to grant the authorizations it deems necessary to preserve
continuity of service.

CIVIL PENALTY

Under section 9(a) of the reported bill the Secretary is required to
give notice to any person he has reason to believe is violating any
provision of section 8(a), or any regulation issued under this legisla-
tion, before imposing any penalty. If compliance has not been achieved
within a reasonable time, the Secretary may then impose a civil
penalty of not more than $500 for each day a violation persists. The
maximum penalty may not exceed $100,000 for any related series of
violations. Also, the Secretary may seek injunctive relief under the pro-
visions of section 10. The bill as referred to the committee provided
for a civil penalty of $1,000 per day for each day a violation con-
tinued, with a maximum of $400,000 for a related series of violations,
and did not provide for notice of a violation or for any opportunity
to come into compliance before the penalty could be imposed. The
committee feels that continuity of service is an extremely important
consideration and service to the consuming public should not be
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unnecessarily disrupted. The imposition of severe penalties without
notice because of an unknowing violation which may be of a minor
technical nature could very well result in an unnecessary disruption
of service to the consuming public. The committee believes the
reported bill provides adequate penalties for enforcement and at
the same time provides procedures to assure continuity of service
wherever possible.

Under section 9(b), any civil penalty imposed by the Secretary
may be compromised by him. In determining the amount of any
compromise penalty, the Secretary is required to consider the ap-
propriateness of the penalty in relation to the size of the business
of the person charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good
faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve compliance.
The amount of any penalty imposed may be deducted from any
sums owed by the United States to the person charged or recovered
in a civil action in the U.S. district courts.

INJUNCTION AND JURISDICTION

Section 10(a) of the reported bill gives the U.S. district courts
jurisdiction (subject to rule 65(a) and (b) of the Federal Rules of

ivil Procedure) to restrain violations of this legislation or to enforce
standards established thereunder. The Secretary of Transportation
is required to give notice, whenever practicable, to any person against
whom injunctive relief is contemplated and afford him reasonable
opportunity to achieve compliance. Failure to give such notice will
not preclude the granting of appropriate relief.

As noted earlier in this report, the committee revised the penalty
provisions of the bill to assure that continuity of service could be
preserved wherever possible. In view of this change, the committee
feels that the injunction authority described above becomes a most
necessary tool to provide for effective enforcement whenever prompt
action becomes necessary to prevent personal injury or prol)erty
damage. The committee realizes that while continuity of service is
important it is necessary to recognize that safety is ultimately a
primary consideration and that the Secretary must be given adequate
authority to assure safety.

Section 10(b) of the reported bill assures any person charged with
criminal contempt for violation of an injunction or restraining order
issued under section 10 the right to demand a trial by jury. Under the
provisions of rule 42(b) of the Federal Rules and Criminal Procedure
relating to criminal contempt, a defendant is entitled to a jury trial
only if an act of Congress so provides.

ADMINISTRATION BY THE SECRETARY

Under section 13(a) of the reported bill, the Secretary of Trans-
portation is required to conduct research, testing, development, and
training necessary to carry out the provisions of this act. He is author-
ized to carry out this provision by contract, or by grants to individuals,
States, and nonprofit institutions.

Section 13(b) provides that the Secretary must, upon request,
furnish to the Federal Power Commission information concerning the
safety of materials, operations, devices, or processes relating to the
transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities.
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Section 13(c) gives the Secretary authority to cooperate with Fed-
eral, State, and other interested public and private agencies and
persons in the planning and development of Federal safety standards
and methods for inspecting and testing to determine compliance
therewith.

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE SECRETARY

Under section 14 of the reported bill, the Secretary is required to
submit to the President for transmittal to the Congress an annual
report covering the preceding calendar year. Such report is required to
include-

(1) a compilation of accidents and casualties and causes thereof,
when the National Transportation Safety Board has made a
finding of cause;

(2) a list of Federal safety standards in effect during such-year
with identification of standards newly established during such
year;

(3) a summary of the reasons for each waiver granted under
section 3(e) during such year;

(4) a list of enforcement actions and compromises of alleged
violations by location and company name, together with an evaluation
of the degree of observance of applicable safety standards;

(5) a summary of outstanding problems in the administration
of this legislation in order of priorities;

(6) an analysis of research activities and the policy implications
thereof, together with an evaluation of technological progress for
safety achieved;

(7) a list of completed and pending judicial actions, together
with a brief statement of the issues;

(8) the extent to which technological information was dissemi-
nated to the scientific community and consumer-oriented informa-
tion was made available to the public;

(9) a compilation of certifications filed by State agencies under
section 5(a) which were in effect during the preceding calendar
year, and a compilation of certifications which were rejected,
together with a summary of the reasons for such rejections; and

(10) a compilation of agreements entered into with State
agencies under section 5(b) which were in effect during the pre-
ceding calendar year, and a compilation of such agreements
which were terminated by the Secretary, together with a summary
of the reasons for such terminations.

The Secretary is required to include in his report such recommenda-
tions for legislation as he deems necessary to promote cooperation
among the States in the improvement of pipeline safety and to
strengthen the pipeline safety program.

The committee added items (9) and (10) to the reporting require-
ments in conformity with the changes made in section 5 concerning
State certifications and agreements.

ROLE OF THE FEDERAL POWER COMMISSION

The general scheme of the act is to provide broad safety powers to
the Secretary in gas pipeline transportation. The Federal Power
Commission presently has exercised certain safety regulatory au-
thority over interstate transmission lines under the Natural Gas Act.
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The Commission considers and takes action on some elements of the
safety of transmission proposals in acting on applications for new or
extended authority and it is not intended that the passage of this act
will diminish that authority and responsibility of the Commission.
In order, however, that the Commission not be placed in the position
of having to determine whether the construction and operation
details of a proposed service conform to the Secretary's standards,
an applicant may certify to this effect and the certification will be
conclusive on the Commission. But if the relevant State or Federal
enforcement agency has information that the applicant has violated
safety standards in the past (thus possibly calling in question the
applicant's compliance disposition) and notifies the Commission in
writing, the certification will not be binding. The Commission then
in connection with its awarding a certificate of public convenience
and necessity may give such weight to the absence of a certificate as
it may feel appropriate. It is not intended by the committee that this
process of certification of compliance with the Secretary's standards
will bar the Commission from continuing to consider safety in the
same fashion it presently does in connection with awarding certificates
of public convenience and necessity.

In addition to the above authority, the Federal Power Commission
has authority over the routing of interstate transmission lines, and
through the exercise of its conditioning authority in the granting of
a certificate of convenience and necessity can delimit the route with
particularity. The reported bill does not impinge upon this jurisdic-
tion of the Commission. Indeed section 2(4) states that the Secretary
is not authorized to prescribe the location or routing of any pipeline
facility.

The Commission's authority in routing matters is of especial
importance owing to the fact that by being certificated, the trans-
mission line may then exercise the right of eminent domain in a
district court of the United States to acquire land needed for certifi-
cate operations. This was provided by the enactment in 1947 of the
Schwabe Act adding subsection (h) to section 7 of the Natural Gas
Act.

Since the interrelation between safety and routing was brought up
during the hearings, the committee believes it important to include
herewith the response of Chairman Lee White of the Commission
making clear that it is that Commission which has the jurisdiction
and "provides a forum" for consideration in the routing of trans-
mission pipelines, "where relevant, safety implications, community
dislocation and the impact of the proposed construction on sites of
historic importance or scenic beauty."

FEDERAL POWER CoMMIssIoN,

Washington, D.C., February 27, 1968.
Hon. TORBERT H. MACDONALD,

Chairman, Subcommittee on Communications and Power, House Com-
mittee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, Washington, D.C.

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: This replies to your letter of January 23,
asking that the Commission make clear for the record its jurisdiction
and responsibility over the routing of natural gas pipelines.
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The selection of the route which an interstate pipeline will take is
in the first instance left to the natural gas company. However, before
construction or operation of the pipeline may commence, a certificate
of public convenience and necessity must be obtained from this
Commission. Among other things the certificate application filed by
the natural gas company must include "a concise description of the
proposed * * * construction" (FPC regulations under the Natural
Gas Act, sec. 157.6(b)(4)) and have annexed to it a map showing
generally the location of the proposed facilities. Section 157.14(a)(6).
The proposal may be implemented only if the Commission finds that
it is required by the present or future public convenience and. necessity.
If the Commission certificates a proposal, the certificate holder has
the right of eminent domain to acquire land needed for the certificated
operations. Natural Gas Act, section 7(h).

In determining the public convenience and necessity of a proposal,
the Commission must determine its economic feasibility and the pro-
posed route can be relevant to this determination. However, the
Commission does not limit its consideration to economic matters.
Rather it must consider "all factors bearing on the public interest."
Atlantic Refining Co. v. P.S.C. of N.Y., 360 U.S. 378, 391 (1959).
This may include, where relevant, safety implications, community
dislocation and the impact of the proposed construction on sites of
historic importance or scenic beauty.

The Commission's existing procedures provide a forum for persons
who wish to take issue with the routing of a proposed pipeline, al-
though that forum has only rarely been used. Such persons may inter-
vene and enjoy full party status with the right to present evidence,
cross-examine witnesses and file briefs. Alternatively, those persons
wishing to make their views known without becoming parties to the
proceeding may do so by the filing of protests. In two recent pipe-
line certifi cate cases the Commission has admitted as intervenors local
governmental authorities, landowner associations, and individual land-
owners from the area the pipeline will traverse. Manufacturers Light
and Heat Co., Docket No. CP66-347 (southeastern Pennsylvania),
now pending Commission decision, and Tennessee Gas Pipeline Co.,
Docket No. CP67-211 (Phase II, eastern Massachusetts), order
issued November 8, 1967 (attached). The intervenors have raised
such issues as the need for any construction, the safety of the proposed
line and the width of the right-of-way to be acquired and have sug-
gested alternative routes. In the Tennessee case the pipeline company
agreed to routing changes to accommodate the position of the inter-
venors. There is also now pending before the Commission a proceed-
ing initiated by the complaint of a landowner objecting to the route
selected by a pipeline. Stitt v. Manufacturers Light & Heat Co.,
Docket No. IN-1003. Where a certificate is granted the natural gas
company may select any appropriate route within the general criteria
established by the certificate. However, the Commission through the
exercise of its conditioning authority, may delimit the route with
particularity.

In sum, the Commission now has jurisdiction to review the pro-
posed routing of interstate pipeline facilities and does" offer a forum
for public participation and the advancement of interests which may
differ from those of the applicant. This area of Commission concern
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and responsibility would in no way be foreclosed or diminished by
enactment of S. 1166.

I do not mean to convey the impression that the Commission's
procedures cannot be improved upon. They can and will be as the
Commission gains experience in dealing with these problem areas.
One area of present concern relates to the problem of assuring that
interested persons are timely apprised of the pendency of applications
in order to be able to avail themselves of the Commission's procedures.
Another is the problem posed by pipelines proceeding with condem-
nation after receiving a temporary certificate which may, under the
act, be granted ex parte "in cases of emergency, to assure mainte-
nance of adequate service or to service particular customers," but
before being issued a permanent certificate of public convenience
and necessity. Where a temporary certificate has been issued and
condemnation already taken place, the permanent certificate pro-
ceeding obviously provides an inadequate forum for the landowner
whose basic contention is that certain portions of his property should
not be defaced. However, in our view the resolution of these problems
relates to the Commission's rules of practice and procedure rather
than the existence of any legislative gap. One step which the Com-
mission has recently taken to facilitate the expression of views of
interested persons involves the simplification of our rules dealing
with the filing of complaints and protests (Order No. 359, issued Feb. 5,
1968). Under the revised rules persons who wish to object to a pending
application or who contend that a natural gas company is violating
a Commission order, rule, or regulation would be able to do so in-
formally and with the assurance that a complaint or timely filed
protest will be referred to the Commission for appropriate action.

Even if, with greater exposure to the land-use problem, the Com-
mission should conclude that further legislation is warranted, I do
not believe that it would be desirable to look for a solution by way
of an amendment to pipeline safety legislation. Certainly there is no
need to amend that legislation either to reserve to the Commission
its existing jurisdiction overpipeline routing or to preserve the pub-
lic's right to present to the Commission its objections to a proposed
route.

Sincerely,
LEE C. WHITE, Chairman.

AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS AND COST OF THE LEGISLATION

In the course of the hearings before the Senate committee the
Department of Transportation placed the cost of this legislation at
approximately $25 million a year. The Senate bill as it passed the
Senate and came to this committee contemplated that about one-half
of this amount would be raised through the imposition of annual fees
upon those who were engaged in the transportation of gas and the
remainder of the amount come from appropriated funds. The bill
accordingly authorized appropriations for the next 3 fiscal years of
$10 million, $13 million, and $15 million, respectively.

The subcommittee in its interrogation of witnesses from the De-
partment of Transportation had extreme difficulty in developing the
basis for the $25 million figure. The matter was pursued with the
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Department following the hearings and under date of March 18,
Secretary of Transportation Boyd submitted the following table:

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION-ESTIMATED STAFFING AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS FOR IMPLEMENTA-
TION OF THE NATIONAL GAS PIPELINE SAFETY ACT OF 1967 (S. 1166), FISCAL YEARS 1969-73

1969 1970 1971 1972 1973

Direct operations:
Man-years --------------------------------- 20 65 112 143 161

Personal compensation and benefits ---------- $328, 000 $898, 000 $1,433, 500 $1,798,000 $2,009, 500
Other objects ------------------------------ 172, 000 922,000 1,506,500 1,525,000 1,510,500

Total ---------------------------------- 500,000 1,820,000 2,940,000 3,323,000 3,520,000
Grants-in-aid program to States ------------------------- 5,000, 000 9,000,000 9,600, 000 9,600,000

Grand total ------------------------------ 500,000 6,820,000 11,940,000 12.923,000 13,120,000

The funds which the committee, in section 15 of the reported bill,
has authorized to be appropriated; namely, $500,000, $2 million, and
$3 million for the next 3 fiscal years roughly are those which the
Secretary of Transportation contemplates are adequate for the creation
of standards and the part of the program of direct cost to him.

In effect, the authorization does not provide for any substantial
portion of the grant-in-aid program for State administration of a
Federal safety program as contemplated by the bill. It should be
noted, however, that under the terms of the legislation here proposed
interim standards will be in effect until such time, not over 2 years
hence, as the Secretary of Transportation promulgates Federal stand-
ards. These "interim" standards are merely the prescription of the
standards which the State already has in effect and, accordingly, there
seems very little in the way of need for additional grants to carry
out what the States already are doing. For that matter, a committee
change to section 5(c) of the bill, made at the request of the Secretary
of Transportation, requires that the Federal funds cannot be a sub-
stitute for State funds which must be maintained at a level which is
not below the level of their expenditures for the last 2 previous fiscal
years.

Further, while Federal safety standards will be prescribed before
the end of 24 months after the enactment of this legislation, such
standards, of course, cannot become immediately effective, nor will
the adoption and enforcement of such standards all at once give rise
to tremendously increased expenditures by the States.

The committee is aware of the fact that sometime during the third
year there will appear a need for the consideration of the extent to
which the grant-in-aid program will require the authorization of addi-
tional Federal funds and the committee accordingly intends to keep
abreast of this situation so that in its consideration of the extension of
the legislation appropriate attention to whatever is this need may be
given.

The bill as referred authorized a $20,000 grant to the National
Association of Regulatory Commissions to aid the States in their en-
forcement programs by coordinating State activities and rendering
technical assistance. In view of the reduction of funds and the obvious
timelag discussed above before State programs will be in operation,
the committee feels this provision is unnecessary at the present time,
and the reported bill deletes it.
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The bill as referred included a revision in subsection (b) of section 15
authorizing the Secretary to require the payment of a reasonable
annual fee to him by all persons engaged in the transportation of gas
for the purpose of helping to defray the expenses of Federal inspection
and enforcement under this act. It is the sense of the committee that
when any collection of fees is authorized, they should be covered into
the Treasury and the expenses of the Secretary should be met through
the usual route of authorized and appropriated funds. Since this pro-
vision apparently was inserted originally to reduce the amount of
appropriated funds and permit the expenses to be met otherwise, the
committee has deleted the provision.
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APPENDIX A

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION STATEMENT ON CURRENT STATE
PIPELINE SAFETY ACTIVITIES

A study of State activities conducted by the National Association of
Regulatory Utility Commissioners and the Department of Transpor-
tation was completed in April 1967. This study indicated a strong
need for comprehensive uniform safety standards covering the natural
gas industry. A copy of the analysis of the survey is attached.

A report, dated September 11, 1967, prepared by the Subcommittee
on Intergovernmental Relations of the Committee on Government
Operations, U.S. Senate, contains the results of a survey of the State
commissions responsible for the regulation of utilities. This report
reveals that 31 of the 49 States responding indicate their current
budget is sufficient and they do not plan any increase. These 31 States
have within their boundaries approximately 70 percent of the total
pipelines (gathering, transmission, and distribution) of the United
States. It appears that, even though there has been a rapid passage of
legislation by the States during the past 18 months concerning pipeline
safety, very few States plan to do very much more than they are doing
now. Based on the NARUC survey of April 4, 1967, and the above-
mentioned survey, there remains a void in the comprehensiveness and
uniformity of regulations for gas pipeline safety.

ANALYSIS OF THE NATURAL GAS SAFETY QUESTIONNAIRE, DATED

JULY 18, 1967, SUBMITTED BY NARUC TO THE STATES AND DISTRICT

OF COLUMBIA ON APRIL 4, 1967

A natural gas safety questionnaire was sent to all States and the
District of Columbia. A total of 44 completed questionnaires were
returned with no response from seven States. Of the 44 responding,
four do not have authority to establish safety standards for the gas
industry. Therefore, all comments and statistical comparisons made
in this analysis are based on 40 States including the District of Colum-
bia. These represent 80 percent of the total States. Those States not
included are Alaska, Georgia, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Minnesota,
Montana, Nebraska, New York, Pennsylvania, South Dakota, and
Wyoming. Of these 11, it is understood that three have regulations
while the remaining eight do not have any codes for natural gas
facilities.

This analysis indicates the strong need for comprehensive uniform
safety regulations.

The following are the individual questions, replies, and a brief
analysis.

1. (a) Does the commission have the authority to establish safety
standards for privately owned natural gas utilities?

Yes 40. No. 0. N/A* 0.
*No answer or not applicable.
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(b) If the commission has such authority, does it apply throughout
the State?

Yes 40. No 0. N/A 0.
(c) Does the commission have safety jurisdiction over:

(1) Interstate transmission systems? Yes 26. No 10. N/A 4.
(2) Intrastate transmission systems? Yes 39. No. 1. N/A 0.
(3) Distribution systems? Yes 40. No. 0. N/A 0.
(4) Gathering systems? Yes 16. No 11. N/A 13.

All 40 States report that they have statewide authority to establish
safety standards for privately owned natural gas utilities or distribu-
tion systems. In addition-

65 percent have authority over interstate transmission systems.
97.5 percent over intrastate transmission systems.

Only 50 percent have jurisdiction over gathering systems due to
the fact that a large number of States have no gas production.

2. (a) Does the commission have the authority to establish safety
standards for publicly owned natural gas utilities, such as municipal
systems?

Yes 10. No 27. N/A 3.
(b) If the commission has no such jurisdiction, is there authority

at the municipal or county level?
Yes 22. No 3. N/A 15.

(c) Is such authority exercised?
Yes 14. No. 4. N/A 22.

Only 25 percent of the States have authority to regulate publicly
ownednatural gas utilities, while 55 percent report that authority for
establishing safety standards does exist at the municipal or county
level. At this level only 35 percent have any type enforcement.

These figures indicate that the States have very little control over
the publicly owned natural gas utilities.

3. Aside from the commission, are there any other public bodies
within the State-local, county, or regional-which establish safety
standards for privately owned gas utilities?

Yes 16. No 24.
The survey shows that 100 percent of the States reporting, Question

3, have safety jurisdiction over privately owned gas utilities with
40 percent showing further regulatory authority at lower levels of
government.

4. In those areas in which the commission has the statutory or
constitutional authority to establish safety standards for privately
or publicly owned gas utilities, has it adopted rules or regulations to
implement that authority?

Yes 36. No 3. N/A 1.
Ninety percent of the States have adopted rules or regulations.
5. (a) Has the commission adopted the USASI code for gas safety

standards for new pipelines?
Yes 31. No 8. N/A 1.

(b) If the USASI code is the basis for your regulation, have you
eliminated or modified any sections of the code?

Yes 14. No 21. N/A 5.
(c) Has the commission adopted safety standards for existing gas

pipelines?
Yes 29. No 11.
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(d) If so, do these standards conform to the USASI standards for
new pipes?

Yes 26. No 6. N/A 8.
Seventy-eight percent have adopted the USASI code with 40

percent of these making changes, either eliminating or modifying
various sections covering new lines. From these figures it is not possible
to determine exactly what type protection the existing regulations
are providing.

Seventy-three percent have adopted safety standards for existing
gas pipelines with 90 percent of these conforming to the USASI
standards for new pipes.

6. Has the commission adopted any additional or other gas safety
standards or codes, including the proposed NARUC amendments?

Yes 18. No 22.
These figures show that 45 percent of the States have adopted

codes or standards other than or in addition to the USASI code.
7. (a) Do the companies in your State periodically test and inspect

existing gas pipelines?
Yes 31. No. 5. N/A 4.

(b) Does the commission periodically test and inspect existing gas
pipelines?

Yes 9. No 30. N/A 1.
(c) Does the commission inspect materials and methods of con-

struction for gas pipelines?
Yes 18. No 21. N/A 1.

(d) If the commission has established gas safety standards, does it
enforce these standards through civil or criminal sanctions?

Yes 29. No 5. N/A 6.
Seventy-eight percent of these States reporting indicate that gas

companies inspect and test existing gas lines, while 13 percent report
not testing or inspecting.

Only 23 percent of these States inspect existing gas pipelines.
Forty-five percent of these States inspect construction of gas pipe-

lines, while 53 percent do not.
Seventy-three percent indicate they enforce their safety regulations

through civil or criminal sanctions. Thirteen percent do not while 15
percent made no reply.

8. (a) If your commission has a program of inspection, does it have
a staff of its own to do this work?

Yes 21. No 14. N/A 5.
(b) If so, how many inspectors do you employ?

20 have inspectors (average range 1-4).
7 do not have inspectors.
13 no reply.

(c) How is this enforcement program financed?
(1) by legislative appropriation? Yes 16. No 3. N/A 21.
(2) by fees charged the companies? Yes 6. No 6. N/A 28.

(d) Does your commission employ outside contractors to perform
such inspections?

Yes 3. No 32. If so, please explain briefly:
Of the States reporting, 53 percent have an inspection program

and 35 percent do not. Fifty percent report they have inspectors,
ranging from an average of 1 to 4 inspectors each. The other 50
percent either do not have inspectors or did not reply.
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These figures indicate very clearly that with this number of in-
spectors a thorough program cannot be carried out. Some of these
States indicated that their inspectors were part of their engineering
staff and were not full-time inspectors. Only 8 percent employ outside
contractors to perform such inspections.

9. (a) Does the commission collect statistics on gas accidents
throughout the State?

Yes 26. No 13. N/A 1.
(b) Does your commission require gas companies to report gas line

failure or accidents to you?
Yes 34. No 6.

(c) How often are they required to report such accidents?
32 as soon as possible.
2 monthly.

Sixty-five percent indicate they collect statistics on gas accidents.
Only 5 percent (two States) furnish a summary report of accidents.

The others indicated the statistics were not in such form that could
be separated or the information could not be reduced.

Most States required the reporting of accidents or failures as soon
as possible after the accident occurred.

10. (a) Have there been any fatal or injury accidents in your
State in the past 10 years resulting from gas pipeline failures?

Yes 17. No 18.
(b) Does the commission establish cause in gas accidents?

Yes 22. No 17. N/A 1.
(c) What have been the principal causes of such accidents?
Forty-three percent of these States have had accidents resulting

in injury or death.
Only 55 percent attempt to determine the cause of gas accidents.
The principal causes of accidents was reported by 50 percent of the

States, with a total of 18 accidents. The causes were as follows:
Construction/outside sources --------------------------------------- 11
Ground settling or movement --------------------------------------- 4
Corrosion ------------------------------------------------------ 2
Human error --------------------------------------------------- 1
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APPEJNDIX B
STATES IN WHICH STATE AGENCY ORDERS MAY BE ENFORCED BY INJUNCTION AND BY CRIMINAL FINES FOR

WILLFUL VIOLATIONS, SUBMITTED BY THE AMERICAN GAS ASSOCIATION

Authority to have Commission Amount of fine which may be imposed for
Name of State orders enforced by court willful violation of Commission orders

injunction

A laska ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .Alaama ------------- Yes -- -------------------- $1,000 per dy.
Arizona --------------- Yes ---- -------------------- $5,000 per offense.
Arkansas ........ ..............................

California -------------- Yes ---------------------- _---- $500 to $2,000 per day.
Colorado-------- ---- Yes.- ...........------ At discretion o court
Connecticut ------------- Yes ----------------------------- $5,000 for each offense.
Delaware -------------- Yes ----------------------------- $50 per day.
Florida -------- _------- Yes; Commission has authority to $5,000 per day.

enforce orders and seek injunc-
tions.

Georgia ---------------- Yes; civil and criminal ------------- Do.
Hawaii ------------------ Yes ............................. $1,000 per offense.
Idaho ................... Yes ............................. $2,000 per day for each offense.
Illinois .................. Yes ............................ $500 to $2,000 per day per offense. $1,000 and/or 1

year imprisonment (individuals).
Indiana --------------- Yes ........................... $100 to $1,000 per offense.
Iowa ......................................................
Kansas .....................................................
Kentucky -------------- Yes ....................... $1,000 per offense.
Louisiana -------------- Yes; Commission has authority to $100 to $500 for each violation.

enforce orders.
Maine ................. Yes; through Attorney General ---- $1,000 per day for each violation or part.
Maryland -------------- Yes ............................. $100 per day for failure to file reports. $2,500 per

day for violations of Commission orders. $1,000
for the first offense. $5,000 for additional offense
(individuals).

Massachusetts --------- Yes ............................ At discretion of court.
Michigan --------------- Yes ------------------------- $100 to $20,000 per offense. $100 to $1,000 and/or

30 days to 1 year (individuals).
Minnesota ------ _------ Yes; fire marshal ................ $100 and/or imprisonment of up to 90 days per offense

(individuals).
Mississippi ------------- Yes ---------------------------- $200 per day per offense.
Missouri --------------- Yes ............................. $1,000 to $2,000 per day. $1,000 and/or 1 year im-

prisonment (individuals).
Montana ---------------- Yes ............................. $100 to $500 per day per offense.
N ebraska --------------------------------------------------
Nevada -------------- Yes .............................. $300 to $500 per day.
New Hampshire --------- Yes ...................... $5,000 for each violation for corporation. $1,000 fine

and/or 6 months in house of Correction (individ-
uals).

New Jersey ------------- Yes ..................... L....... $250 per day (with no limitation on days).
New Mexico ------------ Yes ----------------------------- $100 to $1,000 per offense.
New York --------------- Yes ............................ $1,000 per day.
North Carolina ---------- Yes -------------.------------- $1,000 per day per offense.
North Dakota --------------
Ohio -------------------- Yes *.....------------------------ $100 to $1,000 per day. Statute also provides for

imprisonment up to 2 years for willful violation and
treble damages (individuals).

Oklahoma -------------- Yes; Commission has authority ...... $500 per day per offense.
Oregon ---------------- Yes --------------------- _-----$100 to $10,000 for each offense.
Pennsylvania ----------- Yes ----------------------------- $50 per day for corporation. $500 and/or 1 month to

1 year imprisonment for first offense. $1,000 for
subsequent offenses, imprisonment 3 months to 2
ears (individuals).

Rhode Island ---------- Yes; Administrator of Division of $20 to $500 per day.
Public Utilities.

South Carolina .............................................
South Dakota ----------- No; municipalities have jurisdiction.
Tennessee ------------- Yes -... ...----------------------- $50 per day.
Texas ------------------- Yes --------------------------- $1,000 per day.
Utah -------------------- Yes ---- _---------------------- $500 per day per offense. $1,000 and/or I year im-

prisonment per offense (individuals).
Vermont -------------- Yes ------------------------- $5 000 for each violation.
Virginia ---------------- Yes; Commission has authority to $560 per day.

enforce orders and seek injunc-
tions.

Washington ------ -Yes----------- ------------ $1,000 per day.
West Virginia ------- Yes------ ----------------- $5,000 per day and/or imprisonment of 3 months to I

year (individuals).
Wisconsin ------------- Yes --------------------------- $25 to $1,000 per day.
Wyoming --------------- Yes -------------------------- $5,000 per offense.

(44)
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APPENDIX C

STATISTICS PERTAINING TO STATES PRODUCING NATURAL GAS IN 1966, COMPILED BY HAROLD E. SHUTT, CHAIR-
MAN OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE OF STAFF EXPERTS OF THE NARUC COMMITTEE ON GAS

Gathering and Percent of
field lines I domestic Questions for State survey

State production 2
Miles Percent for inter- No. 1 a No. 2 4 No.35

state sales

Alabama -------------------------- () No --- None ----------------------------------- Yes.
Arizona ----------------- () 0.01 No ---------- do ---------------------------------- Yes.
Arkansas ------------- 580 0.92 .75 Yes 7.. Arkansas Public Service Commission --------- Yes.
California ------------ 710 1.12 ----------- No-.--- None ---------------------------- Yes.
Colorado ----------- 1,160 1.83 .51 No ---------- do ---------------------------------- Yes.
Illinois --------------- 80 .13 ----------- Yes 7__. Illinois Commerce Commission ------------ Yes.
Indiana ------------- 320 .50 (5) Yes --- Public Service Commission ol Indiana -------- Yes.
Iowa ---------------- 70 .11 ----------- Yes 8_ Iowa State Commerce Commission --------- Yes.
Kansas ------------ 6,490 10. 25 5.93 No ... None ................................... Yes.
Kentucky ........... 3, 450 5.45 .33 Yes ---- Kentucky Public Service Commission ...... Yes.
Louisiana .......... 2,440 3.85 37.30 No ..... None ................................... No.
Maryland ............ 60 .10 (6) Yes 9.- Maryland Public Service Commission ...... Yes.
Michigan ............. 620 .98 ............ Yes ---- Michigan Public Service Commission ......... Yes.
Mississippi ........ . 140 .22 1.42 No ... None ................................... Yes.
Montana ........... 1,140 1.80 (6) Yes ---- Montana Board of Railroad Commissioners --- Yes.
Nebraska ............ 40 .06 .06 No ... None ................................... Yes.
New Mexico ......... 7,030 11.10 5.94 No .......... do .................................. No.
New York ............ 820 1.29 .01 Yes-.- New York Public Service Commission ..... Yes.
North Dakota ......... 20 .03 .19 No ----- None ...................................
Ohio ................ 4,330 6.84 .17 Yes 7... Ohio Public Utilities Commission ........... Yes.
Oklahoma .......... 6,450 10.19 8.58 No ..... None ................................... No.
Pennsylvania ......... 6,830 10.78 .22 No .......... do .................................. Yes.
Texas .............. 10,280 16.23 35.48 No .......... do ................................... No.
Utah ................ 470 .74 .38 No .......... do .................................. Yes.
Virginia .............. 10 .02 .02 Yes 8_ Virginia State Corporation Commission ..... Yes.
West Virginia ......... 9,020 14.24 .96 No ... None ................................... Yes.
Wyoming ............ 770 1.22 1.71 Yes ---- Wyoming Public Service Commission -........ Yes.

Total ........ 63,330 100.00 100.00

I Data obtained from "Gas Facts" prepared by the American Gas Association, 1967.
Data obtained from "Sales by Producers of Natural Gas to Interstate Pipeline Companies, 1966," prepared by the

Federal Power Commission.
5 Is there any State agency within your State that has regulatory jurisdiction of safety of gas-gathering lines?
4 If yes, what is the agency's name?
o If a public utility owned and operated gas-gathering lines in your State, would your commission have regulatory

jurisdiction of safety of these lines?
'Less than 0.01 percent.

7 If the lines are operatec by a public utility.
I Yes, it State had any gathering lines.
g Not exercised.
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AGENCY REPORTS

EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT,
BUREAU OF THE BUDGET,

Washington, D.C., February 28, 1968.
Hon. HARLEY 0. STAGGERS,

Chairman, Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce,
House oJ Representatives, Washington, D.C.

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: This is in reply to your request for the
views of the Bureau of the Budget on H.R. 6551, H.R. 13936, and
S. 1166, bills relating to the safety regulations of natural gas pipe-
lines, and to your letter of February 21, 1968.

In his message of February 16, 1967, on protection of the American
consumer, President Johnson called for legislation to provide Federal
safety regulation of gas pipelines. To this end, S. 1166 was introduced
in the Senate on M[arch 3, 1967. In testimony before your committee
on December 6, 1967, the Secretary of Transportation endorsed
S. 1166 as passed by the Senate, but recommended amendments
to (1) delete the requirement for the Secretary to publish his reasons
for rejecting recommendations of the Technical Advisory Committee;
(2) add a maintenance-of-effort requirement to the provision for
grants to the States; (3) add criminal penalties for wilful and knowing
violations; and (4) delete the partial exemption from retroactive
application of standards.

We concur in the views expressed by Secretary Boyd and strongly
recommend that S. 1166 be amended as he suggested. Enactment of
this legislation would be in accord with the program of the President.

You also inquired about the costs of this legislation and whether
provision has been made for them in the 1969 budget. The timing of
enactment and the final form of the bill will, of course, affect the costs
which can be anticipated for fiscal year 1969. This legislation was taken
into account in developing the allowance for contingencies in the 1969
budget, which provides for the possible costs of new programs for
which definite estimates cannot be made at the time.

Sincerely yours,
WILFRED H. ROMMEL,

Assistant Director for Legislative Reference.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY,

Washington, D.C., December 6, 1967.
Hon. HARLEY 0. STAGGERS,
Chairman, Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce,
House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.

DEAR IR. STAGGERS: Your committee has requested a report on
S. 1166, a bill to authorize the Secretary of Transportation to prescribe
safety standards for the transportation of natural and other gas by
pipeline, and for other purposes.
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S. 1166 would authorize the Secretary of Transportation to establish
minimum Federal safety standards applicable to the design, instal-
lation, inspection, testing, construction, extension, operation, re-
placement, and maintenance of pipeline facilities used in the trans-
portation of gas.

Under the terms of the bill, "gas" is defined as "natural gas,
flammable gas, or nonflammable hazardous gas," and "transporta-
tion of gas" is declared to mean "the gathering, transmission, or
distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate
or foreign commerce." The term "pipeline facilities" is also compre-
hensively defined within the bill to include new and existing pipe,
rights-of-way, buildings, and general equipment and facilities.

The bill provides that within 3 months following its enactment the
Secretary of Transportation shall, by order, adopt interim minimum
Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation
of gas in each State. In those States currently enforcing regulatory
standards governing such activities, the State standards are to be
adopted as the interim Federal safety requirements. Where no State
standards are currently in effect, the Secretary is directed to establish
such interim Federal safety standards as are common to a majority
of the States presently enforcing specific safety standards within their
borders. The Secretary is directed to establish permanent minimum
Federal safety standards not later than 24 months after the enactment
of the act, which standards "shall be practicable and designed to meet
the need for pipeline safety." Any permanent minimum Federal
safety standards are to become effective 30 days after their date of
issuance unless the Secretary, for good cause shown, determines that
an earlier or later effective date is reasonably necessary to insure
compliance.

Minimum Federal safety standards prescribed by the Secretary of
Transportation relating to design, installation, construction, initial
inspection, and initial testing would not be applicable to pipeline
facilities in existence on the date such standards were adopted unless
a potentially hazardous situation existed. The Secretary would be
authorized by written agreement with an appropriate State agency
to exempt from Federal safety standards those pipeline facilities and
the transportation of gas not otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of
the Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act. Under
such agreements, the State agencies would be required to adopt the
Federal standards, undertake programs designed to achieve adequate
compliance with such standards, and cooperate in a system of Federal
monitoring of the compliance program and reporting requirements.
The bill authorizes the Secretary to pay up to 50 percent of the
annual costs for carrying out such agreements by a State agency.

Prior to promulgation of permanent Federal safety standards, the
Secretary of Transportation is directed to establish a Technical Pipe-
line Safety Standards Committee composed of 15 members, five to
be selected from governmental agencies, five from the natural gas in-
dustry, and five from the general public. All of the proposed Federal
safety standards and amendments would be submitted to the technical
committee, which in turn would report on the technical feasibility,
reasonableness and practicability of each proposal. The committee
would also be authorized to propose safety standards to the Secretary
for his consideration. The Secretary, however, would not be bound by
the technical committee's reports or conclusions.
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The bill provides for judicial review before the various U.S. courts
of appeals of any order or other administrative determination of the
Secretary of Transportation arrived at under the Natural Gas Pipeline
Safety Act of 1967. Enforcement features of the bill include provision
for civil penalties not exceeding $1,000 per day for each violation,
except that the maximum civil penalty may not exceed $400,000 for
any related series of violations. The Secretary is authorized to com-
promise monetary penalties in accordance with the equities of the
particular case, or to recover penalties, wherever necessary, through
civil actions in the U.S. district courts. Injunctive relief to restrain
violations of the act is also provided for through the offices of the
appropriate U.S. attorneys or the Attorney General. The Secretary
of Transportation is authorized to advise, assist, and cooperate with
other Federal and State departments and agencies, as well as other
interested public and private agencies and persons, in the planning and
development of Federal safety standards and general enforcement
procedures.

We recommend enactment of S. 1166. Although this Department is
assigned no functional role in the administration and enforcement of
the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1967, we are in full accord
with the determination that need exists for early enactment of safety
legislation in this vital consumer area. President Johnson, in his
consumer message to the Congress on February 16, 1967, stated the
following:

"Nearly 800,000 miles of pipeline reach out across a continent,
linking the Nation's natural gas producing fields to the consumer.
This gas brings heat and convenience to millions of American homes.
It is used increasingly in industrial processes.

"The safe transmission and distribution of natural gas is essential
to all of us.

"The natural gas industry is among the most safety conscious in the
nation. But natural gas is inherently dangerous when it is being trans-
mitted. It travels through pipelines at enormous pressures. It is highly
inflammable. When it burns, it can reach temperatures as high as
2500' Fahrenheit. In March 1965, a tragic pipeline failure near
Natchitoches, Louisiana, killed 17 persons. The recent blaze in
Jamaica, New York, dramatically underscored how serious a gas
pipeline failure can be.

"As pipelines age and as more and more of the system lies under
areas of high population density, the hazards of pipeline failures-and
explosions-increase. Yet:

-22 States have no safety regulations.
-Many of the remaining 28 States have weak or outmoded pro-

visions.
-Although the gas industry has developed safety standards, they

are not binding and in some instances not adequate.
-There is no Federal jurisdiction whatsoever over 80 percent of the

Nation's gas pipeline mileage and no clear authority to set
minimum safety standards for the remaining 20 percent.

"With the creation of the Department of Transportation, one agency
now has responsibility for Federal safety regulation of air, water and
land transportation, and oil pipelines. It is time to complete this com-
prehensive system of safety by giving the Secretary of Transportation
authority to prescribe minimum safety standards for the movement of
natural gas by pipeline.
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"I recommend the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1967."
Inasmuch as the Secretary of Transportation is authorized to

advise and cooperate with other Federal departments and agencies in
the planning and development of Federal safety standards and
methods relating to inspection and testing for purposes of assuring
compliance with the act, this Department anticipates future oppor-
tunity to participate actively in the formulative process.

There is a typographical error in section 8(a) (2) and (3) of the bill.
Section 8(a)(2) should refer to "section 11" instead of "section 12"
and section 8(a)(3) should read "section 12" instead of "section 13".

The Bureau of the Budget has advised that there is no objection
to the presentation of this report from the standpoint of the adminis-
tration's program.

Sincerely yours,
J. CORDELL MOORE,

Assistant Secretary of the Interior.

FEDERAL POWER ConMIsSIoN REPORT ON H.R. 6551, S. 1166, H.R.
13936, H.R. 13950 AND H.R. 13953, 90TH CONGRESS, GAS PIPE-
LINE SAFETY BILLS

S. 1166, H.R. 13936 (identical to H.R. 13950), and H.R. 13953
would assign to the Secretary of Transportation the responsibility
for prescribing safety regulations for the transportation of natural
and other gases by pipeline. Such regulations would cover the gather-
ing, transmission, and distribution of gas by pipeline and its storage
in or affecting interstate commerce.

The bills, except for H.R. 6551, are all similar in scope, language,
and structure with one major substantive difference: S. 1166 and
H.R. 13953 do not provide for criminal penalties; H.R. 13936 does.
The attachment contains a brief analysis of S. 1166 with a table
showing the differences between the various bills.

H.R. 6551 would assign such a responsibility for interstate lines
to the Federal Power Commission. While the Commission has sup-
ported such legislation in the past, it now supports the broader con-
cept embodied in S. 1166.

NEED FOR LEGISLATION

The principal need for a Federal effort in the field of gas pipeline
safety is the inadequacy of the code now used as a safety guide by
companies and State agencies, and the improbability that an adequate
code can or will be established under existing law or under existing
private procedures.

The current basis for safety standards for transmission and distribu-
tion pipelines is the USAS B31.8 Code for Pressure Piping. This code
has in turn been adopted by a preponderance of State utility com-
missions, on occasion with some strengthening amendments, as the
basis for their legal requirements.

The flaw in this picture of almost unanimous adoption of a safety
code by almost all the States is not in the will of States in adopting
available safety standards, but in the inadequacy of the available
safety standards themselves. The B31.8 Code, while it establishes some
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safety standards in some areas, sets standards so low that it is seriously
deficient to ensure safe practices. In fact, the standards the code sets
are so low that most companies exceed code requirements or use prac-
tices more stringent than those required by the code. To illustrate,
companies, as a matter of practice, bury their pipe, which is not re-
quired by the code, except at crossings. To protect against corrosion,
most companies put a protective coating on pipe, also not required by
the code; further, companies cathodically protect their pipelines, also
not required by the code. In addition, most companies require a coat-
ing of a specific electric resistance, also not required by the code. Most
companies have a comprehensive program for maintenance and corro-
sion prevention, while the code merely provides a checklist of danger
areas. Most companies radiographically inspect welds on their pipe,
while the code makes no such requirement.
Comparison with previous gas pipeline safety bills

S. 1166 establishes a complete scheme of standard setting, inspec-
tion, enforcement, sanctions, agreements with States, reporting and
monitoring, whereas previous bills assigning such responsibility to the
FPC would have utilized the existing enforcement, reporting, and
compliance sections of the Natural Gas Act. S. 1166, as introduced,
amended title 18 of the United States Code which would have added
gas pipelines to the Transportation of Explosives Act.

S. 1166 would cover gas gathering, transmission, and distribution
pipelines and storage facilities, whereas previous bills assigning such
responsibility to the FPC would have covered only interstate trans-
mission lines under FPC jurisdiction. In addition, S. 1166 would apply
to all pipelines regardless of ownership, whereas previous bills would
have applied only to privately owned companies.

Effect on FPC
The bill contains provisions to reduce any possible administrative

problems which may arise because of the dual responsibilities over the
transportation of natural gas between the Department of Transporta-
tion and the FPC. For example, section 7 of the Safety Act provides
that whenever the establishment of a standard or action upon an
application for a waiver would affect continuity of FPC certificated
gas service, the Secretary must first consult with the FPC and defer
the effective date until the FPC has had reasonable opportunity to
grant the authorizations it deems necessary. Such language gives the
final say on safety to the Secretary of Transportation but coordinates
the actions of the FPC and the DOT so that compliance with a DOT
standard would not entail violation of a FPC certificate of public
convenience and necessity.

In addition, section 7 of the Safety Act provides that applicants
under the Natural Gas Act for a certificate to construct a pipeline
must certify that the proposed pipeline will meet Federal standards.
This certification is binding on the FPC unless the DOT has timely
advised the FPC that the applicant has violated DOT safety stand-
ards. The Senate Commerce Committee report on S. 1166 (Rept. 718,
90th Cong.) interprets this:

The FPC is required to consider and take action on some
elements of the safety of transmission proposals in acting on
applications for new or extended authority and it is not
intended that this act will diminish that authority and re-
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sponsibility of the FPC. * * * It is not intended by the com-
mittee that this process of certification of compliance with
the Secretary's standards -will bar FPC from continuing to
consider safety in the same fashion it presently does in con-
nection with awarding certificates of public convenience
and necessity.

The FPC agrees with this interpretation.
Section 13(b) provides that, upon request, the Secretary shall

furnish the FPC any information he has regarding the safety of
materials, operations, devices or processes relating to the transpor-
tation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities. This will allow the
FPC to obtain the most up-to-date safety data to help in its considera-
tion of the safety of proposed facilities for those aspects of the trans-
portation of gas not covered by DOT standards.

Section 13(c) also authorizes the Secretary to cooperate with, among
others, the FPC in planning and developing Federal standards and
methods to insure compliance with those standards.

SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS

While the Commission strongly supports the basic concept of the
bill, the Commission feels that the bill could be improved to give the
States and the Secretary more discretion in promulgating standards.
These amendments would restore S. 1166 more closely to its form
as introduced and endorsed by the President and heretofore supported
by the Commission.

MORE DISCRETION IN PROMULGATING STANDARDS

S. 1166 now prevents States from establishing additional non-
conflicting standards for interstate transmission lines and also prevents
the Secretary from adopting any standards but the State standards
then existing in each State as Federal interim standards. In any
State where no such standards are in effect, the Secretary must
promulgate those standards common to a majority of States.1

Under these provisions the anomalous situation is created whereby
States may raise their own standards for those transmission lines
under State jurisdiction (50,000 miles) but may not apply similar
standards for such lines in that State under FPC jurisdiction (160,000
miles). Functionally and operationally, these lines under State or
FPC jurisdiction are identical and may even be part of the same net-
work or even owned by subsidiaries of the same holding company.
Some States have made valuable and worthwhile additions to the
B31.8 Code and others may wish to do so. The FPC has supported
the concept of minimum standards in its testimony on S. 1553 in the
89th Congress and S. 1166 in the 90th Congress before the Senate
Committee on Commerce because it believes the creative efforts of
States have proved to be and should continue to be fruitful sources
of safety concern. We believe the States should be free to improve
their own standards for interstate lines and continue their current
jurisdiction. Similarly, the Secretary should be free to supplement

I This section would authorize the Secretary to prescribe standards for those pipelines in States where
the State has adopted some safety regulations but which did not apply to particular classes of pipe, such as
distribution lines or interstate lines.
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the interim standards with such additional requirements as accident
reporting or other rules as would be necessary to administer an
interim safety program rather than be required to adopt the various
existing State standards as then in effect. In sum, we suggest the
Secretary be allowed to so supplement existing State standards for
interim standards and that the Federal standards not preempt addi-
tional consistent State regulation of the interstate transmission lines.

The FPC believes that there is a vital public need for a national
agency responsible to the public to set adequate safety standards for
gas pipelines. S. 1166, with the amendments we suggest, effectively
provides for a national responsibility and the FPC therefore favors
enactment of such a bill.
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MINORITY VIEWS ON S. 1166, NATURAL GAS PIPELINE
SAFETY BILL

SECTION 5

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE FEDERAL SAFETY REGULATION

The original bill provided that the Secretary of Transportation
would have jurisdiction over all pipeline facilities and the transporta-
tion of all natural gas.

Under section 5 of S. 1166 when it was referred to the House, the
Secretary of Transportation was authorized by written agreement with
appropriate state agencies to exempt from Federal safety standards
pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas not subject to the
jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission. No such agreement
could have been concluded unless the State agency in effect had author-
ity to impose the same kind of sanctions, recordkeeping, and inspection
responsibilities that were given to the Secretary. In the event a State
agency could not enter into such an agreement, the Secretary was
authorized to negotiate with such agencies to carry out certain ad-
ministration of the act on behalf of the Secretary.

Section 5 was changed by the House Committee to provide that any
State which could meet certain requirements would have the right
to certify its ability to carry out the regulation required by the act
and thereafter the State would control regulation (sec. 5), have the
right to waive compliance with safety standards (sec. 2(e)), receive
the plans for inspection and maintenance (sec. 11), and generally
carry out the entire examination and inspection of gas pipelines not
regulated by the Federal Power Commission (sec. 5).

Once the State had certified its program, then under this bill the
Federal Government would be required to pay up to 50 percent of the
cost of the activities of the State agencies above the present amounts
they are spending (sec. 5(c)); a subsidy which would absorb nearly
all of the funds granted to the Secretary under the act (sec. 15).

The net effect of the House committee amendment thrusts a burden
on the Secretary which he cannot possibly carry. In order to insure
protection for the public, under this unique Federal-State relationship,
the Secretary would have to have a massive staff to monitor State
enforcement activities, since the burden would be on him to prove
that a State was, despite its certification, not in compliance.

This is in contrast to the original bill which would provide that, by
written agreement, a State must spell out in detail the standards it
has adopted and prove that it has the capacity to enforce those
standards. Under such a system only a modest force would be neces-
sary to monitor compliance. Also, of vital importance, the burden of
proof would be on the States to show compliance and enforcement
instead of on the. Secretary to show noncompliance and inadequate
enforcement.
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There is also a substantial question whether, the State having
certified itself out from Federal supervision, the Secretary could make
any serious effort to look behind that certification.

This proposed amendment will be presented by Congressman
Macdonald.

SAMUEL N. FRIEDEL.
JOHN E. Moss.
JOHN D. DINGELL.
DANIEL J. RONAN.
BROCK ADAMS.

RICHARD L. OTTINGER.

PETER N. KYROS.

MINORITY VIEWS ON AMENDMENTS TO RESTORE

SECTIONS 2, 3, 4, 9, AND 15

GENERAL

In addition to the basic change in the bill created by section 5,
there were a series of weakening amendments adopted by the com-
mittee which will prevent the bill from being effective even if section
5 were to be corrected. With section 5 in its present form, these amend-
ments make the bill a nullity.

SECTION 2

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE REGULATION OF GATHERING LINES

The original will provided that "transportation of gas" included all
means of distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage.

The committee amended that section to exclude pipelines used for
the gathering of gas in rural locations unless the Secretary defined that
an area had become "nonrural."

It will be impossible for the Secretary to examine each of some
65,000 miles of gathering lines to determine where there is a populated
as opposed to nonpopulated area, and therefore the risk caused by
gathering lines will continue in its present status since the Secretary
can only issue general regulations and cannot examine each line to
determine whether it is rural or nonrural.

SECTION 3

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE REGULATION OF EXISTING PIPELINES

Existing pipe under our major metropolitan centers is the chief
hazard against which legislative action is needed, yet this pipe is
effectively "grandfathered" out from effective coverage by section 3
of the bill.

The Senate language in section 3 should be restored. This would
permit the Secretary to eliminate potentially hazardous situations by
requiring compliance with safety standards already established. It
would allow the Secretary to promulgate a series of orders in general
form that would correct some of the more dangerous situations in the
existing lines throughout the Nation. For example, he could find that
certain types of pipe which had been in existence for a certain number
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of years were hazardous and should be replaced. Pipe of deficient
material, or which was improperly welded, would be subject to re-
placement. The burden would then be on the companies to bring
their facilities up to such standards.

The committee changed this section to provide that the Secreatry
could not issue general orders but instead was required to find that a
"particular" facility was actually (not potentially) hazardous to life or
property and then he had to order the person operating such facility
to take the steps necessary to remove the potential hazard. This
would mean that every mile of the country's pipeline would have to
be inspected and tested and the faults revealed before he could order
compliance. This is an impossible burden for the Secretary and is
contrary to the general regulatory system which requires the industry
itself to bring its facilities up to a standard, with the risk of meaning-
ful penalties for noncompliance.

There are today some 800,000 miles of gas pipeline already in the
ground. Some of that pipe has been in use for over a century, and most
for at least a decade. Some pieces of pipe taken recently from under
city streets and buildings and shown at the hearings were so corroded
that they could crumble at the slightest touch. Explosions that have
leveled hundreds of houses and office buildings, that have killed
hundreds and have maimed thousands have taken place in cities all
around the country. Some recent examples are a rupture and explosion
in Natchitoches, La., in March 1965, gutting an 18-acre area, killing
17, burning down five houses and melting cars and rocks in the vicinity;
a January 1967 explosion engulfing an entire block in Queens, N.Y.,
in which seven people were injured and 19 families left homeless; the
injury of 14 people in a recreation hall explosion in South Milwaukee,
Wis., in February 1967, where 20 minutes earlier 250 people had been
gathered; a February 1967 explosion in Hastings-on-Hudson, N.Y.,
which killed one, injured 15 and left 35 families homeless; a March
1967 explosion in Logansport, Ind., injured eight; destruction of an
office building in downtown St. Louis, Mo., in November 1967-no
one was hurt because luckily the explosion took place at night;
explosion injuring nine in Riverdale, N.Y., last December; and so on.

SECTION 4

AMENDMENT TO BROADEN THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE TECHNICAL PIPE-
LINE SAFETY STANDARDS COMMITTEE

This committee is to assist the Secretary in establishing safety
standards, but the bill goes far beyond that and requires that the
Secretary shall use this committee's recommendations unless he spe-
cifically rejects them and publishes his reason for rejection thereof.

The present standard provides that each of the 15 members must
be experienced in the safety regulation of the transportation of gas
and of pipeline facilities or technically qualified by training and ex-
perience in one or more fields of engineering applied in the transpor-
tation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities. This in effect limits
the membership of this committee to individuals who are in, or have
in the past been members of, the gas pipeline industry. This would
exclude members of regulatory agencies who had not worked for the
industry or academic personnel who had not worked specifically in
engineering applied in the transportation of gas or the operation of
pipeline facilities.
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SECTION 5

See the first minority views.

SECTION 9

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE THE CIVIL PENALTIES SECTION

The House committee reduced the civil penalties in the Senate
bill from $1,000 to $500 per day with a maximum of $100,000 instead
of $400,000. For big utilities, these maximums are inadequate.

Even more importantly, the committee amendment reduced the
penalty sanctions to absurdity by insisting that they could be assessed
only upon prior notice of noncompliance by the Secretary, followed
by inaction by the pipeline company. This situation is precisely
analogous to the old "mad dog" statutes, which permitted any dog
one bite before he could be muzzled. We are not prepared to permit
a pipeline company one explosion before minimum safety standards
can be imposed.

Nowhere in any Federal regulation (or State so far as the under-
signed know) is such a system of civil penalties used.

SECTION 15

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE APPROPRIATIONS

The amounts authorized to the Secretary to carry out his responsi-
bilities under the act are wholly inadequate to permit him to do the
job. Next year's authorization is cut from $13 million to $2 million,
and the 1971 authorization from $15 million to $3 million.

We are conscious of the need to keep Federal spending down to
the essential minimum level consistent with the national welfare.
In our view, however, the amounts authorized in this legislation
are inadequate to permit even a show of compliance with the duties
which the legislation imposes or attempts to impose upon the Sec-
retary. The amounts provided won't provide for any meaningful
Federal inspection, to say nothing of the 50 percent grants to the
States required under section 5(c).

The Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act should be restored to the
form in which it passed in the Senate, and the Secretary of Trans-
portation should be given the funds necessary to do the job required.

As one witness testified before the committee about the leaking
pipelines under our cities: "There is dynamite under our streets."
It is left to us to remove it.

JOHN E. Moss.
JOHN D. DINGELL.
DANIEL J. RONAN.

BROCK ADAMS.
RICHARD L. OTTINGER.
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Having heard a major portion of the testimony in public hearings
and participated in subcommittee deliberations, I do not share all the
misgivings of my colleagues in their minority views. However, I agree
substantially that section 5(a), as amended, seriously impairs the
Secretary's opportunity to attack present dangers.

The language as reported appears to admit Federal jurisdiction, but
at the same time places an undue burden on the Secretary to prove
that it ought to be asserted. I therefore urge a return to the language
of section 5 as it was passed by the Senate, which preserves the
traditional concept of Federal-State cooperation.

I would nonetheless caution against a familiar pitfall of consumer
legislation, the desire of well-intentioned administrators to achieve a
wider jurisdiction than is proved necessary. An example in the present
debate is their effort to regulate all gathering lines.

Our subcommittee worked conscientiously to protect inhabited areas
against faulty gathering lines. But from nearly 98 percent of gathering
lines, testimony indicated, there is no need for protection. These lie
across open terrain, most of it prairie, and the usual gas pressures are
only 3 or 4 pounds per inch. No accidents involving gathering lines
have occurred over the past decade.

Similarly, I find little logic in arguments of the minority that the
prospect of penalties up to $500 a day per violation and a total of
$100,000 would fail to stir action by officials of a company who have
been warned their property is unsafe. And I am baffled by colleagues
who find it "amazing" that a violator should be warned before he is
penalized. Let us hope the day of the friendly cop has not ended
altogether.

LIONEL VAN DEERLIN.

(57)
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

IN REPLY PLEASE 
REFER TO OUR FILE 

February 3, 2021 

REFERENCE: 

NC-77-20 

IREF: 13663 

VIA EMAIL DELIVERY 

Alexander Steffanelli, CFO 

Westover Company  

2501 Maryland Road 

Willow Grove, PA 19090 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli: 

On December 2, 2020 Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s Pipeline Safety 

Engineer S. Orr and Supervisor T. Cooper Smith completed inspections of facilities and/or 

records on Westover Companies in Willow Grove, PA. As a result of the inspection, the Pipeline 

Safety Section of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission has discovered that Westover 

Company is in violation of the following federal and state regulations: 

(1) 49 CFR § 192.13 What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under this

part?

(c) Each operator shall maintain, modify as appropriate, and follow the plans,

procedures, and programs that it is required to establish under this part.

(2) 49 CFR § 192.605 Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and emergencies

(a) General. Each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipeline, a manual of

written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for

emergency response. For transmission lines, the manual must also include

procedures for handling abnormal operations. This manual must be reviewed and

updated by the operator at intervals not exceeding 15 months, but at least one

each calendar year. This manual must be prepared before operations of a pipeline

system commence. Appropriate parts of the manual must be kept at locations

where operations and maintenance activities are conducted.

Code Section Inspector's Comments 

§192.13(c) Westover Companies does not have a manual required by Part 192 

§192.605(a) Westover Companies does not have a procedural manual for Operations, 

Maintenance, & Emergencies (O&M). 

Mr. Orr and Ms. Cooper Smith conducted an Operations and Maintenance (O&M) 

inspections for the Westover Companies. During the inspection, it was discovered the Westover 

Companies does not have any written O&M plans as required by 49CFR Part 192. 
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Therefore, you are hereby requested to submit to this office in writing, on or before  

March 17, 2021, the following: 

1) Develop and implement an Operations, Maintenance, and Emergency Response manual 

as required by 49CFR§192. 

2) Develop a process to document and track all records required by these manuals and 

procedures. 

This office is committed to ensuring that pipeline companies comply with the provisions 

of the Public Utility Code. Therefore, you are advised that, if you fail to comply with the above 

requests this office will initiate all appropriate enforcement actions pursuant to the Public Utility 

Code against the utility and its officers, agents and employees. 

Yours truly, 

 
Robert Horensky, Manager 

Safety Division 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

RH:rb 

PC: Richard Kanaskie, Director, I&E 

Terri Cooper Smith, Fixed Utility Valuation Supervisor 

Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 
P.O. BOX 3265, HARRISBURG, PA 17105-3265 

IN REPLY PLEASE 
REFER TO OUR FILE 

March 30, 2021 

REFERENCE: 

NC-08-21 

 IREF:13651 

VIA EMAIL DELIVERY 

Alexander Steffanelli CFO 

Westover Companies  

2501 Maryland Road 

Willow Grove, PA 19090 

Dear: Mr. Steffanelli 

During the calendar year 2020 and 2021 Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s 

Pipeline Safety Engineer, S. Orr has attempted to conduct inspections of facilities and/or records 

on Westover Companies in Willow Grove, PA   As a result of these inspections, the Pipeline 

Safety Section of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission has discovered that Westover 

Companies is in violation of the following federal and state regulations: 

(1) 49 CFR §190.203 Inspections and Investigations

(a) Officers, employees, or agents authorized by the Associate Administrator for

Pipeline Safety, upon presenting appropriate credentials, are authorized to enter

upon, inspect, and examine, at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner, the

records and properties of persons to the extent such records and properties are

relevant to determining the compliance of such persons with the requirements of

49 U.S.C. 60101 et seq., or regulations, or orders issued there under.

Code Section Inspector’s Comments 

§190.203(a) Westover Companies is not responding to requests for inspections on 

records and facilities. 

Westover Companies has been identified as a master meter operator in the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (also known as 

“the Pipeline Act” or Act 127 of 2011) was signed by Governor Corbett on Dec. 22, 2011 and 

went into effect on February 20, 2012. This law expands the Commission’s authority to enforce 

federal pipeline safety laws as they relate to gas and hazardous liquids pipeline equipment and 

facilities within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

On Feb. 16, 2012, the PUC adopted an Implementation Order at Docket 

M-2012-2282031. It establishes the Act 127 initiatives of creating a statewide registry for non-

public utility gas and hazardous liquids pipeline equipment and facilities within the

Commonwealth; conducting safety inspections to enforce Federal pipeline safety laws on certain

classifications of pipeline; and assessing entities for the costs.
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ACT 127 gives the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement(I&E) authority to enforce 

federal regulations found under 49 CFR Part 190, 191, and 192 on pipeline operators in the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Specifically, 49 CFR Part 190.203(a) gives I&E Safety 

Division access to inspect records and facilities owned by the company. I&E Pipeline Safety 

inspectors met with Westover Companies in December 2020. At that time, an inspector 

discussed the requirements that the company would need to follow in operating their gas system 

after the meter with PECO. Attempts were made on December 17, December 24, and December 

30, 2020 and January 11 and January 14, 2021 to schedule follow up inspections and review 

records and procedures with no response received back from the company. 

This letter is to serve as notice of Westover Companies responsibility to respond to the 

request for meetings and inspections. Continued failure of response by Westover Companies will 

result in the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement Safety Division in taking legal action 

against the company including possibly civil penalties. Westover has yet to respond in writing to 

NC 77-20 dated February 2, 2021 and was due by March 17,2021  

Therefore, you are hereby requested to submit to this office, in writing, on or before 

April 29, 2021, the following: 

1) Respond to the request of the inspector to schedule inspections on Westover Companies

records and facilities.

2) Provide a written response to NC 77-20.

This office is committed to ensuring that pipeline companies comply with the provisions 

of the Public Utility Code.  Therefore, you are advised that, if you fail to comply with the above 

requests this office will initiate all appropriate enforcement actions pursuant to the Public Utility 

Code against the utility and its officers, agents and employees. 

Yours truly, 

Robert Horensky, Manager 

Safety Division 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

RH:rb 

PC: Richard Kanaskie, Director, I&E 
Terri Cooper Smith, Pipeline Safety Supervisor 

Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer II 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

& 
ENFORCEMENT 

 

 

June 2, 2021 

Via Electronic Mail Only 

Mr. Alexander Steffanelli 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 

d/b/a Westover Companies 

550 American Avenue 

Suite 1 

King of Prussia, PA 19406 

alex@westovercompanies.com 

Re: Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

I&E-Enforcement Warning Letter 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli, 

The purpose of this letter is to provide Westover Property Management Company, 

L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”) with one final opportunity to respond to the

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement’s (“I&E”) request that it comply with the laws and

regulations governing its master meter system.  If compliance is not achieved within the

timeframe set forth herein, I&E is prepared to initiate a formal enforcement action before the

Commission that would seek the imposition of stiff civil penalties on Westover, up to

$225,134 per violation for each day the violation continues, subject to a maximum penalty of

$2,251,334 for a related series of violations.

On May 22 and 23, 2018, inspectors from the I&E Safety Division of the 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission1 visited a property owned and managed by 

Westover in response to a natural gas leak and service outage reported by PECO Gas.  PECO 

Gas reported that the outage impacted a master meter system at the Jamestown Village 

Apartments located at 2501 Maryland Road, Willow Grove, PA 19090.  After ensuring that 

the leak was properly repaired and service restored, the Safety Division shifted the focus of 

its investigation to examine whether the pipeline facilities at the Jamestown Village 

Apartments constitute a “master meter system” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 and subject to 

Commission oversight through the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (“Act 127”), 58 

P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq.   

On December 2, 2020, the Safety Division completed an inspection of Westover’s 

facilities and records, and concluded that Westover operates a regulated master meter system.  

During the inspection, inspectors from the Safety Division discussed with representatives 

from Westover the requirements that are necessary for Westover to comply with Act 127 and 

1 The Safety Division serves as an agent of the federal Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 

(“PHMSA”) and enforces compliance with Pennsylvania laws and regulations as well as federal pipeline safety 

laws and regulations governing the transportation of natural gas. 
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the federal pipeline safety regulations.  On December 17, December 24, and December 31, 

2020 as well as on January 11, and January 14, 2021, the Safety Division attempted to 

schedule a follow-up inspection with Westover that would review the manual and procedures 

that the Safety Division asked Westover to develop in order to become compliant.  Westover 

did not respond to any of the Safety Division’s attempts to communicate with it. 

By letter dated February 3, 2021, the Safety Division issued a non-compliance letter, 

NC-77-20, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.13 and 192.605 for failing 

to have a manual as required in Part 192 of the federal pipeline safety regulations and a 

procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance and Emergencies (“O&M Manual”).  The 

Safety Division requested that Westover respond to NC-77-20 in writing on or before March 

17, 2021, with a response that demonstrates that it developed and implemented an O&M 

Manual and a process to document and track all records required by the pertinent manuals 

and procedures.  Westover failed to respond to NC-77-20. 

By letter dated March 30, 2021, the Safety Division issued a second non-compliance 

letter, NC-08-21, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR § 190.203(a) (permitting 

agents of PHMSA to enter and inspect the records and properties of persons to determine the 

compliance of such persons with federal pipeline safety laws and regulations).  The Safety 

Division requested that Westover respond in writing on or before April 29, 2021, with a 

response that schedules the Safety Division’s follow-up inspection of Westover’s facilities 

and records and replies to NC-77-20.  In NC-08-21, the Safety Division warned that a 

continued failure to respond would result in I&E taking legal action against Westover, 

including seeking the imposition of civil penalties.  Westover failed to respond to NC-08-21. 

The Safety Division referred this matter to I&E-Enforcement, which is the 

prosecutory arm of the Commission empowered to take legal action to enforce compliance 

with, inter alia, Act 127 and federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  Prior to initiating a 

formal enforcement proceeding before the Commission, which would entail extensive 

discovery, an evidentiary hearing, potential travel for witnesses and the filing of post-hearing 

briefs, I&E-Enforcement deemed it appropriate to make one final attempt to elicit 

Westover’s compliance with the applicable law.  I&E requests that Westover perform the 

following on or before June 22, 2021:  

• Develop and implement an O&M Manual as required by 49 CFR Part 192;

• Develop a process to document and track all records required by the applicable

manuals and procedures;

• Arrange for a follow-up inspection with Safety Division Supervisor T. Cooper

Smith and Safety Division Engineer S. Orr at tcsmith@pa.gov and

scoorr@pa.gov, respectively; and

• Register as a Pennsylvania pipeline operator pursuant to Act 127.

Should Westover fail to fully perform each of the above-listed items by the date 

referenced herein, I&E-Enforcement will swiftly file a formal complaint against Westover 
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that seeks the imposition of a civil penalty.  I&E-Enforcement’s requested civil penalty 

would consider Westover’s well-documented failure to cooperate with the Safety Division’s 

investigation.  Please be advised that I&E is authorized to seek a civil penalty of $225,134 

per violation for each day the violation continues, with a maximum penalty of $2,251,334 for 

a related series of violations.2  Furthermore, as a corporation, Westover is required to be 

represented by legal counsel in contested proceedings before the Commission. 

Thank you for your immediate attention to this important matter.  

Sincerely, 

Stephanie M. Wimer 

Senior Prosecutor 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

Commonwealth Keystone Building 

400 North Street 

Harrisburg, PA 17120 

(717) 772-8839

stwimer@pa.gov

cc: Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

Robert D. Horensky, Manager - Safety Division (via e-mail only) 

2 See 58 P.S. § 801.502 (a); 49 CFR § 190.223, as modified by Department of Transportation; Civil Penalty 

Amounts. 86 Fed. Reg. 23241 (May 3, 2021). 
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From: Alexander Stefanelli <alex@westovercompanies.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 3, 2021 9:19 AM 
To: Orr, Scott <scoorr@pa.gov>; Smith, Terri <tcsmith@pa.gov> 
Cc: Peter Quercetti <pquercetti@WestoverCompanies.com>; pmetro@verizon.net; Ben Klopp 
<BKlopp@entecheng.com>; Rudy Schmehl <RSchmehl@entecheng.com> 
Subject: [External] PA PUC Meetings 

ATTENTION: This email message is from an external sender. Do not open links or attachments from unknown sources. To 
report suspicious email, forward the message as an attachment to CWOPA_SPAM@pa.gov. 

Scott and Terri, 

After further research, we currently believe that none of our sites are jurisdictional, and we have retained an attorney to 
work with Stephanie to discuss.  Until the matter is resolved all meeting request should be coordinated through 
Stephanie. 

We appreciate your patience as we work through the issues. 

Thanks 
Alex 

Alexander Stefanelli, CFO 
The Westover Companies 
550 American Avenue, Suite 1 
King of Prussia, PA  19406 
 610-337-3994 |  610-337-2206 

Send me a file 
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17 North Second Street      Suite 1410      Harrisburg, PA 17101 

717.703.5900     877.868.0840     717.703.5901 Fax     cozen.com 

November 4, 2021 David P. Zambito 
 

Direct Phone 717-703-5892 
Direct Fax 215-989-4216 
dzambito@cozen.com VIA EMAIL (stwimer@pa.gov) 

Stephanie M. Wimer, Esq. 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission  
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids 
Pipelines Act and Federal Pipeline Safety Laws and Regulations; Bp8CaseID# 
3025977 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies’ 
Response to the July 28, 2021 Letter from the Bureau of Investigation and 
Enforcement 

Dear Senior Prosecutor Wimer: 

This correspondence is in response to your letter dated July 28, 2021 regarding the 
investigation by the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) into whether the Westover 
Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”) is in compliance 
with the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. § 801.101 et seq. (“Act 127”).  You 
indicated that “[t]his investigation focuses on determining which apartment complexes owned or 
managed by Westover meet the definitions of “pipeline operator” and “master meter system” set 
forth in 58 P.S. § 801.102 and 49 CFR § 191.3, respectively, such that compliance with Federal 
pipeline safety laws and regulations, including 49 CFR Part 192, is obligatory.”   

For the reasons set forth below, Westover respectfully submits that its natural gas systems 
are not subject to regulation by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”). 

I. FACTS

Westover owns several apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  In each complex, 
Westover purchases gas at a point in Pennsylvania from a Commission-regulated public utility (a 
natural gas distribution company (“NGDC”)) and distributes it to the tenants in the complex, 
charging them for the gas through a meter or rents in compliance with the requirements of 66 Pa. 
C.S. § 1313 (regarding “Price upon resale of public utility services”).  Westover controls who may
be a tenant through leases.  All of Westover’s gas facilities are located on Westover’s property,
and all of Westover’s natural gas customers rent their apartments from Westover.  To date,
Westover has spent in excess of $70,000 in response to the activities of I&E field inspectors.
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II. WESTOVER’S NATURAL GAS SYSTEMS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO REGULATION BY
THE COMMISSION

As an agency created by the General Assembly, the Commission has only the powers 
given to it by the General Assembly, either explicitly or implicitly.  Feingold v. Bell Tel. Co. of Pa., 
383 A.2d 791 (Pa. 1977).  The question therefore is whether the Commission has authority to 
regulate Westover’s natural gas systems. 

A. The Commission does not have Authority to Regulate Westover’s Natural
Gas Systems Pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 59.33

Commission regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 state that the Commission adopts, as the 
minimum safety standards for all natural gas and hazardous liquid public utilities, the safety 
standards found in 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60503 and 49 CFR Parts 191-193, 195 and 199. 
Westover, however, is not a public utility.  It is not providing natural gas to the public for 
compensation; it is only providing gas to tenants of its properties, whom it selects by contract. 
Drexelbrook Associates v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 418 Pa. 430, 212 A.2d 237 (1965) (holding that 
a landlord was not subject to Commission jurisdiction where the landlord-tenant contractual 
relationship established the only persons who could demand utility service).  Therefore, the 
Commission does not have authority to regulate Westover’s natural gas systems pursuant to this 
regulation. 

B. The Commission does not have Authority to Regulate Westover’s Natural
Gas Systems Pursuant to Act 127

In 2011, the General Assembly enacted Act 127 in response to the growth of Marcellus 
Shale in Pennsylvania.  In pertinent part, Section 501(a) of Act 127, 58 P.S. § 801.501(a), gives 
the Commission the general administrative authority to supervise and regulate “pipeline 
operators” within this Commonwealth who are subject to Federal pipeline safety laws.  The 
General Assembly also empowered the Commission to adopt regulations, consistent with the 
Federal pipeline safety laws, but the Commission -- after a decade -- has not promulgated 
regulations implementing Act 127 or specifically defining its interpretation of the limits of its powers 
under Act 127.1 

Act 127 gives the Commission authority to regulate Westover’s natural gas systems only 
if Westover is a pipeline operator.  A “pipeline operator” is defined as: 

"Pipeline operator."  A person that owns or operates equipment or facilities 
in this Commonwealth for the transportation of gas or hazardous liquids by pipeline 
or pipeline facility regulated under Federal pipeline safety laws.  The term does 
not include a public utility or an ultimate consumer who owns a service line on his 
real property. 

1  Under the Pennsylvania regulatory review process, interested parties would have had an opportunity to provide 
comments on the appropriate implementation of Act 127 and binding norms on all similarly-situated entities could have 
been developed.  Moreover, the Pennsylvania General Assembly would have had an opportunity to review the 
Commission regulations and assess consistency with the legislative intent of Act 127.  See Pa. Regulatory Review Act, 
71 P.S. §§ 745.1 - 745.15; see also Pa. Commonwealth Documents Law, 45 P.S. §§ 1102 - 1208.  Without clear binding 
norms, the risk of selective and discriminatory prosecution is greatly increased. 
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58 P.S. § 801.102 (“Definitions”) (emphasis added).2  The definition of “pipeline” in Act 127 
reiterates that Act 127 only pertains to pipelines regulated by the Federal pipeline safety laws.  

Act 127 defines “Federal pipeline safety laws” as: 

"Federal pipeline safety laws."  The provisions of 49 U.S.C. Ch. 601 
(relating to safety), the Hazardous Liquid Pipeline Safety Act of 1979 (Public Law 
96-129, 93 Stat. 989), the Pipeline Safety Improvement Act of 2002 (Public Law
107-355, 116 Stat. 2985) and the regulations promulgated under the acts.

Id.  

I&E is investigating whether Westover is a “pipeline operator” as defined in Act 127 
because it owns or operates a “master meter system,” which is allegedly regulated under the 
Federal pipeline safety laws.  The Federal pipeline safety laws define a master meter system as: 

… a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited to, a definable area, 
such as a mobile home park, housing project, or apartment complex, where the 
operator purchases metered gas from an outside source for resale through a gas 
distribution pipeline system.  The gas distribution pipeline system supplies the 
ultimate consumer who either purchases the gas directly through a meter or by 
other means, such as by rents[.] 

49 CFR § 191.3 (emphasis added).  An operator, in turn, is defined as “a person who engages in 
the transportation of gas.”  Id.  Finally, the transportation of gas is defined as “the gathering, 
transmission, or distribution of gas by pipeline, or the storage of gas, in or affecting interstate 
or foreign commerce.”  Id. (emphasis added).   

Westover does not gather, transmit or store gas.  Therefore, Westover’s distribution of gas 
by pipeline must be in or must affect interstate or foreign commerce in order for Westover to be 
an operator of a master meter system.  

Westover’s natural gas systems clearly do not distribute gas by pipeline in interstate or 
foreign commerce.  Westover purchases gas in Pennsylvania from an Commission-regulated 
NGDC.  NGDCs are regulated by the Commission rather than by FERC (pursuant to the Hinshaw 
Amendment, 15 U.S.C. § 717(c)).  Consequently, Westover’s purchase of the gas is in intrastate 
commerce because an NGDC is considered to be an intrastate gas pipeline facility pursuant to 
the Federal pipeline safety laws.  49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(9) (defining an “intrastate gas pipeline 
facility” as a gas pipeline facility and gas transportation within a state that is not subject to FERC 
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 717).  Westover transports the gas a short distance and sells it to tenants 
located in Pennsylvania and located on Westover’s property.  From beginning to end, Westover’s 
purchase, transportation, and sale of the gas is entirely intrastate commerce.  Consequently, 
Westover is not an “operator” as defined in the Federal pipeline safety laws, its system is not a 
“master meter system” as defined in the Federal pipeline safety laws, and Westover is not a 
“pipeline operator” as defined in Act 127 because it does not own or operate equipment or facilities 

2  The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has held that, “if the General Assembly defines words that are used in a statute, 
those definitions are binding.”  Pa. Associated Builders & Contractors, Inc. v. Dep’t of Gen. Servs., 932 A.2d 1271, 
1278 (Pa. 2007); see also Lower Swatara Twp. v. Pa. Labor Relations Bd., 208 A.3d 521 (Pa. Cmwlth. No. 1276 C.D. 
2018, filed May 2, 2019). 
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that are regulated under the Federal pipeline safety laws.  The Commission therefore lacks 
authority to regulate Westover pursuant to Act 127. 

There is also no federal jurisdiction over Westover under the negative implications of the 
Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution, also known as the Dormant Commerce 
Clause.  The Natural Gas Act, including 15 U.S.C. § 717, was intended to fill a regulatory gap and 
define the nature of federal jurisdiction over interstate and intrastate commerce.  Pub. Utils. 
Comm’n of State of Cal. v. FERC, 900 F.2d 269, 275 (D.C. Cir. 1990).  This was a reaction to the 
United States Supreme Court’s ad hoc and case-by-case definitions of federal jurisdiction over 
the gas industry under Dormant Commerce Clauses cases.  The field of federal jurisdiction under 
the Natural Gas Act is roughly the same as that determined by the Supreme Court in these 
Dormant Commerce Clause cases; however, the statute intended to make the lines between state 
and federal jurisdiction clearer.  Fed. Power Comm’n v. E. Ohio Gas Co., 338 U.S. 464, 467 
(1950). 

Today, when assessing what constitutes an undue burden on interstate commerce under 
the Dormant Commerce Clause, courts engage in a balancing test and consider “legitimate state 
interests” against any burden on interstate commerce that such state-level regulation imposes. 
See Arkansas Elec. Coop. Corp. v. Arkansas Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 461 U.S. 375 (1983).  Further, 
the Supreme Court has stated that “the regulation of utilities is one of the most important of the 
functions traditionally associated with the police power of the State.”  Id. at 377.  Here, while the 
analysis under the Natural Gas Act already excludes natural gas systems similar to Westover’s 
(as discussed above), any purported balancing test under the Dormant Commerce Clause would 
yield the same result because the tenuous connection to interstate commerce by Westover means 
that any unintended burden on interstate commerce would be minimal.  Because Westover 
engages entirely in intrastate commerce, the Commonwealth has a greater interest than the 
federal government in regulating its purely intrastate commerce, which outweighs the minimal 
effect on interstate commerce even where the Pennsylvania General Assembly has knowingly 
chosen not to regulate. 

The Pennsylvania General Assembly, in enacting Act 127, could have expressly included 
intrastate natural gas systems, such as Westover’s, within the Commission’s enforcement 
jurisdiction – but it did not.3  Instead, the General Assembly limited the Commission’s enforcement 
jurisdiction to pipeline operators who are subject to Federal pipeline safety laws.  Westover is not 
such an entity because federal law does not, under Dormant Commerce Clause jurisprudence, 
extend to Westover’s purely intrastate activity. 

We have reviewed several letters from the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Pipeline 
and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration interpreting the definition of “master meter 
system” in 49 CFR § 191.3.  None of those letters addresses the question of whether the operator 
of the master meter system was engaged in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce.  As a 
result, they are of limited usefulness in addressing Westover’s situation.  In any event, those non-
legal opinion letters merely reflect the agency's current application of the regulations to the 
specific facts presented by the person requesting the clarification; they do not create legally-
enforceable rights or obligations.  They certainly do not constitute precedent binding on the 
Commission or upon Pennsylvania’s appellate courts in interpreting Act 127. 

3  See Feingold, supra (regarding limitations on Commission powers). 
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Finally, construing 49 CFR § 191.3 as applying to landlords such as Westover would 
effectively give the PUC jurisdiction over every landlord in Pennsylvania that operates a natural 
gas master meter system to provide gas to its tenants.  There are hundreds, perhaps thousands 
of such systems.  If the General Assembly intended to effect such a dramatic change in law, by 
giving the Commission authority to regulate these entities in Act 127, it would have said so.  The 
fact that it did not do so reflects the General Assembly’s intent that these entities would not be 
regulated by the Commission. 

III. Conclusion

Westover appreciates the opportunity to address I&E’s concerns about whether
Westover’s natural gas systems are in compliance with Act 127.  In the interest of resolving this 
matter without the need for litigation, I would welcome the opportunity to discuss Westover’s 
position after you have had an opportunity to review this response and conduct your own research 
on what constitutes an “operator” of a master meter system that operates exclusively in intrastate 
commerce. 

Thank you for your consideration of this matter.  Please do not hesitate to contact me with 
any question. 

Sincerely, 

Cozen O'Connor 

David P. Zambito 
Counsel for Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

DPZ:kmg 

cc: Alexander Stefanelli, CFO, Westover Companies 
Peter Quercetti, Vice President Operations Management, Westover Companies 
Richard A. Kanaskie, Esq., Director, I&E 
Michael L. Swindler, Esq., Deputy Chief Prosecutor, I&E 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

& 
ENFORCEMENT 

November 22, 2021 

Via Electronic Mail Only 

David P. Zambito, Esq. 

Cozen O’Connor 

17 North Second Street 

Suite 1410 

Harrisburg, PA 17101 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a 

Westover Companies Relating to Possible Violations of the Gas and 

Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act and Federal Pipeline Safety Laws and 

Regulations  

Bp8CaseID# 3025977  

I&E Letter 

Dear Attorney Zambito, 

The Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) is in receipt of your letter 

dated November 4, 2021, wherein you claim that the natural gas systems of your client, 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

(“Westover”), are not subject to pipeline safety regulation by the Pennsylvania Public 

Utility Commission (“Commission”).  For the reasons set forth herein, I&E disagrees 

with Westover’s position. 

I&E continues to maintain that the pipeline facilities at some, but not all, 

Pennsylvania apartment complexes owned or managed by Westover constitute “master 

meter systems” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 of the federal pipeline safety regulations 

and, consequently, are subject to Commission oversight through the Gas and Hazardous 

Liquids Pipelines Act (“Act 127”), 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq.  Therefore, I&E’s position 

that Westover is a “pipeline operator” as defined in Act 127, Section 801.102 remains 

unchanged.  58 P.S. § 801.102.  I&E has never alleged that Westover is a public utility. 

Your claim that Westover’s transportation of gas by pipeline does not affect 

interstate or foreign commerce and therefore renders Westover not to be subject to the 

federal pipeline safety regulations is incorrect.  The minimum federal pipeline safety 

standards apply broadly to both interstate and intrastate pipelines through the federal 

Pipeline Safety Act, 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60143 (“PSA”).   
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Pursuant to the PSA, States may assume responsibility for regulating intrastate 

pipeline facilities by submitting an annual certification to the Secretary of the U.S. 

Department of Transportation pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105.  A State that has submitted 

a certification under Section 60105(a) of the PSA may adopt additional or more stringent 

safety standards for intrastate pipeline facilities and intrastate pipeline transportation only 

if those standards are compatible with the minimum federal pipeline safety standards.  49 

U.S.C. § 60104.  Pennsylvania, through the Commission’s I&E Safety Division, is 

certified to regulate the safety of intrastate pipelines.  

 

The Pennsylvania General Assembly adopted the federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations, as well as all amendments thereto, as the safety standards for non-public 

utility pipeline operators in Pennsylvania by enacting Act 127.  See 58 P.S. § 801.302.  

Additionally, the Pennsylvania General Assembly authorized the Commission 

to supervise and regulate pipeline operators within Pennsylvania consistent with (but not 

more stringent than) Federal pipeline safety laws.  58 P.S. § 801.501.   

 

As it relates to Westover, the regulation of intrastate master meter systems fits 

squarely within the purview of Section 191.3 of the federal pipeline safety regulations, 49 

C.F.R. § 191.3.  Intrastate gas master meter systems have for decades been subject to 

pipeline safety regulation either through PHMSA or an authorized State.  Since Act 127 

became effective, the Commission has enforced violations of Act 127 on pipeline 

operators operating master meter systems in Pennsylvania.  See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. Brookhaven MHP Management LLC, et al., 

Docket No. C-2017-2613983 (Order entered August 23, 2018). 

 

Westover’s position is contrary to well-established law and the sound policy of the 

PSA, which is to provide adequate protection against risks to life and property posed by 

pipeline transportation and facilities.   

 

I&E has attempted for nearly one-year to amicably work with Westover to aid 

Westover into becoming compliant with the minimum federal pipeline safety standards.  

Westover’s unregulated master meter systems in their current state pose a risk to 

Westover’s residents, employees, and the general public.  Should Westover refuse to 

submit to the Commission’s oversight for pipeline safety purposes, I&E will initiate an 

enforcement action and seek the imposition of civil penalties pursuant to 58 P.S.              

§ 801.502.   
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Please advise by December 13, 2021 whether Westover will submit to the 

Commission’s jurisdiction pursuant to Act 127 and finalize the steps necessary to fully 

comply with the federal pipeline safety regulations.  Should Westover respond in the 

negative and continue to disregard its responsibilities under Act 127, I&E will proceed 

with formal enforcement action and prepare and file a Formal Complaint. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 

Senior Prosecutor, I&E 

 

 

cc: (via email only) 

Michael L. Swindler, Esq., I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor  

 Kayla L. Rost, Esq., I&E Prosecutor  

 Terri C. Cooper Smith, Supervisor – Safety Division 

 Scott Orr, Engineer – Safety Division 
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Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, 
L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

  : 

 
 
 
 

Docket No. C-2022-________ 

 
 

VERIFICATION 
 
 I, Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2, in the Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement’s Safety Division, hereby state that the facts above set forth are true and correct 

to the best of my knowledge, information and belief and that I expect to be able to prove the 

same at a hearing held in this matter.  I understand that the statements herein are made 

subject to the penalties of 18 Pa.C.S. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsification to authorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
Date: January 3, 2022    ________________________________ 

Scott Orr  
Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
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Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, 
L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
:  

 
 
 
 

Docket No. C-2022-________ 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that I have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document 
upon the parties, listed below, in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 
(relating to service by a party). 
 

Service by Electronic Mail:1 
 
David P. Zambito, Esq. 
Jonathan P. Nase, Esq. 
Cozen O’Connor 
17 North Second Street, Suite 1410 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
dzambito@cozen.com 
jnase@cozen.com  
Counsel for Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies  
 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  

 
 
Dated:  January 3, 2022 
 

 

 
1  See Waiver of Regulations Regarding Service Requirements, Docket No. M-2021-3028321 (Order entered 

September 15, 2021) (permitting electronic service by Commission staff on parties).   
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 COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

 
BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATION 
& 

ENFORCEMENT 

February 14, 2022 
 
Via Electronic Filing 
Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building  
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
 

Re: Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v.  
Westover Property Management Company, L.P.  
d/b/a Westover Companies  
Docket No. C-2022-3030251 
I&E Reply to New Matter 

 
Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 
 
 Enclosed for electronic filing please find the Reply of the Bureau of Investigation 
and Enforcement to the New Matter of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies with regard to the above-referenced proceeding.   
 

Copies have been served on the parties of record in accordance with the Certificate 
of Service. 
 
 Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov 

 
SMW/ac 
Enclosures 
 
cc:  Per Certificate of Service 
 Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via email) 
 Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via email)
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Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, 
L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 
 
 

Docket No. C-2022-3030251 

 
 
 
 

REPLY OF THE BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION AND 
ENFORCEMENT TO THE NEW MATTER OF 

WESTOVER PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 
COMPANY, L.P. d/b/a WESTOVER COMPANIES 

 
 
 
 

NOW COMES, the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E” or 

“Complainant”) of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) by and 

through its prosecuting attorneys, and files this Reply to the New Matter of Westover 

Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover,” 

“Company” or “Respondent”), pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 5.63(a).  In support thereof, 

I&E avers as follows: 

46.  Denied.  To the extent that Respondent attempts to incorporate any and all 

assertions made in paragraphs 1-45 as “New Matter,” this is denied.  Pursuant to 52 Pa. 

Code § 5.62(b), affirmative defenses must be set forth under the heading of “New 

Matter.”  New matter is limited to material facts that are not merely denials of the 
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averments of the preceding pleadings.  Id.  Respondent cannot avoid these requirements 

simply by incorporating all paragraphs of their Answer as “New Matter,” and I&E rejects 

this attempt and denies these allegations.   

47.  The averments in Paragraph 47 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.   

48.  Admitted. 

49.  The averments in Paragraph 49 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, when enacting Act 127, the General Assembly expressly adopted 

the Federal pipeline safety laws as implemented in 49 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter I, 

Subchapter D, which includes, in pertinent part, Parts 191 and 192.  58 P.S. § 801.302(a).  

The definition of “master meter system” in Part 191 unambiguously includes an 

“apartment complex, where the operator purchases metered gas from an outside source 

for resale through a gas distribution pipeline system.  The gas distribution pipeline system 

supplies the ultimate consumer who either purchases the gas directly through a meter or 

by other means, such as by rents.”  49 CFR § 191.3.  

50.  Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that I&E alleges that 

Westover is a pipeline operator subject to Commission jurisdiction pursuant to Act 127 

due to Westover’s operation of regulated master meter systems at various apartment 

complexes located in the Commonwealth.  It is denied that Westover does not operate a 

“master meter system” at any of its apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  By way of 

further answer, the Federal pipeline safety laws, as adopted by Act 127, deem the 
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intrastate transportation of gas via pipeline as affecting interstate commerce.  I&E hereby 

incorporates by reference I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s Petition for 

Declaratory Order filed January 3, 2022 at P-2021-3030002, Paragraph 26 of which 

describes, in detail, Congress’ intention to broadly apply the minimum Federal pipeline 

safety standards to intrastate pipelines. 

51. Denied.  Westover fits squarely within the definition of “pipeline operator” 

at 58 P.S. § 801.102.  The Westover pipeline systems that distribute natural gas to tenants 

who purchase the gas either through a metered charge, rent, or some other means, 

constitute “master meter systems” subject to the Federal pipeline safety laws, as adopted 

by Act 127.  By way of further answer, “Frequently Asked Questions” posted on a 

website are not binding and are not law. 

52. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that Westover, as well as 

I&E, are entitled to due process in this proceeding.  It is denied that Westover is being 

punished for failing to concede to I&E’s interpretation of the law.  The law is abundantly 

clear – Act 127 includes the regulation of intrastate master meter systems for pipeline 

safety purposes.  Westover’s continued failure to accept the law rendered prosecution 

necessary.  I&E has a duty to enforce violations of Act 127.  58 P.S. § 801.501(a). 

53. The averments in Paragraph 53(A)-(G) set forth conclusions of law to 

which no response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are 

denied.  By way of further answer, the master meter system at Jamestown Village 

Apartments did in fact experience a natural gas leak, which was reported to the I&E 

Safety Division by PECO Gas and resulted in a natural gas service outage.  Out of sheer 
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fortune, no injuries or fatalities occurred.  The safety of Westover’s master meter systems 

is frankly tenuous as Westover refuses to abide by the Federal pipeline safety regulations.  

Hundreds of tenants are impacted by the potential for serious harm.  Moreover, I&E is 

not required to present evidence of actual injury or harm because unlawful conduct by its 

nature is injurious to the public.  Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement v. Uber Technologies, Inc., et al., Docket No. C-2014-2422723 (Order 

entered September 1, 2016) (citing Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Israel, 52 A.2d 317, 321 

(Pa. 1947) (holding that “[w]hen the Legislature declares certain conduct to be unlawful 

it is tantamount in law to calling it injurious to the public.  For one to continue such 

conduct constitutes irreparable injury.”)  Furthermore, Act 127 and its adoption of the 

Federal pipeline safety regulations, including 49 CFR § 191.3, render it abundantly clear 

that master meter systems in apartment complexes are subject to regulation.  Although 

the Commission has not yet had the opportunity to rule on a case involving a master 

meter system operated in an apartment complex, it has determined that master meter 

systems operated in mobile home parks are jurisdictional.  See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. Brookhaven MHP Management LLC, et al., 

Docket No. C-2017-2613983 (Order entered August 23, 2018).  Westover refuses to 

accept the law and continues to advance unmeritorious claims and contentions in this 

proceeding. 

54. The averments in Paragraph 54 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, Westover is unable to illustrate that I&E’s requested civil penalty 
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of $200,000.00, which is less than 1/10th of the maximum statutory civil penalty that I&E 

is permitted to seek in this matter,1 is grossly disproportional to the gravity of Westover’s 

offenses, the treatment of other offenders subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction, and 

the treatment of the same offenses.  HIKO Energy LLC v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 209 

A.3d 246 (Pa. 2019). 

55. The averments in Paragraph 55 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further response, the enactment of Act 127 afforded fair notice to persons and 

entities of conduct that is required or forbidden.  “Long ago, the Supreme Court decided 

that the protections of procedural due process do not extend to legislative actions,” Rogin 

v. Bensalem Twp., 616 F.2d 680, 693 (3d Cir. 2006) (citing Bi-Metallic Inv. Co. v. State 

Bd. Of Equalization, 239 U.S. 441, 445); South Union Township v. Commonwealth of 

Pa., 839 A.2d 1179 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2003).  “Plaintiffs are constructively noticed and 

present for every legislative act of government through their elected representatives.”  

Common Cause of Pa. v. Pennsylvania, 447, F. Supp. 2d 415, 432 (M.D. Pa. 2006) 

aff'd, 558 F.3d 249 (3d Cir. 2009).   

56. The averments in Paragraph 56 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further response, persons and entities impacted by Act 127 received fair notice 

when the statute was enacted.  Act 127 does not obligate the Commission to issue 

 
1  The maximum civil penalty that I&E is authorized to seek against Westover is $2,251,334.00.  86 Fed. Reg. 

23241 (May 3, 2021). 
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regulations.  “The commission may adopt regulations, consistent with the Federal 

pipeline safety laws, as may be necessary or proper in the exercise of its powers and 

perform its duties under this act.”  58 P.S. § 801.501(a) (emphasis added). 

57. The averments in Paragraph 57 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further response, I&E, as an independent, prosecutory bureau, is without 

sufficient information or knowledge to form a belief regarding the averment in Paragraph 

57 of Respondent’s New Matter that the Commission avoided the regulatory review 

process.  Therefore, it is denied strict proof thereof is demanded. 

58. The averments in Paragraph 58 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, the Natural Gas Act is irrelevant to this proceeding.  Rather, the 

Federal Pipeline Safety Act, 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60143 (“PSA”), as implemented in 49 

CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter I, Subchapter D, and adopted by Act 127 at 58 P.S. § 

801.302(a), is the applicable body of law governing pipeline safety. 

59. The averments in Paragraph 59 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, the Natural Gas Act is irrelevant to this proceeding.  Rather, the 

PSA, 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60143, as implemented in 49 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter I, 

Subchapter D, and adopted by Act 127 at 58 P.S. § 801.302(a), is the applicable body of 

law governing pipeline safety.  In enacting the PSA, Congress determined that the 

transportation of gas by pipeline has a substantial effect on interstate commerce.  Indeed, 
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the legislative history of the PSA demonstrates that Congress intended that all aspects of 

the transportation of gas from the well head to the consumer affects interstate commerce.  

H.R. Rep. No. 90-1390, at 18 (May 15, 1968). 

60. The averments in Paragraph 60 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, the General Assembly expressly included intrastate natural gas 

systems when enacting Act 127.  Indeed, the definition of “pipeline” excludes pipelines 

subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 

which, inter alia, regulates the transportation of natural gas in interstate commerce.  58 

P.S. § 801.102; 15 U.S.C. § 717(b).  The entire purpose of Act 127 is to extend pipeline 

safety regulation and enforcement, consistent with the minimum Federal pipeline safety 

standards, to non-public utility pipelines operating within Pennsylvania.  Moreover, it is 

specifically denied that Westover is not engaged in the “transportation of gas” as defined 

in Federal pipeline safety laws.  See I&E’s Answer to Paragraph 59, supra.   

61. The averments in Paragraph 61 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, the General Assembly expressly adopted the Federal pipeline 

safety laws as implemented in 49 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter I, Subchapter D, which 

includes, “master meter system[s]” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3.  Apartment complexes 

are included in 49 CFR § 191.3 as a type of master meter system that is regulated.  

Moreover, Westover offers no citation to legislative history to support its argument, 

which lack merit. 
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62. Denied.  The I&E Safety Division’s investigation of Westover commenced 

when PECO Gas reported a natural gas leak and subsequent service outage at Westover’s 

Jamestown Village Apartments.  The I&E Safety Division investigated the leak as it does 

for every leak reported to it.  Such investigation revealed the discovery of Westover’s 

master meter systems as well as additional natural gas leaks on the master meter system 

at Jamestown Village Apartments.  For nearly one year, the I&E Safety Division 

attempted to work with Westover to achieve compliance with the Federal pipeline safety 

laws and regulations using methods that did not involve litigation.  However, Westover 

simply refused and continues to refuse to abide by the law, rendering prosecution to be 

necessary.  To the extent that other landlords operate master meter systems as defined in 

49 CFR § 191.3, the I&E Safety Division would similarly investigate and prosecute, if 

warranted, such operators. 

63. Denied.  The averments set forth in Paragraph 63 are denied and strict proof 

thereof is demanded.  It is specifically denied that I&E “field investigators” are uncertain 

as to Westover’s jurisdictional status. 

64. The averments in Paragraph 64 set forth conclusions of law to which no 

response is required.  To the extent a response is required, the averments are denied.  By 

way of further answer, any inference that the instant matter constitutes a discriminatory 

prosecution is specifically denied. 
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WHEREFORE, for all the foregoing reasons, the Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission respectfully requests that, 

after consideration of the record, the Office of Administrative Law Judge and the 

Commission deny Westover’s New Matter and request to dismiss the Complaint and find 

Westover in violation of each and every count as set forth in the Complaint.   

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 43319 

 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  
 

Date:   February 14, 2022 
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VERIFICATION 
 
 I, Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2, in the Bureau of Investigation 

and Enforcement’s Safety Division, hereby state that the facts above set forth are true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief and that I expect to be able to 

prove the same at a hearing held in this matter.  I understand that the statements herein 

are made subject to the penalties of 18 Pa.C.S. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsification to 

authorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
Date: February 14, 2022    ________________________________ 

Scott Orr  
Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
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: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
:  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that I have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document 
upon the parties, listed below, in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 
(relating to service by a party). 
 

Service by Electronic Mail:1 
 
David P. Zambito, Esq. 
Jonathan P. Nase, Esq. 
Cozen O’Connor 
17 North Second Street, Suite 1410 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
dzambito@cozen.com 
jnase@cozen.com  
Counsel for Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies  
 
        

 
_________________________________ 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  

 
Dated:  February 14, 2022 

 
1  See Waiver of Regulations Regarding Service Requirements, Docket No. M-2021-3028321 (Order entered 

September 15, 2021) (permitting electronic service by Commission staff on parties).   
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 COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

 
BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATION 
& 

ENFORCEMENT 

 
June 6, 2022 

 
Via Electronic Filing 
Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA  17120 
 

Re: Petition of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies for a Declaratory Order Regarding the Applicability of the Gas and 
Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act 

 Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 I&E Answer in Opposition to Amended Petition 
 

Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 
 
 Enclosed for electronic filing please find the non-proprietary version of the Bureau of 
Investigation and Enforcement’s (“I&E”) Answer in Opposition to the Amended Petition for 
Declaratory Order of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies (“Westover”) with regard to the above-referenced proceeding.  The proprietary 
version was submitted to the Secreatary Bureau’s Sharefile.  I&E continues to respectfully 
request that the Commission rule on this matter expeditiously for the public safety 
concerns expressed herein, which include another natural gas leak that was discovered on 
May 9, 2022 on a Westover master meter system in Lansdowne, Pennsylvania, resulting in 
a subsequent outage of natural gas service. 
 

Copies are being served on the parties of record in accordance with the attached  
Certificate of Service.  Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov 

SMW/ac 
Enclosures 
 
 
cc: Michael L. Swindler, Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via email) 
 Kayla L. Rost, Prosecutor (via email) 
 As per Certificate of Service 
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BEFORE THE  
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
 

Petition of Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
for a Declaratory Order Regarding the 
Applicability of the Gas and Hazardous 
Liquids Pipeline Act  

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 

Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 

 
 
 

ANSWER OF THE BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION AND ENFORCEMENT  
IN OPPOSITION TO THE AMENDED PETITION FOR DECLARATORY ORDER 

OF WESTOVER PROPERTY MANAGEMENT COMPANY, L.P.  
d/b/a WESTOVER COMPANIES 

 
Pursuant to Section 5.65(a) of the Commission’s regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 5.65(a), 

the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) of the Pennsylvania Public Utility 

Commission (“Commission”), by and through its prosecuting attorneys, files this Answer in 

Opposition to the Amended Petition for Declaratory Order (“Amended Petition”) of 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover” or 

“Company”) and requests that the Commission deny the Company’s Amended Petition, 

deem Westover to be a pipeline operator subject to the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines 

Act, 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq. (“Act 127”), and direct Westover to immediately comply 

with all applicable laws and regulations related to pipeline safety.1   

In the alternative, if the Commission determines that there are outstanding issues of 

fact, I&E requests that those factual issues be deferred to the pending Complaint proceeding 

at Docket No. C-2022-3030251, and that the Commission only resolve the following general 

legal question pertaining to the applicability of Act 127 to master meter systems at apartment 

 
1  Westover initially filed the Amended Petition on May 11, 2022 without serving the Amended Petition on the 

Office of Consumer Advocate and Office of Small Business Advocate pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 5.42(b).  
Westover re-filed the Amended Petition on May 16, 2022 and therefore I&E’s Answer in Opposition is timely 
filed. 

Page 301 of 628



2 

complexes: Does Act 127 include intrastate natural gas master meter systems operated at 

apartment complexes in Pennsylvania where the landlord purchases metered gas from an 

outside source for resale through a gas distribution pipeline system, and then supplies the gas 

to the ultimate consumer who purchases the gas through non-metered means, such as by 

rent?  For the reasons set forth herein, I&E avers that the answer is “yes.” 

Pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 1.33, I&E hereby incorporates by reference its Answer in 

Opposition dated January 3, 2022, which was submitted in response to Westover’s original 

Petition for Declaratory Order.  

I. REQUEST FOR EXPEDITED RULING 

Since the time that I&E filed its Answer in Opposition to Westover’s original Petition 

for Declaratory Order, a Westover apartment complex operating a master meter system that 

I&E alleges is jurisdictional experienced a natural gas leak.  On May 9, 2022, a resident at 

Westover’s Hillcrest Apartments in Lansdowne, PA reported the smell of natural gas to 

PECO Gas.  At 4:30 am on that same day, PECO Gas discovered a gas leak on a fuel line “up 

and around” an apartment complex wall.  After Westover shut off its master meter, the odor 

dissipated, and the area was made safe.  PECO Gas did not restore natural gas to the 

apartment complex until Westover demonstrated that it retained operator qualified repair 

persons to fix the leak.   

Pipeline Safety Inspectors from the I&E Safety Division who inspected the leak and 

resulting outage observed significant, active corrosion on the metallic risers at the soil-to-air 

interface.  The corrosion exists on numerous service risers throughout the complex.  A 

pipeline operator who submits to the Commission’s jurisdiction would be required to address 
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this corrosion pursuant to Subpart I of Part 192.  Westover acknowledges that a leak occurred 

on its system by letter dated May 23, 2022 and addressed to I&E.  See I&E Exhibit 1. 

Currently, Westover does not follow the requisite Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations in its operation of jurisdictional master meter systems at numerous apartment 

complexes, including the Hillcrest Apartments, in central and eastern Pennsylvania.  An 

immediate threat to public safety exists with each and every day that Westover fails to 

submit to the Commission’s jurisdiction and implement the pertinent pipeline safety rules.  

Additionally, I&E Pipeline Safety Inspectors who have attempted to inspect other 

apartment complexes operating master meter systems have been informed by the landlords 

that such systems are not jurisdictional pursuant to the arguments raised by Westover in this 

matter.  In other words, absent a ruling from the Commission, certain apartment complexes 

in Pennsylvania are refusing to cooperate with I&E and adhere to the requisite pipeline safety 

standards.  Accordingly, for these reasons and in the interests of public safety, I&E 

respectfully requests an expedited ruling from the Commission. 

II.  LEGAL STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO DECLARATORY ORDERS 
 

 Section 331(f) of the Public Utility Code (“Code”) authorizes the Commission to 

“issue a declaratory order to terminate a controversy or remove uncertainty.”2  Under Section 

331(f), the issuance of a declaratory order is subject to the Commission’s discretion.3    

 Pennsylvania Courts have determined that Commission orders disposing of 

controversy or uncertainty through such petitions are adjudications, and when final, result in 

 
2  66 Pa.C.S. § 331(f); see also 52 Pa. Code § 5.42(a).   
3  66 Pa.C.S. § 331(f).    
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binding orders like any other Commission order.4  Thus, the Commission may use its 

discretion to grant or deny such petitions to achieve finality on a controversy or uncertainty 

concerning existing rights, status, or legal relations.5  Moreover, the Commission has 

determined that a declaratory order should be issued only when there is no outstanding issue 

of fact.6   

 Westover, as the proponent of a rule or order, has the burden of proof.7  Such a 

showing must be by a preponderance of the evidence.8  Additionally, the Commission’s 

decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record.  More than a mere trace of 

evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact ought to be established.9   

 With respect to the instant matter, I&E requests that the Commission utilize its 

discretion to issue a Declaratory Order to provide certainty to the following narrow legal 

question: Does Act 127 include intrastate natural gas master meter systems operated at 

apartment complexes in Pennsylvania where the landlord purchases metered gas from an 

outside source for resale through a gas distribution pipeline system, who then supplies the 

gas to the ultimate consumer who purchases the gas through non-metered means, such as by 

rent?  To the extent that the Commission deems that there are outstanding issues of fact 

concerning the specific pipeline configurations at the various Westover apartment complexes 

 
4  Professional Paramedical Services, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 525 A.2d 1274, 1276 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1987).   
5  Pennsylvania Indep. Petroleum Producers v. Dep’t of Envtl. Res., 525 A.2d 829 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1987), aff'd, 550 

A.2d 195 (Pa. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1096 (1989). 
6  Petition of the Pennsylvania State University for Declaratory Order Concerning the Generation Rate Cap of the 

West Penn Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power; Petition of the West Penn Power Company d/b/a Allegheny 
Power for Approval of its Retail Electric Default Service Program and Competitive Procurement Plan for 
Service at the Conclusion of the Restructuring Transition Period for Tariff 37 Providing Service to the 
Pennsylvania State University, Docket Nos. P-2007-2001828 and P-2008-2021608 (Order entered September 
11, 2008).     

7  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).   
8  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990).   
9  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 413 A.2d 1037 (Pa. 1980). 
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discussed in its Amended Petition, I&E requests that those factual matters be reserved for the 

pending Complaint proceeding at Docket No. C-2022-3030251. 

III.  ANSWER  

As further support to deny this Amended Petition, I&E offers the following responses 

in enumerated fashion: 

1. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that Westover filed an 

original Petition for Declaratory Order on December 13, 2021 that was prompted by an I&E 

Safety Division investigation determining that Westover is a pipeline operator that must 

comply with Act 127, including the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  The 

remaining averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required.  To the 

extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  It is specifically denied that 

Westover does not operate “master meter systems” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3. 

2. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that Westover’s original 

Petition for Declaratory Order sought the relief articulated in Paragraph 2.  It is denied that 

the relief sought by Westover is lawful and appropriate. 

3. Admitted. 

4. Admitted. 

5. Admitted. 

6. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that a controversy has been 

created by Westover’s refusal to comply with the Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations as adopted by Act 127, which unambiguously include the regulation of master 

meter systems that are present at Westover apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  It is 

denied that the applicability of the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations to Westover’s 
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master meter systems is uncertain.  Nevertheless, the Commission should entertain the 

Amended Petition by addressing the following legal question: Does Act 127 include 

intrastate natural gas master meter systems operated at apartment complexes in Pennsylvania 

where the landlord purchases metered gas from an outside source for resale through a gas 

distribution pipeline system, who then supplies the gas to the ultimate consumer who 

purchases the gas through non-metered means, such as by rent?  Any outstanding issues of 

fact should be entertained in the pending Complaint proceeding at Docket No. C-2022-

3030251.    

7. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that Westover purchases 

natural gas from a natural gas distribution company (“NGDC”) and distributes the gas to 

Westover tenants through pipeline facilities operated by Westover, and that Westover tenants 

purchase the gas.  The remainder of the averments are denied.  It is specifically denied that 

Paragraph 5 of Westover’s original Petition for Declaratory Order contained the averment set 

forth in Paragraph 7 of Westover’s Amended Petition.  Such averment was set forth in 

Paragraph 1 of the original Petition.   

8. Denied.  It is denied that Westover’s master meter systems are not subject to 

pipeline safety regulation overseen by the Commission as authorized by Act 127.  I&E is 

without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the remainder of the 

averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is demanded 

in the Complaint proceeding. 

9. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  

10. Admitted upon information and belief. 
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11. Admitted upon information and belief. 

12. Admitted.  By way of further answer, I&E is also responsible for enforcing 

compliance with other laws and regulations not referenced in this Paragraph that are subject 

to the Commission’s jurisdiction, such as Act 127. 

13. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  

14. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  

15. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

response, I&E never alleged that Westover is subject to Commission regulation pursuant to 

52 Pa. Code § 59.33. 

16. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, the Commission was not required to promulgate regulations when implementing Act 

127.  Act 127 expressly states that “[t]he [C]omission may adopt regulations, consistent with 

the Federal pipeline safety laws, as may be necessary or proper in the exercise of its powers 

and perform its duties under this act.”10  It is specifically denied that selective and 

discriminatory prosecution is increased absent regulations implementing Act 127.  It is also 

denied that binding norms do not exist; Act 127 clearly and unambiguously provides the 

applicable binding norms. 

 
10  58 P.S. § 801.501(a) (emphasis added).   
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17. Admitted in part and denied in part.  The first averment states a conclusion of 

law to which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is 

denied.  By way of further answer, the Pennsylvania General Assembly included intrastate 

natural gas systems, such as Westover’s, within the Commission’s enforcement jurisdiction 

by adopting the Federal pipeline safety laws at 58 P.S. § 801.302 and granting the 

Commission the authority to enforce the same pipeline safety laws at 58 P.S. § 

801.501(a)(7).  It is admitted that landlords distributing natural gas for purchase to tenants 

can be construed to be master meter systems subject to Federal pipeline safety laws.  It is 

denied that the General Assembly did not intend to regulate these entities under Act 127 and 

Westover presents no legislative history to illustrate that the General Assembly omitted 

master meter systems at apartment complexes from being subject to the Federal pipeline 

safety standards.  The remaining averments set forth in this Paragraph are denied. 

18. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

response, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is 

denied.   

19. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that I&E asserts that 

Westover is a pipeline operator as defined in Act 127 because it operates numerous master 

meter systems throughout its various apartment complexes in Pennsylvania that fit within the 

definition of “master meter system” at 49 CFR § 191.3.  The remainder of the averments 

state a conclusion of law to which no response is required.  To the extent that a response is 

deemed to be required, they are denied. 
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20. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

response, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is 

denied. 

21. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

response, 49 CFR § 191.3 speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof 

is denied. 

22. Denied.  The averments in (a) through (d) state aa conclusion of law to which 

no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, they are denied.   

23. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding. 

24. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in (a) through (d) in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and 

proof thereof is demanded in the Complaint proceeding.  The averments also state a 

conclusion of law to which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be 

required, they are denied.   

25. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

26. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 
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demanded in the Complaint proceeding.  The averment also states a conclusion of law to 

which no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is 

denied.   

27. Denied.  Tenants consume gas from the central boiler for heating purposes and 

tenants purchase this gas through rent paid to Westover.  I&E Exhibit 2 and I&E Exhibit 3 

contain lease agreements for Lansdale Apartments and Concord Court, respectively.  Section 

II in each of these lease agreements states that the “[u]tility service provider will bill Owner 

and then the resident portion will be allocated based on the square footage of your unit and\or 

square footage of your unit and the number of persons residing in your unit.”  With regard to 

Black Hawk Apartments, Westover’s Appendix 5 of the Amended Petition provides that 

natural gas is included in the rental charge.  Therefore, the tenants at Lansdale Apartments, 

Concord Court, and Black Hawk Apartments are the ultimate consumers of the gas who 

purchase the gas from Westover through rent. 

28. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, the instant matter is distinguishable from Bryant College and the college-owed gas 

system in Houston, which are described in Westover’s Appendices 6-7, respectively.  The 

U.S. Department of Transportation’s Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 

Administration (“PHMSA”) found in both instances that the colleges were the ultimate 

consumers of the gas; the facts did not illustrate that gas was supplied to consumers such as 

concessionaires and tenants who purchased the gas.  Here, however, the ultimate consumers 

of the gas are Westover’s tenants who purchase the gas through rent.  See I&E response to 

Paragraph 27, supra.  Indeed, PHMSA has found that even in the case of subsidized housing, 
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tenants who pay rent for the privilege of occupying a housing unit and receiving utilities, 

including gas, are deemed to be the ultimate consumers.  “The fact that they are not billed for 

the gas and that there are subsidies for utility costs from the government under Department 

of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) programs are not relevant to the determination 

that AHA’s gas distribution system is subject to the pipeline safety regulations.”11   

29. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.   

30. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that the Commission should 

find PHMSA letters of interpretation to be persuasive.  It is denied that the letters are 

persuasive for the reasons articulated by Westover.  Westover tenants purchase gas from 

Westover through rent.  See I&E response to Paragraph 27, supra.  The gas is supplied to the 

tenants through Westover’s pipeline facilities.  For these simple reasons, Westover operates 

master meter systems at Lansdale Apartments, Concord Court, and Black Hawk Apartments. 

31. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  It is also 

specifically denied that Westover consumes the gas.  The tenants are the ultimate consumers 

of the gas. 

32. Denied.  The averments in (a) through (c) state a conclusion of law to which 

no response is required.  By way of further response, Westover failed to provide this 

Commission with the lease agreements at Lansdale Village and Concord Court 

demonstrating that tenants purchase the gas through rent.  Westover also failed to note that 

 
11  PHMSA Letter of Interpretation to Montana Public Service Commission, PI-01-0113 (June 25, 2001); I&E 

Exhibit 4. 
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Westover’s Appendix 5 clearly indicates that gas is included in rent at Black Hawk 

Apartments.  Westover’s factual assertions raised herein should be regarded with skepticism 

and any factual disputes should be resolved in the Complaint proceeding.  In short, I&E has 

shown that Westover tenants at Lansdale Apartments, Concord Court, and Black Hawk 

Apartments purchase the gas through rent and, therefore, are the ultimate consumers of the 

gas.  

33. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.  By way of further answer, PHMSA has found that 

gas used for consumers’ appliances is sufficient for the system to be deemed a master meter 

system.  “Assuming that the gas is transferred to the tenants of the individual units for use in 

the tenants’ appliances, the system has the necessary characteristics and is, therefore, a 

master meter system subject to the regulations.”12   

34. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, the definition of master meter system, including the language that Westover quotes 

in this Paragraph, is set forth in a regulation and not a statute.  Additionally, PHMSA has 

determined that interior piping may be subject to federal regulation if the operator, and not 

the customer, owns and distributes gas in the piping.13   

 
12  PHMSA Letter of Interpretation to Public Service Commission of Utah, PI-73-0112 (June 18, 1973); I&E 

Exhibit 5. 
13  See Westover Appendix 8.  See also PHMSA Letter of Interpretation to Minnesota Department of Public Safety, 

PI-16-0012 (December 6, 2016); I&E Exhibit 6. 
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35. Admitted in part and denied in part.  It is admitted that PHMSA letters of 

interpretation are fact specific and non-binding.  It is denied that PHMSA’s letters of 

interpretation are not persuasive in this situation.  Depending on the facts and circumstances 

of the system, interior piping may be included as part of a regulated master meter system.  

Therefore, if the interior piping at Woodland Plaza, Country Manor, Norriton East, and Paoli 

Place (Paoli South) Apartments is owned and used by Westover to distribute and/or transfer 

gas to the tenants, then such piping is subject to regulation.  See I&E Exhibit 6. 

36. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.   

37. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.    By way of further 

answer, “[t]ransporting gas” is defined in the Pipeline Safety Act (“PSA”), in pertinent part, 

as “the gathering, transmission, or distribution of gas by pipeline, or the storage of gas, in 

interstate or foreign commerce.”14  The PSA defines “interstate or foreign commerce,” in 

pertinent part, as:   

(A) related to gas, means commerce - -  

(i) between a place in a State and a place outside that State; or  

(ii) that affects any commerce described in subclause (A)(i) of this  

clause.”   

 
14  49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(21).   
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49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(8)(A)(i)-(ii).  Congress has determined that the intrastate transportation 

of gas by pipeline substantially affects interstate commerce.  Congress reported as follows 

when defining the transportation of gas covered under the PSA: 

The term “transportation of gas” is defined as the gathering, transmission 
or distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate 
or foreign commerce.  With exception as to gathering in certain 
circumstances, this means all aspects of the transportation of gas from 
the well head to the consumer.  As testified by Secretary Boyd: 
 

‘There is no question but what every element of a gas 
gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving 
gas which is either in or affects interstate commerce. * * 
*  (p. 35).   
 
I don’t think that it even requires any elasticity of the 
commerce clause of the Constitution to define 99 44/100 
percent of this activity as being clearly within the 
commerce clause.  (p. 36).’ 

 
H.R. Rep. No. 90-1390, at 18 (May 15, 1968).15  PHMSA has likewise determined that even 

though the transportation of gas may entirely be within one State, every element of a gas 

gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving gas that is either in or affects 

interstate commerce.16  Such transportation of gas includes the distribution of gas within an 

apartment complex and when used for cooking appliances.17  See also I&E Exhibit 5.   

38. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to what Westover’s research entailed and the averment is therefore denied.  It is also 

 
15  The House Report is appended to I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s original Petition for Declaratory 

Order as I&E Attachment B. 
16  PHMSA Letter of Interpretation to Florida Public Service Commission, PI-71-036 (March 16, 1971).  The 

Letter of Interpretation is appended to I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s original Petition for 
Declaratory Order as I&E Attachment C. 

17  PHMSA Letter of Interpretation to Bose McKinney & Evans LLP, PI-11-0014 (March 27, 2012) and (August 
27, 2012).  This Letter of Interpretation is appended to I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s original 
Petition for Declaratory Order as I&E Attachment D. 
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denied that there is any ambiguity regarding whether master meter systems affect interstate 

or foreign commerce.  If master meter systems did not affect interstate or foreign commerce, 

then they would not be included in the Federal pipeline safety regulations and the above-

cited PHMSA letters of interpretation would have found each and every master meter system 

not to be subject to pipeline safety regulation. 

39.  Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.18 

40. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra. 

41. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

42. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, PHMSA has determined that interior piping may be subject to federal regulation if 

the operator, and not the customer, owns and distributes gas in the piping.  See I&E’s 

response to Paragraph 34, supra.  Additionally, every element of gas moving in a distribution 

line, which encompasses master meter systems, substantially affects interstate or foreign 

 
18  I&E assumes that Westover intended to describe the transportation of gas as the gathering (instead of 

“fathering”), transmission, or distribution of gas by pipeline in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce. 
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commerce.  The amount of gas consumed is not examined and Westover fails to provide any 

legal authority to support this notion. 

43. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra. 

44. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra. 

45. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

46. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 33, 37, 38, and 42, supra.  

Additionally, the definition of “master meter system” at 49 CFR § 191.3 contemplates that 

gas is distributed within a definable area such as an apartment complex. 

47. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

48. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   
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49. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

50. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 33, 37, 38, and 42, supra.  

Additionally, the definition of “master meter system” at 49 CFR § 191.3 contemplates that 

gas is distributed within a definable area such as an apartment complex. 

51. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

52. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

53. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

54. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 33, 37, 38, and 42, supra.  

Additionally, the definition of “master meter system” at 49 CFR § 191.3 contemplates that 

gas is distributed within a definable area such as an apartment complex. 
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55. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

56. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

57. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

58. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 33, 37, 38, and 42, supra.  

Additionally, the definition of “master meter system” at 49 CFR § 191.3 contemplates that 

gas is distributed within a definable area such as an apartment complex. 

59. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

60. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 37 and 38, supra.   

61. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.   
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62. Denied.  The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is 

required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  By way of further 

answer, Congress determined that the transportation of gas substantially affects interstate or 

foreign commerce and regulates it through the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  

See I&E’s response to Paragraph 37, supra.  The Pennsylvania General Assembly adopted 

the same Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.19   

63. Admitted upon information and belief.  By way of further answer, I&E 

attempted to elicit compliance from Westover concerning Act 127 and the Federal pipeline 

safety regulations prior to initiating an enforcement action at C-2022-3030251.  However, it 

became apparent to I&E that such enforcement action was necessary as Westover continues 

to fail to adhere to Act 127 and the Federal pipeline safety regulations, and continues to 

challenge their applicability to apartment complexes despite the plain language of 49 CFR § 

191.3. 

64. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.  By way of further answer, Act 127 registration 

requires the reporting of pipeline mileage per county.  I&E is unable to determine from 

Westover’s Act 127 registration the specific apartment complexes that pertain to the reported 

pipeline mileage, which was reported on a per county basis. 

 
19  58 P.S. § 801.302. 
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65. Denied.  I&E specifically denies that the apartment complexes referenced in 

Paragraph 65 do not constitute master meter systems, and I&E incorporates its responses to 

Paragraphs 23-60, supra.    

66. Denied.  I&E is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the averments in this Paragraph and the same are therefore denied and proof thereof is 

demanded in the Complaint proceeding.   

67. Denied.  The averments in (a) through (c) state a conclusion of law to which 

no response is required.  To the extent a response is deemed to be required, they are denied.  

By way of further answer, I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 33, 37, 38, and 42, 

supra.  Additionally, the definition of “master meter system” at 49 CFR § 191.3 

contemplates that gas is distributed within a definable area such as an apartment complex. 

68. Denied.  I&E specifically denies that Westover does not operate master meter 

systems at its apartment complexes.  I&E incorporates its responses to Paragraphs 23-67, 

supra.    

WHEREFORE, based upon the reasons stated above, the Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission respectfully requests that the 

Commission expeditiously deny the Amended Petition for Declaratory Order of the 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies, deem Westover 

to be a pipeline operator subject to the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. §§ 

801.101, et seq., and direct Westover to immediately comply with all applicable laws and 

regulations related to pipeline safety.  In the alternative, should the Commission determine 

that there are outstanding issues of fact, the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

respectfully requests that those facts be referred to the pending Complaint proceeding at 
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Docket No. C-2022-3030251 and that the Commission entertain the legal question of the 

applicability of Act 127 to landlords operating master meter systems in Pennsylvania. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522  
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 

 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 43319 

 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  
 
Dated:  June 6, 2022 

Page 321 of 628

mailto:stwimer@pa.gov
mailto:stwimer@pa.gov


BEFORE THE  
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
 

Petition of Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
for a Declaratory Order Regarding the 
Applicability of the Gas and Hazardous 
Liquids Pipeline Act  

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 

Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 

 
 
 

VERIFICATION 
 
 I, Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2, in the Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement’s Safety Division, hereby state that the facts above set forth are true and correct 

to the best of my knowledge, information and belief and that I expect to be able to prove the 

same at a hearing held in this matter.  I understand that the statements herein are made 

subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsification to authorities. 

 
 
 
 
        
Date: June 6, 2022     ________________________________ 

Scott Orr  
Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 2 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
 

 
 

Page 322 of 628



I&E 
Exhibit 1 

Page 323 of 628



One Liberty Place     1650 Market Street     Suite 2800     Philadelphia, PA 19103 

215.665.2000     800.523.2900     215.665.2013 Fax     cozen.com 

May 23, 2022 David P. Zambito 
 

Direct Phone 717-703-5892 
Direct Fax 215-989-4216 
dzambito@cozen.com VIA E-MAIL 

 

Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 
Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

Incident at Hillcrest Apartments 

Dear Ms. Wimer: 

On May 9, 2022, Westover Property Management Company, L.P., d/b/a Westover 
Companies (“Westover”) became aware of a natural gas leak at the Hillcrest Apartments.  The 
leak was located on the rear side of Building C, facing Building G.  The resident reported the leak 
to PECO Energy Company.  The leak caused an outage of natural gas service. 

The leak was caused by deteriorated galvanized piping.  A contractor repaired the leak by 
cutting back to the plastic gas piping and removing all the deteriorated piping.  The Contractor 
also installed a repair coupling and 10’ of new plastic pipe with a new valve.  The repaired line 
was tested to 100 pounds of pressure.  Gas was then restored and the complex was purged.  A 
leak survey was subsequently performed, and the system passed.   

Please contact me if you have any questions or concerns. 

Respectfully, 

Cozen O'Connor 

David P. Zambito 
Counsel for Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

DPZ:kmg 
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Stephanie M. Wimer 
May 23, 2022 
Page 2 
 ______________________________________ 

LEGAL\55257484\1 

cc: Alexander Stefanelli 
Peter Quercetti 
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PI-01-0113 

June 25, 2001 

Mr. G. Joel Tierney 

Utilities Engineer 

Montana Public Service Commission 

1701 Prospect Avenue 

Helena, MT 59620-2601 

Dear Mr. Tierney: 

This is in response to your letter of May 31, 2001, requesting an 
interpretation of the definition of Master Meter System as it applies 
to the Anaconda Housing Authority (AHA). 

AHA claims that its pipeline system, which serves multifamily 
public housing, does not meet the definition of Master Meter 
System at 49 CFR § 191.3 because: 

1. AHA does not resell the natural gas. Rather, it pays the
utilities itself and does not pass the cost on to the tenants.

2. AHA meets the definition for the test of "Total Tenant Rent"
in 24 CFR § 913.107 because it does not pass on the cost of
utilities to its tenants.

3. AHA receives a subsidy for utilities from the Federal
government and does not bill or receive payment from the
tenants for utilities.

We disagree. The gas distribution lines downstream from the 
master meter are a Master Meter System that is subject to the 
federal gas pipeline safety regulations in 49 CFR Parts 191 and 
192. 

I&E Exhibit 4 
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The AHA system meets the requirements for classification as a 
Master Meter System as defined in the pipeline safety regulations 
at 49 CFR § 191.3: 

"a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited 
to, a definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing 
project, or apartment complex, where the operator purchases 
metered gas from an outside source for resale through a gas 
distribution pipeline system. The gas distribution pipeline 
system supplies the ultimate consumer who either purchases 
the gas directly through a meter or by other means, such as by 
rents." 

For purposes of determining whether the AHA gas distribution 
pipeline facilities are subject to regulation under 49 CFR Parts 191 
and 192, we need only determine that the facilities are pipeline 
facilities and that the gas is being delivered to tenants who either 
pay a gas bill directly or do so indirectly through rents. 

There is no contention that the AHA facilities are not a pipeline 
facility. In this case, only the interior piping within the buildings, 
beyond the first penetration of each building wall is non-
jurisdictional. And, the tenants are clearly paying a rent for the 
privilege of occupying a housing unit and receiving utilities, 
including gas. The fact that they are not billed for the gas and that 
there are subsidies for utility costs from the government under 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) programs 
are not relevant to the determination that AHA's gas distribution 
system is subject to the pipeline safety regulations. 

Therefore, the AHA gas distribution system is a Master Meter 
System and is subject to the pipeline safety regulations at 49 CFR 
Parts 191 and 192. 

If you need further assistance, please call me at (202) 366-4565. 

  

Sincerely yours, 
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Richard D. Huriaux, P.E. 

Manager, Regulations 

Office of Pipeline Safety 

  

 

Montana Public Service Commission 

1701 Prospect Avenue 

PO Box 202601 

Helena, MT 59620-2601 

  

May 31, 2001 

  

Ms. Stacey Gerard 

Associate Administrator 

Research and Special Programs Administration 

US Dept. of Transportation, Office of Pipeline Safety 

Room 7128 

400 Seventh St. SW 

Washington, DC 20590 

  

Dear Stacey: 
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Enclosed for your interpretation is a letter from the Anaconda 
Housing Authority in which Montana has identified as a Master 
Meter Operator under Title 49, CFR, Parts 191 and 192. 

We feel that housing authorities fit the definition of a master 
meter; however, we may be interpreting the definition wrong. 

If you have any questions, please contact me at 406-444-6181. 

  

Sincerely, 

  

Montana Public service Commission 

G. Joel Tierney 

Utilities Engineer 

Utility Division 

  

 

Knight, Dahood, McLean & Everett 

Post Office Box 727 

113 East Third Street 

Anaconda, Montana 59711 

  

February 14, 23001 

  

Dennis Crawford 

Program Manager 

Utility Division 
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Montana Public Service Commission 

1701 Prospect Avenue 

P. 0. Box 202601 

Helena, Montana 59620-2601 

  

Re: Anaconda Housing Authority 

  

Dear Mr. Crawford: 

  

Our law firm represents the Anaconda Housing Authority. Recently 
we have been consulted in connection with the Montana Public 
Service Commission's request that the Anaconda Housing Authority 
comply with the Federal Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act. 
Apparently the Montana Public Service Commission believes that 
the Anaconda Housing Authority meets the definition of Master 
Meter System requiring compliance. 

The Master Meter System is defined at 49 CFR Part 191: 

Means pipeline systems for distributing gas within, but not 
limited to, definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing 
project, or apartment complex, where the operator purchases 
metered gas from an outside source for resale through a gas 
distribution pipeline system. The gas distribution pipeline 
system supplies the ultimate consumer who either purchases 
the gas directly through a meter or by other means such as by 
rent. 

The Anaconda Housing Authority does not meet the definition of a 
Master Meter System for the following reasons: 

1. The Anaconda Housing Authority does not resell the natural 
gas. The Housing Authority pays 100% of all tenants' 

I&E Exhibit 4 
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utilities including their gas, electric and water. The cost is 
never passed on to or paid by the tenant. 

2. The Anaconda Housing Authority meets the definition for the 
test of "Total Tenant Rent" set forth in 24 CFR 913.107 
because the Authority does not pass on the cost of utilities 
to its tenants. 

3. The Anaconda Housing Authority is subsidized 100% for 
utility usage. That subsidy comes from the Federal 
Government. The tenant never receives a bill or makes 
payment for the utilities. 

Because the Anaconda Housing Authority does not meet the 
definition of operating a Master Meter System set forth in 49 CFR 
Part 191, the Anaconda Housing Authority is exempt from 
compliance with the Federal Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act. 

I trust that this answers your questions. If I can be of further 
assistance, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

  

Sincerely, 

  

BERNARD J. "BEN" EVERETT 
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PI-73-0112 

June 18, 1973 

Mr. Wayne L. Carlson 

Department of Business Regulation 

Public Service Commission of Utah 

336 East Fourth South Street 

Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 

Dear Mr. Carlson: 

This is in further response to your letter of April 9, 1973, asking, in 
the case of a small distributor of gas from a master meter, whether 
the lines from the meter to the actual separate residence units are 
subject to the regulations of Part 192. Your letter then described 
three "master meter" situations for which you asked clarification. 

On December 18, 1970, the Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS) issued 
to the Chairman of each State agency having jurisdiction over gas 
pipeline safety a letter concerning master meter systems. A copy 
of that letter is enclosed. In part, that letter specifically discussed 
municipal housing complexes and mobile home parks that are 
supplied gas through a master meter and, in turn distribute gas by 
their own mains and services to the tenants. It was there 
explained that the mains and service lines downstream if the 
master meter are considered to be a distribution system subject to 
the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act, and that the housing authority 
or the mobile home park landlord is an operator within the 
meaning of Part 192. 
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The discussion of master meter systems in our letter of December 
19, 1970, as summarized above, remains valid. Following the 
criteria there stated the other master meter systems that have 
subsequently been determined to be subject to the regulations are 
those having characteristics essentially similar to the systems 
serving municipal housing complexes and mobile home parks. 
Those characteristics are first, the existence of underground or 
exterior piping serving multiple buildings and, second, the transfer 
(sale) of gas (metered or unmetered) from the master meter 
system operator to the ultimate gas consumers (tenants) for use in 
the consumers' appliances. 

You letter refers to our "forthcoming new definition of a service 
line" which was subsequently published as Amendment 192-13 in 
the Federal Register on April 10, 1973 (38 F.R. 9063). The 
discussion of "service line" in our letter of December 10, 1970, is, 
therefore, not applicable to the revised definition. Amendment 
192-13, in effect, extends the definition of service line to include 
any operator-owned piping downstream of the customer meter or, 
if there is no meter, to the connection to a customer's piping. The 
amendment, however, does not affect the status of master meter 
systems subject to the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act nor of 
landlords that are operators under the regulations. The only 
change resulting from the amendment is that within a master 
meter system, service lines as newly defined are covered by the 
regulations. 

  

The three master meter situations you describe and our analysis of 
each are as follows: 

  

1.   The gas line enters the walls of one single residence unit, 
proceeds through the unit to serve various appliances, then 
leaves that unit and travels back out through the wall and 
through the ground and services another or a series of other 
single residence units in a like manner. 
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Analysis. The line serving a series of single residence units 
within a master meter system is a distribution line. In this case 
it has underground and exterior portions between buildings. 
Assuming that the gas is transferred to tenants of the 
individual units for use in the tenants' appliances, the system 
has the necessary characteristics and is, therefore, a master 
meter system subject to the regulations. While, normally, 
interior piping is not considered subject to the regulations, in 
this case where it is one continuous distribution line without 
separate risers or services for individual units and is under the 
sole control of the operator, one standard applies and the 
interior segments of that line are subject to the regulations to 
the same extent s the exterior and underground portions. 

  

2.   The gas line enters a multiple residence unit and travels 
throughout the residence unit tapping off services to the 
various residence units within the same building. 

Analysis. this system involves interior piping only. Since there 
are no underground or exterior pipelines serving multiple 
buildings, it is not a master meter system that is subject to the 
regulations. 

Consistent with the new definition of service line, the OPS 
applies the regulations down to a customer meter or to the 
connection to a customer's piping, whichever is farther 
downstream. The "master" meter serving a single building 
whether or not there are submeters for individual tenants, is 
considered the customer meter. 

Because it is impractical in many situations to determine who 
owns the piping in a building, all the gas lines within a single 
building downstream of the "master" meter are considered by 
the OPS to be customer's piping. For example. in a 
condominium all tenants )gas customers) may own all the 
piping jointly whereas other cases may involve single 
ownership of a building and included pipelines, moreover, the 
type of ownership of may change rapidly and go from single 
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ownership to condominium or vice versa or even to some other 
form. 

In those cases where the "master" meter serving the building 
is outside the building, the customer's piping is considered to 
begin no farther downstream than the point on the inside face 
of the wall through which the pipeline enters the building. 
Customer's piping within a building is not subject to the Federal 
regulations but, of course, must comply with any applicable 
safety standards to the extent required under a local building 
code. 

  

3. The gas line leaves master meter, travels through the ground, 
serves a plant unit, then on to offices and various other plant 
units, warehouses, etc. 

Analysis. One of the characteristics of a master meter system 
that makes it subject to the regulations is a transfer of gas 
from the operator (landlord) to other persons who are the 
ultimate consumers of the gas. In the situation described, 
however, the person (company) taking delivery of gas through 
the "master" meter is using the gas for its own purposes, i.e., 
offices, plant, warehouses, etc. There is no indication that the 
gas is resold by the company for use by another consumer or 
that the gas is being distributed by the company to any other 
person. 

Here all available information indicates that the gas is being 
used by company employees for company purposes on 
company property. We are, therefore, unable to identify this as 
a master meter system subject to the regulations. 

  

I trust these clarifications will prove helpful. Please do not hesitate 
to call on us if we can be of further assistance. 

  

Sincerely, 
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Joseph C. Caldwell 

Director 

Office of Pipeline Safety 
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PI-16-0012 

December 6, 2016 

Mr. Jonathan C. Wolfgram 

Chief Engineer 

Minnesota Department of Public Safety 

445 Minnesota Street, Suite 147 

Saint Paul, MN 55101-4145 

Dear Mr. Wolfgram: 

In a September 2, 2016 letter to the Pipeline and Hazardous 
Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA), you requested an 
interpretation of 49 CFR Part 192. You specifically requested an 
interpretation of § 192.1 for the regulatory requirements of 
a master meter system. You asked whether Mall of America in 
Bloomington, Minnesota would be required to comply with Part 
192. 

You provided the following information about the Mall of America 
("the Mall") gas system: 

1. The Mall is a large shopping mall that is currently operating its
own natural gas system. The Mall buys natural gas from
CenterPoint Energy, the local distribution company, and resells 
it to mall tenants using gas meter readings. 

2. CenterPoint Energy serves the Mall system with two external
gas meters. CenterPoint Energy delivers gas at 5 psig.
Additionally, the Mall has three anchor department stores and 
two attached hotels that have their own service lines and 
meters from CenterPoint Energy and are not connected to the 
Mall system. 
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3. The piping from the two CenterPoint Energy gas meters serving 
the Mall proceed underground toward the Mall service level 
(tunnel). Currently, CenterPoint Energy is under contract to 
operate the Mall-owned sections of predominately underground 
piping downstream of the CenterPoint Energy meters. 

4. For each of these two connections, once inside the building, 
there is a transition point between the CenterPoint Energy-
operated piping and the Mall-operated piping, which includes 
an emergency remote shutoff valve. 

5. These two systems are then interconnected via a pipeline loop in 
the ceiling area of the service level, which is the lowest level. 
The Mall piping typically consists of black iron piping with a 
mill-applied varnish coating. It is typically joined by welding. 
There are about 12 vertical risers at various locations from the 
loop that serve customers on the various levels above. The gas 
piping then branches out from each vertical riser on each floor 
of the Mall that has gas customers. There are about 50 
customer meters currently connected to the Mall gas system. 
The Mall reads these meters and invoices the customer tenants 
for their gas usage. 

6. The Mall does not currently operate any buried piping. 

  

You asked if the Mall's natural gas system (facility) is subject to 49 
CFR Part 192 as a master meter, or if it is exempt from regulation 
because it consists entirely of non-buried pipeline facilities. 

A master meter system is defined in § 191.3 as:   

[A] pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited 
to, a definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing 
project, or apartment complex, where the operator purchases 
metered gas from an outside source for resale through a gas 
distribution pipeline system. The gas distribution pipeline 
system supplies the ultimate consumer who either purchases 
the gas directly through a meter or by other means, such as by 
rents. 
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Also, operator is defined in § 191.3 as: 

[A] person who engages in the transportation of gas. 

The definition for a master meter system does not prohibit 
regulation for non-buried gas pipelines. PHMSA does not regulate 
gas piping inside a building unless the interior piping is used by the 
gas pipeline operator to distribute gas. The service risers 
downstream of the CenterPoint Energy meter are inside the 
building and are used to deliver metered gas to customers. One of 
the characteristics of a master meter system that makes it subject 
to the regulations is a transfer of gas from the operator, in this 
case the Mall, to other persons (the Mall tenants) who are the 
ultimate consumers of the gas. The Mall is selling gas to others 
and, therefore, the Mall is engaged in the distribution of gas. In 
this case, the Mall is subject to the Federal gas pipeline safety 
regulations as a master meter system operator. The Mall is 
responsible for compliance with 49 CFR Parts 191and192 for the 
pipeline downstream of CenterPoint's meter as owner of the 
pipeline and master meter operator. If we can be of further 
assistance, please contact Tewabe Asebe at 202-366-5523. 

  

 Sincerely, 

  

Cameron H. Satterthwaite 

Acting Director, 

Office of Standards and Rulemaking 

 

  

MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY 

September 2, 2016 

Mr. John Gale 
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Director, Office of Standards & Rulemaking 

Office of Pipeline Safety (PHP-30) PHMSA 

1200 New Jersey Ave. S.E. 

Washington, D.C. 20590-0001 

September 19, 2016 

  

Dear Mr. Gale: 

I am contacting you in regards to an interpretation of the scope of 
Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations § 192.1. This section states 
that Part 192 "prescribes minimum safety requirements for pipeline 
facilities and the transportation of gas including pipeline facilities 
... " 

Specifically, the Minnesota Office of Pipeline Safety is inquiring as 
to whether the Mall of America (MOA) would be classified as a 
master meter and subject to Part 192, or be exempt due to its 
configuration. The following outlines the MOA gas system in 
question: 

1. The MOA is a large shopping mall that is currently operating its 
own natural gas system. The MOA buys natural gas from 
CenterPoint Energy (CPE), the local distribution company, and 
resells it to mall tenants using gas meter readings. 

2. CPE serves the MOA system with two external gas meters. CPE 
delivers gas at 5 psig. Additionally, the MOA has three anchor 
department stores and two attached hotels that have their own 
service lines and meters from CPE and are not connected to 
the MOA system. 

3. The piping from the two CPE gas meters serving the mall 
proceed underground toward the mall service level (tunnel). 
Currently CPE is under contract to operate the mall-owned 
sections of predominately underground piping downstream of 
the CPE meters. 

I&E Exhibit 6 
Page 4 of 5

Page 345 of 628



4. For each of these two connections, once inside the building, 
there is a transition point between the CPE-operated piping and 
the MOA-operated piping, which includes an emergency remote 
shutoff valve. 

5. These two systems are then interconnected via a pipeline loop in 
the ceiling area of the service level, which is the lowest level 
(tunnel). Mall piping typically consists of black iron piping with 
a mill-applied varnish coating. It is typically joined by welding. 
There are about 12 vertical risers at various locations from the 
loop that serve customers on the various levels above. The gas 
piping then branches from each vertical riser on each floor of 
the mall that has gas customers. There are about 50 customer 
meters currently connected to the MOA gas system. The MOA 
reads these meters and invoices the customer tenants for their 
gas usage. 

6. The MOA does not currently operate any buried piping. 

My question for you is this: Is the MOA natural gas system 
(facility) subject to 49 CFR 192 as a master meter, or is it exempt 
from regulation because it consists entirely of non-buried pipeline 
facilities?   

I appreciate any clarification that you can provide in this matter. 

  

Sincerely, 

Jonathan C. Wolfgram, P.E. 

Chief Engineer 
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BEFORE THE 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 

 

Petition of Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies for 
a Declaratory Order Regarding the 
Applicability of the Gas and Hazardous 
Liquids Pipeline Act 
 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
 

 
 

Docket No. P-2021-3030002 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that I have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document upon 

the parties, listed below, in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 (relating to 
service by a party). 
 

Service by Electronic Mail: 
 

PROPRIETARY and NON-PROPRIETARY VERSIONS
 

David P. Zambito, Esq. 
Jonathan P. Nase, Esq. 
Cozen O’Connor 
17 North Second Street, Suite 1410 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
dzambito@cozen.com 
jnase@cozen.com 
Counsel for Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

NON-PROPRIETARY VERSION
 

Steven C. Gray, Esq. 
Senior Supervising Assistant Small Business 
Advocate 
Office of Small Business Advocate 
555 Walnut Street 
Forum Place, 1st Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
sgray@pa.gov  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated:  June 6, 2022 

 
Patrick Cicero, Esq. 
Acting Consumer Advocate 
Office of Consumer Advocate 
555 Walnut Street 
Forum Place, 5th Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
pcicero@paoca.org  
 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  
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 COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

 
BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATION 
& 

ENFORCEMENT 

November 7, 2022 
 
Via Electronic Filing 
Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building  
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
 

Re: Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v.  
Westover Property Management Company, L.P.  
d/b/a Westover Companies  
Docket Nos. C-2022-3030251; P-2021-3030002 
I&E Brief in Opposition to Petition for Review and Answer to Material 
Questions and for Immediate Stay of Proceeding 

 
Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 
 
 Enclosed for electronic filing is the Brief of the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
in Opposition to the Petition for Review and Answer to Material Questions, and for Immediate 
Stay of Proceeding of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies with regard to the above-referenced matter.   
 

Copies have been served on the parties of record in accordance with the Certificate of 
Service. 
 
 Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov 

Enclosures 
 
cc:  Per Certificate of Service 
 Hon. Christopher P. Pell, OALJ-Philadelphia (via email) 
 Athena Delvillar, OALJ Legal Assistant (via email) 
 Office of Special Assistants (ra-OSA@pa.gov) 
 Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via email) 
 Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via email)
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BEFORE THE  
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 
 
 

Docket Nos.  C-2022-3030251; 
 P-2021-3030002 

   
 
 

BRIEF OF THE  
BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION AND ENFORCEMENT  

IN OPPOSITION TO 
THE PETITION FOR REVIEW AND  

ANSWER TO MATERIAL QUESTIONS 
AND FOR IMMEDIATE STAY OF PROCEEDING OF  

WESTOVER PROPERTY MANAGEMENT COMPANY, L.P.,  
d/b/a WESTOVER COMPANIES 

 
 
 
TO THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION: 

AND NOW COMES the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) of the 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”), by and through its prosecuting 

attorneys, pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 5.302(b), and files this Brief in Opposition to the Petition 

for Review and Answer to Material Questions and for Immediate Stay of Proceeding of 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover” or 

“Petitioner”)1 in the above-captioned matter.  Westover’s Material Questions present an issue of 

a disputed material fact and a ruling on the merits of this issue prior to the scheduled evidentiary 

hearing would be premature.  Instead, I&E respectfully requests that the Commission address the 

purely legal question concerning the applicability of the Federal pipeline safety laws and 

 
1  Westover’s Petition for Review and Answer to Material Questions and for Immediate Stay of Proceeding is 

hereinafter referred to as “Petition.” 
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regulations, as adopted by the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et 

seq. (“Act 127”), to master meter systems at apartment complexes.  Finally, I&E opposes 

Westover’s request to stay this proceeding pending disposition of its Petition, as a stay would 

interfere with I&E inspections of Westover pipeline facilities that are scheduled for November 

15-18, 2022 and the timely receipt of Westover responses to I&E’s Set I Interrogatories, which 

are due on November 14, 2022.  Moreover, it is not in the public interest to stay this matter and 

further delay the potential applicability of the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations to 

Westover’s pipeline facilities, which are currently treated as unregulated.   

In opposition to Westover’s Petition, I&E avers as follows: 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Westover’s Petition for Declaratory Order  

On December 13, 2021, Westover filed a Petition for Declaratory Order pursuant to 66 

Pa.C.S. § 331(f) and 52 Pa. Code § 5.42 to resolve a case and controversy regarding whether 

Westover is subject to Act 127.  The Petition for Declaratory Order was docketed at P-2021-

3030002. 

On January 3, 2022, I&E filed an Answer in Opposition to Westover’s Petition for 

Declaratory Order. 

On May 16, 2022, Westover filed an Amended Petition for Declaratory Order that provided  

factual details concerning Westover’s natural gas pipeline facilities.  At its various apartment 

complex locations, Westover described, inter alia, that it consumes gas in its central boiler,2 

provides heat and hot water to tenants,3  provides gas for tenants to use when cooking,4 has 

submeters that measure gas used by tenants,5 and has service lines that transport gas from meters to 

 
2  Amended Petition at 8, 10, 14. 
3  Amended Petition at 8, 10, 14, 15. 
4  Amended Petition at 10, 14, 15, 16. 
5  Amended Petition at 13, 14. 
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apartment buildings.6  Each of these factual descriptions was used by Westover in its Amended 

Petition for Declaratory Order to support Westover’s claim that it is not a pipeline operator subject 

to the Commission’s jurisdiction. 

On June 6, 2022, I&E filed an Answer in Opposition to Westover’s Amended Petition for 

Declaratory Order. 

By Order entered on August 25, 2022, the Commission consolidated Westover’s Petition for 

Declaratory Order with the Formal Complaint (“Complaint”) proceeding docketed at C-2022-

3030251, discussed infra, and assigned the matter to the Office of Administrative Law Judge for 

resolution of the aforementioned disputed material facts and legal issues, and the issuance of a 

recommended decision. 

B. The Complaint Proceeding 

On January 3, 2022, I&E filed a Complaint against Westover alleging that Westover is a 

“pipeline operator” as that term is defined in Act 127 through its operation of master meter 

systems at apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  The Complaint was docketed at C-2022-

3030251.  

In its Complaint, I&E alleges that the I&E Safety Division first became aware that 

Westover operates master meter systems when it responded to reports of a natural gas leak and 

service outage occurring on May 22-23, 2018 at one of Westover’s apartment complexes.7  After 

ensuring that the leak was properly repaired and service restored, the I&E Safety Division shifted 

the focus of its investigation to examine whether the pipeline facilities operated by Westover 

constitute “master meter systems” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 and are therefore subject to 

Commission regulation through Act 127.8 

 
6  Amended Petition at 14, 15, 16. 
7  I&E Complaint at ¶ 28. 
8  I&E Complaint at ¶ 30. 
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I&E alleges in the Complaint that Westover operates master meter systems at approximately 

seventeen (17) of its apartment complexes in Pennsylvania where Westover purchases metered 

gas from a natural gas distribution company (“NGDC”) for resale to its tenants through a gas 

distribution pipeline system that is owned and maintained by Westover.9   

Also in its Complaint, I&E detailed the extensive efforts it made to inspect Westover’s 

master meter systems and obtain Westover’s compliance with Act 127 prior to engaging in 

litigation.10  I&E alleges that its pre-complaint investigation was hampered by Westover’s 

refusal to acknowledge the Commission’s jurisdiction as it relates to its master meter systems.  

I&E was precluded from inspecting and examining the specific pipeline configurations present at 

Westover’s master meter systems. 

I&E alleges in the Complaint that Westover violated Act 127 at 58 P.S. § 801.503(b), (d) 

by failing to submit annual registration forms with the Commission and paying an appropriate 

assessment based on regulated intrastate distribution pipeline miles.  I&E further alleges that 

Westover violated Part 192 of the Federal pipeline safety regulations, 49 CFR §§ 192.1-

192.1015, by failing to demonstrate compliance with the following Sections of Part 192 in its 

operation of master meter systems: 49 CFR § 192.603(a)-(b) (related to General provisions); 49 

CFR § 192.605(a)-(e) (related to Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 

emergencies); 49 CFR § 192.615(a)-(c) (related to Emergency plans); 49 CFR § 192.625(f)(1)-

(2) (related to Odorization of gas); 49 CFR § 192.805(a)-(i) (related to Qualification program); 

49 CFR § 192.809(a)-(e) (related to General, pertaining to requirements for a qualification 

program); and 49 CFR § 192.807(a)-(b) (related to Recordkeeping, pertaining to operator 

qualification).11 

 
9  I&E Complaint at ¶ 24-25. 
10  I&E Complaint at ¶¶ 27, 32-29. 
11  I&E Complaint at ¶ 45(c)-(h). 
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I&E also alleges that Westover prohibited the I&E Safety Division from completing 

inspections of Westover’s records, procedures, and facilities and, therefore, the I&E Safety 

Division has been unable to verify that Westover complies with many other sections of Part 192 

of the Federal pipeline safety regulations that pertain to natural gas master meter systems.12  

On January 25, 2022, Westover filed an Answer and New Matter in response to I&E’s 

Complaint where Westover admits purchasing gas from NGDCs, transporting the gas, and 

selling it to tenants residing in its apartment complexes.13  Westover claims, however, that its 

master meter systems are not subject to the Federal pipeline safety regulations because they do 

not affect interstate or foreign commerce.14  Westover has also averred that it is the ultimate 

consumer of the gas and therefore is not a jurisdictional pipeline operator, pursuant to 58 P.S. § 

801.102.15 

The parties have been engaged in discovery in the Complaint proceeding.  On January 31, 

2022, Westover served its Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents, Set I, on 

I&E.  On February 10, 2022, I&E served its formal Objections to the Set I Interrogatories of 

Westover.   

On February 14, 2022, I&E filed its Reply to Westover’s New Matter. 

On February 22, 2022, Westover filed with the Commission an unopposed request to 

extend the deadline for Westover to file a Motion to Compel until March 2, 2022.   

On March 2, 2022, Westover filed its Motion to Dismiss Objections and Compel 

Answers to Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents (“Westover Motion to 

Compel #1”).   

  

 
12  I&E Complaint at ¶ 45(i). 
13  Westover Answer and New Matter at ¶ 7. 
14  Id. 
15  Amended Petition at 9. 
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On March 7, 2022, I&E filed its Answer to Westover’s Motion to Compel.   

On March 9, 2022, Westover filed an unopposed Petition for Protective Order. 

On March 30, 2022, I&E served its Interrogatories and Requests for Production of 

Documents – Set I, on Westover.   

On April 11, 2022, Westover filed its Motion to Dismiss Objections and Compel 

Answers to Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents (“Westover Motion to 

Compel #2”).  

Also on April 11, 2022, Westover filed its Objections to the Interrogatories and Requests 

for the Production of Documents – Set 1, propounded by I&E.    

On April 18, 2022, I&E filed its Answer to the Motion to Dismiss Objections and 

Compel Answers to Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents of Westover.   

On April 21, 2022, I&E filed a Motion to Dismiss Objections and Compel Answers to 

Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents (“I&E Motion to Compel #1”).   

On April 26, 2022, Westover filed its Answer to I&E’s Motion to Dismiss Objections and 

Compel Answers to I&E’s Set I Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents. 

By Initial Call-In Telephonic Prehearing Conference Notice dated August 29, 2022, an 

Initial Call-In Telephonic Prehearing Conference was scheduled for October 5, 2022 and Deputy 

Chief Administrative Law Judge Christopher P. Pell (“DCALJ Pell”) was assigned to the 

consolidated proceeding. 

On September 12, 2022, DCALJ Pell issued a Prehearing Conference Order. 

On September 30, 2022, I&E and Westover filed their respective prehearing memoranda.   

On October 3, 2022, I&E served Requests for Entry for Inspection upon Westover. 

The Call-In Telephonic Prehearing Conference was held as scheduled on October 5, 

2022.  
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On October 6, 2022, DCALJ Pell issued Prehearing Order #1, which established the 

service list, litigation schedule, discovery rules, and other related prehearing matters.  A 

corrected Prehearing Order #1 dated October 6, 2022 was also issued. 

On October 7, 2022, DCALJ issued Prehearing Order #2 approving Westover’s Petition 

for Protective Order and entering the Protective Order for this consolidated proceeding. 

On October 13, 2022, Westover served is Answers and Conditions to I&E’s Requests for 

Entry for Inspection. 

On October 19, 2022, Westover served its Interrogatories and Requests for Production of 

Documents, Set II, on I&E.   

On October 24, 2022, I&E filed its Motion to Compel Entry for Inspection and requested 

an expedited ruling so that the parties may participate in the inspections scheduled for November 

15 to 18, 2022. 

On October 25, 2022, DCALJ issued an Interim Order addressing the Motions to Compel 

filed by Westover and I&E.  The Interim Order granted, in part, and denied, in part, I&E’s 

Motion to Compel #1, and directed Westover to provide responses to certain interrogatories set 

for in I&E’s Interrogatories Set I within twenty days.  The Interim Order denied Westover’s 

Motion to Compel #1 and Motion to Compel #2. 

On October 28, 2022, Westover filed its Petition for Review and Answer to Material 

Questions and for Immediate Stay of the Proceeding. 

On October 31, 2022, Westover filed its Answer to I&E’s Motion to Compel Entry for 

Inspection.  Also on October 31, 2022, I&E served its formal Objections to the Set II 

Interrogatories of Westover. 
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II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF MATERIAL QUESTION 
 
DO THE FEDERAL PIPELINE SAFETY LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AS ADOPTED 
BY ACT 127, INCLUDE THE REGULATION OF INTRASTATE NATURAL GAS 
MASTER METER SYSTEMS OPERATED AT APARTMENT COMPLEXES? 
  
Suggested Answer: Yes. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Commission should decline to answer Westover’s Material Questions, as stated, 

since they are predicated upon a disputed material fact concerning whether Westover 

“consumes” the natural gas in its pipeline distribution facilities, which it purchases from NGDCs 

and then resells to tenants.  Whether Westover is the ultimate consumer of the gas is one of the 

issues that is currently subject to on-going discovery and the parties should be provided with the 

opportunity to present evidence during the evidentiary hearing concerning Westover’s alleged 

consumption of natural gas at each of the seventeen (17) apartment complexes identified in 

I&E’s Complaint. 

Instead, the Commission should entertain I&E’s purely legal Material Question as it 

would provide clarity as to whether the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations, as adopted 

by Act 127, apply to master meter systems located at apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  An 

answer to this Material Question would resolve the major, threshold jurisdictional question.    

Finally, I&E opposes Westover’s request to stay this proceeding pending disposition of 

its Petition, as a stay would interfere with I&E inspections of Westover pipeline facilities that are 

scheduled for November 15-18, 2022 and the timely receipt of Westover responses to I&E’s Set 

I Interrogatories, which are due on November 14, 2022.    
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Commission should Decline to Answer Westover’s Material Questions as 
They Fail to Meet the Interlocutory Review Standards 

In its Petition for Review, Westover presents the following Material Questions: 
 

1. Do Westover’s apartment complexes meet the definition of a “master meter 
system” in 49 CFR § 191.3 where: Westover takes delivery of the natural gas 
from a state-regulated NGDC on the grounds of the apartment complex in 
Pennsylvania, consumes some of the gas, and resells the remainder exclusively 
to tenants in the apartment complex in Pennsylvania? 

 
2. Does Act 127 apply to Westover’s apartment complexes, considering the facts 

in question #1?  

For the reasons explained below, both questions are predicated on issues of disputed 

material facts and, accordingly, seek relief that is premature and impermissible at this early stage 

of the proceeding. 

The Commission will only grant requests for interlocutory review upon a showing by the 

petitioner of extraordinary circumstances or compelling reasons.  52 Pa. Code § 5.302; In re: 

Application of Knight’s Limousine Service, Inc., 59 Pa. P.U.C. 538, Docket No. A-00105973 

(July 22, 1985).  Further, the Commission will only grant interlocutory review where it is 

necessary to prevent substantial prejudice and that the prejudice flowing from the error cannot be 

satisfactorily cured during the normal Commission review process.  Saucon Creek Associates, 

Inc. v. Borough of Hellertown, 69 Pa. P.U.C. 467, Docket No. C-882119, Order entered April 28, 

1989). 

Westover has failed to demonstrate that it will suffer substantial prejudice or that the 

potential harm cannot be cured during the ordinary Commission review process.  Westover 

asserts that interlocutory review is necessary to prevent it from answering I&E discovery that it 

was ordered to answer by DCALJ Pell and to narrow the issues that will be litigated in order to 
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avoid devoting substantial resources litigating this consolidated matter.16  However, the 

Commission has found that the expenditure of resources in producing extensive discovery and 

participating in hearings does not constitute substantial prejudice and is not a compelling reason 

to grant interlocutory review.  Saucon Creek, 69 Pa. P.U.C. at 467.   

Moreover, the question of whether a master meter system fits within the definition of the 

term at 49 CFR § 191.3 is a factually intensive inquiry that must be examined on a case-by-case 

basis.  Indeed, Westover has alleged that it is the ultimate consumer of gas because it consumes 

gas in the boilers at several apartment complexes.17  This factual assertion, inter alia, is the 

subject of an on-going discovery dispute concerning I&E’s October 3, 2022 Requests for Entry 

for Inspection in which I&E requests to inspect Westover’s pipeline facilities to evaluate 

Westover’s claim that such facilities are not jurisdictional master meter systems.18  Moreover, 

I&E intends to present evidence at hearing demonstrating that Westover charges tenants for 

natural gas consumption either through the issuance of a bill, which is based on the tenants’ 

natural gas consumption as measured by submeters, or through rent.  Any interlocutory ruling on 

the merits concerning the specific factual details of Westover’s master meter systems, including 

the allegation that Westover consumes the gas, is premature.  As the Commission found in 

Saucon Creek, a question that turns on the disputed facts of a case should not be answered 

because the facts can only be ascertained through the discovery and hearing process.  Saucon 

Creek, 69 Pa. P.U.C. at 467.  Accordingly, the Commission should decline to answer Westover’s 

Material Questions and the parties should be afforded the opportunity at hearing to present 

evidence regarding the disputed material facts. 

  

 
16  Westover Petition at 1-2. 
17  Westover Amended Petition for Declaratory Order at 8, 10, and 14; Westover Answer to I&E Complaint at 12. 
18  I&E filed a Motion to Compel Entry for Inspection on October 24, 2022, to which Westover responded on 

October 31, 2022.  The matter is pending judicial resolution. 
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B. The Commission Should Answer the Purely Legal Material Question 
Presented by I&E to Clarify that the Federal Pipeline Safety Laws and 
Regulations, as adopted by Act 127, Apply to Master Meter Systems at 
Apartment Complexes 

Westover argues that it is not a pipeline operator because it does not engage in the 

“transportation of gas.”19  Westover argues that its systems, which are located within its 

apartment complexes and serve only tenants in its apartment complexes, do not transport gas “in 

or affecting interstate commerce.”20  For these reasons, Westover asserts that it is not subject to 

Federal pipeline safety regulation.   

I&E requests that the Commission put aside all factual details concerning the specifics of 

Westover’s pipeline facilities and systems at its apartment complexes and instead, address the 

below Material Question presented by I&E, which is designed to elicit a ruling concerning the 

applicability of Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations on intrastate master meter systems at 

apartment complexes: 

Do the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations, as adopted by 
Act 127, include the regulation of intrastate natural gas master meter 
systems operated at apartment complexes? 

 
Suggested answer: Yes. 

An answer to I&E’s Material Question will expedite the proceeding by resolving the 

threshold question of jurisdiction. 

Act 127 took effect on February 21, 2012 and provides that “[t]he safety standards and 

regulations for pipeline operators shall be those issued under the Federal pipeline safety laws as 

implemented in 49 CFR Subtitle B Ch. I Subch. D (relating to pipeline safety).”  58 P.S.  

§ 801.302(a).21  In adopting the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations as the applicable 

 
19  Westover Petition at 3. 
20  Id.   
21  The regulations at 49 CFR Subtitle B Ch. I Subch. D were promulgated under the authority of the Federal 

pipeline safety laws at 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101 et seq. 
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safety standards, Act 127 also provides that “[a]mendments to the Federal pipeline safety laws 

have the effect of amending or modifying the safety standards and regulations for the 

transportation of gas and hazardous liquids in the Commonwealth.”  58 P.S. § 801.302(b)(1). 

Act 127 applies to pipeline operators, which are defined as “a person that owns or 

operates equipment or facilities in this Commonwealth for the transportation of gas or hazardous 

liquids by pipeline or pipeline facility regulated under Federal pipeline safety laws.  The term 

does not include a public utility or an ultimate consumer who owns a service line on his real 

property.”  58 P.S. § 801.102. 

“Transporting gas” is defined in the Federal pipeline safety laws, in pertinent part, as “the 

gathering, transmission, or distribution of gas by pipeline, or the storage of gas, in interstate or 

foreign commerce.”  49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(21).22  Federal pipeline safety laws define “interstate 

or foreign commerce,” in pertinent part, as:   

(A) related to gas, means commerce - -  
(i)  between a place in a State and a place outside that State; or  
(ii)  that affects any commerce described in subclause (A)(i) of this  

clause.” 
 

49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(8)(A)(i)-(ii).   

The Commerce clause of the U.S. Constitution23 is the authority underlying Federal 

pipeline safety laws.  It permits, inter alia, Federal regulation of the transportation of natural gas 

by pipeline.  Pursuant to that authority, Congress may mandate Federal regulation for the use of 

the channels of interstate commerce, the instrumentalities of and persons or things in interstate 

commerce, and any activity that has a substantial effect on interstate commerce.24  With regard to 

the third category, Congress is empowered to regulate purely local activities that are part of an 

 
22  Similarly, Act 127 defines the “transportation of gas” as “[t]he gathering, transmission or distribution of gas by 

pipeline or the storage of gas.”  58 P.S. § 801.102. 
23  U.S. Const. Art. I, § 8, cl. 3. 
24 Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 16-17 (2005).   

Page 361 of 628



 

13 

economic “class of activities” that have a substantial effect on interstate commerce.25   

When enacting the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968, the first statute regulating 

pipeline safety, Congress determined that the intrastate transportation of gas by pipeline 

substantially affects interstate commerce.  Congress reported as follows when defining the 

transportation of gas covered under the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act: 

The term “transportation of gas” is defined as the gathering, 
transmission or distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or 
affecting interstate or foreign commerce.  With exception as to 
gathering in certain circumstances, this means all aspects of the 
transportation of gas from the well head to the consumer.  As 
testified by Secretary Boyd: 
 

‘There is no question but what every element of a gas 
gathering, transmission, and distribution line is 
moving gas which is either in or affects interstate 
commerce. * * *  (p. 35).   
 
I don’t think that it even requires any elasticity of the 
commerce clause of the Constitution to define 99 
44/100 percent of this activity as being clearly within 
the commerce clause.  (p. 36).’ 
 

H.R. Rep. No. 90-1390, at 18 (May 15, 1968).26   

The Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”),27 has likewise  

determined that even though the transportation of gas may entirely be within one State, every 

element of a gas gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving gas that is either in or 

affects interstate commerce.28   

Master meter systems, which distribute gas entirely within one State, are subject to the 

Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  Master meter systems are defined as: 

 
25 Id. at 17, citing Perez v. U.S., 402 U.S. 146, 151 (1971); Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111, 128-129 (1942).   
26  The House Report is appended hereto as I&E Exhibit 1. 
27 PHMSA is an agency within the United States Department of Transportation responsible for developing and 

enforcing regulations for the safe, reliable, and environmentally sound operation of the United States’ pipeline 
transportation system. 

28  PHMSA Letter of Interpretation to Florida Public Service Commission, PI-71-036 (March 16, 1971).  The 
Letter of Interpretation is appended hereto as I&E Exhibit 2.   
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a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited to, a 
definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing project, or 
apartment complex, where the operator purchases metered gas from 
an outside source for resale through a gas distribution pipeline 
system. The gas distribution pipeline system supplies the ultimate 
consumer who either purchases the gas directly through a meter or 
by other means, such as by rents. 

 
49 CFR § 191.3 (emphasis added).  

Prior to the enactment of Act 127, PHMSA enforced the Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations on master meter systems at apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.29  It is therefore 

clear that after Act 127 was enacted, the Commission, through the I&E Safety Division, which 

serves as an agent of PHMSA certified to regulate intrastate pipeline facilities for safety purposes 

pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105, is authorized to enforce the Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations on master meter systems distributing gas to tenants at apartment complexes in 

Pennsylvania.  Act 127’s express adoption of the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations at   

58 P.S. § 801.302 clearly and unambiguously include the pipeline safety regulation of master 

meter systems, including those at apartment complexes.  Indeed, the Commission has already 

enforced violations of Act 127 on master meter systems operated at mobile home parks.30  For 

these reasons, the Commission should answer I&E’s Material Question in the affirmative. 

C. Stay of the Proceeding 

A stay of this consolidated proceeding is not appropriate because discovery will be 

delayed and the safety of these currently unregulated pipeline facilities will remain at risk.  

Pursuant to DCALJ’s October 25, 2022 Interim Order, Westover is directed to provide responses 

to I&E Interrogatories Set I, Nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 

26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, and 39 by November 14, 2022.  Furthermore, 

 
29  See Department of Transportation, Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, Office of Pipeline 

Safety letter dated March 6, 1998 to Mr. Ernie Nepa of Governor Sproul Associates.  The letter is appended 
hereto as I&E Exhibit 3. 

30 See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. Brookhaven MHP Management LLC, 
et al., Docket Nos. C-2017-2613983, et al. (Order entered August 23, 2018). 
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the parties have scheduled inspections of Westover’s pipeline facilities at various apartment 

complexes between November 15 – 18, 2022.  Staying this proceeding would interfere with 

discovery and potentially delay the remainder of the litigation schedule.  Moreover, it is not in 

the public interest to stay this matter and further delay a ruling on the applicability of the Federal 

pipeline safety laws and regulations to Westover’s pipeline facilities, which are currently treated 

as unregulated. 

WHEREFORE, the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement respectfully requests that 

the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission: (1) answer the Material Question presented by the 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement in the affirmative; (2) decline to answer the Material 

Questions presented by Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 

Companies; and (3) deny the request to stay the proceeding pending disposition of the Petition 

for Review and Answer to Material Questions. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
 
Michael L. Swindler 
Deputy Chief Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 43319 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  
 

Date: November 7, 2022
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90TH CoNGRESS } HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
fdSession 

NATURAL GAS PIPELINE SAFETY ACT OF 1968 

MAY 15, 1968.-Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State 
of the Union and ordered to be printed 

Mr. STAGGERS, from the Committee on Interstate and Foreign 
Commerce, submitted the following 

REPORT 

[To accompany S. 1166] 

The Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, to whom 
was referred the bill (S. 1166) to authorize the Secretary of Transpor
tation to prescribe safety standards for the transportation of natural 
and other gas by pipeline, and for other purposes, having considered 
the same, report favorably thereon with an amendment and recom
mend that the bill as amended do pass. 

The amendment is as follows: 
Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert m lieu thereof 

the following: 

That this Act may be cited as the "Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968". 

DEFINITIONS 

SEc. 2. As used in this Act-
(1) "Person" means any individual, firm, joint venture, partnership, corpora

tion, association, State, municipality, coopertive association, or joint stock associa
tion, and includes any trustee, receiver, assignee, or personal representative 
thereof; 

(2) "Gas" means natural gas, flammable gas, or gas which is toxic or corrosive;
(3) "Transportation of gas" means the gathering, transmission or distribution

of gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce 
except that it shall not include the gathering of gas in those rural locations which 
lie outside the limits of any incorporated or unincorporated city, town, village, 
or any other designated residential or commercial area such as a subdivision, a 
business or shopping center, a community development, or any similar populated 
area which the Secretary may define as a nonrural area; 

(4) "Pipeline facilities" includes, without limitation, new and existing pipe,
rights-of-way, and any equipment, facility, or building used in the transportation 
of gas or the treatment of gas during the course of transportation, but "rights-of
way" as used in this Act does not authorize the Secretary to prescribe the location 
or routing of any pipeline facility; 

(5) "State" includes each of the several States, the District of Columbia, and
the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico; 

(6) "Municipality" means a city, county, or any other political subdivision of a
State; 

85-006-GS--l 
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(7) "National organization of State commissions" means the national organiza
tion of the State commissions referred to in part II of the Interstate Commerce 
Act; 

(8) "Interstate transmission facilities" means pipeline facilities used in the
tran�ortation. of gas which are subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power 
Comiiiission'under the Natural Gas Act; and 

(9) "Secretary" means the Secretary of Transportation.

STANDARDS ESTABLISHED 

SEc. 3. (a) As soon as practicable but not later than three months after the 
enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall, by order, adopt as interim minimum 
Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas in 
each State the State standards regulating pipeline facilities and the transporta
tion of gas within such State on the date of enactment of the Act. In any State 
in which no such standards are in effect, the Secretary shall, by order, establieh 
interim Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of 
gas in such State which shall be such standards as are common to a majority of 
States having safety standards for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities 
on such date. Interim standards shall remain in effect until amended or revoked 
pursuant to this section. Any State agency may adopt such additional or more 
stringent standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas not subject 
to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commissioner under the Natural Gas Act 
as are not incompatible with the Federal minimum standards, but may not 
adopt or continue in force after the interim standards provided for above become 
effective any such standards applicable to interstate transmission facilities. 

(b) Not later than twenty-four months after the enactment of this Act, and
from time to time thereafter, the Secretary shall, by order, establish minimum 
Federal safety standards for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities. 
Such standards may apply to the design, installation, inspection, testing, construc
tion, extension, operation, replacement, and maintenance of pipeline facilities. 
Standards affecting the design, installation, construction, initial inspection, and 
initial testing shall not be applicable to pipeline facilities in existence on the date 
such standards are adopted. Whenever the Secretary shall find a particular facility 
to be hazardous to life or property, he shall be empowered by order to require the 
person operating such facility to take such steps necessary to remove such hazards. 
Such Federal safety standards shall be practicable and designed to meet the need 
for pipeline safety. In prescribing such standards, the Secretary shall consider-

(!) relevant available pipeline safety data; 
(2) whether such standards are appropriate for the particular type of

pipeline transportation; 
(3) the reasonableness of any proposed standards; and
(4) the extent to which such standards will contribute to public safety.

Any State agency may adopt such additional or more stringent standards for 
pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas not subject to the jurisdiction of 
the Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act as are not incom
patible with the Federal minimum standards, but may not adopt or continue in 
force after the minimum Federal safety standards referred to in this subsection 
become effective any such standards applicable to interstate transmission facilities. 

(c) Any standards prescribed under this section, and amendments thereto,
shall become effective thirty days after the date of issuance of such standards 
unless the Secretary, for good cause recited, determines an earlier or later effective 
date is required as a result of the period reasonably necessary for compliance. 

(d) The provisions of subchapter II of chapter 5 of title 5 of the United States
Code shall apply to all orders establishing, amending, revoking, or waiving 
compliance with, any standard established under this Act. The Secretary shall 
afford interested persons an opportunity to participate fully in the establishment 
of such safety standards through submission of written data, views, or arguments 
with opportunity to present oral testimony and argument. 

(e) Upon application by any person engaged in the transportation of gas or
the operation of pipeline facilities, the Secretary may, after notice and oppor
tunity for hearing and under such terms and conditions and to such extent as he 
deems appropriate, waive in whole or in part compliance with any standard 
established under this Act, if he determines that a waiver of compliance with such 
standard is not inconsistent with gas pipeline safety. The Secretary shall state 
his reasons for any such waiver. A State agency, with respect to which there is 
in effect a certification pursuant to section 5(a) or an agreement pursuant to section 
5(b), may waive compliance with a safety standard in the same manner as the 
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Secretary, provided such State agency gives the Secretary written notice at least 
sixty days prior to the effective date of the waiver. If, before the effective date 
of a waiver to be granted by a State agency, the Secretary objects in writing to 
the granting of the waiver, any State agency action granting the waiver will be 
stayed. After notifying such State agency of his objection, the Secretary shall 
afford such agency a prompt opportunity to present its request for waiver, with 
opportunity for hearing, and the Secretary shall determine finally whether the 
requested waiver may be granted. 

TECHNICAL PIPELINE SAFETY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

SEc. 4. (a) The Secretary shall establish a Technical Pipeline Safety Standards 
Committee. The Committee shall be appointed by the Secretary, after consulta
tion with public and private agencies concerned with the technical aspect of the 
transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities, and shall be composed 
of fifteen members each of whom shall be experienced in the safety regulation of 
the transportation of gas and of pipeline facilities or technically qualified by 
training and experience in one or more fields of engineering applied in the trans
portation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities to evaluate gas pipeline 
safety standards, as follows: 

(1) Five members shall be selected from governmental agencies, including
State and Federal Governments, two of whom, after consultation with 
representatives of the national organization of State commissions, shall be 
State commissioners; 

(2) Four members shall be selected from the natural gas industry after
consultation with industry representatives, not less than three of whom 
shall be currently engaged in the active operation of natural gas pipelines; 
and 

(3) Six members shall be selected from the general public.
(b) The Secretary shall submit to the Committee all proposed standards and

amendments to such standards and afford such Committee a reasonable oppor
tunity, not to exceed ninety days, unless extended by the Secretary, to prepare a. 
report on the technical feasibility; reasonableness, and practicability of each such 
proposal. Each report by the Committee, including any minority views, shall be 
published by the Secretary and form a part of the proceedings for the promul
gation of standards. In the event that the Secretary rejects the conclusions of the 
majority of the Committee, he shall not be bound by such conclusions but shall 
publish his reasons for rejection thereof. The Committee may propose safety 
standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas to the Secretary for 
his consideration. All proceedings of the Committee shall be recorded and the 
record of each such proceeding shall be available for public inspection. 

(c) Members of the Committee other than Federal employees may be compen
sated at a rate to be fixed by the Secretary not to exceed $100 per diem (including 
travel time) when engaged in the actual duties of the Committee. All members, 
while away from their homes or regular places of business, may be allowed travel 
expenses, including per diem in lieu of subsistence as authorized by section 5703 of 
title 5, United States Code, for persons in the Government service employed 
intermittently. Payments under this section shall not render members of the Com
mittee employees or officials of the United States for any purpose. 

STATE CERTIFICATIONS AND AGREEMENTS 

SEC. 5. (a) Except as provided in subsection (d) of this section, the provisions 
of this Act shall not apply to pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas 
(not subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission under the 
Natural Gas Act) within a State when the safety standards and practices applic
able to same are regulated by a State agency (including a municipality) which 
submits to the Secretary an annual certification that such State agency (1) hai, 
regulatory jurisdiction over the safety standards and practices of such pipeline 
facilities and transportation of gas; (2) has adopted each Federal safety standard 
applicable to such pipeline facilities and transportation of gas established under 
this Act as of the date of the certification; (3) is enforcing each such standard; 
and (4) has the authority to require record maintenance, reporting, and inspection 
substantially the same as are provided under section 12 and the filing for ap
proval of plans of inspection and maintenance described in section 11; and that 
the law of the State makes provision for the enforcement of the safety standards 
of such State agency by way of injunctive and monetary sanctions. Each annual 
certification shall include a report, in such form as the Secretary may by regula-
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tion provide, showing (i) name and address of each person subject to the sarety 
jurisdiction of the State agency; (ii) all accidents or incidents reported during 
the preceding twelve months by each such person involving personal injury 
requiring hospitalization, fatality, or property damage exceeding $1,000, to
gether with a summary of the State agency's investigation as to the cause and 
circumstances surrounding such accident or incident; (iii) the record maintenance, 
reporting, and inspection practiced by the State agency to enforce compliance 
with such Federal safety standards, including a detail of the number of inspec
tions made of pipeline facilities by the State agency during the preceding twelve 
months; and (iv) such other information as the Secretary may require. The 
report included with the first annual certification need not show information 
unavailable at that time. If after receipt of annual certification, the Secretary 
determines that the State agency is not satisfactorily enforcing compliance with 
Federal safety standards, he may, on reasonable notice and after opportunity 
for hearing, reject the certification or take such other action as he deems appro
priate to achieve adequate enforcement including the assertion of Federal 
jurisdiction. 

(b) With respect to ally pipeline facilities and transportation of gas (not
subject to the juridsiction of the Federal Power Commission under the Natural 
Gas Act) for which the Se cretary does not receive an annual certification under 
subsection (a) of this section, the Secretary is authorized by agreement with a 
State agency (including a municipality) to authorize such agency to assume 
responsibility for, and carry out on behalf of the Secretary as it relates to pipeline 
facilities and the transportation of gas not subject to the jurisdiction of the 
Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act the necessary actions to-

(1) establish an adequate program for record maintenance, reporting, and
inspection designed to assist compliance with Federal safety standards; 

(2) establish procedures for approval of plans of inspection and main
tenance substantially the same as are required under section 11; 

(3) implement a compliance program acceptable to the 8ecrctary including
provision for inspection of pipeline facilities used in such transportation of 
gas; and 

(4) cooperate fully in a system of Federal monitoring of such compliance
program and reporting under regulations prescribed by the Secretary. 

Any agreement executed pursuant to this subsection shall require the State agency 
promptly to notify the Secretary of any violation or probable violation of a Federal 
safety standard which it discovers as a result of its program. 

(c) (1) Upon an application submitted not later than September 30 in any
calendar year, the Secretary is authorized to pay out of funds appropriated 
pursuant to section 15 up to 50 per centum of the cost of the personnel, equip
ment, and activities of a State agency reasonably required to carry out a safety 
program under a certification under subsection (a) or an agreement under sub
section (b) of this section during the following calendar year. No such payment 
may be made unless the State agency making application under this subsection 
gives assurances satisfactory to the Secretary that the State agency will provide 
the remaining cost of such a safety program and that the aggregate expenditures 
of funds of the State, exclusive of Federal grants, for gas safety programs will be 
maintained at a level which does not fall below the average level of such expendi
tures for the last two fiscal years preceding the date of enactment of this section. 

(2) Payments under this section may be made in installments, in advance or
by way of reimbursement, with necessary adjustments on account of overpay
ments and underpayments. 

(3) The Secretary may, by regulation, provide for the form and manner of
filing of applications under this section, and for such reporting and fiscal pro
()edures as he deems necessary to assure the proper accounting for Federal funds. 

(d) A certification which is i n  effect under subrnction (a) of this section shall not
apply with respect to any new or amended Federal safety standard for pipeline 
facilities or the transportation of gas, not subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal 
Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act, established pursuant to this Act 
after the date of such certification. The provisionE of this Act shall apply to any 
such new or amended Federal safety standard until the State agency has adopted 
.such standard and has submitted an appropriate certification in accordance with 
the provisions of subsection (a) of this section. 

(e) A�y agreement un�er this secti?n may be terminated by the Secretary if,
after notice and opportumty for a hearmg, he finds that the State agency has failed 
to comply with any provision of such agreement. Such fivding and termination 
shall be published in the Federal Register, and shall become effective no sooner 
than fifteen days after the date of publication. 
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JUDICIAL REVIEW OF ORDERS 

SEc. 6. (a) Any person who is or will be adversely affected or aggrieved by any 
order issued under this Act may at any time prior to the sixtieth day after such 
order is issued file a petition for a judicial review with the United States Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia or for the circuit wherein such petitioner is 
located or has his principal place of business. A copy of the petition shall be forth
with transmitted by the clerk of the court to the Secretary or other officer desig
nated by him for that purpose. 

(b) Upon the filing of the petition referred to in subsection (a), the court shall
have jurisdiction to review the order in accordance with chapter 7 of title 5 of the 
United States Code and to grant appropriate relief as provided in such chapter. 

(c) The judgment of the court affirming or setting aside, in whole or in part, any
such order of the Secretary shall be final, subject to review by the Supreme Court 
of the United States upon certiorari or certification as provided in section 1254 of 
title 28 of the United States Code. 

(d) Any action instituted under this section shall survive, notwithstanding
any change in the person occupying the office of Secretary or any vacancy in such 
office. 

(e) The remedies provided for in this section shall be in addition to and not in
substitution for any other remedies provided by law. 

COOPERATION Wl'rH FEDER.\L POWER CO:\IM!SSION AND STATE COMMISSIONS 

SEC. 7. Whenever the establishment of a standard or action upon application 
for waiver under the provisions of this Act, would affect continuity of any gas 
services, the Secretary shall consult with and advise the Federal Power Com
mission or State commission having jurisdiction over the affected pipeline facility 
before establishing the standard or acting on the waiver application and shall 
defer the effective date until the Federal Power Commission or any such com
mission has had reasonable opportunity to grant the authorizations it deems 
necessary. In any proceedings under section 7 of the Natural Gas Act (15 U.S.C. 
717f) for authority to establish, construct, operate, or extend a gas pipeline 
which is or will be subject to Federal or other applicable safety standards, any 
applicant shall certify that it will design, install, inspect, test, construct, operate, 
replace, and maintain the pipeline facilities in accordance with Federal and 
other applicable safety standards and plans for maintenance and inspection. 
Such certification shall be binding and conclusive upon the Commission unless 
the relevant enforcement agency has timely advised the Commission in writing 
that the applicant has violated safety standards established pursuant to this Act. 

COMPLIANCE 

SEc. 8. (a) Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or 
operates pipeline facilities shall-

(1) at all times after the date any applicable safety standard established
under this Act takes effect comply with the requirements of such standard; 
and 

(2) file and comply with a plan of inspection and maintenance required by
section 11; and 

(3) permit access to or copying of records, and make reports or provide
information, and permit entry or inspection, as required under section 12. 

(b) Nothing in this Act shall affect the common law or statutory tort liability of
any person. 

CIVIL PENALTY 

SEc. 9. (a) Whenever the Secretary has reason to believe any person is violating 
any_ portion of section 8(a), or a!lY regulation issued under this Act, he shall give
notice to such person and permit such person reasonable opportunity to achieve 
compliance prior to imposing the penalties hereinafter provided. If compliance has 
not been achieved in a reasonable time, the Secretary may impose a civil penalty 
not to �x?eed $500 for each day that such violation persists, except that the maxi
mum mv1l penalty shall not exceed $100,000 for any related series of violations. 
In addition, the Secretary may seek injunctive relief under the provisions set 
forth in section 10. 

(b) Any such civil penalty may be compromised by the Secretarv. In deter
mining the amount of such penalty, or the amount agreed upon in compromise 
the appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business of the perso� 
charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person charged 
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in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a violation, shall bP 
considered. The amount of such penalty, when finally determined, or the amount 
agreed upon in the compromise, may be deducted from any sums owing by the 
United States to the person charged or may be recovered in a civil action in the 
United States district courts. 

INJUNCTION AND JURISDICTION 

SEc. 10. (a) The United States district courts shall have jurisdiction, subject 
to the provisions of rule 65 (a) and (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 
to restrain violations of this Act (including the restraint of transportation of 
gas or the operation of a pipeline facility) or to enforce standards established 
hereunder u-1;on petition by the appropriate United States attorney or the At
torney General on behalf of the United States. Whenever practicable, the Secre
tary shall give notice to any person against whom an action for injunctive relief 
is contemplated and afford him an opportunity to present his views, and, except 
in the case of a knowing and willful violation, shall afford him reasonable oppor
tunity to achieve compliance. However, the failure to give such notice and afford 
such opport11.1ity shall not preclude the granting of appropriate relief. 

(b) In any proceeding for criminal contempt for violation of an injunction or
restraining order issued under this section, which violation also constitutes a 
violation of this Act, trial shall be by the court or, upon demand of the accused, by 
a jury. Such trial shall be conducted in accordance with the practice and procedure 
applicable in the case of proceedings subject to the provisions of rule 42(b) of the 
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

(c) Actions under subsection (a) of this section and section 9 may be brought in
the district wherein any act or transaction constituting the violation occurred, or 
in the district wherein the defendant is found or is an inhabitant or transacts 
business, and process in such cases may be served in any other district of which 
the defendant is an inhabitant or transacts business or wherever the defendant 
may be found. 

(d) In any action brought under subsection (a) of this section and section 9,
subpenas for witnesses who are required to attend a United States district court 
may run into any other district. 

INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE PLANS 

SEC. 11. Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or 
operates pipeline facilities not subject to the jursidcition of the Federal Power 
Commission under the Natural Gas Act shall file with the Secretary or, where a 
certification or an agreement pursuant to section 5 is in effect, with the State 
agency, a plan for inspection and maintenance of each such pipeline facility 
owned or operated by such person, and any changes in such plan, in accordance 
with regulations prescribed by the Secretary or appropriate State agency. The 
Secretary may, by regulation, also require persons who engage in the trans
portation of gas or who own or operate pipeline facilities subject to the provisions 
of this Act to file such plans for approval. If at any time the agency with respon
sibility for enforcement of compliance with the standards established under this 
Act finds that such plan is inadequate to achieve safe operation, such agency 
shall, after notice and opportunity for a hearing, require such plan to be revised. 
The plan required by the agency shall be practicable and designed to meet the 
need for pipeline safety. In determining the adequacy of any such plan, such 
agency shall consider-

(!) relevant available pipeline safety data; 
(2) whether the plan is appropriate for the particular type of pipeline

transportation; 
(3) the reasonableness of the plan; and
(4) the extent to which such plan will contribute to public safety.

RECORDS, REPORTS, AND INSPECTION FOR COMPLIANCE 

SEc. 12. (a) Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who 
owns or operates pipeline facilities shall establish and maintain such records, make 
such reports, and provide such information as the Secretary may reasonably 
require to enable him to determine whether such person has acted or is acting in 
compliance with this Act and the standards established under this Act. Each 
such person shall, upon request of an officer, employee, or agent authorized by the 
Secretary, permit such officer, employee, or agent to inspect books, papers, records, 

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 6 of 57

Page 371 of 628



7 

and documents relevant to determining whether such person has acted or is 
acting in compliance with this Act and the standards established pursuant to 
this Act. 

(b) The Secretary is authorized to conduct such monitoring of State enforce
ment practices and such other inspection and investigation as may be necessary 
to aid in the enforcement of the provisions of this Act and the standards estab
lished pursuant to this Act. He shall furnish the Attorney General any information 
obtained indicating noncompliance with such standards for appropriate action. 
For purposes of enforcement of this Act, officers, employees, or agents authorized 
by the Secretary, upon .presenting appropriate credentials to the individual in 
charge, are authorized (1) to enter upon, at reasonable times, pipeline facilities, 
and (2) to inspect, at reasonable times and within reasonable limits and in a 
reasonable manner, such facilities. Each such inspection shall be commenced and 
completed with reasonable promptness. 

(c) Accident reports made by any officer, employee, or agent of the Department
of Transportation shall be available for use in any civil, criminal, or other judicial 
proceeding arising out of such accident. Any such officer, employee, or agent may 
be required to testify in such proceedings as to the facts developed in such in
vestigations. Any such report shall be made available to the public in a manner 
which need not identify individuals. All reports on research projects, demonstra
tion projects, and other related activities shall be public information. 

(d) All information reported to or otherwise obtained by the Secretary or his
representative pursuant to subsection (a), (b), or (c) which information contains 
or relates to a trade secret referred to in section 1905 of title 18 of the United States 
Code shall be considered confidential for the purpose of that section, except 
that such information may be disclosed to other officers or employees concerned 
with carrying out this Act or when relevant in any proceeding under this Act. 
Nothing in this section shall authorize the withholding of information by the 
Secretary or any officer, employee, or agent under his control, from the duly 
authorized committees of the Congress. 

ADMINISTRATION 

SEc. 13. (a) The Secretary shall conduct research, testing, development, and 
training necessary to carry out the provisions of this Act. The Secretary is au
thorized to carry out the provisions of this section by contract, or by grants to 
individuals, States, and nonprofit institutions. 

(b) Upon request, the Secretary shall furnish to the Federal Power Commission
any information he has concerning the safety of any materials, operations, devices, 
or processes relating to the transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline 
facilities. 

(c) The Secretary is authorized to advise, assist, and cooperate with other
Federal departments and agencies and State and other interested public and 
private agencies and persons, in the planning and development of (1) Federal 
safety standards, and (2) methods for inspecting and testing to determine com
pliance with Federal safety standards. 

ANNUAL REPORT 

SEc. 14. (a) The Secretary shall prepare and submit to the President for

transmittal to the Congress on March 17 of each year a comprehensive report 
on the administration of this Act for the preceding calendar year. Such report 
shall include-

(1) a thorough compilation of the accidents and casualties occurring in
such year with a statement of cause whenever investigated and determined 
by the National Transportation Safety Board; 

(2) a list of Federal gas pipeline safety standards established or in effect
in such year with identification of standards newly established during such 
year; 

(3) a summary of the reasons for each waiver granted under section 3(c)
during such year; 

(4) an evaluation of the degree of observance of applicable safety standards
for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities including a list of enforce
ment actions, and compromises of alleged violations by location and company 
name; 

(5) a summary of outstanding problems confronting the administration
of this Act in order of -priority-; 
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(6) an analysis and evaluation of research activities, including the policy
implications thereof, completed as a result of Government and private 
sponsorship and technological progress for safety achieved during such year; 

(7) a list, with a brief statement of the issues, of completed or pending
judicial actions under the Act; 

(8) the extent to which technical information was disseminated to the 
�cientific community and consumer-oriented information was made available 
to the public; 

(9) a compilation of-
(A) certifications filed by State agencies (including municipalities)

under section 5(a) which were in effect during the preceding calendar
year, and

(B) certifications tiled under section .5(a) which were rejected by the
Secretary during the preceding calendar year, together with a summary of 
the reasons for each such rejection; and 

(10) a compilation of-
(A) agreements entered into with State agencies (including municipal

ities) under section 5(b) which were in eftect during the preceding 
calendar year, and 

(B) agreements entered into under section .'J(b) which were terminated
by the Secretary during the preceding calendar year, together with a 
summary of the reasons for each such termination. 

(b) The report required by subsection (a) shall contain such recommendations
for additional legislation as the Secretary deems necessary to promote cooperation 
among the several States in the improvement of gas pipeline safety and to 
strengthen the national gas pipeline safety program. 

APPROPRIATIONS AUTHORIZED 

SEC. 15. For the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this Act over a period 
of three fiscal years, beginning with the fiscal year ending June 30, 1969, there is 
authorized to be appropriated not to exceed $500,000 for the fiscal year ending 
June 30, 1969; not to exceed $2,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1970; 
and not to exceed $3,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1971. 

BRIEF STATEMENT OF PURPOSE OF THE BILL 

The purpose of the bill as reported is to provide for the prescription 
and enforcement of minimum Federal safety standards for the trans
portation of natural and other gas by pipeline and for pipeline 
facilities. 

To achieve this purpose, the bill: 
1. Directs (sec. 3) the Secretary of Transportation within 24 months

to establish minimum safety standards for the gathering, transmission, 
and distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage, and for pipeline 
facilities used in the transportation or treatment of gas. (Provision is 
made for interim standards.) Certain standards apply retroactively 
and the Secretary otherwise is empowered to order removal of hazards 
to life or property. 

2. Places a duty (sec. 8) upon each person engaging in the trans
portation of gas or who owns or operates pipeline facilities to: 

(1) comply with these safety standards;
(2) file and comply with a plan of inspection and maintenance

required by section 11; and 
(3) permit access to records, make reports, and permit entry

or inspection as required by section 12. 
3. Provides (sec. 5) for the enforcement of these standards:

(1) as to pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas subject
to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission, by the
Secretary; and

(2) as to all other pipeline facilities and transportation of gas
either by the Secretary or by delegation to a State agency through
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either: (a) an effective certification by the State agency to the 
Secretary; or (b) an effective written agreement between the State 
agency and the Secretary. (As here used a State agency may mean 
a municipality.) 

4. In addition, the bill provides (sec. 4) for the establishment of a
technical pipeline safety standards committee; (sec. 6) for the judicial 
review of orders; (sec. 7) for cooperation with the Federal Power 
Commission; (sec. 9) for civil penalities; (sec. 10) for injunctions and 
jurisdiction; (sec. 13) for research; (sec. 14) for reports to the Congress; 
and (sec. 15) for the authorization of the sums of $500,000, $2 million, 
and $3 million for the next 3 fiscal years. 

BACKGROUND AND NEED FOR LEGISLATION 

Authority to improve the public safety as it is affected by trans
portation by private auto, bus, truck, railroad train, airplane, ship 
and pipelines which carry products other than gas and water, now 
exists in the Department of Transportation. The only significant 
mode of transportation which is presently beyond the reach of effec
tive comprehensive safety regulation is the transportation of gases 
by pipeline. The anomaly of this exception is that the Department 
of Transportation now exercises safety regulation over flammable 
and other hazardous gases moving other than by pipeline, and safety 
regulation over pipeline movements of many other commodities 
including petroleum but not of natural gas. 
Growth of Natural Gas Industry 

There are now over 800,000 miles of gas pipeline in the United 
States including approximately 63,000 miles of gathering lines, 
224,000 miles of transmission lines, and 536,000 miles of distribution 
lines. These lines range in diameter from less than 1 inch to 42 inches 
with 48-inch lines under consideration. They vary in condition from 
old, unprotected lines to new, well-protected lines. They differ in 
function from low-pressure distribution lines operated at one-fourth 
pound per square inch to, high-pressure transmission lines operated 
at 1,300 pounds per square inch, which is equivalent to a force of 
over 93 tons pushing against the pipeline wall over every square 
foot. Most of this pif eline system is of recent development.

Since World War I there has been -
1. A tremendous increase in the mileage of interstate trans

mission lines; 
2. An increase in the number of these lines which now traverse

populous areas; 
3. Introduction of natural gas into city distribution mains

originally constructed for manufactured gas; and 
4. A tremendous increase in the number of city distribution

mains to distribute natural gas. 
In 1945 there existed some 27,000 miles of gathering lines. This has 

more than doubled. 
In 1945 there existed some 77,000 miles of transmission lines. This 

has tripled. 
In 1945 there were some 68,000 miles of distribution lines for manu

factured gas. The total now is less than 1,000. 
In 1945 there existed some 113,000 miles of natural gas distribution 

lines. This is now nearly five times greater. 
H. Rept. 1390, 90-2-2 
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In summary, while in 1945 natural gas supplied something like one
eighth of the Nation's total consumption of the energy fuels and 
energy, today it supplies one-third. The population of the Nation at 
the same time has grown, but even so, the per capita consumption of 
natural gas has increased from 30 to 88 million British thermal units. 

This tremendous increase in the use of natural gas and the con
current increase in the number of miles of gaslines makes considera
tion of the industry's safety record and standards most important. 
The tremendous growth in the population in the United States during 
the same period; that is, from 132 to over 200 million, immeasurably 
increases the need for that consideration. 

Natural gas safety 
The testimony of the Secretary of Transportation and the Chair

man of the Federal Power Commission is that the safety record of the 
transmission industry has been a relatively good one. Studies made by 
the Federal Power Commission for the 18 years, 1950 up to November 
15, 1967, show that only 67 people have been killed during this time 
of whom 31 were nonemployees and 36 were employees. Of these 31 
of the general public, 17 were killed in one accident. Of the remainder, 
eight were killed as a result of their bulldozer or plow or road grader 
cutting the pipeline, and two were killed as a result of a runaway 
truck smashing into a pipeline metering station. 

While the number of deaths has been low in relation to other indus
tries, the recital of this fact alone, however, does not indicate ade
quately the seriousness of transmission systems failures. Over this 
period there has been an operational failure about every 5 days and a 
large number of failures during testing. In most cases the gas which 
escaped as a result of those failures did not ignite. In addition, the 
danger of injury and death has not been as great in the case of trans
mission lines which have been located away from areas of population 
density. When a transmission line failure occurs in a populated locale 
and ignition follows, the resulting explosion can be highly destructive. 
For example, the rupture and explosion at Natchitoches, La., in March 
1965, gutted a 13-acre area, killed 17 people, burned five houses, and 
melted cars and rocks in the vicinity. 

As to the safety record of distribution systems Secretary Boyd 
further testified: 

Problems of the distribution lines are more complicated. 
Distribution systems have been in existence for many years 
and much of the original pipe is still in use even though it is 
now 30 or 40 years old. In some instances, it may be twice 
as old as that. There is no readily available information 
concerning past accidents in distribution systems as there 
is with transmiss on pipelines. However, in the first few 
months of this year, there were several major accidents in 
distribution systems. On January 13, there was a fire which 
engulfed an area equivalent to an entire block in Queens, 
Long Island, in which seven people were injured and 19 
families left homeless. On February 19, there was an explo
sion in a rehearsal hall in South Milwaukee, Wis., where 250 
people had been located just 20 minutes prior to the explo
sion, 14 people were injured. Simple chance and the heroic 
action of the police prevented loss of life in both these 
incidents. 
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On February 27, in Hastings, N.Y., one person was killed 
and 15 injured and 35 families left homeless. On March 14, 
a crack in a main located in Logansport, Ind., caused a 
blowup leaving eight injured. Another recent accident 
occurred in Fort Worth, Tex., where a gas main failed during 
a test, resulting in a blowup in which 12 were injured. The 
most recent incident of which we are aware occurred less 
than a month ago, on November 11, in St. Louis. Fortu
nately, the office building, which reportedly was leveled, 
was unoccupied since the blast occurred at night. However, 
records and documents were destroyed and two passersby 
were slightly injured. 

How many major accidents have occurred in past years 
and how many minor ones this year is pure conjecture, 
but this emphasizes the need for safety jurisdiction over 
distribution lines to help prevent accidents of the type I 
have related (pp. 14-15). 

As to the gathering lines, Mr. C. W. Miller, president, Natural 
Gas Processors Association, testified before the committee: 

Since we testifiad before the Senate committee, we have 
supplemented the data there in evidence with another full 
year of safety information on gathering lines and can now 
inform the subcommittee that in 1966 forty-six members 
of this association who, in the aggregate handle more than 
90 percent of all gas liquids produced in the Nation, gathered, 
through 61,956.23 miles of pipeline, 86.91 percent of the 
nearly 17.5 trillion cubic feet of gas produced in the United 
States. 

Of these lines, 19.42 percent operated at pressures between 
50 and 200 psig and 40 percent at pressures lower than psig. 
No lost-time accidents occurred on these two categories of 
pipelines during the six years ended December 31, 1967. 
Of these lines, 98.05 percent were rurally located. The 
remaining 40.58 percent of gathering lines carrying pressures 
exceeding 200 psig, were 98.42 percent rural and the three 
lost-time accidents which occurred on this category of lines 
during the six years ended December 31, 1967, resulted 
from man-failures which no code or regulation could have 
prevented. No lost-time accidents on any of this 61,956.23 
miles of line occurred in 1966 or 1967 (p. 255). 

Federal interest in natural gas safety 
In 1950 a member of this committee, Mr. John Heselton, of Massa

chusetts, introduced in the 81st Congress H.R. 5933, which would 
authorize the Federal Power Commission to prescribe safety require
ments for natural gas companies. He reintroduced the bill in the 82d 
and 83d Congresses. He indicated that his attention had been called 
to certain explosions on transmission lines that had led to his making 
inquiries as to the frequency of such accidents, and that in cooperation 
with many of the gas transmission lines and the Federal Power Com
mission he was able to develop a considerable amount of data which 
led to his originally filing the bill. 
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In a hearing in the 83d Congress on his bill, R.R. 134, Mr. Heselton 
on June 10, 1954, testified that after he had filed his original bill: 

Certain representatives of the industry came to see me 
and told me very frankly and honestly, that they felt there 
was a need for an improved and revised code and asked 
whether I would be willing to def er any action on the legis
lation pending an effort on their part to develop such a code. 
I told them I would be very glad to do so. 

Since that time there has been, as will appear from the 
testimony, a very considerable effort on the part of the indus
try, with certain representatives from Government to 
develop that code. 
* * * * * * * 

I have been told that probably that will take the balance 
of the year before that can be done. 

Therefore, I am not interested in having the bill enacted 
until that action is completed. 

Then, it seems to me, it will be useful from everybody's 
point of view to have some action on this bill, or some 
similar type of bill, so that it would have Federal sanction. 

The activity on the part of the industry and of the regulatory 
agencies led to the adoption in 1955 of a substantially improved 
revision of the industry code B-31.8. Further revisions have been 
made in the code in 1958, 1961, 1963, and 1967. 

During the course of these years the Federal Power Commission 
actively engaged in the work on an improved code. The Commission 
first in 1953 expressed a position favoring some Federal authority over 
the promulgation of standards although then expressing opposition to 
the Commission's enforcement of any standards. In ensuing years with 
changing circumstances the Commission has recommended that the 
Natural Gas Act be amended to give it authority in the field. Lately 
the Commission has used the authority which it has under section 7 
of the Natural Gas Act in the granting of certificates of convenience 
and necessity for the construction of new interstate pipelines to impose 
certain requirements that the construction be in accordance with the 
specifications of the industry code. 

In 1963 the Report on the Movement of Dangerous Cargoes, an 
interagency study coordinated by the Office of the Under Secretary of 
Commerce for Transportation, recommended: 

The Federal Power Commission should be given specific 
statutory authority and responsibility for safety regulation 
of gas pipelines operating in interstate or foreign commerce. 

In 1965 the Senate committee conducted hearings on a bill assigning 
additional safety responsibility to the Federal Power Commission, 
during the course of which the Commission was directed to make a 
study of the safety of transmission lines referred to above. This study 
was subsequently printed by that committee. 

On February 16, 1967, President Lyndon B. Johnson, in his consumer 
message, stated: 

With the creation of the Department of Transportation, 
one agency now has responsibility for Federal safety regu
lations of air, water, and land transportation, and oil pipe-
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lines. It is time to complete this comprehensive system of 
safety by giving the Secretary of Transportation authority to 
prescribe minimum safety standards for the movement of 
natural gas by pipeline. 

I recommend the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1967. 

State interest in natural gas safety 
Over the years a number, but far from all, of the States, has pre

scribed pipeline safety standards by legislative or State commission 
action. 

By the time of the report of the Federal Power Commission to the 
Senate committee of March 25, 1966, 26 States had adopted safety 
codes and of these, 25 used ASA B.31-8 as their basic code. 

The creation of the Department of Transportation and the interest 
of that Department i.n natural gas pipeline safety resulted in many 
more States adopting safety standards, and in response to the question
naire submitted by the National Association in April 1967, the 40 of 
the 51 States (including the District of Columbia) which replied 
indicated they had authority to establish safety standards. The asso
ciation stated they understood that three more of the remaining 11 
had regulations while the others did not have any codes. 

At the time of testifying before our committee in February of 1968, 
the National Association stated that 47 States had adopted programs 
for the regulation of gas safety which was a gain of 20 States in 18 
months, and that an additional two States were expected shortly to be 
added to this number. 

While it is evident that the States recently have enlarged their 
jurisdiction in the field, their adoption of the codes is not uniform. 
Some have stricter standards than the codes and others have much 
less. This situation is described in the FPC report of 2 years ago to the 
Senate committee as follows: 

Some of the States have prescribed pipeline safety stand
ards by legislative or State commission action in most cases 
making the ASA Code mandatory for pipelines within their 
jurisdiction. Twenty-six States have safety codes, and of 
these 25 use the ASA Code either unchanged or with amend
ments. Although a few of the remaining States require 
odorization of gas, most have no transmission line safety regu
lations at all. Even in States where a State safety code is in 
force, limitations of State law restrict some of the code appli
cations to intrastate facilities. Thus, a State may be unable to 
regulate much of the transmission line mileage within its 
borders if it is part of an interstate facility. 

Despite adoption of the ASA Code in half the States, 58 
percent of the Nation's transmission line mileage 1 is not 
subject to State safety regulation and even greater mileage 
was not subject to regulation when installed. In 1964, 
85,310 miles of transmission pipeline were in the ground in 
States having safety codes, while lines in nonregulating States 
totaled 119,420 miles. Of the 5,100 miles of net increase in 
pipelines installed during 1963, 3,470 miles-more than two
thirds of the total-were in States without a safety code. 

1 Both interstate and Intrastate pipelines. 
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Most of the States which have basically adopted the ASA 
Code deviate considerably from it in many particulars. Sev
eral have found the ASA Code insufficiently strict, and have 
made extensive additions and amendments. Thus Connecticut 
has, among other changes, prescribed minimum electric 
resistivity standards for pipe coatings to protect pipe from 
corrosion and required the use of cathodic protect10n; the 
importance of these matters is recognized, but left to the 
pipeline operator's discretion by the ASA Code. For a further 
example, the ASA Code does not require that any welds 
made in the field be examined by X-rays. New York, on the 
other hand, requires X-ray examination of at least a pre
scribed minimum sample of the welds in each project. More
over, nine States have added the requirement, absent in the 
ASA Code, that accidents be reported immediately. 

An example of the diversity existing among the States 
can be found in their provisions concerning automatic shutoff 
valves. Of the States which have added to the ASA Code 
in this respect, two, Connecticut and Rhode Island, require 
automatic valves under certain circumstances, while New 
Jersey, New York, and Washing ton forbid them unless it can 
be shown in each case that they will contribute to safer 
operation. 

Despite the extensive additions found desirable in some 
States, eight jmisdictions have adopted the ASA Code 
virtually without change; and one has made a number of 
amendments relaxing the code requirements. In addition, 
at least six States have made no provision for incorporating 
revisions in the code as these are promulgated by the ASA. 
Thus, in some States the less stringent 1955 version of the 
ASA Code is still in force, although the association has 
revised it twice since that time. And while many, if not most, 
of the code's provisions are expressed as recommendations 
rather than requirements, only one State, California, has 
so drafted its regulations as explicitly to translate the code 
provisions into mandatory language. 

Most long-distance natural gas transmission companies 
operate in several States and in hundreds of different local 
government subd:visions. Thus the applicable legal safety 
restraints are frequently not uniform in respect to various 
segments of a single pipeline company system. 

(Committee print, pp 9-10, Senate Commerce Committee, "Safety 
of Interstate Natural Gas Pipelines," 89th Cong., second sess., Apr. 19, 
1966.) 

The analysis of the natural gas safety questionnaire conducted at 
the request of the Department of Transportation by the National 
Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners a year ago shows that 
while the authority to establish standards exists, this authority has 
been exercised in a variety of forms. For example, of the 40 commissions 
replying, only 10 had authority to establish standards for publicly 
owned gas utilities; only 31 of the 40 had adopted the USASI code, of 
whom 14 had modified sections of the code and 18 had adopted addi
tional or other safety standards. Only 21 of the 40 had a staff to provide 
for inspection. The analysis of the varying degree of exercise of 
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authority is set forth herein in appendix A. The authority of State 
commissions to have their orders enforced by court injunction and the 
amount of fine which may be imposed for willful violation of com
mission orders is set out in appendix B. 

One of the matters on which the committee had most difficulty in 
ascertaining the facts was that of the extent to which the State 
regulatory bodies exercised their jurisdiction to prescribe safety 
standards for gathering lines. Since gathering lines as such are not 
present in a number of States, the statistics as to the total are not 
meaningful. It does appear, however, that in some of the primary 
producing States, there is no State regulation. A summary of the 
situation is included as appendix C. 

The industry code 

The Industry Code B-31.8 was created by the American Society of 
Mechanical Engineers and the U.S.A. Standards Institute. It was 
first published in 1935 and since 1952 there have been 4 complete 
new editions and numerous supplements and amendments. 

Primary responsibility for its development has centered in the code 
committee, made up of representatives of professional engineering 
societies, associations, and governmental agencies such as the National 
Safety Council, the Bureau of Ships, U.S. Coast Guard, the American 
Society of Safety Engineers, the American Society for Testing & Ma
terials, the American Insurance Association, and the American 
Institute of Mining, Metallurgical & Petroleum Engineers, as well 
as industry groups such as the American Gas Association, American 
Iron & Steel Institute, and the American Petroleum Institute. 

The code committee includes approximately 70 to 7 5 members; 
representatives of the Federal Power Commission, the Bureau of 
Mines, State public service commissions, university engineering de
partments, research institutes, consulting engineers, contractors, in
spection services, manufacturers, pipeline companies, the National 
Energy Board of Canada, the American Gas Association, and others. 

In addition, the B-31.8 code incorporates many standards and spec
ifications by reference from other organizations, such as the Amer
ican Society for Testing & Materials, American Standards Associa
tion, American Petroleum Institute, ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel 
Code, and the National Board of Fire Underwriters. 

Chairman White has referred to the code committee as "made up 
of technical experts, people who are the best this country has pro
duced." Secretary Boyd referred to the members of the B-31.8 
code committee with these words: 

I believe that they have performed a meritorious and 
public-spirited task over these past years. A counterpart in 
other industries is difficult to find. Few industries have 
devoted the time and attention to safety procedures as has 
this one. 

Secretary Boyd went on to say, however, that he felt there were 
shortcomings in the code. 

Yet pipeline transportation of the commodity in which this 
industry deals is inherently dangerous. The examples of 
pipeline accidents which I described to you a few moments 
ago gives us some idea of the magnitude of the destruction· 
which results from such accidents. The steadily and rapidly 
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increasing population densities where gas is used presents, in 
my judgment, a compelling and convincing case for assuring 
that additional measures to protect the public are taken. 
Clear authority to establish comprehensive safety standards 
must be enacted; we believe that the exercise of such author
ity by the Federal Government will assure the best frame
work within which the standards can be developed and 
implemented. 

I do not believe that we can provide such protection 
through the enactment of the present code. I have attached 
to my statement a list of some of the major areas where the 
code would not provide the kind of protection which we 
believe is essential (p. 15). 

APPENDIX TO STATEMENT OF HON. ALAN s. BOYD, SECRETARY, 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

Some of the major areas where the USASI B31.8 Code does 
not provide the safety standards essential for gas pipeline 
systems: 

1. The Code does not provide for a systematic testing or
evaluation of pipe already in the ground. 

2. The code does not require a pressure test for all up
grading of pipeline systems. 

3 The code mentions use of varying types of construction 
materials to be used in cold climates, but offers no positive 
specifications to insure materials with special properties are 
used. 

4. The code does not require uniform marking of the exact
location of lines. 

5. The code does not define welding inspection procedures;
specifically, the frequency of inspection of welds by radio
graphic methods. 

6. The code does not specify uniform construction speci
fications for new pipeline. 

7. The code requires that companies have a plan for pipe
line maintenance, but it does not specify the extent, thorough
ness, or any specific points of such a plan. 

8. The code establishes design factor requirements for pipe
line according to location. In rural areas, the code limits the 
operating pressure to 72 percent of the design stress. In 
urban areas, the code limits the operating pressure to 40 
percent of the design stress, i.e., giving a greater safety 
factor. 

It does not provide a method for changing these require
ments as population density changes. Consequently, we now 
have suburban homes, office buildings, and shopping centers 
in close proximity to pipelines originally designed to operate 
at a higher percent of design stress. 

9. The code does not give inspection procedures during
construction for each type of pipeline. 

10. The procedures for revision of the code are extremely
time consuming. The time required for a revision can be 2 
years or more. This timelag is too great when the public 
safety is concerned (pp. 19-20). 
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Need for Federal regulation 
In summary, the accident record of the industry has been a spotty 

one. In certam areas it has been good; in other areas, statistics are 
lacking but many illustrations can be given of unfortunate and dis
astrous failures. 

Present regulation by State commissions is varied and indeed there 
is difficulty in determining the effectiveness of State enforcement 
inasmuch as many of the States only recently have prescribed safety 
standards. 

The primary problem results from the fact that whatever standards 
have been applied, have been applied primarily to new pipe and to 
new construction. Secretary Boyd testified that he considered the 
major shortcoming of the code which has been adopted by most of 
the States and by the industry is that it does not provide for system
atic testing or evaluation of pipe already in the ground. 

The tremendous increase in the number and location of pipelines 
has great bearing on the potential danger associated with pipeline 
failures. Such of these failures as have occurred in the past on our 
transmission lines up to now have not been accompanied by too many 
disasters. Most of these lines were laid to code specifications, but the 
code deviated between populated and unpopulated areas and today 
we now have pipe in the ground that does not necessarily meet today's 
standards under today's conditions of growing population. Grave as 
may be this hazard, it is small compared with that resulting from the 
introduction of natural gas into the distribution mains of our cities 
many of which were laid years ago for the handling of manufactured 
gas, and the tremendous growth of the natural gas distribution in
dustry itself. The industry growth plus population growth enhances 
the need for adequate safety standards and enforcement. 

HEARINGS 

Hearings on S. 1166, the bill here being reported, and on H.R.
6551, a pill which was the reintroduction of the recommendation 
made by the Federal Power Commission in previous years for au
thority being placed with it for the regulation of interstate trans
mission lines safety, were held by the Subcommittee on. Communica
tions and Power starting December 6, 1967, and continuing during the 
latter part of February until March 1 of this year. 

S. 1166 was supported as to principle, with several amendments sug
gested, by the Department of Transportation, the Federal Power Com
mission, and the Bureau of the Budget. Other persons testified that 
they would have no 'objection to the bill if amended in the fashion 
they indicated; namely American Petroleum Institute, Indep'endent 
Natural Gas Association of America, American G11s Association 
Natural Gas Producers Association, American Public Gas Associa� 
tion, certain gas companies, National Association of Regulatory 
Utility Comrmssioners, and State Commissions. Representatives of 
unions also appeared for or filed statements urging the adoption of a 
bill. No one appeared in opposition. 

ScoPE OF THE BILL 

The reported bill provides for the establishment and enforcement 
of minimum Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the 
transportation of natural and other gases. 

H. Rept. 1390, 90-2-3 
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Section 2 contains definitions which describe the persons, gas, 
transportation, and facilities covered. 
Persons covered 

Each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns 
or operates pipeline facilities comes within the jurisdiction of the 
bill. "Person" means any individual, State or municipality, including 
personal representatives therefor. The jurisdiction extends to opera
tions of public bodies, for example, municipally owned distribution 
companies, but the Secretary has indicated it was not the intent that 
its provisions apply to federally operated facilities, including the 
military (p. 335). 
Ga,s covered 

Gas is defined as meaning natural gas, flammable gas, or gas which 
is toxic or corrosive. Thus gases other than natural gas are covered 
by the bill, including what might be liquids when they are transported 
in gaseous form. (The Department of Transportation has certain 
other authority over transportation in liquid form.) The jurisdiction 
extends even to manufactured gas (testimony of Secretary Boyd, 
p. 36).

The bill as referred used the phrase "or nonflammable hazardous
gas." The committee has amended this to "or gas which is toxic or 
corrosive." The original language could have implied jurisdiction 
over any gas when under a pressure creating a hazard such as steam 
or even compressed air. The Secretary testified that it was not the 
intent to provide for such coverage but for toxic and corrosive gases, 
chlorine, for example (p. 16). 
Transportation covered 

The term "transportation of gas" is defined as the gathering, 
transmission or distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or 
affecting interstate or foreign commerce. With exception as to gather
ing in certain circumstances, this means all aspects of the transporta
tion of gas from the well head to the consumer. As testified by Secre
tary Boyd: 

There is no question but what every element of a gas 
gathering, transmission, and distribution line is moving 
gas, which is either in or affects in�erstate commerce. * * *

(p. 35). 
I don't think that it even requires any elasticity of the 

commerce clause of the Constitution to define 994J{00 percent 
of this activity as being clearly within the commerce clause 
(p. 36). 

It should be noted that storage of gas "in or affecting interstate 
commerce" is included in the coverage. 
Gathering 

During the course of the hearings much testimony was presented 
as to the need for the establishment of Federal standards over gather
ing pipelines. This jurisdiction had not been in the bill as reported by 
the Senate committee, but had been added on the floor of the Senate. 
There is no question that there exist certain gathering lines which 
are located in populous areas but the tremendous bulk of such lines 
is located in rural areas. Testimony was offered as to the safety record 
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of these lines and that no man-days had been lost as the result of 
accidents on gathering lines during the past 6 years. The safety 
record is impressive. 

On the other hand, as the Secretary of Transfortation testified,
many of these lines originally were located in rura areas which since 
have become populated and it can be expected that gathering lines 
in the future also may become surrounded by people. The committee, 
accordingly, in the reported bill has provided an exception for the 
Federal jurisdiction over the prescription of safety standards for 
gathering lines where gathering occurs in rural locations which lie 
outside the limits of an incorporated or unincorporated city, town, 
village, or other designated residential or commercial area such as a 
subdivision, a business or shopping center, a community develop
ment, or similar populated area. 

Since the population within an area can change in:the future and 
since the illustrations of populated areas set forth in the language may 
not cover all situations and are subject to interpretation as well, the 
Secretary is given the authority to define from time to time what is 
a nonrural area. The committee wishes it to be clear that its thought 
as to a populated area does not mean that it must be one with a total 
of a large number of people. It is evident that to a few the safety stand
ards pertaining to a pipeline passing near their houses, their school, 
or their place of employment is of as much concern as though they 
were part of a large group. 
Pipeline facilities covered-treatment plans 

The term "pipeline facilities" is defined to include any new or exist
ing pipe, rights-of-way, and equipment, facilities, or buildings used 
in the transportation of gas or the treatment of gas during the course 
or transportation. There is a qualification contained in this definition 
which provides that the term "rights-of-way" as used in the legislation 
does not authorize the Secretary of Transportation to prescribe the 
location or routing of any pipeline facility, which is discussed later in 
this report. 

The bill as referred included all pipeline facilities used in the treatment 
of gas just as it included all gathering lines. Consistent with the amend
ment which the committee has made for an exemption of gathering 
lines where gathering occurs in rural locations lying outside populated 
areas, the committee has modified the coverage over facilities used in 
the treatment of gas so that facilities located on the exempted gather
ing lines are excluded from coverage of the bill. This is accomplished 
by providing that the jurisdiction applies to the facilities used in the 
treatment of gas during the course of transportation, and transporta
tion has been defined to exclude certain gathering lines .. 
Other definitions 

Other definitions are included in this section covering what is meant 
by State (includes District of Columbia and the Commonwealth of 
Puerto Rico); municipality (includes county or other political sub
division of a State as well) ; and a few other terms as used in the bill. 

DuTY OF SECRETARY OF TRANSPORTATION To EsTABLISH FEDERAL 
SAFETY STANDARDS 

The basic tool created by this bill to improve the safety of gas 
pipelines and facilities is the direction given to the Secretary of 
Transportation in section 3 to set minimum safety standards to be 

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 19 of 57

Page 384 of 628



20 

observed by all persons engaged in the transportation of gas or 
owning or operating pipeline facilities. 

Not more that 2 years after enactment of this legislation, the 
Secretary is required to establish permanent minimum Federal 
safety standards for the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities. 
New or amended standards may be established from time to time 
thereafter. Such standards may apply to the design, installation, 
inspection, testing, construction, extension, operation, replacement, 
and maintenance of pipeline facilities. Such standards necessarily 
will take into account geology and above-surface conditions and 
structures, although the Secretary may not prescribe the location 
or routing of any pipeline facility. 

To assure that Federal safety standards will be practicable and 
designed to meet the need for pipeline safety, the Secretary of Trans
portation, in prescribing such standards, is required to take into 
consideration (1) relevant available pipeline safety data, (2) whether 
such standards are appropriate for the particular type of pipeline 
transportation, (3) the reasonableness of proposed standards, and 
(4) the extent to which such standards will contribute to public
safety.

With respect to both interim and permanent Federal safety stand
ards, a State agency may adopt additional or more stringent stand
ards not incompatible with the Federal standards. Additional or more 
stringent State standards are prohibited as to interstate transmission 
facilities, that is, pipeline facilities used in the transportation of gas 
which are subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission 
under the Natural Gas Act. With respect to these facilities, the Fed
eral standards will apply, providing for uniformity of regulation where 
the lines of a single company may traverse a number of �tates. 

INTERIM STANDARDS 

The committee believes that the need for m!;Janingful pipeline safety 
regulation is serious enough that no vacuum should be permitted to 
exist during the period in which the Secretary is developing standards. 
Therefore, he is required by section 3(a) to establish interim Federal 
safety standards within 3 months after enactment. As noted elsewhere 
in this report, not all States have safety codes or regulations applying 
to all phases of pipeline operation. To fill these gaps quickly, the 
Secretary shall establish as the Federal mandatory interim standards 
existing State standards. Where all or part of the distribution and 
tran�mission operations in any State are not covered by State stand
ards, the Secretary must develop and establish interim standards 
which will consist of the standards common to a majority of existing 
State standards. To further guard against gaps in the standards, any 
interim standard will remain in effect until specifically amended, or 
revoked, even if this is not done until more than 24 months after 
enactment of this bill. 

APPLICATION OF STANDARDS TO, AND REMOVAL OF, HAZARDS IN EXISTING 

PIPELINE FACILITIES 

The standards to be developed by the Secretary under section 
3(b) may apply to the design, installation, inspection, testing, con
struction, extension, operation, replacement, and maintenance of 
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pipeline facilities except that those standards affecting the design, 
installation construction, initial inspection, and initial testing shall 
not be applicable to pipeline in existence on the date such standards 
are adopted. In other words, any Federal standard leading to inspec
tion and testing (other than initial inspecting and testing), extension, 
operation, replacement, and maintenance may be applied to existing 
pipe as well as new pipe. In addition, although certain standards 
established for the laying of new pipe may not apply to existing pipe, 
the Secretary of Transportation nevertheless is given the authority 
to require the removal of hazards whenever he finds a particular 
facility to be hazardous to life or property. 

A designation of the type of standards which would and would not 
apply to existing pipe was contained in the bill as it was ref erred to 
this committee. The reasonsprompting such designation as set out 
in the Senate report on the bill is as follows: 

The committee appreciates the fear of the industry that it 
might be required to bear the expense of removing large 
quantities of pipeline laid before a standard becomes effective 
for no other reason than that it does not comply with the Federal 
standard, irrespective of whether the pipe is sound and safe. 
For this reason, the committee has provided that standards 
affecting the design, installation, construction, initial inspec
tion, and initial testing shall not be applicable to pipeline 
facilities in existence on the date such standard is adopted, 
unless the Secretary finds that a potentially hazardous situ
ation exists, in which case, he may by order require com
pliance with any such standard. This provision requires the 
Secretary to make a finding of potential hazard before apply
ing certain standards to existing pipe. When such finding and 
order has been issued, the standards can be made imme
diately applicable to remedy the potentially hazardous 
situation (subject to judicial review of the order) since all 
of the requirements of the rulemaking will- have previously 
been satisfied. 

In the course of the hearings before this committee, the Secretary 
urged an amendment to this section which would strike this provision 
differentiating the standards to be applied to existing pipe. He said 
that he felt that the fears of the industry were unjustified, that the bill 
contained adequate restraints on the authority. of the Secretary in 
establishing standards; that it imposed obligations to consider criteria, 
and that the action of the Secretary was subject to procedural require
ments of the Administrative Procedure Act and eventually to judicial 
review. 

During the course of the hearings, representatives of the Inde
pendent Natural Gas Association asserted a need for the exemption 
of the application of standards to those activities which had been 
completed prior to the effective date of any new standard on the 
ground that it might be contended that all existing facilities tech
nically would become nonconforming immediatel,Y upon adoption of 
any new standard and that under such interpretat10n this would occur 
not only on adoption of initial standards but would recur whenever 
any new or amended standards were adopted in the future. These 
representatives argued that the language in the bill as referred might 
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be interpreted to permit the Secretary to wipe out the exemption in 
its entirety as to existing facilities by a finding that all facilities not 
constructed in accordance v,ith the newly adopted standards created 
a potentially hazardous situation. 'Ihey urged that this language be 
amended. 

Although the committee is of belief that the fears of the Secretary 
as to the possible restrictive effect of the language of the bill as 
referred, and the fears of the industry as to the possibly unrestrained 
authority contained in such language 11,re unfounded, the committee 
in the reported bill has adopted language which it thinks makes 
completely clear that it is the committee's intent that hazards in the 
pipe in the ground are to be removed, regardless of applicability or 
nonapplicability of any given standards. 

The representatives of the gas industry in speaking to the question 
of existing pipe made the following observations as to safety. 

In other governmental codes covering ships, planes, 
buildings, and other structures, the incorporation of new 
requirements for construction, design, etc., has never been 
felt to render all ships, planes, buildings, etc., previously 
constructed, obsolete and unsafe. This is particularly true of 
airplanes where the rapidly developing science of design 
has created new and better planes but this has not required 
the scrapping of all older planes which have been proven safe 
for operation within their prescribed limitations (p.166). 

The committee believes that the gas industry reference to the 
aviation industry is especially apt. The committee feels that it is not 
necessary that the adoption of new standards automatically must be 
made applicable to existing pipelines or to existing aircraft; but the 
committee does feel that when it develops that existing pipelines, 
just like existing aircraft, develop hazards, these must be corrected 
and corrected promptly. 

Depending upon the severity or degree of the hazard ascertained 
to exist in one of a given type of aircraft, to any part of or equipment 
used in the aircraft or to the entire plane itself, the Federal Aviation 
Administrator can direct that all such parts or all such aircraft must 
be inspected for a similar hazard within a certain number of hours, 
can order the parts modified, strengthened, or replaced within a given 
time, or can even order all such planes grounded until such inspection, 
modification, strengthening, or replacement has been made. 

An examination of some representative actions taken by the 
Administrator shows that he has required the replacement of a 
defective drive system coupling, new design parts for torsion strap 
assemblies and main rotor hub clevis bearing, and modification of 
longitudinal control difficulties, in each case before further flight. He 
has required a flap system modification within 10 flight hours, an 
elevator train tab flutter modification within 5 hours, modification of 
cyclic input swash plate ring within 25 hours, and inspection of tail 
rotor blades prior to first flight each day and later modification. He 
has required inspection of drive system component within 15 hours, 
tail rotor shaft drive failure within 10 hours, selective valve control 
cables within 10 hours, aileron control idler within 15 hours. He has 
required deactivation of a yaw damper within 10 hours, deactivation 

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 22 of 57

Page 387 of 628



23 

of a passenger cabin blanket heater switch, and prohibited use of 
propeller reverse, until modifications were made. Many other illus-
trations could be given. 

Just so, when the Secretary finds that a particular type of pipeline 
valve is hazardous, the Secretary should have and the bill does give 
to him, the authority to require the removal of this hazard by removing 
or replacing this type of valve wherever it exists. If the Secretary 
finds that a particular kind of pipe has a metallurgical specification 
when located in a particular type of soil which leads to accelerated 
corrosion, the Secretary should have the authority to require, and the 
reported bill gives him this authority to require, the replacement of 
this type of pipe wherever the same soil conditions exist. 

The Secretary's action shall be taken by order which is subject to 
procedures contained elsewhere in the act, as well as to judicial 
review in the event it should be necessary, but the committee wishes 
it to be quite clear that this order can be issued to any person operating 
the particular type of facility which the Secretary has found to be 
hazardous. 

The committee believes that in giving the Secretary this authority 
to move directly to remove a hazard, the Secretary has the power 
permitting him to achieve protection to the public much more quickly 
and effectively than he might have were he to invoke the cumber
some and more restrictive route of attempting to apply standards of 
general universality to a given situation. 

CoMPANY DuTY To CoMPLY WITH SAFETY STANDARDS 

Section 8 places the duty to comply with the safety standards 
established by the Secretary of Transportation under section 3 upon 
each person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or 
operates pipeline facilities. These sections plus section 5 are the basic 
framework for the achievement of greater safety. 

Under section 8, each person who engages in the transportation of 
gas or who owns or operates pipeline facilities shall-

(1) at all times after the date any applicable safety standard
established under this act takes effect, comply with the re
quirements of such standard; and 

(2) file and comply with a plan of inspection and maintenance
required by section 11; and 

(3) permit access to or copying of records, and make reports or
provide information, and permit entry or inspection, as required 
under section 12. 

The bill as reported here differs from the bill as referred in that it is 
made clear that owners and operators of facilities as well as those 
engaged in transportation have the duty to comply. 

Tort liability 
Section S(b) of the bill provides that nothing in this legislation will 

affect the common law or the statutory tort liability of any person. 
This language is designed to assure that the tort liability of any person 
existing under common law or any statute will not be relieved by 
reason of the enactment of this legislation or compliance with its 
provisions. 
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COMPANY PLANS FOR INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE 

An important part of the program proposed by this legislation to 
achieve pipeline safety is the plan of inspection and maintenance 
according- to which the company maintains surveillance of its lines 
and facilities. 

Section 11 of the reported bill requires each person who enga�es in 
the transportation of gas or owns or operates pipeline facilities to 
file a plan for inspection and maintenance with the Secretary of Trans
portation, or with the State agency where a certification under section 
5(a) or an agreement under section 5(b) is in effect. The filing of such 
plans is mandatory under the bill as to all gathering, transmission, 
and distribution pipelines and pipeline facilities which are not under 
the jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission under the Natural 
Gas Act. The filing by interstate transmission lines subject to Com
mission jurisdiction is optional with the Secretary. 

If the agency with responsibility for enforcement of compliance 
with the standards established under this legislation finds that such 
plan is inadequate to achieve safe operation, such agency must 
(after notice and hearing) require that such plan be revised. In

determining the adequacy of any such plan, and to assure that it 
·will be practicable and designed to meet the. need for pipeline safety,
such agency is required to take into consideration (l) relevant avail
able pipeline safety data, (2) whether the plan is appropriate for the
particular type of pipeline transportation, (3) the reasonableness of
the plan, and (4) the extent to which the plan will contribute to
public safety.

The bill as reported here differs from the bill as referred in that 
it is made clear that owners and operators of facilities as well as those 
engaged in transportation have the duty to comply. 

RECORDS, REPORTS, AND INSPECTIONS 

Section 12 provides that the Secretary of Transportation may 
require the maintenance of such records, reports, and information 
as he deems reasonably necessary to enable him to determine whether 
persons subject to this legislation are acting in compliance with 
this legislation and the standards established thereunder. Each such 
person must permit authorized agents of the Secretary to inspect 
records and documents for the purpose of determining whether such 
person is acting in compliance with this legislation and the standards 
established thereunder. 

The section authorizes the Secretary of Transportation to monitor 
State enforcement practices and authorized agents of the Secretary 
may, at reasonable times, enter upon pipeline facilities for the pur
pose of conducting an inspection of such facilities. The Secretary is 
required to furnish the Attorney General any information obtained 
indicating noncompliance with standards established under this 
legislation. 

In requiring that accident reports and facts developed in accident 
investigations be available for use in both civil and criminal judicial 
proceedings, the committee does not intend to predetermine its 
admissibility as evidence. That determination is, of course, a preroga
tive of the courts and a decision each court must make for itself under 
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applicable rules of evidence. The section does preclude the Secretary 
from withholding any such report. 

The section further provides that any information obtained by the 
Secretary of Transportation or his representative which contains or 
relates to a trade secret will be considered confidential for the purpose 
of section 1905 of title 18, United States Code, which provides criminal 
penalties for the disclosure by an officer or employee of the United 
States of information relating to trade secrets in any manner or to 
any extent not authorized by law. The section authorizes disclosure 
to other officers or employees of the Department of Transportation 
concerned with carrying out this legislation and also when relevant 
in any proceeding under this legislation. Nothing in this provision of 
the bill is to be construed as authorizing the withholding of informa
tion from duly authorized committees of the Congress. 

ENFORCEMENT OF THE SAFETY STANDARDS 

The relationship of Federal-State regulatory authority created by 
this bill differs as between local pipelines and interstate transmission 
lines. In the latter area, the lines of a single transmission company 
may traverse a number of States and uniformity of regulation is a 
desirable objective. For this reason, section 3 provides for a Federal 
preemption in the case of interstate transmission lines. 

On the other hand, in the case of local lines exempted from the 
economic regulatory authority of the Federal Power Commission under 
the Natural Gas Act, States may establish additional or more 
stringent standards, provided they are not inconsistent with the 
Federal minimum standards. The committee has provided for this 
different treatment because each State authority is uniquely equipped 
to know best the special aspects of local pipeline safety which are 
particulU,rly applicable to that community. 

This bill also gives the States an important role in enforcement, as 
well. Because of preemption, the safety standards for interstate trans
mission lines will always be Federal standards, and enforcement will 
be a Federal responsibility. Consistent, however, with the role this 
bill gives the States in amplifying distribution standards, the com
mittee has sought to give the States a primary role in enforcement of 
local pipeline safety standards. 

Section 5 envisions that the States may substitute State for Federal 
enforcement of the safety standards as they apply to gathering, dis
tribution and local transmission lines in one of two ways, either (1) 
by the submission to the Secretary of an annual certification by a 
State agency regarding its authority and enforcement activities, or 
(2) in situations when the State agency does not or cannot submit such
certification, through a written agreement with the Secretary for the
State agency to carry out on behalf of the Secretary the administration
of the Federal standards.

State agency certifi,cation 
Under section 5(a) of the reported bill an arrangement is provided 

whereby the provisions of this legislation will not .apply to pipeline 
facilities and the transportation of gas (other than interstate trans
mission facilities) within a State when the safety standards and 

H. Rept. 1890, 90-2--4 
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practices applicable to such facilities and transportation are regulated 
by a State agency (including a municipality) which submits annually 
to the Secretary of Transportation a certification that such State 
agency-

(1) has regulatory jurisdiction over safety standards and
practices of such facilities and transportation; 

(2) has adopted each Federal safety standard applicable to
such facilities and transportation as of the date of the certifica
tion; 

(3) is enforcing each such standard; and
(4) has authority to require record maintenance, reporting,

and inspection substantially the same as provided under section 
12 and filing for approval of plans of inspection and maintenance 
described in section 11. 

The State agency must also certify that the law of the State provides 
for the enforcement of the safety standards of such State agency 
by way of injunctive and monetary sanctions. 

Each annual certification must include a report showing-
(!) the name and address of each person subject to the juris

diction of the State agency; 
(2) all accidents or incidents reported during the preceding 12

months by each such person involving personal injury requiring 
hospitalization, fatality, or property damage exceeding $1,000, 
together with a summary of the State agency's investigation as to 
the cause and circumstances surrounding each such accident or 
incident; 

(3) the record maintenance, reporting, and inspection practiced
by the State agency to enforce compliance with Federal safety 
standards, including a detail of the number of inspections made of 
pipeline facilities by the State agency during the preceding 12 
m�fu;�d 

(4) such other information as the Secretary may require.

State agency agreement 
Section 5(b) provides that in the case of pipeline facilities and trans

portation of gas (not subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Power 
Commisson) for which the Secretary does not receive an annual 
certification, he is authorized to enter into an agreement with a 
State agency (including a municipality) under which such agency 
will carry out on behalf of the Secretary such actions as may be 
necessary to-

(1) Establish an adequate program for record maintenance,
reporting, and inspection designed to assist compliance with 
Federal safety standards; 

(2) Establish procedures for approval of plans of inspection
and maintenance substantially the same as required under 
section 11; 

(3) Implement a compliance program acceptable to the
Secretary, including provision for inspection of pipeline facilities 
used in the transportation of gas; and 

(4) Cooperate fully in a system of Federal monitoring of such
compliance program and reporting under regulations prescribed 
by the Secretary. 
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Any such agreement will require the State agency to promptly 
notify the Secretary of any violation or probable violation of a Federal 
safety standard which it discovers as a result of its program. 
Grants to aid State enforcement 

Under section 5(c) of the reported bill, the Secretary is authorized 
to make grants from appropriated funds. In the case of a State agency 
which submits an application not later than September 30 in any 
calendar year, the Secretary may pay up to 50 percent of the cost 
of a State safety program, whether carried out pursuant to a certifi
cation under section 5(a) or an agreement under section 5(b). The 
State agency must assure the Secretary that it will provide for the 
payment of that portion of the cost of such safety program which 
exceeds the amount of the Federal grant. At the request of the Sec
retary the committee amended the bill to require that such State 
agency must also provide assurances that State expenditures for gas 
safety programs (excluding Federal grants) will not fall below the 
average level of such expenditures for the last 2 fiscal years preceding 
the date of enactment of this legislation. 

Recertification 
Section 5(d) provides that a certification which is in effect under 

section 5(a) will not apply to any new or amended Federal safety 
standard established after the date of such certification. The pro
visions of this legislation will apply to any new or amended Federal 
safety standard until the State agency has adopted such standard 
and submitted an appropriate certification under section 5(a). 
Rejection of certification or termination of agreement 

Section 5(a) provides that if the Secretary determines, after receipt 
of an annual certification, that the State agency is not satisfactorily 
enforcing compliance with Federal safety standards, he may reject 
the certification or take such other action as he deems appropriate 
to achieve adequate enforcement, including the assertion of Federal 
jurisdiction. 

Section 5(e) provides that the Secretary may terminate any agree
ment in effect under section 5(b) if he finds that the State agency has 
failed to comply with any provision of such agreement. Such termina
tion is required to be published in the Federal Register and will 
become effective no sooner than 15 days after the date of such pub
lication. 

In either case, whether rejection or termination, the Secretary's 
action must be after notice and hearing. 
Committee changes 

The bill as referred provided for two types of agreements between 
the Secretary and a State agency. The committee has retained the 
second type, but substituted a certification procedure for the other. 

In the bill as referred, section 5(a) authorized the Secretary-
by written agreement with a State agency to exempt from 
the Federal safety standards pipeline facilities and the 
transportation of gas not subject to the jurisdiction of the 
Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act, under 
which agreement such State agency-
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(1) adopts each Federal safety standard ap:r,licable to
such transportation of gas and pipeline facilities and 
any amendment to each such standard, established under 
this act; 

(2) undertakes a program satisfactory to the Secre
tary, designed to achieve adequate compliance with such 
standards and with the plans of inspection and mainte
nance required by section 11; and 

(3) agrees to cooperate fully in a system of Federal
monitoring of such compliance program and reporting 
under regulations prescribed by the Secretary. 

No such agreement may be concluded with any State 
agency which does not have the authority (i) to impose the 
sanctions provided under sections 9 and 10, (ii) to require 
record maintenance, reporting, and inspection responsibilities 
substantially the same as are provided under section 12, and 
(iii) to require the filing for approval of plans of inspection
and maintenance described in section 11.

The Senate report describes the intent of this provision as follows: 

Section 5(a) envisions a series of agreements between the 
Secretary and the States, substituting State for Federal 
enforcement for gas distribution and local transmission lines. 

To obtain such substitution, the State must adopt the 
Federal standards as its own; impose the same sanctions as 
would the Federal Government (including requiring records, 
reports, inspections, and the filing of plans of inspection) ; 
implement an effective compliance program; and agree to 
cooperate in Federal monitoring of its compliance program. 
Under these agreements, in effect, State law and State en
forcement responsibility replace the Federal law for local 
facilities because the State has undertaken to do the job 
conscientiously and effectively. Thus, this subsection creates 
a mechanism whereby the States may participate to the 
utmost in establishing and enforcing gas pipeline safety 
standards for distribution lines and local transmission lines. 

In the course of the hearings before the committee it was pointed 
out that whereas a condition precedent to a written agreement was 
that the State agency had authority to impose the penalties pro
vided under section 9 and seek the injunction relief provided by sec
tion 10, most State agencies did not have such authority as to 
penalties, although most of them could seek enforcement through 
injunctions (see app. B). It thus appeared that some amendment 
to section 5(a) must be made if any such State enforcement program 
were to be initiated. 

During the hearings also the National Association of Regulatory 
Utility Commissioners appeared, and numerous State agencies filed 
statements, in support of H.R. 6551, a bill amending the Natural 
Gas Act which would have placed safety regulation over interstate 
transmission lines in a Federal agency (the Federal Power Commission) 
but clearly, by reason of section l(c) of that act preserved a traditional 
line of demarcation between Federal and State regulatory respon-
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sibilities in the natural gas industry. 1 The association urged as an 
alternative approach an amendment to S. 1166 along the lines of 
section 1 (c) which would provide for State regulation upon an annual 
certification covering its authority and activities in the field.2 It urged 
its amendment as creating "a Federal safety floor below which no 
State could fall, yet the enforcement burden would remain with the 
State commissioners. Direct Federal regulation would only apply to 
those systems not subject to effective State regulation." 

In the bill as reported, the committee incorporates the results of its 
consideration of the need to amend the agreement conditions and the 
alternative proposal. 

The language adopted by the committee indicates a reaffirmation 
of the intent that State law and State enforcement replace the Federal 
law for local facilities where the State agency has undertaken conscien
tiously and effectively to adopt and enforce the Federal standards. 

It should be clear that the committee language while adopting 
the certification (instead of agreement) suggestion, otherwise departs 
radically from the N ARUC proposal. The committee in nowise 
accepts the declaration that gas safety matters are primarily of local 
concern and subject to regulation by the States. On the contrary, it is 
the Federal safety standards which are in effect and the ultimate 
responsibility for establishment and enforcement of the Federal 
safety standards is the responsibility of the Secretary. The bill reported 
gives to the States in certain circumstances, a role in the enforcement 
of these standards. This role not only initially but annually is up for 
review. If the Secretary is not satisfied with the State's performance 
of the role, he is not bound by the State's certification, but may 
reject it.3 

' (C) The provisions of this act shall not apply to any person engaged in or legally authorized to engage in 
the transportation in interstate commerce, or the sale in interstate commerce for resale, of natural gas re
ceived by such person from another person within or at the boundary of a State if all the natural gas so re
ceived is ultin1ately consunied within such State, or to any facilities used by such person for such transpor
tation or sale, provided that the rates and service of such person and facilities be subject to regulation by a 
State commission. The matters exempted from the provisions or this act by this subsection arc hereby 
declared to be matters primarily of local concern and subject to regulation by the several States. A certifica
tion 'from such State comn1ission to the Federal Power Commission that such State commission has 
regulatory jurisdiction over rates and service of such person and facilities and is exercising such jurisdiction 
shall constitute conclusive evidence of such regulatory power or jurisdiction. [68 Stat. 36 (1954); 15 U.S.C. 
see. 7li(c). Natural Gas Act.] 

'"Basically, this proposal may be accomplished by striking subsec. (a) of section 5 of S. 1166 and inserting 
in lieu thereof the following provision modeled after the 'Hinshaw' amendment (sec. le of the Natural Gas 
Act/: 

"SEc. 5. (a) The provisions of this Act shall not apply to pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas 
within a State when the safety standards and practices applicable to same arc subject to regulation by a 
State agency which submits to the Secretary an annual certification that such State agency: (i) has regula
tory jurisdiction over the safety standards and practices applicable to such pipeline facilities and transpor
tation of gas; (ii) has adopted each Federal safety standard applicable to such pipeline facilities and 
transportation of gas established under this Act as of the date of certification; and (iii) is enforcing each such 
standard. The certificate shall constitute conclusive evidence of such regulatory jurisdiction for one year 
following the date of each such certification. The matters exempted by this subsection ,from the pro visions 
of this Act are hereby declared to be matters primarily of local concern and subject to regulation by the 
several States. Any State may adopt such additional or more stringent standards for such pipeline facilities 
and the transportation of gas as are not incompatible with the Federal minimum standards." 

• State regulation and enforcement in a Federal field is not new. This committee reported and the Con
gress enacted the Securities Acts Amendments of 1964, which provided in sec. 12(g)(2) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 for the enforcement of certain Federal programs by the commissioners of insurance o f  
the several States-

"(2) The provisions of this subsection shall not apply in respect of-
"(G) any security issued by an insurance company if all the following conditions are met: 
"(i) Such insurance company is required to and does file an annual statement with the Commissioner 

of Insurance (or other officer or agency performing a similar function) or its domiciliary State, and such 
annual statement conforms to that prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners 
or in the determination of such State commissioner, officer or agency substantially conforms to that 
so prescribes. 

"(ii) Such insurance company is subject to regulation by its domiciliary State of proxies, consents, 
or authorizaUons in respect of securities issued by such company and such regulation conforms to that 
prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. 

"(iii) After July 1, IQ66, the purchase and sales of securities issued by such insurance company by  
beneficial owners, directors o r  officers o f  such company are subject to  regulation (including reporting) 
by Its domiciliary State substantially in the manner provided in section 16 of this title." 

See also sec. 204(a)(4)(a) of the Interstate CommereA Act regarding State regulation of interstate motor 
carriers. 

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 29 of 57

Page 394 of 628



30 

The committee language also takes from the States and gives to 
the Secretary the regulation of safety of the interstate transmisson 
lines. 

The committee believes the certification route to be more feasible 
and fully as effective in achieving the ends here sought as the agreement 
route. The committee feels observance of the Federal standards will 
be obtained more quickly. 

In addition the American Public Gas Association proposed that 
municipalities be treated the same as State regulatory agencies where 
State law provides that they are exempt from the jurisdiction of such 
agencies. The committee has accepted the association's suggestion as 
to an amendment, namely, the indication that as to this section the 
term State agency includes a municipality. The committee points 
out however that under the conditions set forth in the section only 
municipalities which have franchise or similar authority to regulate 
private gas companies would stand in such stead where the State law 
makes provision for enforcement by monetary sanctions and injunctive 
relief. 

It would seem impractical as well as inappropriate for municipalities 
owning their own systems to fine or enjoin themselves. Therefore this 
would seem to come under the direct jurisdiction of the Secretary 
until such time as State law might provide for their safety regulation 
by a State agency. 

OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE BILL 

PROCEDURES APPLYING TO SAFETY STANDARDS 

Ejf ectiveness of standards 
Under section 3 (c) of the reported bill standards prescribed by the 

Secretary of Transportation, including amendments thereto, become, 
effective 30 days after date of their issuance. The Secretary may 
however, prescribe an earlier or later effective date if he determines 
a different date is required because of the period of time reasonably 
necessary for compliance. 

Obviously in instances such as the promulgation of any set of stand
ards far-reaching enough to involve considerable leadtime for the de
sign of the equipment or the production of materials to the specifica
tion involved, a much longer period may be necessary. On the other 
hand where it may be a simple change in operation or in equipment, a 
shorter time may be feasible. Inasmuch as the committee change to 
section 3(b) relative to the authority of the Secretary to meet hazard
ous situations has been to give him the power to move directly to 
remove the hazards, rather than to do so by applying safety standards 
to the situation, the need for the shorter effective date would appear 
less pressing. 

Administrative procedures 
In establishing standards, the Secretary is required to comply with 

the provisions of subchapter II of title 5, United States Code relating 
to administrative procedure (formerly part of the Administrative 
Procedure Act). Under these provisions the Secretary would normally 
have the discretion to proceed with rulemaking with or without 
oral argument but the bill requires the Secretary to provide oppor
tunity to present oral testimony and argument. 
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Technical Pipeline Safety Standards Committee 
Under section 4 of the reported bill, the Secretary of Transportation 

is required to establish a Technical Pipeline Safety Standards Com
mittee composed of 15 members. Five members must be selected 
from governmental agencies (including State and Federal Govern
ments) two of whom must be State commissioners, selected after 
consultation with the national organization of State commissions. 
Four members must be selected from the natural gas industry, after 
consultation with industry representatives, not less than three of 
whom must be currently engaged in the actual operation of natural 
gas pipelines. Six members must be selected from the general public. 
Each of the 15 members must be experienced in the safety regulation 
of the transportation of gas and of pipeline facilities or technically 
qualified by training and experience in one or more fields of engineering 
applied in the transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline 
facilities. 

There was substantial testimony as to the highly complicated and 
technical nature of developing and applying safety standards to gas 
pipelines. Therefore, the bill creates the committee described above 
and requires the Secretary to obtain their counsel before formally 
proposing any safety standard. The committee did revise the structure 
of the committee to provide that persons experienced in safety regula
tion of the transportation of gas and pipeline facilities would be 
eligible to serve as well as persons technically qualified by formal 
training. Also, recognizing that State commissions have amassed the 
most expertise in this field, the committee provided that two of the 
five members selected from governmental agencies must be State 
commissioners. To assure that the general public would be adequately 
represented, the committee increased the members selected from the 
general public from five to six and reduced the number selected from 
the natural gas industry from five to four. 

Waivers 
Under section 3(e), whenever the Secretary of Transportation 

determines that a waiver of compliance with any standard is not 
inconsistent with pipeline safety, he may waive compliance (in whole or 
in part) under such terms and conditions as he deems appropriate, and 
after notice and opportunity for hearing. He is also required to state 
his reasoHs for granting any such waiver. Elsewhere in this report, 
there is described procedures under which States may be exempt from 
Federal standards or agree to enforce Federal standards (sec. 5). 
Where such an exemption exists, or such an agreement is in effect, a 
State agency will have the same waiver authority as the Secretary. 
The waiver authority of the State agency is limited in that it must give 
the Secretary at least 60 days advance notice, and the Secretary may 
stay the proposed grant of a waiver by a State agency and afford such 
agency a hearing on the matter. After opportunity for such hearing, 
the Secretary will make the final determination a8 to whether the 
requested waiver may be granted. 

Judicial review 
Section 6 of the reported bill provides that any person adversely 

affected or aggrieved by any order issued by the Secretary of Trans
portation may, within 60 days after such order is issued, file a petition 
for judicial review with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of 
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Columbia or the court of appeals for the circuit in which the petitioner 
is located or has his principal place of business. The court in which 
the petition is filed will have jurisdiction to review the order in accord
ance with chapter 7 of title 5 of the United States Code which provides, 
among other things, for the scope of the review and the granting of 
appropriate relief, including relief pending review. The judgment of 
the court will be final, subject to review by the Supreme Court of 
the United States as provided in section 1254 of title 28 of the United 
States Code. Any change or vacancy in the office of the Secretary of 
Transportation will not affect any action initiated under this section. 
The provisions of this section will not affect any other remedies which 
an aggrieved party may have under any other provision of law. 

The bill as referred to the committee defined the term "adversely 
.affected" to include exposure to personal injury or property damage. 
The reported bill omits this definition. The judicial review provision 
-of the bill, as noted above, provides that any person "adversely
affected or aggrieved" by an order of the Secretary may obtain
judicial review of such order. This is a description of the persons
who have legal standing to seek such review. This term is frequently
used in statutes to describe persons who may obtain judicial review
of administrative action. The meaning of the term has been judicially
defined by the gradual process of inclusion and exclusion based in
part on the judgment of the courts with respect to the legislative
intent of a particular statutory scheme. The committee feels that
definition of the term should continue to rest with the courts.

Cooperation with other agencies
The Federal Power Commission and some States issue certificates of

public convenience and necessity authorizing gas transportation.
Extablishment of a standard by the Secretary of Transportation, or
action on a waiver, could affect the continuity of service under one of
these certificates. If that appears to be the case, the Secretary is re
quired by section 7 to consult with the Federal Power Commission
or the State commission, as the case may be, before establishing the
standard or acting on a waiver and will be required to defer his
action until the appropriate commission has had reasonable op
portunity to grant the authorizations it deems necessary to preserve
continuity of service.

CIVIL PENALTY 

Under section 9(a) of the reported bill the Secretary is required to 
give notice to any person he has reason to believe is violating any 
provision of section 8(a), or any regulation issued under this legisla
tion, before imposing any penalty. If compliance has not been achieved 
within a reasonable time, the Secretary may then impose a civil 
penalty of not more than $500 for each day a violation persists. The 
maximum penalty may not exceed $100,000 for any related series of 
violations. Also, the Secretary may seek injunctive relief under the pro
"isions of section 10. The bill as referred to the committee provided 
for a civil penalty of $1,000 per day for each day a violation con
tinued, with a maximum of $400,000 for a related series of violations, 
and did not provide for notice of a violation or for any opportunity 
to come into compliance before the penalty could be imposed. The 
committee feels that continuity of service is an extremely important 
consideration and service to the consuming public should not be 
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unnecessarily disrupted. The imposition of severe penalties without 
notice because of an unknowing violation which may be of a minor 
technical nature could very well result in an unnecessary disruption 
of service to the consuming public. The committee believes the 
reported bill provides adequate penalties for enforcement and at 
the same time provides procedures to assure continuity of service 
wherever possible. 

Under section 9(b), any civil penalty imposed by the Secretary 
may be compromised by him. In determining the amount of any 
compromise penalty, the Secretary is required to consider the ap
propriateness of the penalty in relation to the size of the business 
of the person charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good 
faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve compliance. 
The amount of any penalty imposed may be deducted from any 
sums owed by the United States to the person charged or recovered 
in a civil action in the U.S. district courts. 

INJUNCTION AND JURISDICTION 

Section lO(a) of the reported bill gives the U.S. district courts 
jurisdiction (subject to rule 65(a) and (b) of the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure) to restrain violations of this legislation or to enforce 
standards established thereunder. 'rhe Secretary of Transportation 
is required to give notice, whenever practicable, to any person against 
whom injunctive relief is contemplated and afford him reasonable 
opportunity to achieve compliance. Failure to give such notice will 
not preclude the granting of appropriate relief. 

As noted earlier in this report, the committee revised the penalty 
provisions of the bill to assure that continuity of service could be 
preserved wherever possible. In view of this change, the committee 
feels that the injunction authority described above becomes a most 
necessary tool to provide for effective enforcement whenever prompt 
action becomes necessary to prevent personal injury or property 
damage. The committee realizes that while continuity of serYice is 
important it is necessary to recognize that safety is ultimately a 
primary consideration and that the Secretary must be given adequate 
authority to assure safety. 

Section lO(b) of the reported bill assures any person charged with 
criminal contempt for violation of an injunction or restraining order 
issued under section 10 the right to demand a trial by jury. Under the 
provisions of rule 42(b) of the Federal Rules and Criminal Procedure 
relating to criminal contempt, a defendant is entitled to a jury trial 
only if an act of Congress so provides. 

ADMINISTRATION BY THE SECRETARY 

Under section 13(a) of the reported bill, the Secretary of Trims
portation is required to conduct research, testing, development, and 
training necessary to carry out the provisions of this act. He is author
ized to carry out this provision by contract, or by grants to individuals, 
States, and nonprofit institutions. 

· 
. 

Section 13(b) provides that the Secretary must, upon request, 
furnish to the Federal Power Commission information concerning the 
safety of materials, operations, devices, or processes relating to the 
transportation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities. 
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Section 13(c) gives the Secretary authority to cooperate with Fed
eral, State, and other interested public and private agencies and 
persons in the planning and development of Federal safety standards 
and methods for inspecting and testing to determine compliance 
therewith. 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE SECRETARY 

Under section 14 of the reported bill, the Secretary is required to 
submit to the President for transmittal to the Congress an annual 
report covering the preceding calendar year. Such report is required to 
include-

(1) a compilation of accidents and casualties and causes thereof,
when the National Transportation Safety Board has made a 
finding of cause; 

(2) a list of Federal safety standards in effect during such-year
with identification of standards newly established during such 
year; 

(3) a summary of the reasons for each waiver granted under
section 3(e) during such year; 

(4) a list of enforcement actions and compromises of alleged
violations by location and company name, together with an evaluation 
of the degree of observance of applicable safety standards; 

(5) a summary of outstanding problems in the administration
of this legislation in order of priorities; 

(6) an analysis of research activities and the policy implications
thereof, together with an evaluation of technological progress for 
safety achieved; 

(7) a list of completed and pending judicial actions, together
with a brief statement of the issues; 

(8) the extent to which technological information was dissemi
nated to the scientific community and consumer-oriented informa
tion was made available to the public; 

(9) a compilation of certifications filed by State agencies under
section 5(a) which were in effect during the preceding calendar 
year, and a compilation of certifications which were rejected, 
together with a summary of the reasons for such rejections; and 

(10) a compilation of agreements entered into with State
agencies under section 5(b) which were in effect during the pre
ceding calendar year, and a compilation of such agreements 
which were terminated by the Secretary, together with a summary 
of the reasons for such terminations. 

The Secretary is required to include in his report such recommenda
tions for legislation as he deems necessary to promote cooperation 
among the States in the improvement of pipeline safety and to 
strengthen the pipeline safety program. 

The committee added items (9) and ( 10) to the reporting require
ments in conformity with the changes made in section 5 concerning 
State certifications and agreements. 

ROLE OF THE FEDERAL POWER COMMISSION 

The general scheme of the act is to provide broad saf et_y powers to 
the Secretary in gas pipeline transportation. The Federal Power 
Commission presently has exercised certain safety regulatory au
thority over interstate transmission lines under the Natural Gas Act. 
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The Commission considers and takes action on some elements of the 
safety of transmission proposals in acting on applications for new or 
extended authority and it is not intended that thefassage of this act
will diminish that authority and responsibility o the Commission. 
In order, however, that the Commission not be placed in the position 
of having to determine whether the construction and operation 
details of a proposed service conform to the Secretary's standards, 
an applicant may certify to this effect and the certification will be 
conclusive on the Commission. But if the relevant State or Federal 
enforcement agency has information that the ariplicant has violated 
safety standards in the past (thus possibly callmg in question the 
applicant's compliance disposition) and notifies the Commission in 
writing, the certification will not be binding. The Commission then 
in connection with its awarding a certificate of public convenience 
and necessity may give such weight to the absence of a certificate as 
it may feel appropriate. It is not intended by the committee that this 
process of certification of compliance with the Secretary's standards 
will bar the Commission from continuing to consider safety in the 
same fashion it presently does in connection with awarding certificates 
of public convenience and necessity. 

In addition to the above authority, the Federal Power Commission 
has authority over the routing of interstate transmission lines, and 
through the exercise of its conditioning authority in the granting of 
a certificate of convenience and necessity can delimit the route with 
particularity. The reported bill does not impinge upon this jurisdic
tion of the Commission. Indeed section 2(4) states that the Secretary 
is not authorized to prescribe the location or routing of any pipeline 
facility. 

The Commission's authority in routing matters is of especial 
importance owing to the fact that by being certificated, the trans
mission line may then exercise the right of eminent domain in a 
district court of the United States to acquire land needed for certifi
cate operations. This was provided by the enactment in 1947 of the 
Schwabe Act adding subsection (h) to section 7 of the Natural Gas 
Act. 

Since the interrelation between safety and routing was brought up 
during the hearings, the committee believes it important to include 
herewith the response of Chairman Lee White of the Commission 
making clear that it is that Commission which has the jurisdiction 
and "provides a forum" for consideration in the routing of trans
mission pipelines, "where relevant, safety implications, community 
dislocation and the impact of the proposed construction on sites of 
historic importance or scenic beauty." 

FEDERAL PowER COMMISSION, 
Washington, D.C., February 27, 1968.

Hon. TORBERT H. :MACDONALD, 
Chairman, Subcommittee on Communications and Power, Ho1tse Com

mittee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, Washington, D.C. 
DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: This replies to your letter of January 23, 

asking that the Commission make clear for the record its jurisdiction 
and responsibility over the routing of natural gas pipelines. 
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The selection of the route which an interstate pipeline will take is 
in the first instance left to the natural gas company. However, before 
construction or operation of the pipeline may commence, a certificate 
of public convenience and necessity must be obtained from this 
Commission. Among other things the certificate application filed by 
the natural gas company must include "a concise description of the 
proposed * * * construction" (FPC regulations under the Natural 
Gas Act, sec. 157.6(b)(4)) and have annexed to it a map showing 
generally the location of the proposed facilities. Section 157.14(a)(6). 
The proposal may be implemented only if the Commission finds that 
it is required by the present or future public convenience and·necessity. 
If the Commission certificates a proposal, the certificate holder has 
the right of eminent domain to acquire land needed for the certificated 
operations. Natural Gas Act, section 7 (h). 

In determining the public convenience and necessity of a proposal, 
the Commission must determine its economic feasibility and the pro
posed route can be relevant to this determination. However, the 
Commission does not limit its consideration to economic matters. 
Rather it must consider "all factors bearing on the public interest." 
Atlantic Re.fining Co. v. P.S.C. of N.Y., 360 U.S. 378, 391 (1959). 
This may include, where relevant, safety implications, community 
dislocation and the impact of the proposed construction on sites of 
historic importance or scenic beauty. 

The Commission's existing procedures provide a forum for persons 
who wish to take issue with the routing of a proposed pipeline, al
though that forum has only rarely been used. Such persons may inter
vene and enjoy full party status with the right to present evidence, 
cross-examine witnesses and file briefs. Alternatively, those persons 
wishing to make their views known without becoming parties to the 
proceeding may do so by the filing of protests. In two recent pipe
line certificate cases the Commission has admitted as intervenors local 
governmental authorities, landowner associations, and individual land
owners from the area the pipeline will traverse. Manufacturers Light 
and Heat Co., Docket No. CP66-347 (southeastern Pennsylvania), 
now pending Commission decision, and Tennessee Gas Pipeline Co., 
Docket No. CP67-211 (Phase II, eastern Massachusetts), order 
issued November 8, 1967 (attached). The intervenors have raised 
such issues as the need for any construction, the safety of the proposed 
line and the width of the right-of-way to be acquired and have sug
gested alternative routes. In the Tennessee case the pipeline company 
agreed to routing changes to accommodate the position of the inter
venors. There is also now pending before the Commission a proceed
ing initiated by the complaint of a landowner objecting to the route 
selected by a pipeline. Stitt v. Manufacturers Light & Heat Co., 
Docket No. IN-1003. Where a certificate is granted the natural gas 
company may select any appropriate route within the general criteria 
established by the certificate. However, the Commission through the 
exercise of its conditioning authority, may delimit the route with 
particularity. . . 

In sum, the Commission now has jurisdiction to review the pro
posed routing of interstate pipeline facilities and does offer a forum 
for public participation and the advancement ()f interests which may 
differ from those of the applicant. This area of Commission concern 
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and responsibility would in no way be foreclosed or diminished by 
enactment of S. 1166. 

I do not mean to convey the impression that the Commission's 
procedures cannot be improved upon. They can and will be as the 
Commission gains experience in dealing with these problem areas. 
One area of present concern relates to the problem of assuring that 
interested persons are timely apprised of the pendency of applications 
in order to be able to avail themselves of the Commission's procedures. 
Another is the problem posed by pipelines proceeding with condem
nation after receiving a temporary certificate which may, under the 
act, be granted ex parte "in cases of emergency, to assure mainte
nance of adequate service or to service particular customers," but 
before being issued a permanent certificate of public convenience 
and necessity. Where a temporary certificate has been issued and 
condemnation already taken place, the permanent certificate pro
ceeding obviously provides an inadequate forum for the landowner 
whose basic contention is that certain portions of his property should 
not be defaced. However, in our view the resolution of these problems 
relates to the Commission's rules of practice and procedure rather 
than the existence of any legislative gap. One step which the Com
mission has recently taken to facilitate the expression of views of 
interested persons involves the simplification of our rules dealing 
with the filing of complaints and protests (Order No. 359, issued Feb. 5, 
1968). Under the revised rules persons who wish to object to a pending 
application or who contend that a natural gas company is violating 
a Commission order, rule, or regulation would be able to do so in
formally and with the assurance that a complaint or timely filed 
protest will be referred to the Commission for appropriate action. 

Even if, with greater exposure to the land-use problem, the Com
mission should conclude that further legislation is warranted, I do 
not believe that it would be desirable to look for a solution by way 
of an amendment to pipeline safety legislation. Certainly there is no 
need to amend that legislation either to reserve to the Commission 
its existing jurisdiction over pipeline routing or to preserve the pub
lic's right to present to the Commission its objections to a proposed 
route. 

Sincerely, 
LEE C. WHITE, Chairman. 

AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS AND COST OF THE LEGISLATION 

In the course of the hearings before the Senate committee the 
Department of Transportation placed the cost of this legislation at 
approximately $25 million a year. The Senate bill as it passed the 
Senate and came to this committee contemplated that about one-half 
of this amount would be raised through the imposition of annual fees 
upon those who were engaged in the transportation of gas and the 
remainder of the amount come from appropriated funds. The bill 
accordingly authorized appropriations for the next 3 fiscal years of 
$10 million, $13 million, and $15 million, respectively. 

The subcommittee in its interrogation of ,,itnesses from the De
partment of Transportation had extreme difficulty in developing the 
basis for the $25 million figure. The matter was pursued with the 
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Department following the hearings and under date of March 18, 
Secretary of Transportation Boyd submitted the following table: 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION-ESTIMATED STAFFING AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS FOR IMPLEMENTA• 

TION OF THE NATIONAL GAS PIPELINE SAFETY ACT OF 1967 (S. 1166), FISCAL YEARS 1969-73 

1969 1970 1971 1972 1973 

Direct operations: 
20 65 112 143 161 Man-years ••••• ____ • _______ •••••••• __ ._. ___ 

Personal compensation and benefits_. _________ $328,000 $898,000 $1,433,500 $1,798,000 $2,009,500 
Other objects •••• __________ •. _____ ••••.••••• 172,000 922,000 1,506,500 l, 525,000 1,510,500 

Total. ___________________________________ 500,000 1. 820,000 2,940,000 3,323,000 3,520,000 
Grants-in-aid program to States ________ •••••.•••••.••••••••••• 5,000,000 9,000,000 9,600,000 9,600,000 

Grand total... _______________ •••••••.••••• 500,000 6,820,000 11;940, 000 12,923,000 13,120,000 

The funds which the committee, in section 15 of the reported bill, 
has authorized to be appropriated; namely, $500,000, $2 million, and 
$3 million for the next 3 fiscal years roughly are those which the 
Secretary of Transportation contemplates are adequate for the creation 
of standards and the part of the program of direct cost to him. 

In effect, the authorization does not provide for any substantial 
portion of the grant-in-aid program for State administration of a 
Federal safety program as contemplated by the bill. It should be 
noted, however, that under the terms of the legislation here proposed 
interim standards will be in effect until such time, not over 2 years 
hence, as the Secretary of Transportation promulgates Federal stand
ards. These "interim" standards are merely the prescription of the 
standards which the State already has in effect and, accordingly, there 
seems very little in the way of need for additional grants to carry 
out what the States already are doing. For that matter, a committee 
change to section 5(c) of the bill, made at the request of the Secretary 
of Transportation, requires that the Federal funds cannot be a sub
stitute for State funds which must be maintained at a level which is 
not below the level of their expenditures for the last 2 previous fiscal 
years. 

Further, while Federal safety standards will be prescribed before 
the end of 24 months after the enactment of this legislation, such 
standards, of course, cannot become immediately effective, nor will 
the adoption and enforcement of such standards all at once give rise 
to tremendously increased expenditures by the States. 

The committee is aware of the fact that sometime during the third 
year there will appear a need for the consideration of the extent to 
Khich the grant-in-aid program will require the authorization of addi
tional Federal funds and the committee accordingly intends to keep 
abreast of this situation so that in its consideration of the extension of 
the legislation appropriate attention to whatever is this need may be 
given. 

The bill as referred authorized a $20,000 grant to the National 
Association of Regulatory Commissions to aid the States in their en
forcement programs by coordinating State activities and rendering 
technical assistance. In view of the reduction of funds and the obvious 
timelag discussed above before State programs will be in operation, 
the committee feels this provision is unnecessary at the present time, 
and the reported bill deletes it. 
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The bill as referred included a revision in subsection (b) of section 15 
authorizing the Secretary to require the payment of a reasonable 
annual fee to him by all persons engaged in the transportation of gas 
for the purpose of helping to defray the expenses of Federal inspection 
and enforcement under this act. It is the sense of the committee that 
when any collection of fees is authorized, they should be covered into 
the Treasury and the expenses of the Secretary should be met through 
the usual route of authorized and appropriated funds. Since this pro
vision apparently was inserted originally to reduce the amount of 
appropriated funds and permit the expenses to be met otherwise, the 
committee has deleted the provision. 
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APPENDIX A 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION STATEMENT ON CURRENT STATE 
PIPELINE SAFETY ACTIVITIES 

A study of State activities conducted by the National Association of 
Regulatory Utility Commissioners and the Department of Transpor
tation was completed in April 1967. This study indicated a strong 
need for comprehensive uniform safety standards covering the natural 
gas industry. A copy of the analysis of the survey is attached. 

A report, dated September 11, 1967, prepared by the Subcommittee 
on Intergovernmental Relations of the Committee on Government 
Operations, U.S. Senate, contains the results of a survey of the State 
commissions responsible for the regulation of utilities. This report 
reveals that 31 of the 49 States responding indicate their current 
budget is sufficient and they do not plan any increase. These 31 States 
have within their boundaries approximately 70 percent of the total 
pipelines (gathering, transmission, and distribution) of the United 
States. It appears that, even though there has been a rapid passage of 
legislation by the States during the past 18 months concerning pipeline 
safety, very few States plan to do very much more than they are doing 
now. Based on the NARUC survey of April 4, 1967, and the above
mentioned survey, there remains a void in the comprehensiveness and 
uniformity of regulations for gas pipeline safety. 

ANALYSIS OF THE NATURAL GAS SAFETY QUESTIONNAIRE, DATED 
JULY 18, 1967, SUBMITTED BY NARUC TO THE STATES AND DISTRICT 
OF COLUMBIA ON APRIL 4, 1967 

A natural gas safety questionnaire was sent to all States and the 
District of Columbia. A total of 44 completed questionnaires were 
returned with no response from seven States. Of the 44 responding, 
four do not have authority to establish safety standards for the gas 
industry. Therefore, ail comments and statistical comparisons made 
in this analysis are based on 40 States including the District of Colum
bia. These represent 80 percent of the total States. Those States not 
included are Alaska, Georgia, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Minnesota, 
Montana, Nebraska, New York, Pennsylvania, South Dakota, and 
Wyoming. Of these 11, it is understood that three have regulations 
while the remaining eight do not have any codes for natural gas 
facilities. 

This analysis indicates the strong need for comprehensive uniform 
safety regulations. 

The following are the individual questions, replies, and a brief 
analysis. 

1. (a) Does the commission have the authority to establish safety
standards for privately owned natural gas utilities? 

Yes 40. No. 0. N/A * 0. 
*No answer or not applicable. 

(40)
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(b) If the commission has such authority, does it apply throughout
the State? 

Yes 40. No 0. N/A 0. 
(c) Does the commission have safety jurisdiction over:

(1) Interstate transmission systems? Yes 26. No 10. N/A 4.
(2) Intrastate transmission systems? Yes 39. No. 1. N/A 0.
(3) Distribution systems? Yes 40. No. 0. N/A 0.
(4) Gathering systems? Yes 16. No 11. N/A 13.

All 40 States report that they have statewide authority to establish 
safety standards for :privately owned natural gas utilities or distribu
tion systems. In addition-

65 percent have authority over interstate transmission systems. 
97 .5 percent over intrastate transmission systems. 

Only 50 percent have jurisdiction over gathering systems due to 
the fact that a large number of States have no gas production. 

2. (a) Does the commission have the authority to establish safety
standards for publicly owned natural gas utilities, such as municipal 
systems? 

Yes 10. No 27. N/A 3. 
(b) If the commission has no such jurisdiction, is there authority

at the municipal or county level? 
Yes 22. No 3. N/A 15. 

(c) Is such authority exercised?
Yes 14. No. 4. N/A 22.

Only 25 percent of the States have authority to regulate publicly 
owned natural gas utilities, while 55 percent report that authority for 
establishing safety standards does exist at the municipal or county 
level. At this level only 35 percent have any type enforcement. 

These figures indicate that the States have very little control over 
the publicly owned natural gas utilities. 

3. Aside from the commission, are there any other public bodies
within the State-local, county, or regional-which establish safety 
standards for privately owned gas utilities? 

Yes 16. No 24. 
The survey shows that 100 percent of the States reporting, Question 

3, have safety jurisdiction over privately owned gas utilities with 
40 percent showing further regulatory authority at lower levels of 
government. 

4. In those areas in which the commission has the statutory or
constitutional authority to establish safety standards for privately 
or publicly owned gas utilities, has it adopted rules or regulations to 
implement that authority? 

Yes 36. No 3. N/A 1. 
Ninety percent of the States have adopted rules or regulations. 
5. (a) Has the commission adopted the USASI code for gas safety

standards for new pipelines? 
Yes 31. No 8. N/A 1. 

(b) If the USASI code is the basis for your regulation, have you
eliminated or modified any sections of the code? 

Yes 14. No 21. N/A 5. 
(c) Has the commission adopted safety standards for existing gas

pipelines? 
Yes 29. No 11.
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(d) If so, do these standards conform to the USASI standards for
new pipes? 

Yes 26. No 6. N/A 8. 
Seventy-eight percent have adopted the USASI code with 40 

percent of these making changes, either eliminating or modifying 
various sections covering new lines. From these figures it is not possible 
to determine exactly what type protection the existing regulations 
are providing. 

Seventy-three percent have adopted safety standards for existing 
gas pipelines with 90 percent of these conforming to the USASI 
standards for new pipes. 

6. Has the commission adopted any additional or other gas safety
standards or codes, including the proposed NARUC amendments? 

Yes 18. No 22. 
These figures show that 45 percent of the States have adopted 

codes or standards other than or in addition to the USASI code. 
7. (a) Do the companies in your State periodically test and inspect

existing gas pipelines? 
Yes 31. No. 5. N/A 4. 

(b) Does the commission periodically test and inspect existing gas
pipelines? 

Yes 9. No 30. N/A 1.
(c) Does the commission inspect materials and methods of con

struction for gas pipelines? 
Yes 18. No 21. N/A 1. 

(d) If the commission has established gas safety standards, does it
enforce these standards through civil or criminal sanctions? 

Yes 29. No 5. N/A 6. 
Seventy-eight percent of these States reporting indicate that gas 

companies inspect and test existing gas lines, while 13 percent report 
not testing or inspecting. 

Only 23 percent of these States inspect existing gas pipelines. 
Forty-five percent of these States inspect construction of gas pipe

lines, while 53 percent do not. 
Seventy-three percent indicate they enforce their safety regulatiom 

through civil or criminal sanctions. Thirteen percent do not while 15 
percent made no reply. 

8. (a) If your commission has a program of inspection, does it have
a staff of its own to do this work? 

Yes 21. No 14. N/A 5. 
(b) If so, how many inspectors do you employ?

20 have inspectors (average range 1-4).
7 do not have inspectors.
13 no reply.

(c) How is this enforcement program financed?
(1) by legislative appropriation? Yes 16. No 3. N/A 21.
(2) by fees charged the companies? Yes 6. No 6. N/A 28.

(d) Does your commission employ outside contractors to perform
such inspections? 

Yes 3. No 32. If so, please explain briefly: 
Of the States reporting, 53 percent have an inspection program 

and 35 percent do not. Fifty percent report they have inspectora, 
ranging from an average of 1 to 4 inspectors each. The other 50 
percent either do not have inspectors or did not reply. 
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These figures indicate very clearly that with this number of in
spectors a thorough program cannot be carried out. Some of these 
States indicated that their inspectors were part of their engineering 
staff and were not full-time inspectors. Only 8 percent employ outside 
contractors to perform such inspections. 

9. (a) Does the commission collect statistics on gas accidents
throughout the State? 

Yes 26. No 13. N/A 1. 
(b) Does your commission require gas companies to report gas line

failure or accidents to you? 
Yes 34. No 6. 

(c) How often are they required to report such accidents?
32 as soon as possible.
2 monthly.

Sixty-five percent indicate they collect statistics on gas accidents. 
Only 5 percent (two States) furnish a summary report of accidents. 

The others indicated the statistics were not in such form that could 
be separated or the information could not be reduced. 

Most States required the reporting of accidents or failures as soon 
as possible after the accident occurred. 

10. (a) Have there been any fatal or injury accidents in your
State in the past 10 years resulting from gas pipeline failures? 

Yes 17. No 18. 
(b) Does the commission establish cause in gas accidents?

Yes 22. No 17. N/A 1.
(c) What have been the principal causes of such accidents?
Forty-three percent of these States have had accidents resulting

in injury or death . 
. Only 55 percent attempt to determine the cause of gas accidents. 
The principal causes of accidents was reported by 50 percent of the 

States, with a total of 18 accidents. The causes were as follows: 
Construction/outside sources________________________________________ 11 
Ground settling or movement_______________________________________ 4 
Corrosion_________________________________________________________ 2 
Human error______________________________________________________ 1 
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APPENDIX B 

STATES IN WHICH STATE AGENCY ORDERS MAY BE ENFORCED BY INJUNCTION AND BY CRIMINAL FINES FOR 
WILLFUL VIOLATIONS, SUBMITTED BY THE AMERICAN GAS ASSOCIATION 

Name of State 
Authority to have Commission 

orders enforced by court 
injunction 

Alaska ••.••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••• 

Amount of fine which may be imposed for 
willful violation of Commission orders 

Alabama ••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••• $1,000 per day. 
Arizona .••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••• $5,000 per offense. 
Arkansas •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••• 
California •••••••••••••••• Yes •••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••• $500 to $2,000 per day. 
Colorado ••••••••••••••••• Yes •• : •••••••••••••••.••••••••••• At discretion o court 
Connecticut. ••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $5,000 for each offense. 

�,�
1
�i:�:.-.-.-:::::::::::::: �!!;· i:iimniissio·n· ·tias·auitioriiy· io· :.i8�����ay. 

enforce orders and seek injunc• 
tions. 

Georgia •••••••••••••••••• Yes; civil and criminal............. Do. 
Hawaii.. ••••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $1,000 per offense. 
Idaho •••••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••• $2,000 per day for each offense. 
Illinois ••••••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••• $500 to $2,000 per day per offense. $1,000 and/or 1 

year imprisonment (individuals). 
Indiana •••••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $100 to $1,000 per offense. 
Iowa •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Kansas •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••• 
Kentucky •••••••••••••••• Yes ••••.•••••.•••...•••...•.••••• $1,000 per offense. 
Louisiana •••••••••••••••• Yes; Commission has authority to $100 to $500 for each violation. 

enforce orders. 
Maine ••••••••••••••••••• Yes; through Attorney General. ..••• $1,000 per day for each violation or part. 
Maryland •••••••••••••••• Yes ••••.•.•.•••••.•••.••••••••••• $100 per day for failure to file reports. $2 500 per 

day for violations of Commission orders. $1,000
for the first offense. $5,000 for additional offense
(individuals). 

Massachusetts •••••••••••• Yes ••••••••.•••••.•••.••••••••••• At discretion of court. 
Michigan ••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••• $100 to $20,000 per offense. $100 to $1,000 and/or 

30 days to 1 year (individuals). 
Minnesota •••••••••••••••• Yes; fire marshal.. •••.•••••••••••• $100 and/or imprisonment of up to 90 days per offense 

(individuals). 
Mississippi. •••••••••••••• Yes ••••.••••••••••••••••••••••••• $200 ser day per offense. 
Missouri. ••••.••••••••••• Yes ••••.••••••••••••••••••••••••• $1,00 to $2,000 per day. $1,000 and/or 1 year im• 

prisonment (individuals). 
Montana ••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••• $100 to $500 per day per offense. 
Nebraska •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Nevada •••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••• $300 to $500 per day. 
New Hampshire ••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $5,000 for each violation for corporation. $1,000 fine 

and/or 6 months in house of Correction (individ• 
uals). 

New Jersey ••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••• , ••••••• $250 per day (with no limitation on days). 
New Mexico •••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $100 to $1,000 per offense. 
New York .••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $1,000 per day. 
North Carolina •••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $1,000 per day per offense. 
North Dakota •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••• 
Ohio ••••••••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $100 to $1,000 per day. Statute also provides for 

imprisonment up to 2 years for willful violation and 
. . . treble damages (individuals). 

Oklahoma •••••••••••••••• Yes; Comm1ss1on has authority •••••• $500 per day per offense. 
Oregon •••••••••••••••••• Yes ••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••• $100 to $10,000 for each offense. 
Pennsylvania ••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $50 per day for corporation. $500 and/or 1 month to 

1 year imprisonment for first offense. $1,000 for
subsequent offenses, imprisonment 3 months to 2 
years (individuals). 

Rhode Island ••••••••••••• Yes; Administrator of Division of 
Public Utilities. 

South Carolina ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••• 
South Dakota ••••••••••••• No; municipalities have jurisdiction. 

$200 to $500 per day. 

�:�::::.e ... � �: ::: : :: :: :: : �:::::: ::: :: : : : : : : : : : : ::::::::::: ti�o8rP�:
Y
ciay. 

Utah ••••••••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $500 per day per offense. $1,000 and/or 1 year im• 
prisonment per offense (individuals). 

V�r'!l�nt. •••••••••••••••• Yes ••.••••..• , •••••••••••..•••••••• $5
6
000 for each violation. 

Virgmta •••••••••••••••••• Yes; Comm1ss1on has authonty to $5 0 per day. 
enforce orders and seek injunc• 
lions. 

Washington ••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $1,000 per day. 
West Virginia ••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $5,000 per day and/or imprisonment of 3 months to 1 

year (individuals). 
Wisconsin •••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $25 to $1,000 per day. 
Wyoming ••••••••••••••••• Yes •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• $5,000 per offense. 

(44) 
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APPENDIX C 

STATISTICS PERTAINING TO STATES PRODUCING NATURAL GAS IN 1966, COMPILED BY HAROLD E. SHUTT, CHAIR• 

MAN OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE OF STAFF EXPERTS OF THE NARUC COMMITTEE ON GAS 

State 

Gathering and Percent of 
field lines • domestic 

production• 
Miles Percent for inter- No. I a 

state sales 

Questions for State survey 

No. 2 • No.3• 

Alabama............................. (') No ....• None .•••••••.••...•...........•••••.•••• Yes. 
Arizona...................... (') 0. 01 No ....•..... do .•..•.••••.•..............•••.••••• Yes. 
Arkansas............. 580 0. 92 . 75 Yes'··· Arkansas Public Service Commission ..••••••. Yes. 
California............ 710 I. 12 •••••••.•... No ..•.. None .....•.•.•..••..•••.•.•............. Yes. 
Colorado............. I, 160 I. 83 . 51 No ....•••.•• do ...............••.••.•.•.........•. Yes. 
Illinois............... 80 . 13 ••••.••••••. Yes'··· Illinois Commerce Commission .......••.•.•. Yes. 
Indiana.............. 320 . 50 (') Yes .•.• Public Service Commission of Indiana ...•.... Yes. 
Iowa................ 70 .11 ••.••••••... Yes s .•• Iowa State Commerce Commission .••.....•. Yes. 
Kansas ...•...••••••• 6,490 10.25 5.93 No ..•.• None ..................••.•..•...•.••.••• Yes. 
Kentucky ...•.••••••• 3,450 5. 45 . 33 Yes .•.. Kentucky Public Service Commission •••.•.•. Yes. 
Louisiana .....•..•••• 2,440 3.85 37.30 No .•.•• None •......•.•...........••..•.••••••.•• No. 
Maryland............ 60 . 10 (') Yes'··· Maryland Public Service Commission •••••••• Yes. 
Michigan............. 620 .98 •....••••... Yes .•.. Michigan Public Service Commission .••.••••• Yes. 
Mississippi........... 140 .22 1.42 No ..... None •.•.•..•.•..............•.••....•••. Yes. 
Montana............. I, 140 I. 80 (') Yes .•.. Montana Board of Railroad Commissioners .••• Yes. 
Nebraska............ 40 . 06 . 06 No ..... None . •••••.•••..••••................••.. Yes. 
New Mexico .•..•..... 7,030 II. 10 5. 94 No ....•..... do ...••...•••.•..................•••. No. 
New York............ 820 I. 29 . 01 Yes .••. New York Public Service Commission ..•..... Yes. 
North Dakota......... 20 . 03 . 19 No ....• None ..••........•...........•........... 
Ohio................. 4,330 6. 84 . 17 Yes'··· Ohio Public Utilities Commission .....•...... Yes. 
Oklahoma............ 6,450 JO. 19 8. 58 No .••.• None .•.........•••••••.•.••.•........... No. 
Pennsylvania......... 6,830 JO. 78 . 22 No .••.••.•.. do ..........•.•••••••.•..•........... Yes. 
Texas .........•••••.• 10,280 16.23 35.48 No.. .•.••... do ...........•••.••.••.•...•......... No. 
Utah................. 470 . 74 .38 No ....••.••. do ...............•.....•.....•....... Yes. 
Virginia.............. 10 . 02 . 02 Yes s ... Virginia State Corporation Commission •...•.. Yes. 
West Virginia ..•.•..•. 9,020 14.24 .96 No ..•.• None ..............•.•.•.......•.•..•••.• Yes. 
Wyoming............. 770 I. 22 I. 71 Yes ...• Wyoming Public Service Commission ..••••••. Yes.

Total •......•.• 63,330 100. 00 100.00 

1 Data obtained from "Gas Facts" prepared by tfJe American Gas Association, 1967. 
'Data obtained from "Sales by Producers of Natural Gas to Interstate Pipeline Companies, 1966," prepared by the 

Federal Power Commission. 
• Is there any State agency within your State that has regulatory jurisdiction of safety of gas•gathering lines? 
• If yes, what is the agency's name? 
'If a public utility owned and operated gas•gathering lines in your State, would your commission have regulatory 

jurisdiction of safety of these lines? 
•Less than 0.01 percent. 

' II the lines are operatec by a public utility. 
• Yes, if State had any gathering lines. 
• Not exercised. 

(45)
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AGENCY REPORTS 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT, 
BUREAU OF THE BUDGET, 

Hon. HARLEY 0. STAGGERS, 
Washington, D.O., February 28, 1968. 

Chairman, Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, 
House oj Representatives, Washington, D.O. 

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: This is in reply to your request for the 
views of the Bureau of the Budget on H.R. 6551, H.R. 13936, and 
S. 1166, bills relating to the safety regulations of natural gas pipe
lines, and to your letter of February 21, 1968.

In his message of February 16, 1967, on protection of the American 
consumer, President Johnson called for legislation to provide Federal 
safety regulation of gas pipelines. To this end, S. 1166 was introduced 
in the Senate on March 3, 1967. In testimony before your committee 
on December 6, 1967, the Secretary of Transportation endorsed 
S. 1166 as passed by the Senate, but recommended amendments
to ( 1) delete the requirement for the Secretary to publish his reasons
for rejecting recommendations of the Technical Advisory Committee;
(2) add a maintenance-of-effort requirement to the provision for
grunts to the Stutes; ( 3) add criminal penalties for wilful and knowing
violations; and ( 4) delete the partial exemption from retroactive
application of standards.

We concur in the views expressed by Secretary Boyd and strongly 
recommend that S. 1166 be amended as he suggested. Enactment of 
this legislation would be in accord with the program of the President. 

You also inquired about the costs of this legislation and whether 
provision has been made for them in the 1969 budget. The timing of 
enactment and the final form of the bill will, of course, affect the costs 
which can be anticipated for fiscal year 1969. This legislation was taken 
into account in developing the allowance for contingencies in the 1969 
budget, which provides for the possible costs of new programs for 
which definite estimates cannot be made at the time. 

Sincerely yours, 
w ILFRED H.  ROMMEL, 

Assistant Director for Legislative Reference. 

u .S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

Hon. HARLEY 0 .  STAGGERS, 

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY, 
Washington, D .0., December 6, 1967. 

Chairman, Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, 
House of Representatives, fVashington, D.O. 

DEAR 1!R. STAGGERS: Your committee has requested a report on 
S. 1166, a bill to authorize the Secretary of Transportation to prescribe
safety standards for the transportation of natural and other gas by
pipeline, and for other purposes.

(46)
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S. 1166 would authorize the Secretary of Transportation to establish
minimum Federal safety standards applicable to the design, instal
lation, inspection, testing, construction, extension, operation, re
placement, and maintenance of pipeline facilities used in the trans
portation of gas. 

Under the terms of the bill, "gas" is defined as "natural gas, 
flammable gas, or nonflammable hazardous gas," and "transporta
tion of gas" is declared to mean "the gathering, transmission, or 
distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate 
or foreign commerce." The term "pipeline facilities" is also compre
hensively defined within the bill to include new and existing pipe, 
rights-of-way, buildings, and general equipment and facilities. 

The bill provides that within 3 months following its enactment the 
Secretary of Transportation shall, by order, adopt interim minimum 
Federal safety standards for pipeline facilities and the transportation 
of gas in each State. In those States currently enforcing regulatory 
standards governing such activities, the State standards are to be 
adopted as the interim Federal safety requirements. Where no State 
standards are currently in effect, the Secretary is directed to establish 
such interim Federal safety standards as are common to a majority 
of the States presently enforcing specific safety standards within their 
borders. The Secretary is directed to establish permanent minimum 
Federal safety standards not later than 24 months after the enactment 
of the act, which standards "shall be practicable and designed to meet 
the need for pipeline safety." Any permanent minimum Federal 
safety standards are to become effective 30 days after their date of 
issuance unless the Secretary, for good cause shown, determines that 
an earlier or later effective date is reasonably necessary to insure 
compliance. 

Minimum Federal safety standards prescribed by the Secretary of 
Transportation relating to design, installation, construction, initial 
inspection, and initial testing would not be applicable to pipeline 
facilities in existence on the date such standards were adopted unless 
a potentially hazardous situation existed. The Secretary would be 
authorized by written agreement with an appropriate State agency 
to exempt from Federal safety standards those pipeline facilities and 
the trnnsportation of gas not otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of 
the Federal Power Commission under the Natural Gas Act. Under 
such agreements, the State agencies would be required to adopt the 
Federal standards, undertake programs designed to achieve adequate 
compliance with such standards, and cooperate in a system of Federal 
monitoring of the compliance program and reporting requirements. 
The bill authorizes the Secretary to pay up to 50 percent of the 
annual costs for carrying out such agreements by a State agency. 

Prior to promulgation of permanent Federal safety standards, the 
Secretary of Transportation is directed to establish a Technical Pipe
line Safety Standards Committee composed of 15 members, five to 
be selected from governmental agencies, five from the natural gas in
dustry, and five from the general public. All of the proposed Federal 
safety standards and amendments would be submitted to the technical 
committee, which in turn would report on the teclmical feasibility, 
reasonableness and practicability of each proposal. The committee 
would also be authorized to propose safety standards to the Secretary 
for his consideration. The Secretary, however, would not be bound by 
the technical committee's reports or conclusions. 
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The bill provides for judicial review before the various U.S. courts 
of appeals of any order or other administrative determination of the 
Secretary of Transportation arrived at under the Natural Gas Pipeline 
Safety Act of 1967. Enforcement features of the bill include provision 
for civil penalties not exceeding $1,000 per day for each violation, 
except that the maximum civil penalty may not exceed $400,000 for 
any related series of violations. The Secretary is authorized to com
promise monetary penalties in accordance with the equities of the 
particular case, or to recover penalties, wherever necessary, through 
civil actions in the U.S. district courts. Injunctive relief to restrain 
violations of the act is also provided for through the offices of the 
appropriate U.S. attorneys or the Attorney General. The Secretary 
of Transportation is authorized to advise, assist, and cooperate with 
other Federal and State departments and agencies, as well as other 
interested public and private agencies and persons, in the planning and 
development of Federal safety standards and general enforcement 
procedures. 

We recommend enactment of S. 1166. Although this Department is 
assigned no functional role in the administration and enforcement of 
the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1967, we are in full accord 
with the determination that need exists for early enactment of safety 
legislation in this vital consumer area. President Johnson, in his 
consumer message to the Congress on February 16, 1967, stated the 
following: 

"Nearly 800,000 miles of pipeline reach out across a continent, 
linking the Nation's natural gas producing fields to the consumer. 
This gas brings heat and convenience to millions of American homes. 
It is used increasingly in industrial proce,c;ses. 

"The safe transmission and distribution of natural gas is essential 
to all of us. 

"The natural gt1s industry is among the most safety con,c;cious in the 
nation. But natural gas is inherently dangerous when it is being trans
mitted. It travels through pipelines at enormom, -pressures. It is highly 
inflammable. When it burn,c;, it can reach temperatures as high as 
2500° Fahrenheit. In March 1965, a tragic pipeline failure near 
Natchitoches, Louisiana, killed 17 persons. The recent blaze in 
Jamaica, New York, dramatically underscored how serious a gas 
pipeline failure can be. 

"As pipelines age and as more and more of the system lies under 
areas of high population density, the hazards of pipeline failures-and 
explosions-increase. Yet: 

-22 States have no safety regulations.
-Many of the remaining 28 States have weak or outmoded pro-

visions.
-Although the gas industry has developed safety standards, they

are not binding and in some instances not adequate.
-There is no Federal jurisdiction whatsoever over 80 percent of the

Nation's gas pipeline mileage and no clear authority to set
minimum safety standards for the remaining 20 percent.

"With the creation of the Department of Transportation, one agency 
now has responsibility for Federal safety regulation of air, water and 
land transportation, and oil pipelines. It is time to complete this com
prehensive system of safety by giving the Secretary of Transportation 
authority to prescribe minimum safety standards for the movement of 
natural gas by pipeline. 
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"I recommend the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1967." 
Inasmuch as the Secretary of Transportation is authorized to 

advise and cooperate with other Federal departments and agencies in 
the planning and development of Federal safety standards and 
methods relating to inspection and testing for purposes of assuring 
compliance with the act, this Department anticipates future oppor
tunity to participate actively in the formulative process. 

There is a typographical error in section 8(a) (2) and (3) of the bill. 
Section 8(a)(2) should refer to "section 11" instead of "section 12" 
and section 8(a) (3) should read "section 12" instead of "section 13". 

The Bureau of the Budget has advised that there is no objection 
to the presentation of this report from the standpoint of the adminis
tration's program. 

Sincerely yours, 
J. CORDELL MOORE,

Assistant Secretary of the Interior. 

FEDERAL PowER CoMMissro"' REPORT oN H.R. 6551, S. 1166, H.R. 
13936, H.R. 13950 AND H.R. 13953, 90TH CONGRESS, GAS PIPE
LINE SAFETY BILLS 

S. 1166, H.R. 13936 ( identical to H.R. 13950), and H.R. 13953
would assign to the Secretary of Transportation the responsibility 
for prescribing safety regulations for the transportation of natural 
and other gases by pipeline. Such regulations would cover the gather
ing, transmission, and distribution of gas by pipeline and its storage 
in or affecting interstate commerce. 

The bills, except for H.R. 6551, are all similar in scope, language, 
and structure with one major substantive difference: S. 1166 and 
H.R. 13953 do not provide for criminal penalties; H.R. 13936 does. 
The attachment contains a brief analysis of S. 1166 with a table 
showing the differences between the various bills. 

H.R. 6551 would assign such a responsibility for interstate lines 
to the Federal Power Commission. While the Commission has sup
ported such legislation in the past, it now supports the broader con
cept embodied in S. 1166. 

NEED FOR LEGISLATION 

The principal need for a Federal effort in the field of gas pipeline 
safety is the inadequacy of the code now used as a safety guide by 
companies and State agencies, and the improbability that an adequate 
code can or will be established under existing law or under existing 
private procedures. 

The current basis for safety standards for transmission and distribu
tion pipelines is the USAS B31.8 Code for Pressure Piping. This code 
has in turn been adopted by a preponderance of State utility com
missions, on occasion with some strengthening amendments, as the 
basis for their legal requirements. 

The flaw in this picture of almost unanimous adoption of a safety 
code by almost all the States is not in the will of States in adopting 
available safety standards, but in the inadequacy of the available 
safety standards themselves. The B31.8 Code, while it establishes some 
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safety standards in some areas, sets standards so low that it is seriously 
deficient to ensure safe practices. In fact, the standards the code sets 
are so low that most companies exceed code requirements or use prac
tices more stringent than those required by the code. To illustrate, 
companies, as a matter of practice, bury their pipe, which is not re
quired by the code, except at crossings. To protect against corrosion, 
most companies put a protective coating on pipe, also not required by 
the code; further, companies cathodically protect their pipelines, also 
not required by the code. In addition, most companies require a coat
ing of a specific electric resistance, also not required by the code. Most 
companies have a comprehensive program for maintenance and corro
sion prevention, while the code merely provides a checklist of danger 
areas. Most companies radiographically inspect welds on their pipe, 
while the code makes no such requirement. 

Comparison with previous gas pipeline safety bills 
S. 1166 establishes a complete scheme of standard setting, inspec

tion, enforcement, sanctions, agreements with States, reporting and 
monitoring, whereas previous bills assigning such responsibility to the 
FPC would have utilized the existing enforcement, reporting, and 
compliance sections of the Natural Gas Act. S. 1166, as introduced, 
amended title 18 of the United States Code which would have added 
gas pipelines to the Transportation of Explosives Act. 

S. 1166 would cover gas gathering, transmission, and distribution
pipelines and storage facilities, whereas previous bills assigning such 
responsibility to the FPC would have covered only interstate trans
mission lines under FPC jurisdiction. In addition, S. 1166 would apply 
to all pipelines regardless of ownership, whereas previous bills would 
have applied only to privately owned companies. 

Effect on FPO 
The bill contains provisions to reduce any possible administrative 

problems which may arise because of the dual responsibilities over the 
transportation of natural gas between the Department of Transporta
tion and the FPC. For example, section 7 of the Safety Act provides 
that whenever the establishment of a standard or action upon an 
application for a waiver would affect continuity of FPC certificated 
gas service, the Secretary must first consult with the FPC and defer 
the effective date until the FPC has had reasonable opportunity to 
grant the authorizations it deems necessary. Such language gives the 
final say on safety to the Secretary of Transportation but coordinates 
the actions of the FPC and the DOT so that compliance with a DOT 
standard would not entail violation of a FPC certificate of public 
convenience and necessity. 

In addition, section 7 of the Safety Act provides that applicants 
under the Natural Gas Act for a certificate to construct a pipeline 
must certify that the proposed pipeline will meet Federal standards. 
This certification is binding on the FPC unless the DOT has timely 
advised the FPC that the applicant has violated DOT safety stand
ards. The Senate Commerce Committee report on S. 1166 (Rept. 718, 
90th Cong.) interprets this: 

The FPC is required to consider and take action on some 
elements of the safety of transmission proposals in acting on 
applications for new or extended authority and it is not 
intended that this act will diminish that authority and re-
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sponsibility of the FPC. * * * It is not intended by the com
mittee that this process of certification of compliance with 
the Secretary's standards will bar FPC from continuing to 
consider safety in the same fashion it presently does in con
nection with awarding certificates of public convenience 
and necessity. 

The FPC agrees with this interpretation. 
Section 13(b) provides that, upon request, the Secretary shall 

furnish the FPC any information he has regarding the safety of 
materials, operations, devices or processes relating to the trnnspor
tation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities. This will allow the 
FPC to obtain the most up-to-date safety data to help in its considera
tion of the safety of proposed facilities for those aspects of the trans
portation of gas not covered by DOT standards. 

Section 13(c) also authorizes the Secretary to cooperate with, among 
others, the FPC in planning and developing Federal standards and 
methods to insure compliance with those standards. 

SUGGESTED Ai\fENDi\'1ENTS 

While the Commission strongly supports the basic concept of the 
bill, the Commission feels that the bill could be impro,,ed to give the 
States and the Secretary more discretion in promulgating standards. 
These amendments would restore S. 1166 more closely to its form 
as introduced and endorsed by the President and heretofore supported 
by the Commission. 

MORE DISCRETION IN PRO:VIULGATING STANDARDS 

S. 1166 now prevents States from establishing additional non
conflicting standards for interstate transmission lines and also prevents 
the Secretary from adopting any standards but the State standards 
then existing in each State as Federal interim standards. In any 
State where no such standards are in effect, the Secretary must 
promulgate those standards common to a majority of States. 1 

Under these provisions the anomalous situation is created whereby 
States may raise their own standards for those transmission lines 
under State jurisdiction (50,000 miles) but may not apply similar 
standards for such lines in that State under FPC jurisdiction (160,000 
miles). Functionally and operationally, these lines under State or 
FPC jurisdiction are identical and may even be part of the same net
work or even owned by subsidiaries of the same holding company. 
Some States have made valuable and worthwhile additions to the 
B31.8 Code and others may wish to do so. The FPC has supported 
the concept of minimum standards in its testimony on S. 1553 in the 
89th Congress and S. 1166 in the 90th Congress before the Senate 
Committee on Commerce because it believes the creative efforts of 
States have proved to be and should continue to be fruitful sources 
of safety concern. We believe the States should be free to improve 
their own standards for interstate lines and continue their current 
jurisdiction. Similarly, the Secretary should be free to supplement 

1 This section would authorize the Secretary to prescribe standards for those pipelines in States where 
the State has adopted some safety regulations but which did not apply to particular classes of pipe, such as 
distribution lines or interstate lines. 
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the interim standards with such additional requirements as accident 
reporting or other rules as would be necessary to administer an 
interim safety program rather than be required to adopt the various 
existing State standards as then in effect. In sum, we suggest the 
Secretary be allowed to so supplement existing State standards for 
interim standards and that the Federal standards not preempt addi
tional consistent State regulation of the interstate transmission lines. 

The FPC believes that there is a vital public need for a national 
agency responsible to the public to set adequate safety standards for 
gas pipelines. S. 1166, with the amendments we suggest, effectively 
provides for a national responsibility and the FPC therefore favors 
enactment of such a bill. 
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MINORITY VIEWS ON S. 1166, NATURAL GAS PIPELINE 
SAFETY BILL 

SECTION 5 

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE FEDERAL SAFETY REGULATION 

The original bil� provided that the Secretary of Transportation 
would have jmisdiction over all pipeline facilities and the transporta
tion of all natural gas. 

Under section 5 of S. 1166 when it was referred to the House, the 
Secretary of Transportation was authorized by written agreement with 
appropriate state agencies to exempt from Federal safety standards 
pipeline facilities and the transportation of gas not subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Federal Power Commission. No such agreement 
could have been concluded unless the State agency in effect had author
ity to impose the same kind of sanctions, recordkeeping, and inspection 
responsibilities that were given to the Secretary. In the event a State 
agency could not enter into such an agreement, the Secretary was 
authorized to negotiate with such agencies to carry out certain ad
ministration of the act on behalf of the Secretary. 

Section 5 was changed by the House Committee to provide that any 
State which could meet certain requirements would have the right 
to certify its ability to carry out the regulation required by the act 
and thereafter the State would control regulation (sec. 5), have the 
right to waive compliance with safety standards (sec. 2(e)), receive 
the plans for inspection and maintenance (sec. 1 I), and generally 
carry out the entire examination and inspection of gas pipelines not 
regulated by the Federal Power Commission (sec. 5). 

Once the State had certified its program, then under this bill the 
Federal Government would be required to pay up to 50 percent of the 
cost of the activities of the State agencies above the present amounts 
they are spending (sec. 5(c)); a subsidy which would absorb nearly 
all of the funds granted to the Secretary under the act (sec. 15). 

The net effect of the House committee amendment thrusts a burden 
on the Secretary which he cannot possibly carry. In order to insure 
protection for the public, under this unique Federal-State relationship, 
the Secretary would have to have a massive staff to monitor State 
enforcement activities, since the burden would be on him to prove 
that a State was, despite its certification, not in compliance. 

This is in contrast to the original bill which would provide that, by 
written agreement, a State must spell out in detail the standards it 
has adopted and prove that it has the capacity to enforce those 
standards. Under such a system only a modest force would be neces
sary to monitor compliance. Also, of vital importance, the burden of 
proof would be on the States to show compliance and enforcement 
instead of on th" Secretary to show noncompliance and inadequate 
enforcement. 

(5:3) 
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There is also a i,ubstantial question whether, the State having 
certified itself out from Federal supervision, the Secretary could make 
any serious effort to look behind that certification. 

This proposed amendmtnt will be presented by Congressman 
Macdonald. 

SAMUEL N. FRIEDEL. 
JOHN E. Moss. 
JOHN D. DINGELL. 
DANIEL J. RONAN. 
BROCK ADAMS. 
RICHARD L. OTTINGER. 
PETER N. K YROS. 

MINORITY VIEWS ON AMENDMENTS TO RESTORE 
SECTIONS 2, 3, 4, 9, AND 15 

GENERAL 

In addition to the basic change in the bill created by section 5, 
there were a series of weakening amendments adopted by the com
mittee which will prevent the bill from being effective even if section 
5 were to be corrected. With section 5 in its present form, these amend
ments make the bill a nullity. 

SECTION 2 

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE REGULATION OF GATHERING LINES 

The original will provided that "transportation of gas" included all 
means of distribution of gas by pipeline or its storage. 

The committee amended that section to exclude pipelines used for 
the gathering of gas in rural locations unless the Secretary defined that 
an area had become "nonrural." 

It will be impossible for the Secretary to examine each of some 
65,000 miles of gathering lines to determine where there is a populated 
as opposed to nonpopulated area, and therefore the risk caused by 
gathering lines will continue in its present status since the Secretary 
can only issue general regulations and cannot examine each line to 
determine whether it is rural or nonrural. 

SECTION 3 

AMENDMENT TO RESTORE REGULATION OF EXISTING PIPELINES 

Existing pipe under our major metropolitan centers is the chief 
hazard against which legislative action is needed, yet this pipe is 
effectively "grandfathered" out from effective coverage by section 3 
of the bill. 

The Senate language in section 3 should be restored. This would 
permit the Secretary to eliminate potentially hazardous situations by 
requiring compliance with safety standards already established. It 
would allow the Secretary to promulgate a series of orders in general 
form that would correct some of the more dangerous situations in the 
existing lines tluoughout the Nation. For example, he could find that 
certain types of pipe which had been in existence for a certain number 
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of years were hazardous and should be replaced. Pipe of deficient 
material, or which was improperly welded, would be subject to re
placement. The burden would then be on the companies to bring 
their facilities up to such standards. 

The committee changed this section to provide that the Secreatry 
could not issue general orders but instead was required to find that a 
"particular" facility was actually (not potentially) hazardous to life or 
property and then he had to order the person operating such facility 
to take the steps necessary to remove the potential hazard. This 
would mean that every mile of the country's pipeline would have to 
be inspected and tested and the faults revealed before he could order 
compliance. This is an impossible burden for the Secretary and is 
contrary to the general regulatory system which requires the industry 
itself to bring its facilities up to a standard, with the risk of meaning
ful penalties for noncompliance. 

There are today some 800,000 miles of gas pipeline already in the 
ground. Some of that pipe has been in use for over a century, and most 
for at least a decade. Some pieces of pipe taken recently from under 
city streets and buildings and shown at the hearings were so corroded 
that they could crumble at the slightest touch. Explosions that have 
leveled hundreds of houses and office buildings, that have killed 
hundreds and have maimed thousands have taken place in cities all 
around the country. Some recent examples are a rupture and explosion 
in Natchitoches, La., in March 1965, gutting an 18-acre area, killing 
17, burning down five houses and melting cars and rocks in the vicinity; 
a January 1967 explosion engulfing an entire block in Queens, N.Y., 
in which seven people were injured and 19 families left homeless; the 
injury of 14 people in a recreation hall explosion in South Milwaukee, 
Wis., in February 1967, where 20 minutes earlier 250 people had been 
gathered; a February 1967 explosion in Hastings-on-Hudson, N.Y., 
which killed one, injured 15 and left 35 families homeless; a March 
1967 explosion in Logansport, Ind., injured eight; destruction of an 
office building in downtown St. Louis, Mo., in November 1967-no 
one was hurt because luckily the explosion took place at night; 
explosion injuring nine in Riverdale, N. Y., last December; and so on .. 

SECTION 4 

AMENDMENT TO BROADEN THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE TECHNICAL PIPE

LINE SAFETY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

This committee is to assist the Secretary in establishing safety 
standards, but the bill goes far beyond that and requires that the 
Secretary shall use this committee's recommendations unless he spe
cifically rejects them and publishes his reason for rejection thereof. 

The present standard provides that each of the 15 members must 
be experienced in the safety regulation of the transportation of gas 
and of pipeline facilities or technically qualified by training and ex
perience in one or more fields of engineering applied in the transpor
tation of gas or the operation of pipeline facilities. This in effect limits 
the membership of this committee to individuals who are in, or have 
in the past been members of, the gas pipeline industry. This would 
exclude members of regulatory agencies who had not worked for the 
industry or academic personnel who had not "rorked specifically in 
engineering applied in the transportation of gas or the operation of 
pipeline facilities. 
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SECTION 5 

See the first minority views. 

SECTION 9 

A:\IENDMENT TO RESTORE THE CIVIL PENALTIES SECTION 

The House committee reduced the civil penalties in the Senate 
bill from $1,000 to $500 per day with a maximum of $100,000 instead 
of $400,000. For big utilities, these maximums are inadequate. 

Even more importantly, the committee amendment reduced the 
penalty sanctions to absurdity by insisting that they could be assessed 
only upon prior notice of noncompliance by the Secretary, followed 
by inaction by the pipeline company. This situation is precisely 
analo�ous to the old "mad dog" statutes, which permitted any dog 
one bite before he could be muzzled. We are not prepared to permit 
a pipeline company one explosion before minimum safety standards 
can be imposed. 

Nowhere in any Federal regulation (or State so.far as the under
signed know) is such a system of civil penalties used. 

SECTION 15 

AMENDllIENT TO RESTORE APPROPRIATIONS 

The amounts authorized to the Secretary to carry out his responsi
bilities under the act are wholly inadequate to permit him to do the 
job. Next year's authorization is cut from $13 million to $2 million, 
and the 1971 authorization from $15 million to $3 million. 

We are conscious of the need to keep Federal spending down to 
the essential minimum level consistent with the national welfare. 
In our view, however, the amounts authorized in this legislation 
are inadequate to permit even a show of compliance with the duties 
which the legislation imposes or attempts to impose upon the Sec
retary. The amounts provided won't provide for any meaningful 
Federal inspection, to say nothing of the 50 percent grants to the 
States required under section 5(c). 

The Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act should be restored to the 
form in which it passed in the Senate, and the Secretary of Trans
portation should be given the funds necessary to do the job required. 

As one witness testified before the committee about the leaking 
pipelines under our cities: "There is dynamite under our streets." 
It is left to us to remove it. 

JoHN E. Moss. 
JoHN D. DINGELL. 
DANIEL J. RONAN. 
BROCK ADAMS. 
RICHARD L. OTTINGER. 
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Having heard a major portion of the testimony in public hearings 
and participated in subcommittee deliberations, I do not share all the 
misgivings of my colleagues in their minority views. However, I agree 
substantially that section 5(a), as amended, seriously impairs the 
Secretary's opportunity to attack present dangers. 

The language as reported appears to admit Federal jurisdiction, but 
at the same time places an undue burden on the Secretary to prove 
that it ought to be asserted. I therefore urge a return to the language 
of section 5 as it was passed by the Senate, which preserves the 
traditional concept of Federal-State cooperation. 

I would nonetheless caution against a familiar pitfall of consumer 
legislation, the desire of well-intentioned administrators to achieve a 
wider jurisdiction than is proved necessary. An example in the present 
debate is their effort to regulate all gathering lines. 

Our subcommittee worked conscientiously to protect inhabited areas 
against faulty gathering lines. But from nearly 98 percent of gathering 
lines, testimony indicated, there is no need for protection. These lie 
across open terrain, most of it prairie, and the usual gas pressures are 
only 3 or 4 pounds per inch. No accidents involving gathering lines 
ha,·e occurred over the past decade. 

Similarly, I find little logic in arguments of the minority that the 
prospect of penalties up to $500 a day per violation and a total of 
$100,000 would fail to stir action by officials of a company who have 
been warned their property is unsafe. And I am baffled by colleagues 
who find it "amazing" that a violator should be warned before he is 
penalized. Let us hope the day of the friendly cop has not ended 
altogether. 

(57) 

u 

LIONEL VAN DEERLIN. 
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March 16, 1971

Mr. J. H. Lambdin
Professional Engineer
349 Glenway
Jackson, Mississippi  39216

Dear Mr. Lambdin:

This is in reply to your letter of February 16, 1971, concerning the applicability of the Natural Gas
Pipeline Safety Act of 1968 to a line approximately 10 miles long operating at a pressure of 125
to 150 pounds, crossing various public and private rights-of-way and supplying only one
customer, a public utility owned generating station.

The Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968 (hereinafter called the Act), and the regulations
contained in 49 CFR, Parts 191 and 192 would appear to be applicable to this facility.  Section
2(3) of the Act defines "Transportation as gas" as "the gathering, transmission or distribution of
gas by pipeline or its storage in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce...." (underscoring
added).  "Pipeline facility" as defined in Section 2(4) of the Act includes "any equipment, facility,
or building used in the transportation of gas or the treatment of gas during the course of
transportation."

It is our view, based on the legislative history of the Act, that even though the operation may be
entirely within one State there is no question but that every element of a gas gathering,
transmission and distribution line is moving gas, which is either in or affects interstate commerce.

We hope this answers your question, and if we can be of any further assistance, please let us
know.

Sincerely,

Joseph C. Caldwell
Director, Acting

Office of Pipeline Safety

I&E Exhibit 2 
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1998 WL 35166473 (D.O.T.)

Department of Transportation (D.O.T.)

Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration

Office of Pipeline Safety

Mr. Ernie Nepa

Governor Sproul Associates

1 Makefield Road

Morrisville, PA 19067

CPF No. 18003C
March 6, 1998

*** Start Section
...
Letter

*1  Dear Mr. Nepa:

On February 14, 1998, there was an explosion and fire at the Governor Sproul Apartment Complex (Lewis Building) in
Broomall, Pennsylvania, due to a ruptured 2-inch PVC pipe transporting natural gas. The natural gas pipe was struck by
mechanical equipment during construction of a ramp. The gas pipeline was reported to be not “marked” prior to the construction
project. Governor Sproul Associates (GSA) purchases metered gas from an outside source, PECO Energy Company (PECO),
for resale through a master meter system. The Federal Department of Transportation's Office of Pipeline Safety (OPS) has
pipeline safety jurisdiction over this master meter system.

A representative from the OPS, Eastern Region Office, responded to the incident on February 14, 1998, and conducted a follow-
up site visit on February 17, 1998. As a result, the OPS discovered deficiencies that need immediate attention. GSA operates a
master meter system. Therefore, GSA must operate their master meter system in accordance with the Federal pipeline safety
regulations, Title 49, CFR, Parts 191 & 192. The requirements of Title 49, CFR, Part 192 include, but are not limited to, the
proper design, operation, maintenance and emergency procedures for natural gas pipeline systems. The OPS provided a copy
of the Federal pipeline safety regulations and a copy of the, ““““Guidance Manual for Small Natural Gas Operators”, to help
you understand your pipeline safety obligations as a master meter operator. Based on the information gathered during our above
visits, it appears that you were not aware of the Federal pipeline safety requirements and your system was not being operated
or maintained under these regulations.

Following the incident, you indicated several times that GSA intends to replace the existing main with newer plastic pipe. You
also stated that, if cost effective, GSA prefers the system to be modified such that GSA is no longer a master meter operator and
each individual apartment is metered and billed separately. We acknowledge that you and your tenants were and will be faced
with many challenges because of this incident. We also appreciate your responsiveness to our previous concerns. However, if
you decide to continue to operate your master meter system, this office will need to take steps to ensure that you comply with
the Federal pipeline safety regulations. This could include taking enforcement action as specified in Title 49, CFR, Part 190.

Please provide to this office within 20 days a letter which includes a time schedule with your plans to convert the existing master
meter system to a pipeline system that would be operated by PECO or inform us of your plans to continue to operate your
underground master meter pipeline system. Modifications to your system, where PECO becomes the operator, is encouraged
because PECO has the resources and experience to design, operate, and maintain a gas distribution system.
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*2  We greatly appreciate your immediate attention to this matter. If you have any questions or need any additional information,
please do not hesitate to contact Michael J. Khayata of my staff, on the following number (609) 989-2181 or you can contact
my office directly at (202) 366-4580.

Sincerely,

William H. Gute
Eastern Region Director
Office of Pipeline Safety

CERTIFIED MAIL - RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED
1998 WL 35166473 (D.O.T.)

End of Document © 2022 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

...
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Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 
 
 

Docket Nos.  C-2022-3030251; 
 P-2021-3030002 

   
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that I have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document upon 
the parties, listed below, in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 (relating to 
service by a party). 
 

Service by Electronic Mail: 
 

David P. Zambito, Esq. 
Jonathan P. Nase, Esq. 
Cozen O’Connor 
17 North Second Street, Suite 1410 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
dzambito@cozen.com 
jnase@cozen.com  
Counsel for Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies  
 
 
 
 

 
_________________________________ 
Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 207522 
(717) 772-8839 
stwimer@pa.gov  

 
Dated: November 7, 2022 
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 COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

 
BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATION 
& 

ENFORCEMENT 

March 2, 2023 
 
Via Electronic Filing 
Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building  
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
 

Re: Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v.  
Westover Property Management Company, L.P.  
d/b/a Westover Companies  
Docket Nos. C-2022-3030251; P-2021-3030002 
I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s Motion for Summary Judgment   

 
Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 
 

Enclosed for electronic filing is the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement’s (“I&E”) 
Answer in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment of Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies with regard to the above-referenced matter.   
 

Copies have been served on the parties of record in accordance with the Certificate of 
Service. Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
(717) 787-1888 
karost@pa.gov 

 
KLR/ac 
Enclosures 
 
cc:  Per Certificate of Service 
 Hon. Christopher P. Pell, OALJ-Philadelphia (via email) 
 Athena Delvillar, OALJ Legal Assistant (via email) 
 Office of Special Assistants (via email - ra-OSA@pa.gov)  
 Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via email) 
 Scott B. Granger, Prosecutor (via email) 
 Gina L. Miller, Prosecutor (via email) 
 Per Certificate of Service
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Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,  
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  Complainant 
 
 v.  
 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies 
  Respondent 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

 
 
 
 

Docket Nos.  C-2022-3030251;    
P-2021-3030002 

 
 
 

ANSWER IN OPPOSITION OF THE  
BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION AND ENFORCEMENT  
TO THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OF 

WESTOVER PROPERTY MANAGEMENT COMPANY, L.P.,  
d/b/a WESTOVER COMPANIES 

 
 
 
TO THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION: 

AND NOW COMES the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) of the  

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”), by and through its prosecuting 

attorneys, pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 5.102(b), and files this Answer in Opposition to the Motion 

for Summary Judgment of Westover Property Management Company, L.P., d/b/a Westover 

Companies (“Westover”). For the reasons stated herein, I&E respectfully requests that the 

Commission deny Westover’s Motion for Summary Judgment (“Motion”) because genuine 

issues of material fact exist and Westover is not entitled to summary judgement as a matter of 

law.  

I. I&E’s Argument in Opposition to Westover’s Motion for Summary Judgment  
 

A. Westover’s Motion Ignores the Commission’s Determination that Genuine 
Issues of Material Facts Are Ripe for Resolution in this Case 

 
Westover’s Motion ignores the inconvenient, but critical fact that the Commission has 

already determined that material facts are at issue in this case and that they must be resolved. To 
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be sure, over six months ago, when the Commission issued its Order denying Westover’s 

Amended Petition for a Declaratory Order at this docket, it also expressly indicated that material 

facts are in dispute here.1 For purposes of illustration, in addressing the similarly heavy burden 

necessary to warrant a declaratory order (it should only be issued when there is no outstanding 

issue of fact), the Commission indicated as follows: 

It is clear from the allegations in the Amended Petition and I&E’s 
answer thereto, that material facts are in dispute as to the physical 
makeup of each of Westover’s systems, including whether or not the 
tenants are the ultimate consumers of gas, whether the tenants pay 
for the gas in rents or directly to the NGDC, and whether any given 
system is wholly contained within a single building or complex. 
Since I&E has already filed a Formal Complaint against Westover 
alleging, inter alia, violations of Act 127, these material fact issues, 
as well as the various legal issues raised in the Amended Petition 
should be resolved in the Formal Complaint proceeding at Docket 
No. C-2022-3030251.2 

 
As the passage above leaves free from doubt, this Complaint case is the forum prescribed by the 

Commission to resolve identified material facts in dispute (including but not limited to 

Westover’s facilities and the recoupment of gas costs).   

Notwithstanding its identification of unresolved material issues of fact, the Commission 

also expressly directed this case to resolve the disputed legal issues implicated by the parties. 

The Commission memorialized its determination by way of an ordering paragraph directing that 

the Petition of Westover be consolidated into the Complaint case (now the instant consolidated 

case) and that it be “assigned to the Office of Administrative Law Judge for resolution of the 

disputed material facts and legal issues in the ongoing controversy at Docket No. C-2022-

3030251, and issuance of a recommended decision.”3 Now, six months later, Westover’s Motion 

 
1   Petition of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies for a Declaratory Order 

Regarding the Applicability of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act, P-2021-3030002 et al (Order 
issued on August 25, 2022). 

2  Id. at p. 6. 
3  Id. at p. 8, Ordering Paragraph 2. 
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seeks to evade the prescribed resolution of the factual and legal disputes ripe for resolution in 

this case by making semantical arguments hinging on its unilateral interpretation of state and 

federal law, as well as the Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary. I&E submits that Westover’s 

contrived arguments should be rejected. As explained further below, Westover’s Motion fails to 

meet the heavy burden necessary to warrant the requested relief of Summary Judgment and 

therefore it should be denied. 

B. Westover Fails the Legal Standard for Summary Judgment 
 

In this case, as the moving party, Westover bears the heavy burden of showing that no 

genuine issue of material facts exists and that it is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.4 An 

entry of summary judgment may be granted only in cases where the right is clear and free from 

doubt.5 The moving party has the burden of proving the non-existence of any genuine issue of 

material fact.6 The record must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party 

(I&E), and all doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact must be resolved 

against the moving party (Westover).7 Summary judgment is properly granted only where the 

pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the 

affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is 

entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.8 As the Commission has already determined that 

disputed material facts remain unresolved in this case, and Westover’s attempt to bypass the 

resolution hinges on a novel and contrived legal analysis, it has failed to meet its heavy burden. 

Accordingly, Westover’s Motion should be denied.  

 
4  52 Pa. Code § 5.102(d)(1). 
5  Davis v. Brennan, 698 A.2d 1382 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1997). 
6  Id. 
7  Schnupp v. Port Auth. of Allegheny County, 710 A.2d 1235 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1998). 
8  Pa. State Univ. v. County of Centre, 532 Pa. 142, 144-45 (1992). 
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II. I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s Motion for Summary Judgment   

A. Westover’s Petition for Declaratory Order 

1. Admitted. 

2. Admitted. 

3. Admitted. 

4. Admitted. 

B. I&E’s Complaint 

5. Admitted in part and denied in part. It is admitted that I&E filed the Formal 

Complaint (“Complaint”) that initiated this proceeding on January 3, 2022, and that the 

Secretary’s Bureau served the Complaint on January 5, 2022. I&E is without sufficient 

information or knowledge to form a belief as to the Secretary’s Bureau’s method of service and 

the same is therefore denied.   

6. Admitted.  

7. Admitted 

8. Admitted. By way of further response, in its Order, the Commission directed that 

disputed issues of material fact and ongoing legal issues were being assigned to the ALJ for 

resolution. 

9. Admitted.  

10. Admitted. By way of further response, in its Order, the Commission reiterated 

that material facts remained in dispute, including facts regarding the ultimate consumer of gas at 

Westover’s gas facilities “which may establish whether the Commission retains jurisdiction over 

Westover under Act 127.”9 

 
9  Petition of Westover Property Management Company, L.P., d/b/a Westover Companies for Review and Answer 

to Material Questions and for Immediate Stay of Proceedings, Docket Nos. C-2022-3030251; P-2021-3030002 
(Opinion and Order entered November 14, 2022), pg. 14. 
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C. Interim Order Addressing Motions to Compel Filed by Westover and I&E 

11. Admitted. 

12. Admitted. By way of further response, Jamestown Village Apartments was also 

mentioned in the Complaint. 

13. Admitted.  

14. Denied. By way of further response, the commercial properties listed, the two 

Bryn Mawr Medical Buildings, are not within the scope of this proceeding. The casual reference 

to the properties in the Act 127 registration which was attached as an exhibit does not equate to 

their inclusion in this matter. The inclusion of Carlisle Park Apartments can be distinguished 

from these commercial properties as Westover specifically pled facts related to the Carlisle Park 

Apartments in its Amended Petition for Declaratory Order, whereas no facts related to these 

commercial properties were pled or offered until this Motion was filed.10  

D. Westover’s Registration as an Act 127 Pipeline Operator  

15. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, the Act 127 

registration is signed and dated as June 28, 2021. I&E is without sufficient information or belief 

to determine if the registration was filed on July 12, 2021. 

16. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, the Act 127 

registration is signed and dated as August 6, 2021. I&E is without sufficient information or belief 

to determine if the registration was filed on August 26, 2021. 

17. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, the Act 127 

registration correction is signed and dated as September 17, 2021. I&E is without sufficient 

information or belief to determine if the correction was filed on September 21, 2021. 

 
10  Amended Petition of Westover Property Management Company, L.P., d/b/a/ Westover Companies for a 

Declaratory Order Regarding the Applicability of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Act, Docket No. P-
2021-3030002 (filed May 16, 2022), pgs. 18-19. 
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18. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, the Act 127 

registration renewal is signed and dated as February 22, 2022. I&E is without sufficient 

information or belief to determine if the registration was filed on February 23, 2022. 

Legal Standards  

19. Admitted. By way of further response, 52 Pa. Code § 5.102 speaks for itself. 

20. Admitted in part, denied in part. To the extent that the averment contained in this 

paragraph is consistent with the cited cases, it is admitted. To the extent that it is not consistent 

with the cited cases, it is denied. 

Westover’s Statement of Facts  

21. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, it is admitted that 

Westover operates gas facilities at its apartment complexes. Denied that Westover does not own 

the facilities. 

22. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that the general location of 

Westover’s gas facilities is not in dispute. The remainder of the averment states a conclusion of 

law to which no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is 

denied.  

23. The averment contained in Paragraph 23 fails to set forth facts that can be 

admitted or denied; therefore, no response should be required. To the extent that any response is 

deemed to be required, I&E denies Westover’s self-determined conclusion that “background 

information” is immaterial. 

1. Park Court Apartments  

24. Denied. By way of further response, the gas facilities at Park Court Apartments 

consist of two NGDC-owned meters located at two (2) residential buildings which service all 

four (4) residential buildings. The gas facilities past the NGDC-owned meter include Westover-
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owned underground piping. In reference to footnote 3, it is specifically denied that, in all gas 

systems involved, the gas is transferred from the NGDC to a customer at the meter, as explained 

in more detail below.  

25. Admitted.  

2. Oak Forest Apartments  

26. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities at Oak Forest Apartments 

consist of one NGDC-owned meter located at one of the residential buildings which services 

seven (7) residential buildings and Westover’s leasing office. The gas facilities beyond the 

NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned underground piping.  

27. Admitted.  

3. Woodland Plaza Apartments  

28. Admitted. By way of further response, a NGDC-owned meter is located at each of 

the seventeen (17) residential buildings.  

29. Admitted.  

4. Mill Creek Village  

30. Admitted. 

31. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities at Mill Creek Village I 

consist of one NGDC-owned meter which services six (6) residential buildings. The gas facilities 

beyond the NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned underground piping. 

32. Admitted.  

33. Admitted.  

5. Country Manor Apartments 

34. Admitted. By way of further response, a NGDC-owned meter is located at each 

residential building, some of which service twenty-six (26) units and some which service twelve 
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(12) units.  

35. Admitted.  

6. Fox Run Apartments  

36. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter at each building which connects to gas piping and then to a Westover-owned sub-

meter in each unit. 

37. Admitted.  

7. Main Line Berwyn Apartments  

38. Admitted. By way of further response, a NGDC-owned meter is located at one of 

the residential buildings and services a total of three (3) residential buildings. The gas facilities 

beyond the NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned underground piping and a Westover-

owned sub-meter.  

39. Admitted.  

8. Black Hawk Apartments  

40. Admitted. By way of further response, Westover charges the tenant, the ultimate 

consumer, for the gas service through rent.  

41. Admitted.  

9. Paoli Place 

42. Admitted. 

43. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter at each building which connects to gas piping and then to a Westover-owned sub-

meter in each unit. 

44. Admitted.  

45. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, each apartment unit 
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is serviced by an individual, NGDC-owned meter. I&E is without sufficient information or belief 

to determine what a “meter bank” is, and therefore any reference therein is denied.  

46. Admitted.  

47. Admitted. By way of further response, each apartment unit is serviced by an 

individual, NGDC-owned meter. 

48. Admitted.  

49. Admitted. 

50. Admitted. 

51. Admitted.  

52. Admitted.  

10. Concord Court Apartments  

53. Admitted. By way of further response, Westover bills the tenant, the ultimate 

consumer, for the gas service based upon the square footage of the tenant’s unit and/or square 

footage of the tenant’s unit and the number of the persons residing in the unit.  

54. Admitted.  

11. Gladstone Towers Apartments  

55. Admitted. By way of further response, Westover bills the tenant, the ultimate 

consumer, for the gas service based upon an actual reading meter from a Westover-owned and 

installed sub-meter.  

56. Admitted.  

12. Hillcrest Apartments  

57. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter located at one (1) residential building which services a total of seven (7) residential 

buildings. The gas facilities beyond the NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned 
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underground piping. 

58. Admitted.  

13. Lansdowne Towers Apartments  

59. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter located at one (1) residential building which services a total of five (5) residential 

buildings. The gas facilities beyond the NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned 

underground piping and sub-meter. 

60. Admitted.  

14. Lansdale Village Apartments  

61. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter located at one (1) residential building which services a single boiler to supply heat 

and hot water to all residents in the three (3) residential buildings. Westover bills the tenant, the 

ultimate consumer, for the gas service based upon an allocation basis related to the square 

footage of the unit and the number of persons residing in the unit.  

62. Admitted.  

15. Norriton East Apartments  

63. Admitted.  

64. Admitted.  

16. Valley Stream Apartments  

65. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter located at one (1) maintenance building which provides service to twenty-two (22) 

residential buildings, one (1) office, and the maintenance building. The gas facilities beyond the 

NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned underground piping. 

66. Admitted.  
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17. Willow Run Apartments  

67. Admitted.  

68. Admitted.  

18. Carlisle Park Apartments  

69. Admitted. By way of further response, the gas facilities consist of a NGDC-

owned meter located in the apartment complex which services twenty-six (26) residential 

buildings. The gas facilities beyond the NGDC-owned meter include Westover-owned 

underground piping. 

70. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, the phrase 

“apartment complex” in relation to Carlisle Park Apartments is misleading. The Carlisle Park 

Apartment complex includes a residential building which is accessed by crossing a public road, 

Cherry Street, i.e., all but one of the residential buildings are located on the same side of the 

street whereas the one residential building is located across the street. See Westover’s 

Confidential Exhibit 5. While the residential buildings and gas facilities are technically located 

within the apartment complex, the apartment complex in this scenario encompasses a building 

located across a public street.  

19. Bryn Mawr Medical Building 

71. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that the commercial properties 

were attached to the Act 127 registration form. I&E is without sufficient information or belief as 

to the remainder of the averments, and therefore the same is denied.  

72. Denied. By way of further response. I&E is without sufficient information or 

belief as to the gas configurations as this location, and therefore the same is denied. 

73. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that I&E objected to requests for 

admissions related to this location. By way of further response. I&E is without sufficient 
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information or belief to determine the locations of the gas facilities at this location, and therefore 

the same is denied. Moreover, as explained in I&E’s Answer to Paragraph 14, this commercial 

property is not included in this matter and all averments offered by Westover should be struck.  

74. Denied. By way of further response. I&E is without sufficient information or 

belief as to the gas configurations as this location, and therefore the same is denied. 

75. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that I&E objected to requests for 

admissions related to this location. By way of further response. I&E is without sufficient 

information or belief to determine the locations of the gas facilities at this location, and therefore 

the same is denied. Moreover, as explained in I&E’s Answer to Paragraph 14, this commercial 

property is not included in this matter and all averments offered by Westover should be struck.  

Argument: Westover’s Motion Should be Denied Because Westover’s Gas Systems Meet 
the Definition of “Master Meter System” 
 

A.  Westover’s Claimed Reservation of Rights  

76. The averments contained in this paragraph contain only Westover’s 

characterization of I&E’s position. To that end, they are denied. By way of further response, 

I&E’s Complaint and Reply to New Matter speaks for themself, and any interpretation or 

characterization thereof is denied. 

77. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that Westover offered arguments 

but it is denied that they are determinative. By way of further response, Westover’s Petition and 

other pleadings speak for themselves, and any interpretations or characterization thereof is 

denied.  

78. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is admitted that Westover is requesting 

dismissal of I&E’s Complaint but it is denied that such relief is appropriate or warranted.  
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B.  Westover is a “Pipeline Operator” Pursuant to Act 127 as it Operates a 
“Master Meter System” as Defined in the Federal Pipeline Safety Laws 

 
79. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any 

interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

80. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any 

interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

81. Admitted in part, denied in part. By way of further response, I&E’s Complaint 

speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

82. Admitted. By way of further response, Act 127 speaks for itself, and any 

interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

83. Admitted. By way of further response, 49 CFR § 191.3 speaks for itself, and any 

interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

C.  The Gas Facilities at Westover’s Apartment Complexes Meet the Definition 
of “Master Meter System”  

 
84. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that Westover is arguing that its 

Systems do not fall within the definition of a “master meter system” but it is denied that 

Westover’s position has any merit. By way of further response, Westover meets the definition of 

a “master meter system” because its gas facilities are located entirely within a definable area, i.e., 

the apartment complex. 

85. Denied. I&E is without knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the 

matters asserted and the same are therefore denied. 

86. Admitted. By way of further response, 49 CFR § 191.3 speaks for itself, and any 

interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 
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87. Upon information and belief, admitted. By way of further response, Exhibit 10 

speaks for itself, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. 

88. Denied. I&E is without knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the outcome of 

any research that Westover may have performed, and therefore its representations of same are 

denied. By way of further response, while PHMSA interpretations have not specifically 

addressed the phrase “within, but not limited to, a definable area, such as a mobile home park, 

housing project, or apartment complex,” PHMSA interpretations can provide guidance on what 

has previously been determined to be a master meter system. For example, PHMSA has issued 

interpretations finding an apartment complex,11 a housing development,12 and a mall complex13 

to be master meter systems.  

89. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. By way of further response, the 

cases cited speak for themselves, and any interpretation or characterization thereof is denied.  

90. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. By way of further response, it is 

not erroneous for PHMSA or the Commission to use plain language interpretation in determining 

that “within, but not limited to, a definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing project, or 

apartment complex” means that the definable area can include an apartment complex, i.e., that an 

apartment complex, mobile home park, or housing project are examples of a definable area but 

are not the only examples of a definable area.  

Moreover, prior to the enactment of Act 127, the Secretary of Transportation submitted a 

report to Congress detailing how master meter systems include those distribution systems which 

 
11  PHMSA Interpretation PI-11-0014 (March 27, 2012) and (August 27, 2012). 
12  PHMSA Interpretation PI-01-0113 (June 25, 2001). 
13  PHMSA Interpretation PI-16-0012 (December 6, 2016).  
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purchase natural gas and resell such gas to consumers in connection with rental, leasing, or 

management of real property.14 The Report continues to state that master meter systems exist at a 

variety of locations, including apartment complexes.15  Most importantly, Westover’s need to 

argue the merits of its position based on principles of statutory construction exemplifies that 

summary judgment is not appropriate here. 

91. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied.  Most importantly, Westover’s 

need to argue the merits of its position based on principles of statutory construction exemplifies 

that summary judgment is not appropriate here. 

92. Admitted in part, denied in part. The averment states a conclusion of law to which 

no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. It is 

admitted that the definition of the adjective version of “within,” as provided in the Merriam-

Webster Dictionary, is “being inside:enclosed.” By way of further response, “within” is “used as 

a function word to indicate enclosure or containment,” or “to indicate situation or circumstance 

in the limits,” which demonstrate that the pipeline system for distributing gas must be located in 

a definable area, such as an apartment complex.16  Most importantly, Westover’s need to argue 

the merits of its position based on principles of statutory construction exemplifies that summary 

judgment is not appropriate here. 

93. Upon information and belief, admitted.   

94. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. By way of further response, I&E 

 
14  See Assessment of the Need for an Improved Inspection Program for Master Meter Systems, Report of the 

Secretary of Transportation to Congress, prepared pursuant to Section 108 of Public Law 100-561, January 
2002 (attached as Attachment E to I&E’s Answer in Opposition to Westover’s Petition for Declaratory Order) 
(hereinafter “Report”). 

15  Id.  
16  Merriam-Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/within. 
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disagrees that the definition of “master meter system” requires the gas facilities to be located 

partly within and partly outside the apartment complex. To the contrary, the plain language of 

the definition states that the gas system must be located within a definable area, such as an 

apartment complex. 

95. Admitted in part, denied in part. Upon information and belief, it is admitted that 

the referenced Frequently Asked Questions (“FAQs”) document existed on the Commission’s 

website and is dated February 2014. By way of further response, it is denied that the FAQs 

document is controlling or that Westover’s interpretation of it is accurate. The FAQs are not 

regulation, statute, case law, policy, or any other legal authority by which the Commission is 

required to interpret and follow. Moreover, the quoted section “ultimate consumers who own 

service lines on their real property (including master meter systems serving their own property)” 

is the correct interpretation of Section 191.3. Specifically, it is true that master meter system 

operators who service their own property, i.e., are the ultimate consumers, are not considered 

master meter systems. An example of a master meter system which is not a pipeline operator is 

as follows. Mr. Smith owns a business which includes an office and two (2) warehouses, all 

located in a definable area, i.e., the business complex. The local natural gas distribution company 

provides gas to one meter connected to the office building. The gas service then flows through 

underground piping to provide service to each of the warehouses located within the business 

complex. Mr. Smith purchases the gas from the local natural gas distribution company and 

utilizes the gas service to provide heat and hot water service to all three buildings. In this 

situation, while Mr. Smith’s gas configuration is a master meter system in the truest sense, he is 

not considered a master meter system subject to federal safety regulations as a pipeline operator 

because Mr. Smith purchases the gas and is the ultimate consumer. Moreover, Part 191.3 does 

not include any requirement that the master meter system provides service to property owned by 
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a third party. 

The Commission has previously reviewed and approved settlement agreements involving 

master meter systems. See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Brookhaven MHP Management, LLC, 

Meadowview Management, LLC, Mill Creek MHP Management, LLC, Northwood Manor 

Management, LLC, and ATG Properties, LLC d/b/a Greenleaf Gas Company, Docket Nos. C-

2017-2613983; C-2017-2613984; C-2017-2613985; C-2017-2613986, and C-2017-2613987 

(Opinion and Order dated August 23, 2018) (Commission approved settlement whereas company 

who owned four (4) mobile home parks was operating as a master meter system but failed to 

register as an Act 127 pipeline operator); Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Continental Communities, 

LLC and Hickory Hills MHC, LLC, Docket No. C-2015-2468131 (Order dated August 11, 2016, 

Initial Decision dated June 7, 2016) (Commission approved settlement whereas company owned 

and operated a propane distribution system that served a residential mobile home community 

where an explosion occurred, resulting in one fatality, one injured person, and substantial 

property damage.); and Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Bushkill Group, Inc., Docket No. C-2015-

2512950 (Final Order dated November 30, 2018, Initial Decision dated October 9, 2018) 

(Commission approved settlement whereas company owned and operated timeshare and vacation 

rental villas which used a propane distribution system to service the timeshare and rental villas, 

and had failed to register as an Act 127 pipeline operator.). While I&E acknowledges that 

settlements are not binding, the settlements do demonstrate that the Commission has 

acknowledged and confirmed its jurisdiction over master meter systems, particularly those 

master meter systems which own and operate pipeline systems within a definable area that 

provide gas service to the ultimate user, i.e., a specific class of persons. 

In reference to Westover’s footnote, the standard and analysis for a public utility versus a 

master meter system are not comparable. Specifically, it is I&E’s position that Westover does not 
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meet the definition of public utility as Westover does not offer gas service “to or for the public 

for compensation.” 66 Pa.C.S. § 102. Rather, the only individuals who demand gas service are 

those in the landlord-tenant relationship and not the public at large. See Drexelbrook Associates 

v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 212 A.2d 237 (Pa. 1965); see also Warwick Water Works, Inc. v. Pa. 

Pub. Util. Comm’n, 699 A.2d 770 (Pa. 1997), Collazo v. Stillwater Sewer Corporation, Docket 

No. C-20066892 (Order entered January 28, 2008), and Petition of Republic Development 

Corporation for a Declaratory Order that the Provision of Water Service to a Small, Defined, 

Privileged and Limited Group Does Not Constitute the Provision of Public Utility Service Under 

66 Pa. C.S. § 102, Docket No. P-2016-2576068 (Order entered March 16, 2017) (Well-settled 

proposition that if a utility lacks the ability to control or select the occupants of the dwellings or 

structures connected to its system, the utility service is being provided to an open class of 

persons, i.e., the public.). To the contrary, the definition of master meter system does not include 

such requirement; instead, it focuses on the location of the pipeline system, i.e., within a 

definable area, who is purchasing the gas, and who is ultimately using the gas service. 49 CFR § 

191.3.  

96. Admitted in part, denied in part. It is admitted that Westover operates gas systems 

which are located within the apartment complex. By way of further response, as explained in 

more detail in Paragraph 70, one of the residential buildings which is a part of Carlisle Park 

Apartments is accessible by crossing a public street. The Westover-owned pipeline facilities 

connects to the NGDC-owned meter on one side of the street and then connects to the Westover-

owned regulator located outside the residential building on the other side of the street. Further, it 

is denied that Westover is not a master meter system. 

97. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. By way of further response, the 
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Uniform Construction Code and International Fuel Gas Code speak for themselves, and any 

interpretation or characterization thereof is denied. To the contrary, public safety will be 

compromised by allowing Westover’s rather backward interpretation to stand as these unsafe, 

uninspected, non-maintained systems will continue in existence until such time a failure occurs. 

Notably, Westover speculates that enforcing federal pipeline safety laws will conflict with the 

Uniform Construction Code but provides no examples of such conflict. Even assuming, 

arguendo, a conflict may exist (it does not), the conflict would be a disputed legal issue that 

makes summary judgment inappropriate here. 

98. Denied. The averment states Westover’s policy argument to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. 

99. Admitted.  

100. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. By way of further response, 

Westover operates master meters systems and is subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction. 

101. Denied. The averment states a conclusion of law to which no response is required. 

To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. Instead, the Commission’s prior 

determinations issued in this case, as well as Westover’s demonstrated need to advance its 

position with arguments hinging on statutory construction and policy arguments, make it clear 

that both issues of material fact and law exist in this case. For these reasons, summary judgment 

is not appropriate or warranted here. 

III. Conclusion and Request for Relief  

Denied. The averment sets forth a conclusion and request for relief to which no 

response is required. To the extent a response is deemed to be required, it is denied. By way of 

further response, Westover’s Motion should be denied because genuine issue of material facts 
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and law exist. 

WHEREFORE, the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement respectfully requests that 

the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission deny the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
 
Scott B. Granger  
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 63641 
 
Gina L. Miller 
Prosecutor 
PA Attorney ID No. 313863 
 
 

 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
(717) 787-1888 
karost@pa.gov  
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ginmiller@pa.gov  
 
Date: March 2, 2023
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: 
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Docket Nos.  C-2022-3030251 
P-2021-3030002 

 
 

VERIFICATION 
 
 I, Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 3, in the Bureau of Investigation and 

Enforcement’s Safety Division, hereby state that the facts above set forth are true and correct to 

the best of my knowledge, information and belief and that I expect to be able to prove the same 

at a hearing held in this matter. I understand that the statements herein are made subject to the 

penalties of 18 Pa.C.S. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsification to authorities. 

 
 
 
 
Date: March 2, 2023      ________________________________ 

Scott Orr  
Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer – 3 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
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Judgment of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies, 

upon the parties listed below, in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 

(relating to service by a party). 
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Jonathan P. Nase, Esq. 
Cozen O’Connor 
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jnase@cozen.com  
Counsel for Westover Property 
Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies  
 
 

 
_________________________________ 
Kayla L. Rost 
Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PA Attorney ID No. 322768 
(717) 787-1888 
karost@pa.gov  
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I&E Statement No. 1 

 

Q: Please state your name. 1 

A: Scott Orr. 2 

Q: By whom are you employed and in what capacity? 3 

A: I am employed by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“PUC” or 4 

“Commission”), Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) as a Fixed 5 

Utility Valuation Engineer- 3 (“FUVE”) in the Pipeline Safety Section. 6 

Q: How long have you been employed with the Commonwealth and what are 7 

your credentials? 8 

A: I have been employed with the Commission’s Pipeline Safety Division (“Pipeline 9 

Safety”) since November 2016 and am currently a Fixed Utility Valuation 10 

Engineer- 3. As part of my employment with the Commission, I have completed 11 

approximately fifty-four (54) Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 12 

Administration (“PHMSA”) courses. The list of courses that I have completed are 13 

attached as I&E Exhibit 1. I am also currently an Assistant Lead Instructor for 14 

PHMSA at the federal training center located in Oklahoma for three (3) courses- 15 

PL3242: Welding and Welding Inspection of Pipeline Materials (previously 16 

PL3295 Pipeline Joining); PL3600: Root Cause/Incident Investigation; and 17 

PL3275: HAZWOPER 40 Hour- General Pipeline Safety Awareness Course. 18 

Previously, I worked as a construction engineer with the Pennsylvania 19 

Department of Transportation and as a law enforcement officer in New York and 20 

New Jersey, among others. I received my Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil 21 

Engineering in 2007 from Fairleigh Dickenson University.   22 
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Q: What are your current job responsibilities as a Fixed Utility Valuation 1 

Engineer for the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement? 2 

A: As a FUVE, I am responsible for performing operational compliance inspections 3 

and completing reportable and non-reportable incident investigations. This 4 

position is responsible for the enforcement of federal and Commission regulations 5 

related to pipeline systems that are under the jurisdiction of the Public Utility 6 

Commission. 7 

Q. Have you received formal training on your current job responsibilities? 8 

A. Yes, I completed all the required PHMSA Training & Qualifications prerequisite 9 

and core courses, attended formal training, and successfully completed the 10 

required testing conducted by PHMSA Training and Qualifications staff at the 11 

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma training facility. 12 

Q: In your capacity as a Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer, are you familiar with 13 

the Public Utility Code, Pennsylvania Code, and Code of Federal 14 

Regulations?  15 

A:  Yes, I am familiar with the Public Utility Code, Pennsylvania Code, and Code of 16 

Federal Regulations. 17 

Q: In your capacity as a Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer, are you familiar with 18 

master meter systems?  19 

A: Yes, I am.  20 

Q: What is a master meter system?  21 

A: Pursuant to Section 191.3 of the Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations, a master 22 
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meter system is defined as: 1 

a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited to, 2 
a definable area, such as a mobile home park, housing project, 3 
or apartment complex, where the operator purchases metered 4 
gas from an outside source for resale through a gas distribution 5 
pipeline system. The gas distribution pipeline system supplies 6 
the ultimate consumer who either purchases the gas directly 7 
through a meter or by other means, such as by rents. 8 

49 CFR § 191.3. 9 

Q: Can an apartment complex operate a master meter system?  10 

A: Yes, pursuant to Section 191.3, a master meter system includes a pipeline system 11 

within a definable area such as an apartment complex, which meets the other 12 

elements of the definition. 49 CFR § 191.3. 13 

Q: If an apartment complex operates a master meter system, are there specific 14 

requirements or procedures the apartment complex must follow?   15 

A: Yes, an apartment complex which operates a master meter system must comply 16 

with the applicable parts of Part 191 and Part 192 of the Federal Pipeline Safety 17 

Regulations, 49 CFR § 191, 192, and Pennsylvania’s Gas and Hazardous Liquids 18 

Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. §§ 801.101 et seq. (“Act 127”). 19 

Q: Are you aware of any apartment complexes that the Commission has 20 

recognized as an operator of a master meter system? 21 

A: Yes, I am aware of KBF Associates, LP, Brookside Manor Apts., who registered 22 

as a pipeline operator at Docket No. A-2017-2616022, and Village of Pennbrook 2 23 

LLC, who registered as a pipeline operator at Docket No. A-2022-3032506.   24 
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Q: The definition of master meter system includes the word “pipeline.” What is a 1 

pipeline? 2 

A: Pipeline is defined as all parts of those physical facilities through which gas moves 3 

in transportation, including pipe, valves, and other appurtenance attached to pipe, 4 

compressor units, metering stations, regulator stations, delivery stations, holders, 5 

and fabricated assemblies. 49 CFR § 192.3. 6 

Q: In your capacity as a Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer, are you familiar with 7 

the Respondent in this matter, Westover Property Management Company, 8 

L.P. d/b/a/ Westover Companies (“Westover”)? 9 

A: Yes. 10 

Q: How did you become familiar with Westover? 11 

A: In my capacity as a Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer, I was tasked with 12 

completing an investigation to determine whether or not Westover was a master 13 

meter operator, and if they were, to advise Westover of the federal and state 14 

regulations and to assist them in becoming compliant. Pipeline Safety became 15 

aware of Westover’s potential master meter systems after responding to a natural 16 

gas leak and service outage at one of their apartment complexes, Jamestown 17 

Village Apartments, in May 2018. 18 

Q: When did Pipeline Safety first begin its investigation into Westover and the 19 

gas facilities at its apartment complexes? 20 

A: After being assigned the investigation in November 2020, I reached out to 21 

Westover to gather information to begin the process of reviewing and discussing 22 

Page 457 of 628



 

5 

their gas facilities. On or about December 2, 2020, Pipeline Safety conducted a 1 

virtual TEAMS meeting with Westover due to restrictions in place in response to 2 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Pipeline Safety scheduled this meeting to explain Act 3 

127 and Part 192 of the federal regulations and to explain the Commission’s 4 

jurisdiction over master meter systems. After some discussion as to the 5 

descriptions of Westover’s gas systems, Pipeline Safety informed Westover that it 6 

operates master meter systems and is a pipeline operator. Pipeline Safety then 7 

provided Westover with a general timeframe to gather records and documents 8 

relating to becoming compliant with Act 127 and Part 192. Specifically, Pipeline 9 

Safety requested a procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance, & 10 

Emergencies (O&M) to be provided by December 16, 2020.  11 

Q: Did Westover provide the requested documentation/information to Pipeline 12 

Safety by December 16, 2020? 13 

A: No, Westover never responded to our request and also did not respond to Pipeline 14 

Safety’s several attempts to contact Westover. Accordingly, a Non-Compliance 15 

Letter (NC 77-20) was issued, attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 2, on February 3, 16 

2021, for possible violations of 49 CFR § 192.13(c) and 49 CFR § 192.605(a).   17 

Q: Did Westover respond to the February 3, 2021, NC-77-20, non-compliance 18 

letter? 19 

A: No, Westover did not respond to Pipeline Safety’s non-compliance letter.  20 
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Q: After not receiving a response from Westover, what did Pipeline Safety do 1 

next? 2 

A:  After not receiving a response from Westover, Pipeline Safety issued a second 3 

non-compliance letter, attached hereto as NC-08-21 Letter as I&E Exhibit 3, on 4 

March 30, 2021. The March 30, 2021 Non-Compliance Letter (NC-08-21) 5 

requested Westover to respond in writing on or before April 29, 2021 with dates 6 

for Pipeline Safety’s follow-up inspections of Westover’s facilities and records. 7 

The Letter also informed Westover that continued failure to respond would result 8 

in I&E taking formal regulatory action. See I&E Exhibit 3. 9 

Q: Did Westover respond to the March 30, 2021, NC-08-21, non-compliance 10 

letter? 11 

A: No, Westover did not respond to this second non-compliance letter. Accordingly, 12 

Pipeline Safety referred the matter to I&E Enforcement due to Westover’s non-13 

responsiveness and non-compliance with the applicable state and federal 14 

regulations. 15 

Q: After referring the matter to I&E Enforcement, did you continue to be 16 

involved? 17 

A: Yes, Pipeline Safety worked in conjunction with I&E Enforcement to attempt to 18 

bring Westover in compliance with Act 127. This combined effort resulted in I&E 19 

Enforcement issuing a June 2, 2021 letter to Westover. See I&E Exhibit 5.  20 
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Q: Did Westover respond or complete any action in response to the June 2, 2021 1 

letter? 2 

A: Yes, Westover filed an Act 127 registration form on or about June 28, 2021, 3 

Docket No. A-2021-3027219.  4 

Q: Did I&E respond to Westover’s registration? 5 

A: Yes, I&E Enforcement issued a July 28, 2021 clarification letter to Westover. See 6 

I&E Exhibit 6. The July 28, 2021 Letter acknowledged that Westover registered 7 

the Jamestown Village Apartments as an Act 127 pipeline operator on or about 8 

June 28, 2021, but noted that Westover’s registration failed to include any other 9 

apartment complex in Pennsylvania where Westover operates a master meter 10 

system. See I&E Exhibit 6.  11 

Q: Did Westover respond to I&E’s July 28, 2021 letter? 12 

A: Yes, by letter dated August 19, 2021, Westover requested the cancellation of the 13 

Act 127 registration at Docket No. A-2021-3027219, which was later canceled by 14 

Secretarial Letter dated August 30, 2021. 15 

Q: After requesting the cancellation of its Act 127 registration, did Westover 16 

make any further contact with I&E? 17 

A: Yes. Mr. Alexander Stefanelli, Westover’s Chief Financial Officer, subsequently 18 

responded to I&E’s letter on August 23, 2021. See I&E Exhibit 7. Notably, Mr. 19 

Stefanelli stated that Westover fully acknowledges the Commission’s Safety 20 

Division’s jurisdiction over certain facilities owned and operated by Westover, 21 

and that Westover intends to comply with Safety’s three (3) items to comply with 22 
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all federal and state regulations applicable to a master meter operator. Mr. 1 

Stefanelli explained that Westover contracted with two companies to take 2 

immediate steps to be compliant. Mr. Stefanelli ended the letter requesting an 3 

extension to complete the three (3) listed items. See I&E Exhibit 7. 4 

Q: After receiving the August 23, 2021, letter from Mr. Stefanelli, what 5 

happened next? 6 

A: On or about August 24, 2021, Pipeline Safety inspectors met with Mr. Stefanelli 7 

and Mr. Peter Quercetti, Vice President of Operations Management, at one of 8 

Westover’s facilities located at 2501 Maryland Road, Willow Grove, PA. Mr. 9 

Stefanelli and Mr. Quercetti advised Pipeline Safety that Westover had hired 10 

Oaktree Group LLC and Entech Engineering to complete the O&M plan for all 11 

facilities as previously requested by Pipeline Safety. Westover requested an 12 

extension of time to complete the O&M plan. Pipeline Safety granted the request 13 

for an extension and advised Westover to provide the O&M plan by September 20, 14 

2021. Pipeline Safety then scheduled a meeting with Westover for September 21, 15 

2021 to review the O&M plan. The September 21, 2021, meeting was canceled by 16 

Westover and later rescheduled for October 12, 2021. 17 

On October 12, 2021, Pipeline Safety met with Westover and a 18 

representative from Entech Engineering to review the O&M plans which were 19 

developed to comply with Part 192, Sub-part N, Qualification of Pipeline 20 

Personnel. At this meeting, Westover informed Pipeline Safety that it also 21 

contracted with Energy World Net (“EWN”) to comply with the section of Part 22 
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192 related to Operator Qualification (“OQ”) training. 1 

Q: Did Pipeline Safety follow-up with Westover following the October 12, 2021, 2 

meeting? 3 

A: Yes, after the meeting, Pipeline Safety scheduled a follow-up meeting with 4 

Westover and requested additional information/data. Westover subsequently 5 

cancelled the meeting and stopped responding to Pipeline Safety’s requests for 6 

additional meetings.  7 

Shortly thereafter, on November 3, 2021, Mr. Stefanelli from Westover 8 

advised I&E that it now believes that its facilities are not jurisdictional and that it 9 

retained counsel. See I&E Exhibit 8. 10 

The next day, on November 4, 2021, Westover’s counsel served a letter to 11 

I&E disputing the Commission’s jurisdiction over Westover’s natural gas systems. 12 

See I&E Exhibit 9.  13 

Q: Did I&E respond to the November 4, 2021 letter from Westover’s counsel? 14 

A: Yes, I&E Enforcement responded to the November 4, 2021 Letter on November 15 

22, 2021 and explained the Commission’s jurisdiction. See I&E Exhibit 10. 16 

Unable to reach an agreement on jurisdiction, this matter then proceeded through 17 

the formal litigation process after Westover filed a Petition for Declaratory Order 18 

on December 13, 2021, and I&E Enforcement filed a Formal Complaint on 19 

January 3, 2022. 20 
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Q: How many apartment complexes owned/operated by Westover did Pipeline 1 

Safety investigate/ attempt to investigate? 2 

A: Starting in July 2021, I personally investigated 18 apartment complexes owned 3 

and operated by Westover. However, of the 18 apartment complexes, some 4 

consisted of various locations, such as the Paoli Place Apartments and the Mill 5 

Creek Village Apartments, which was not known until discovery occurred in this 6 

complaint proceeding. I did request information related to some commercial 7 

properties owned by Westover which may or may not have master meter systems, 8 

but the information provided by Westover during the informal investigation 9 

process was limited to the addresses of eight (8) locations (Audubon Village 10 

Shopping Center, Bryn Mawr Medical Building, Center Point Place, Devon 11 

Square, Maple Lawn Village, Oxford Square, Pennsburg Square Shopping Center 12 

and The Centre at French Creek). During the informal investigation stage, I was 13 

unable to receive more information related to these commercial properties and was 14 

unable to visually inspect the facilities to determine if a master meter existed. As a 15 

result, these commercial locations were not included in the complaint.  16 

Q: Please identify the apartment complexes that were the subject of your 17 

investigation.  18 

A: The following apartment complexes where the subject of Pipeline Safety’s 19 

investigation: 20 

a. Black Hawk21 
1 Black Hawk Circle22 
Downingtown, PA 1933523 
Chester County24 
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b. Concord Court 1 
3701 Concord Road 2 
Aston, PA 19014 3 
Delaware County 4 

 5 
c. Country Manor 6 

2151 E. Lincoln Highway 7 
Levittown, PA 19056 8 
Bucks County 9 

 10 
d. Fox Run 11 

365 Newtown Road 12 
Warminster, PA 18974 13 
Bucks County 14 

 15 
e. Gladstone Towers 16 

223 Scottdale Road 17 
Lansdowne, PA 19050 18 
Delaware County 19 

 20 
f. Hillcrest 21 

785 West Providence Road 22 
Lansdowne, PA 19050 23 
Delaware County 24 

 25 
g. Jamestown Village 26 

2501 Maryland Road 27 
Willow Grove, PA 19090 28 
Montgomery County  29 

 30 
h. Lansdale Village 31 

219 York Avenue 32 
Lansdale, PA 19446 33 
Montgomery County 34 
 35 

i. Lansdowne Towers 36 
772 East Providence Road 37 
Aldan, PA 19018 38 
Delaware County 39 
 40 

j. Main Line Berwyn 41 
750 Old Lancaster Road 42 
Berwyn, PA 19312 43 
Chester County  44 
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k. Mill Creek I & II 1 
255 East Lincoln Highway 2 
Penndel, PA 19407 3 
Bucks County 4 

 5 
l. Norriton East 6 

2620 Dekalb Pike 7 
East Norriton, PA 19401 8 
Montgomery County 9 

 10 
m. Oak Forest  11 

2220 Alsace Road 12 
Reading, PA 19604 13 
Berks County 14 

 15 
n. Paoli Place  16 

27 E. Central Avenue 17 
Paoli, PA 19301 18 
Chester County 19 

 20 
o. Park Court  21 

28 South Water Street 22 
Womelsdorf, PA 19567 23 
Berks County 24 
 25 

p. Valley Stream 26 
2100 North Line Street 27 
Lansdale, PA 19446 28 
Montgomery County 29 

 30 
q. Willow Run 31 

3505 Moreland Road 32 
Willow Grove, PA 19090 33 
Montgomery County 34 
 35 

r. Woodland Plaza 36 
1701 State Hill Road 37 
Wyomissing, PA 19610 38 
Berks County 39 

Q: Were any additional apartment complexes investigated as part of this 40 

proceeding? 41 

A: Yes, pursuant to Deputy Chief Administrative Law Judge Christopher Pell’s 42 
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October 25, 2022 Interim Order, the following apartment complex was included in 1 

Pipeline Safety’s investigation: Carlisle Park, 525 Third Street, Carlisle, PA 2 

17013. 3 

Q: Did you physically visit all 19 apartment complexes owned/operated by 4 

Westover? 5 

A: I personally visited 18 of the 19 apartment complexes owned/operated by 6 

Westover. The only apartment complex I did not personally visit was Jamestown 7 

Village because I was able to complete my investigation based upon Westover’s 8 

discovery responses.  9 

Q: Please provide the date(s) you visited each apartment complex. 10 

A: The date(s) I visited each apartment complex are as follows: 11 

• Black Hawk Apartments on August 24, 2021 and December 1, 2022; 12 

• Carlisle Park Apartments on January 19, 2023; 13 

• Concord Court Apartments on December 1, 2022; 14 

• Country Manor Apartments on August 26, 2021 and November 16, 2022; 15 

• Fox Run Apartments on August 26, 2021; 16 

• Gladstone Towers Apartments on January 18, 2023; 17 

• Hillcrest Apartments on July 30, 2021, May 9, 2022, and May 10, 2022; 18 

• Lansdale Village Apartments on August 25, 2021 and November 16, 2022; 19 

• Lansdowne Towers Apartments on July 30, 2021; 20 

• Main Line Berwyn Apartments on July 30, 2021; 21 

• Mill Creek Apartments I & II on August 26, 2021 and November 16, 2022; 22 
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• Norriton East Apartments on August 24, 2021 and January 18, 2023; 1 

• Oak Forest Apartments on August 25, 2021 and January 19, 2023; 2 

• Paoli Place Apartments (North, South, and South Valley Townhomes) on 3 

August 24, 2021, December 1, 2022, and January 18, 2023; 4 

• Park Court Apartments on August 25, 2021 and November 15, 2022; 5 

• Valley Stream Apartments on August 25, 2021; 6 

• Willow Run Apartments on August 26, 2021 and January 18, 2023; and 7 

• Woodland Plaza Apartments on August 25, 2021 and November 15, 2022. 8 

Q: During your visit(s) at the apartment complexes, did you take photographs? 9 

A: Yes, I took photographs during my various visits to the apartment complexes. 10 

Q: Can you please identify and briefly describe the photographs taken during 11 

your visit(s)? 12 

A: Black Hawk Apartments 13 

I took one (1) photograph during my August 24, 2021 visit and one (1) 14 

photograph during my December 1, 2022 visit at Black Hawk Apartments. These 15 

photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 20A-B (Confidential). 16 

Photograph 20A shows a PECO Energy Company (“PECO”) meter and riser next 17 

to an open window. Photograph 20B shows a close-up view of the PECO-owned 18 

meter in addition to Westover-owned pipeline with corrosion.  19 

Carlisle Park Apartments  20 

I took eight (8) photographs during my January 19, 2023 visit at Carlisle 21 

Park Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 21A-H 22 
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(Confidential). Photograph 21A shows a Westover-owned riser, regulator, and 1 

over pressure protection regulator with corrosion. Photograph 21B shows the UGI 2 

Corporation (“UGI”) rotary meter. Photographs 21C and 21E show the Westover-3 

owned steel riser with corrosion. Photographs 21D, 21F, and 21G show the 4 

Westover-owned regulator and over pressure protection with corrosion. Finally, 5 

Photograph 21H shows the Westover-owned pipeline inside the building which 6 

connects to the furnace.  7 

 Concord Court Apartments  8 

I took three (3) photographs during my December 1, 2022 visit at Concord 9 

Court Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 23A-C 10 

(Confidential). Photograph 23A shows the PECO-owned meter and riser which 11 

connects to the Westover-owned pipeline. Photograph 23B shows the Westover-12 

owned piping and gas shut-off valve. Photograph 23C shows the PECO-owned 13 

meter, riser, and over pressure protection which is connected to Westover-owned 14 

piping.  15 

 Country Manor Apartments  16 

I took one (1) photograph during my August 26, 2021 visit and twenty-nine 17 

(29) photographs during my November 16, 2022 visit at Country Manor 18 

Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 25A-DD 19 

(Confidential). Photograph 25A shows the gas vents in the corner of two 20 

apartment buildings. Photograph 25B shows the PECO-owned meter and 21 

Westover-owned piping with corrosion. Photographs 25C, 25D, 25E, 25G, 25L, 22 
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25M, 25N, 25Q, 25R, 25T, 25U, 25W, 25X, and 25Y show the Westover-owned 1 

piping. Photographs 25F, 25J, 25K, 25P, 25V, 25BB, 25CC, and 25DD show the 2 

PECO-owned meter and vent lines in addition to Westover-owned piping. 3 

Photographs 25H and 25I show the laundry room where tenants pay to use the gas-4 

operated dyers. Photograph 25O shows the PECO-owned meter and over pressure 5 

protection. Photographs 25S, 25Z, and 25AA show the exterior vent lines.  6 

 Gladstone Towers Apartments  7 

I took four (4) photographs during my January 18, 2023 visit at Gladstone 8 

Towers Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 28A-D 9 

(Confidential). Photograph 28A shows the Westover-owned riser, over pressure 10 

protection, and piping. Photograph 28B shows the PECO-owned meter and 11 

Westover-owned over pressure protection and piping. Photographs 28C and 28D 12 

show the Westover-owned piping and sub-meters installed by Westover.  13 

 Hillcrest Apartments  14 

I took three (3) photographs during my July 30, 2021 visit at Hillcrest 15 

Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 30A-C 16 

(Confidential). Photograph 30A shows the Westover-owned riser and over 17 

pressure protection. Photograph 30B shows the Westover-owned riser with 18 

corrosion. Photograph 30C shows the Westover-owned over pressure protection 19 

and riser which is laying in the dirt.  20 

 Lansdale Apartments  21 

I took one (1) photograph during my August 25, 2021 visit and two (2) 22 
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photographs during my November 16, 2022, visit at Lansdale Apartments. These 1 

photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 33A-C (Confidential). 2 

Photographs 33A-C show the PECO-owned meter and over pressure protection 3 

and Westover-owned piping.   4 

Lansdowne Apartments  5 

I took one (1) photograph during my August 25, 2021 visit at Lansdowne 6 

Towers Apartments. This photograph is attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 35 7 

(Confidential). The photograph shows the PECO-owned meter and the Westover-8 

owned piping which is supported by wooden blocks.  9 

Main Line Berwyn Apartments  10 

I took two (2) photographs during my July 30, 2021 visit at Main Line 11 

Berwyn Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 37A-B 12 

(Confidential). Photographs 37A and 37B show the Westover-owned piping 13 

going out of and coming into the basement wall. 14 

Mill Creek Apartments- I and II 15 

I took four (4) photographs during my August 26, 2021 visit to Mill Creek I 16 

and five (5) photographs during my November 16, 2022 visit to Mill Creek II. 17 

These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 39A-D (Confidential) and 18 

I&E Exhibit 41A-E (Confidential). Photograph 39A shows the location of the 19 

PECO-owned meter, which is behind the fence. Photograph 39B shows the PECO-20 

owned meter and Westover-owned piping which is located behind the fence 21 

shown in Photograph 39A. Photographs 39C and 39D show the Westover-owned 22 
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riser and regulator at two different apartment buildings. Photographs 41A and 41C 1 

show the PECO-owned riser and regulator. Photographs 41B and 41D show the 2 

PECO-owned meter and Westover-owned piping. Photograph 41E shows the 3 

Westover-owned piping. 4 

Norriton East Apartments  5 

I took one (1) photograph during my August 24, 2021 visit and seven (7) 6 

photographs during my January 18, 2023, visit at Norriton East Apartments. These 7 

photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 43A-H (Confidential). 8 

Photograph 43A shows the PECO-owned rotary meter and riser. Photograph 43B 9 

shows the gas-operated dryers in the laundry room. Photograph 43C shows the 10 

PECO-owned meter and Westover-owned piping. Photographs 43D, 43E, 43F, 11 

and 43G show Westover-owned piping. Photograph 43H shows a note which was 12 

hanging in the laundry room and which states that a meter was taken out on 13 

January 9, 2023. 14 

 Oak Forest Apartments  15 

I took five (5) photographs during my January 19, 2023 visit at Oak Forest 16 

Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 45A-E 17 

(Confidential). Photographs 45A and 45C show the gas pipeline facility which 18 

runs along the foundation of the building, around a staircase to the basement area, 19 

on top of grass, and then connecting to a generator. Photographs 45B and 45D 20 

show the UGI-owned vent. Photograph 45E shows Westover-owned piping. 21 

 Paoli Place Apartments  22 
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I took one (1) photograph during my August 24, 2021 visit at 27 East 1 

Central Ave Building H, nine (9) photographs during my December 1, 2022 visit 2 

at 27 East Central Ave, and four (4) of photograph during my January 18, 2023 3 

visit at 55 South Valley Road, all of which fall under the Paoli Place Apartments 4 

umbrella. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 47A-J (East 5 

Central Avenue location) (Confidential) and I&E Exhibit 48A-D (South Valley 6 

Road location) (Confidential). Photographs 47A, 47D, 47E, and 47F show the 7 

Westover-owned sub-meter. Photographs 47B and 47G show the placement of the 8 

Westover-owned sub-meter. Photographs 47C, 47H, 47I, and 47J show the PECO-9 

owned meter and Westover-owned piping. Photograph 48A shows the PECO-10 

owned meter and Westover-owned piping. Photograph 48B shows corrosion on 11 

Westover-owned piping. Photographs 48C and 48D show the PECO-owned 12 

regulator.  13 

 Park Court Apartments  14 

I took two (2) photographs during my August 25, 2021 visit and three (3) 15 

photographs at Building A and at Building C on during my November 15, 2022 16 

visit at Park Court Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E 17 

Exhibit 50A-H (Confidential). Photograph 50A shows the UGI-owned meter and 18 

Westover-owned piping. Photograph 50B shows the Westover-owned regulator 19 

and over pressure protection. Photograph 50C shows the new construction which 20 

was completed at Building A. Specifically, you can see the remnants of the 21 

abandoned pipe, the UGI-owned pipeline facilities, and the Westover-owned 22 
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piping. Photographs 50D and 50E show the Westover-owned pipeline. Photograph 1 

50F shows the UGI-owned pipeline facilities and Westover-owned piping at 2 

Building C. Photographs 50G and 50H show Westover-owned piping.  3 

 Valley Stream Apartments  4 

I took two (2) photographs during my August 25, 2021 visit at Valley 5 

Stream Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 52A-B 6 

(Confidential). Photographs 52A and 52B show Westover-owned piping and 7 

regulators at two different residential buildings. Photograph 52B shows the 8 

regulator in direct contact with the grass/ground.  9 

 Willow Run Apartments  10 

I took four (4) photographs during my January 18, 2023 visit at Willow 11 

Run Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 54A-D 12 

(Confidential). All photographs show the PECO-owned meters for the individual 13 

units.  14 

 Woodland Plaza Apartments  15 

I took four (4) photographs at Building H, three (3) at Building I, and five 16 

(5) at Building K during my November 15, 2022 visit at Woodland Plaza 17 

Apartments. These photographs are attached hereto as I&E Exhibit 56A-L 18 

(Confidential). Photographs 56A and 56B were taken at Building H and show the 19 

UGI-owned gas facilities and Westover-owned piping. Photographs 56C and 56D 20 

were also taken at Building H and show the Westover-owned piping. Photograph 21 

56E was taken at Building I and shows the UGI-owned gas facilities and 22 
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Westover-owned piping. Photographs 56F and 56G were also taken at Building I 1 

and show the Westover-owned piping. The rest of the photographs were taken at 2 

Building K. Photograph 56H shows the UGI-owned gas facilities and Westover-3 

owned piping. Photographs 56I, 56J, 56K, and 56L show the Westover-owned 4 

piping.  5 

Q: In addition to your in-person visits to the apartment complexes, did you 6 

review any documentation or other additional information? 7 

A: Yes, I reviewed all information provided by Westover through the discovery 8 

process, including but not limited to the maps and reports created for Westover by 9 

Entech Engineering (see I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential)), the maps or descriptions 10 

of the facilities provided by Westover (see I&E Exhibit 13 (Confidential), I&E 11 

Exhibits 14-18, and I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential)), and leases for each of the 12 

apartment complexes (see I&E Exhibits 19, 22, 24, 26, 27, 29, 31, 32, 34, 36, 38, 13 

40, 42, 44, 46, 49, 51, 53, and 55 (all Confidential)). 14 

Q: After completing your investigation, were you able to determine whether or 15 

not the apartment complexes operated/owned by Westover are master meter 16 

systems? 17 

A: Yes. 18 

The Gas Configurations at Westover’s Apartment Complexes 19 

Q: Going alphabetically, based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety 20 

expertise, does Westover operate a master meter system at Black Hawk 21 

Apartments? 22 
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A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 1 

facilities located at Black Hawk Apartments are a master meter system as defined 2 

by 49 CFR § 191.3.  3 

Q: Please explain why Black Hawk Apartments is a master meter system. 4 

A: Black Hawk Apartments consist of thirteen (13) separate residential buildings. The 5 

gas facilities at Black Hawk Apartment consist of meters and regulators, which are 6 

owned by PECO, on each building, and pipelines, which are owned by Westover, 7 

that enter the building to provide service to the central boiler and hot water 8 

heaters. The gas facilities at Black Hawk Apartments which distribute gas to the 9 

tenants are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). 10 

Westover purchases the gas from the local natural gas distribution company, 11 

PECO. Westover then charges the tenant, the ultimate consumer, for the gas 12 

through rent. See I&E Exhibit 14, I&E Exhibit 19 (Confidential), and I&E 13 

Exhibit 58 (Confidential).  14 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 15 

concerns at Black Hawk Apartments? 16 

A: Yes. The PECO meters and vents and the Westover pipelines are located directly 17 

in front of operable windows. This poses a severe safety risk in the event of an 18 

over-pressurization event. Specifically, the location of the windows in relation to 19 

the gas facilities allows for the possibility of natural gas which is vented to enter 20 

the structure through the window when open. The buildup of gas inside the 21 
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structure could cause the grave possibility of an explosion if the gas is ignited by a 1 

source of ignition, i.e., the boiler or hot water heater.  2 

Moreover, the Westover-owned pipelines and fittings had corrosion on 3 

them. Some of the pipelines are bare, uncoated steel lines in direct contact with the 4 

soil, which makes the pipelines more prone to further corrosion and possible 5 

failure. According to PHMSA, corrosion is listed as one of the main reasons for 6 

failures and leaks on distribution piping, noting that approximately 18% of 7 

pipeline incidents from 1998-2017 were caused by corrosion.1 Finally, Westover 8 

has failed to provide any records or procedures demonstrating their compliance 9 

with Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal regulations which apply to master meter 10 

systems. 49 CFR § 191, 192. 11 

Additionally, through the discovery process, I&E was advised that 12 

Westover met with PECO at some point during this litigation and that Westover 13 

agreed to make a couple of the boiler windows inoperable and to raise a couple of 14 

the pipelines so they do not sit in the dirt. This information provided by Westover 15 

raised several red flags of additional safety concerns at this apartment complex as 16 

I&E has no information or records which demonstrate that qualified individuals 17 

will or were going to complete the work Westover agreed to complete.  18 

Q: You mentioned that an over-pressurization event is a safety concern. What is 19 

an over-pressurization event? 20 

A: To explain what an over-pressurization event is, I first need to provide a quick 21 

 
1  PHMSA: Fact Sheet: Corrosion, https://primis.phmsa.dot.gov/comm/FactSheets/FSCorrosion htm.  
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explanation on how gas is transported through a pipeline system. Gas is 1 

transported at elevated pressures through pipelines and pipeline systems are 2 

designed to safely transport gas at certain pressures. Gas is ultimately delivered to 3 

a typical customer at what is defined as “low pressure” or approximately ¼ pounds 4 

per square inch gauge (“psig”). Service regulators are used to reduce the gas 5 

pressure for safe delivery to the customer. As part of reducing pressure at various 6 

stages of the transportation process, regulations require over-pressure protection to 7 

protect the piping from pressures above which they are designed to safely operate. 8 

Pressure reduction is accomplished through a pressure regulator that reduces the 9 

outlet pressure below the higher inlet pressure. Some regulators have internal 10 

overpressure protection reliefs and some require separate overpressure protection 11 

devices.  12 

Q:  How can over-pressurization protection be accomplished?  13 

A: Overpressure protection can be accomplished in different ways. One way is to 14 

vent excess gas flow to the atmosphere via a designed and engineered vent line or 15 

port to maintain an acceptable downstream pressure. These vents must be 16 

designed, and maintained, to handle the volume needed to be vented and to protect 17 

the downstream piping from reaching an unsafe elevated pressure. Over pressuring 18 

a pipeline or the piping within a structure can lead to a grave and catastrophic 19 

result. Thus, the over-pressurization protection devices are the last line of defense 20 

to protect internal appliances or appurtenances from receiving gas at pressures 21 

above their design pressure. 22 

Page 477 of 628



25 

Q: Do compromised vent lines around an apartment complex represent a safety 1 

concern? 2 

A: Yes. Specifically, unmaintained, severed, obstructed or improperly placed vent 3 

lines in and around a building can lead to ruptures, leaks, and gas accumulation in 4 

a confined indoor space. Allowing gas to accumulate within a building must be 5 

avoided or devastating consequences could result due to the explosive level of gas 6 

being reached when there is a concentration of 5% gas in air mixture. These 7 

consequences can be compounded in an apartment complex or multifamily 8 

dwellings where tenants unknowingly assume the risk of compromised lines.   9 

Q: Are you aware of any prior situations where an over-pressurization event 10 

occurred at an apartment complex? 11 

A: Yes. I first like to note that the federal pipeline safety code is the minimum level 12 

of interrelated code requirements designed to prevent incidents and provide for the 13 

safe transportation of natural gas. An over-pressurization event occurred on 14 

August 10, 2016 at Flower Branch Apartment Complex in Silver Spring, 15 

Maryland. The explosion and fire resulted in the death of seven (7) residents, 16 

hospitalization of sixty-five (65) residents, treatment of three (3) firefighters, and 17 

in excess of $1 million dollars in property damage. The explosion was the result of 18 

an unconnected vent line, which allowed natural gas to flow into the room where 19 

the meter was located, accumulate, and become ignited from an unknown source. 20 

As explained above, the purpose of the vent line is to vent gas out and away from 21 

a structure. 22 
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This same event could happen at an apartment complex owned and 1 

operated by Westover since there are no records of maintenance or inspections of 2 

these gas facilities being completed. This lack of records and information is 3 

further concerning as Westover is not aware of what materials the piping is made 4 

from, the exact locations of the piping, and the maximum allowable operating 5 

pressure for each piping system. Any event which occurs at a Westover-owned 6 

apartment complex could be more catastrophic than at a single-family home due to 7 

the population density of the apartment complex.  8 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report prepared for Westover include any 9 

recommendations or safety concerns regarding Black Hawk Apartments? 10 

A: Yes, the Entech Engineering Report (“Entech Report”) included *START 11 

CONFIDENTIAL* 12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 
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 1 

 *END CONFIDENTIAL*  2 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 3 

Westover operate a master meter system at Carlisle Park Apartments? 4 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 5 

facilities located at Carlisle Park Apartments are a master meter system as defined 6 

by 49 CFR § 191.3.  7 

Q: Please explain why Carlisle Park is a master meter system.  8 

A: Carlisle Park consists of twenty-six (26) separate residential buildings, all of 9 

which are connected by underground gas piping. The pipeline facilities at Carlisle 10 

Park consist of one rotary meter on the property owned and maintained by UGI. A 11 

pipeline, which is owned by Westover, connects to the rotary meter, goes 12 

underground to each building, comes up through a steel riser, and then into a 13 

pressure regulator and over pressure protection regulator which is also owned and 14 

operated by Westover. See I&E Exhibit 21A, 21D, and 21F (Confidential). The 15 

underground piping, riser, pressure regulator, and over pressure protection at each 16 

building are not maintained or serviced by UGI.  17 

The gas pipe continues into each building and branches out to each 18 

apartment to supply service to the gas-run furnace in each apartment unit. The gas 19 

facilities at Carlisle Park Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are mostly 20 

limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). *START 21 

CONFIDENTIAL*  22 

Page 480 of 628



 

28 

 1 

 *END CONFIDENTIAL* Westover purchases the gas from the 2 

local natural gas distribution company, UGI. The gas is then resold to the residents 3 

of Carlisle Park through rent. See I&E Exhibit 15. 4 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 5 

concerns at Carlisle Park Apartments? 6 

A: Yes. Under federal code 49 CFR § 192.743 (Pressure limiting and regulating 7 

stations: capacity of relief devices), the capacity of relief devices must be 8 

determined at intervals not exceeding fifteen (15) months, but at least once each 9 

calendar year, by testing the device in places and calculations. There is no 10 

evidence this has ever been completed by Westover. Notably, corrosion was 11 

observed at the pipe to soil interface and on the fittings. See I&E Exhibit 21F and 12 

21G (Confidential). 13 

In short, Westover has failed to provide any records or procedures 14 

demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal 15 

regulations which apply to master meter systems. 49 CFR §§ 191, 192. 16 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 17 

concerns regarding Carlisle Park Apartments? 18 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  19 

 20 

 21 

 22 
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 1 

 *END 2 

CONFIDENTIAL* 3 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 4 

Westover operate a master meter system at Concord Court Apartments? 5 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 6 

facilities located at Concord Court Apartments are a master meter system as 7 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3.  8 

Q: Please explain why Concord Court Apartments is a master meter system.  9 

A: Concord Court Apartments consists of seven (7) residential buildings. The 10 

distribution system at Concord Court consists of a steel riser and PECO-owned 11 

meter and regulator, to which the Westover-owned pipelines enter the building to 12 

service the central boiler and hot water heaters. The gas facilities at Concord Court 13 

Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 14 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases gas from the 15 

local natural gas distribution company, PECO. The gas is then resold to the 16 

residents of Concord Court Apartments through rents. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E 17 

Exhibit 14, I&E Exhibit 22 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential). 18 

Specifically, PECO bills Westover which then bills the tenant based on the square 19 

footage of the tenant’s unit and/or square footage of the tenant’s unit and the 20 

number of the persons residing in the unit. See I&E Exhibit 11 and I&E Exhibit 22 21 

(Confidential). 22 
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Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 1 

concerns at Concord Court Apartments? 2 

A: Yes. I noted corrosion on the couplings on the pipelines owned by Westover. To 3 

the best of my knowledge, Westover has no plans, procedures, or programs which 4 

show that Westover is complying with 49 CFR § 192.479 (Atmospheric Corrosion 5 

Control: General) or 49 CFR § 192.481 (Atmospheric Corrosion Control: 6 

Monitoring). Specifically, the code states that each operator must clean and coat 7 

each pipeline or portion of pipeline exposed to the atmosphere and that each 8 

operator must inspect each pipeline or portion of the pipeline that is exposed to the 9 

atmosphere for evidence of atmospheric corrosion. Pursuant to the chart listing in 10 

the federal code, this inspection must occur at least once every three (3) years but 11 

with intervals not exceeding thirty-nine (39) months.  12 

In short, Westover has failed to provide any records or procedures 13 

demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal 14 

regulations which apply to master meter systems. 49 CFR §§ 191, 192. 15 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 16 

concerns regarding Concord Court Apartments? 17 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 
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 1 

 *END 2 

CONFIDENTIAL* 3 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 4 

Westover operate a master meter system at Country Manor Apartments? 5 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 6 

facilities located at Country Manor Apartments are a master meter system as 7 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3.  8 

Q: Please explain why Country Manor Apartments is a master meter system.  9 

A:  Country Manor apartment complex is comprised of nine (9) residential buildings, 10 

seven (7) of which are comprised of two buildings, resulting in a total of sixteen 11 

(16) buildings. Some of the buildings have twenty-six (26) units, while others have 12 

twelve (12) units. All residential buildings are serviced by PECO-owned meters 13 

located in the basements of the buildings or on the front exteriors of the buildings. 14 

The tenants all share several laundry rooms that have gas-operated dryers that the 15 

tenant must pay to use. See I&E Exhibit 25H, 25I, and 25U (Confidential). Gas 16 

service is also used to run a common boiler and hot water system. Westover 17 

purchases the gas from PECO, and then resells the gas to the residents of Country 18 

Manor through rent. See I&E Exhibit 14, I&E Exhibit 24 (Confidential), and I&E 19 

Exhibit 58 (Confidential). Specifically, as noted in the lease effective January 1, 20 

2023, gas service is billed to Westover and then resold to the tenant based upon an 21 

allocation. See I&E Exhibit 24 (Confidential); see also I&E Exhibit 14. While the 22 
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 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 *END 6 

CONFIDENTIAL* 7 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 8 

Westover operate a master meter system at Fox Run Apartments? 9 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 10 

facilities located at Fox Run Apartments are a master meter system as defined by 11 

49 CFR § 191.3.   12 

Q: Please explain why Fox Run Apartments is a master meter system.  13 

A: Fox Run consists of six (6) residential buildings, each with several apartments 14 

units contained therein, and a barn. The gas facilities at Fox Run consists of 15 

PECO-owned underground piping to each building and a meter owned and 16 

maintained by PECO located at each building. The gas then flows to a Westover-17 

owned pipeline, through interior piping, and then to a Westover-owned sub-meter 18 

installed by Westover in each unit. The gas facilities at Fox Run Apartments 19 

which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E 20 

Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases gas from PECO, which is then 21 

resold to the residents of Fox Run through rent. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E Exhibit 22 
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14, I&E Exhibit 26 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential). 1 

Specifically, the resident is billed based upon an actual meter reading from a sub-2 

meter. See I&E Exhibit 14, I&E Exhibit 26 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 3 

(Confidential). 4 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 5 

concerns at Fox Run Apartments? 6 

A: Yes. Westover installed the sub-meters in each unit and, to the best of my 7 

knowledge, has not provided any evidence that it is maintaining the sub-meters 8 

pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.353 (Customer meters and regulator: location), 49 CFR 9 

§ 192.355 (Customer Meters and regulators: protection from damages), 49 CFR § 10 

192.357 (Customer meters and regulators: installation), and 49 CFR § 192.359 11 

(Customer meters installations: operating pressure). In addition, Westover has not 12 

provided any evidence to show that the installation of the sub-meters was 13 

completed in accordance with 49 CFR § 192.801 and 49 CFR § 192.805 as 14 

Westover maintains no records as required pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.807. This 15 

lack of records and inability to confirm that these sections of Part 192 were 16 

followed is a major safety concern because Pipeline Safety has no knowledge or 17 

information to suggest that the sub-meters were installed correctly or are currently 18 

operating in a safe manner. Moreover, Pipeline Safety cannot determine if the sub-19 

meters installed by Westover are compatible with PECO’s gas facilities. It is also 20 

unknown if the sub-meters have been or are being inspected to determine if the gas 21 

readings are accurate to potentially prevent an over-pressurization event 22 
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downstream to the individual units. In short, Westover has failed to provide any 1 

records or procedures demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 192 2 

of the federal regulations which apply to master meter systems.  3 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 4 

concerns regarding Fox Run Apartments? 5 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 *END 12 

CONFIDENTIAL* 13 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 14 

Westover operate a master meter system at Gladstone Towers Apartments? 15 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 16 

facilities located at Gladstone Towers Apartments are a master meter system as 17 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3. 18 

Q: Please explain why Gladstone Towers is a master meter system.  19 

A: Gladstone Towers consists of two (2) residential buildings, each with several 20 

apartment units. The gas facilities at Gladstone Towers consist of PECO-owned 21 

underground piping and a meter owned and maintained by PECO located at 22 
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Building A. See I&E Exhibit 28B (Confidential). From the PECO-owned meter, 1 

the gas flows to a Westover-owned pipeline and manifold, through underground 2 

piping to Building B, and then to a riser and regulator owned by Westover. See 3 

I&E Exhibit 28A (Confidential). The gas then flows to a pipeline owned and 4 

operated by Westover and then to a sub-meter installed by Westover in each 5 

apartment unit. See I&E Exhibit 28D (Confidential) and I&E Exhibit 12 6 

(Confidential). The gas facilities at Gladstone Tower Apartments which distribute 7 

gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 8 

(Confidential). Westover purchases the gas from PECO, and the resident is then 9 

billed for the gas service based upon an actual meter reading from a sub-meter. 10 

See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E Exhibit 16, I&E Exhibit 27 (Confidential), and I&E 11 

Exhibit 58 (Confidential). 12 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 13 

concerns at Gladstone Towers Apartments? 14 

A: Yes. Westover installed the sub-meters in each unit and, to the best of my 15 

knowledge, has not provided any evidence that it is maintaining the sub-meters 16 

pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.353 (Customer meters and regulator: location), 49 CFR 17 

§ 192.355 (Customer Meters and regulators: protection from damages), 49 CFR § 18 

192.357 (Customer meters and regulators: installation), and 49 CFR § 192.359 19 

(Customer meters installations: operating pressure). In addition, Westover has not 20 

provided any evidence to show that the installation of the sub-meters was 21 

completed in accordance with 49 CFR § 192.801 and 49 CFR § 192.805 as 22 
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Westover maintains no records as required pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.807. This 1 

lack of records and inability to confirm that these sections of Part 192 were 2 

followed is a major safety concern because Pipeline Safety has no knowledge or 3 

information to suggest that the sub-meters were installed correctly or are currently 4 

operating in a safe manner. Moreover, Pipeline Safety cannot determine if the sub-5 

meters installed by Westover are compatible with PECO’s gas facilities. It is also 6 

unknown if the sub-meters have been or are being inspected to determine if the gas 7 

readings are accurate to potentially prevent an over pressurization event 8 

downstream to the individual units. In short, Westover has failed to provide any 9 

records or procedures demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 192 10 

of the federal regulations which apply to master meter systems.  11 

Q: Did Pipeline Safety identify any safety concerns during its January 18, 2023 12 

visual inspection? 13 

A: Yes, during the site visit on January 18, 2023 to Gladstone Towers, Pipeline 14 

Safety inspectors, which included myself, detected the odor of natural gas at the 15 

meter system outside of Building A. Pipeline Safety notified PECO of the odor of 16 

natural gas. PECO tested the facilities and determined that leaks existed on both 17 

the PECO-owned and Westover-owned facilities. See I&E Exhibit 57 18 

(Confidential). The photographs in I&E Exhibit 57 show the location of the leaks 19 

on the Westover-owned pipeline facilities, each leak is circled in yellow.  20 

While PECO made repairs to its facilities on January 18, 2023, Westover 21 

made the decision to stop the flow of gas, or shut down the system, overnight, 22 
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resulting in an outage of over 120 residents, until repairs could be made the 1 

following day on January 19, 2023. The leaks found at the Gladstone Towers gas 2 

facilities were remediated on January 19, 2023, and gas service was restored to the 3 

residents.     4 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 5 

concerns regarding Gladstone Towers Apartments? 6 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 *END CONFIDENTIAL* 14 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 15 

Westover operate a master meter system at Hillcrest Apartments? 16 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 17 

facilities located at Hillcrest Apartments are a master meter system as defined by 18 

49 CFR § 191.3. 19 

Q: Please explain why Hillcrest Apartments is a master meter system.  20 

A: Hillcrest consists of seven (7) separate residential buildings, all of which are 21 

connected by underground gas piping. The pipeline facilities at Hillcrest consist of 22 
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one rotary meter, which is owned and maintained by PECO, that services the 1 

whole apartment complex. A pipeline, which is owned and maintained by 2 

Westover, connects to the rotary meter, travels underground to each building, and 3 

connects above ground to a steel riser which connects to a pressure regulator and 4 

over pressure protection. All of these gas facilities are also owned and operated by 5 

Westover. Thus, the underground piping, riser, pressure regulator, and over 6 

pressure protection at each building are not maintained or serviced by PECO as 7 

they are Westover facilities. After connecting to the regulators, the gas pipe 8 

continues into each building and branches out to each apartment to supply service 9 

to the gas-run furnace in each apartment unit. The gas facilities at Hillcrest which 10 

distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 11 

12 (Confidential). Westover purchases the gas from the local natural gas 12 

distribution company, PECO, and the gas is then resold to the residents of 13 

Hillcrest through rent. See I&E Exhibit 15, I&E Exhibit 29 (Confidential), and 14 

I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential).  15 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 16 

concerns at Hillcrest Apartments? 17 

A: On my initial visit to Hillcrest Apartments on July 30, 2021, I observed pitting 18 

corrosion on the Westover-owned steel risers located on several of the buildings 19 

near the soil to air interface regions. The reliefs for the pressure regulators were in 20 

direct contact with the soil and would not be able to relieve gas pressure in the 21 

event of an over pressurization. The inability to relieve gas pressure could possibly 22 
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lead to a total failure of the downstream system, similar to the event which 1 

occurred in Silver Spring, Maryland.   2 

Q: Was Pipeline Safety made aware of any safety concerns or incidents 3 

occurring at Hillcrest Apartments within the last year? 4 

A: Yes, on May 9, 2022, Hillcrest Apartments experienced a gas service outage due 5 

to a leak on the Westover-owned steel riser caused by corrosion. A Non-6 

Compliance letter was issued to the company and went unanswered. See I&E 7 

Exhibit 4. The Non-Compliance letter included a list of multiple probable 8 

violations. See I&E Exhibit 4. Notably, significant, active corrosion existed on 9 

numerous steel service risers throughout the apartment complex and Westover 10 

lacked proper procedures and programs to recondition or phase out the steel 11 

service risers. To the best of my knowledge, none of these conditions articulated in 12 

the Non-Compliance letter were corrected. 13 

In short, Westover has failed to provide any records or procedures 14 

demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal 15 

regulations which apply to master meter systems.  16 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 17 

concerns regarding Hillcrest Apartments? 18 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  19 

 20 

 21 

 22 
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 1 

 2 

 *END 3 

CONFIDENTIAL* 4 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 5 

Westover operate a master meter system at Jamestown Village Apartments? 6 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 7 

facilities located at Jamestown Village Apartments are a master meter system as 8 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3.  9 

Q: Please explain why Jamestown Village Apartments is a master meter system.  10 

A: Jamestown Village Apartment consists of nine (9) residential buildings with a total 11 

of 253 units. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). The residential buildings each 12 

have a PECO-owned meter on the outside. Piping from the PECO-owned meter is 13 

then connected to a Westover-owned sub-meter located in each unit’s mechanical 14 

space. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). The gas facilities at Jamestown Village 15 

Apartment which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 16 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases the gas from 17 

the local natural gas distribution company, PECO. The gas is then resold to the 18 

residents based upon the actual meter reading of the sub-meter. See I&E Exhibit 19 

11 and I&E Exhibit 31 (Confidential).  20 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 21 

concerns at Jamestown Village Apartments? 22 
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A: Upon reviewing the documentation provided by Westover, I believe that the same 1 

safety conditions apply here as in previous locations with Westover-owned sub-2 

meters. Westover installed the sub-meters in each unit and, to the best of my 3 

knowledge, has not provided any evidence that it is maintaining the sub-meters 4 

pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.353 (Customer meters and regulator: location), 49 CFR 5 

§ 192.355 (Customer Meters and regulators: protection from damages), 49 CFR § 6 

192.357 (Customer meters and regulators: installation), and 49 CFR § 192.359 7 

(Customer meters installations: operating pressure). Westover also has not 8 

provided any evidence to show that the personnel who installed the meters 9 

complied with 49 CFR § 192.801 and 49 CFR § 192.805 or that Westover has an 10 

Operator Qualification (“OQ”) program. In short, Westover has failed to provide 11 

any records or procedures demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 12 

192 of the federal regulations which apply to master meter systems. 49 CFR §§ 13 

191, 192. 14 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 15 

concerns regarding Jamestown Village Apartments? 16 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 
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 *END CONFIDENTIAL* 1 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 2 

Westover operate a master meter system at Lansdale Apartments? 3 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 4 

facilities located at Landale Apartments are a master meter system as defined by 5 

49 CFR § 191.3. 6 

Q: Please explain why Lansdale Apartments is a master meter system.  7 

A: Lansdale Apartments consist of three (3) residential buildings. The residential 8 

buildings are metered by a single PECO-owed meter. A single boiler, located in 9 

one of the buildings, supplies heat to all three residential buildings. The gas 10 

facilities at Landale Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to 11 

the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases 12 

the gas from PECO, and then bills the resident based upon an allocated basis 13 

related to the square footage of the unit and the number of persons residing in the 14 

unit. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E Exhibit 14, I&E Exhibit 32 (Confidential), and 15 

I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential). 16 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 17 

concerns at Lansdale Apartments? 18 

A: Yes. Westover advised I&E that the pipeline at this apartment complex was dug 19 

up, inspected, and painted, and that a window well had been installed so the pipe is 20 

not underground. See I&E Exhibit 14. This activity, if completed by unqualified 21 

persons, could cause serious safety issues. Specifically, any potential leak on the 22 
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now-exposed pipe is confined to a limited space. Natural gas is lighter than air and 1 

rises, thus the window well has potentially made a conduit for the gas to be 2 

confined and directed to the window unit above. If the window well was not 3 

installed, the wind currents would allow better dissipation of any leaking natural 4 

gas on the ground level. Moreover, the piping past the PECO-owned meter is part 5 

of Westover’s gas facilities, but Westover could not provide any records of any 6 

leak surveys as required by 49 CFR § 192.723 (Distribution systems: leakage 7 

surveys). 8 

In short, Westover has failed to provide any records or procedures 9 

demonstrating their compliance with Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal 10 

regulations which apply to master meter systems. 49 CFR §§ 191, 192. 11 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 12 

concerns regarding Lansdale Apartments? 13 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 *END 20 

CONFIDENTIAL* 21 
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Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 1 

Westover operate a master meter system at Lansdowne Towers Apartments? 2 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 3 

facilities located at Lansdowne Towers Apartments are a master meter system as 4 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3. 5 

Q: Please explain why Lansdowne Towers Apartments is a master meter system.  6 

A: Lansdowne Towers consists of five (5) residential buildings, each with several 7 

apartment units. The gas facilities at Lansdowne Towers consist of PECO-owned 8 

underground piping which connects to a PECO-owned meter located outside of 9 

Building B. The gas then flows to a Westover-owned pipeline and manifold, 10 

through underground piping to the other buildings, then to a riser and regulator, to 11 

piping, and ultimately to a sub-meter installed by Westover for each apartment 12 

unit. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). All of the gas facilities past the PECO-13 

owned meter are owned by Westover. The gas facilities at Lansdowne Towers 14 

Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 15 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). 16 

Westover purchases the gas from PECO, and then bills the resident based 17 

upon an actual meter reading from the sub-meter. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E 18 

Exhibit 16, and I&E Exhibit 34 (Confidential)  19 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 20 

concerns at Lansdowne Towers Apartments? 21 

A: On my initial visit to Lansdowne Towers on July 30, 2021, I observed the 22 
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Westover-owned manifold to be supported on wooden blocks and some of the pipe 1 

resting on the ground. See I&E Exhibit 35 (Confidential). This observation 2 

caused great concern and posed a high safety risk as the configuration is contrary 3 

to 49 CFR § 192.317 (Protection from hazards). Specifically, if the wood block 4 

which was supporting the manifold were to move or shift, this would result in the 5 

Westover-owned pipeline to be unsupported and possibly cause a leak.  6 

Also, the PECO-owned meter and Westover-owned manifold are located 7 

directly in front of an apartment window. In the case of an over-pressurization, the 8 

excess gas could vent into the unit through the window, possibly causing an 9 

explosion. 10 

In reference to the Westover-owned sub-meters, the same safety concerns 11 

as previously noted exist. Westover installed the sub-meters in each unit and, to 12 

the best of my knowledge, has not provided any evidence that it is maintaining the 13 

sub-meters pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.353 (Customer meters and regulator: 14 

location), 49 CFR § 192.355 (Customer Meters and regulators: protection from 15 

damages), 49 CFR § 192.357 (Customer meters and regulators: installation), and 16 

49 CFR § 192.359 (Customer meters installations: operating pressure). Westover 17 

also has not provided any evidence to show that the personnel who installed the 18 

meters complied with 49 CFR § 192.801 and 49 CFR § 192.805 or that Westover 19 

has an Operator Qualification (“OQ”) program. In short, Westover has failed to 20 

show any evidence or records as required by 49 CFR § 192.807 and has failed to 21 

show any records or procedures which comply with the applicable sections of Part 22 
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191 and Part 192 of the federal regulations. 1 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 2 

concerns regarding Lansdowne Towers Apartments? 3 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 *END 10 

CONFIDENTIAL* 11 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 12 

Westover operate a master meter system at Main Line Berwyn Apartments? 13 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 14 

facilities located at Main Line Berwyn Apartments are a master meter system as 15 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3. 16 

Q: Please explain why Main Line Berwyn Apartments is a master meter system.  17 

A: Main Line Berwyn Apartments consists of three (3) residential buildings, each 18 

with several apartment units, and one office building. The gas facilities at Main 19 

Line Berwyn Apartments consist of PECO-owned underground piping which 20 

connects to a PECO-owned meter located at Building A. The gas then flows to a 21 

pipeline and manifold, through underground piping to the other buildings, to a 22 
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riser and regulator, through piping, and then to a sub-meter installed by Westover. 1 

See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). All of these gas facilities past the PECO-2 

owned meter are owned by Westover. The gas facilities at Main Line Berwyn 3 

Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 4 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases gas from 5 

PECO, and then bills the resident based upon an actual meter reading from a sub-6 

meter. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E Exhibit 16, and I&E Exhibit 36 (Confidential). 7 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 8 

concerns at Main Line Berwyn Apartments? 9 

A: Yes. Westover does not possess any records or documentation which shows the 10 

exact location of the underground piping, the type of pipe, or the material of the 11 

pipe. Westover also does not possess any records on what the MAOP is on these 12 

gas facilities. Additionally, Westover does not possess any records relating to 13 

prevention maintenance or leak surveys being conducted pursuant to 49 CFR § 14 

192.723 or 49 CFR § 192.747 and has no current emergency plan pursuant to 49 15 

CFR § 192.615. In reference to the sub-meters, the safety concerns previously 16 

explained in my testimony are also present here. Last, Westover failed to show 17 

any records or procedures which comply with the applicable sections of Part 191 18 

and Part 192 of the federal regulations. 19 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 20 

concerns regarding Main Line Berwyn Apartments? 21 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  22 
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 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 *END 6 

CONFIDENTIAL* 7 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 8 

Westover operate a master meter system at Mill Creek I Apartments? 9 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 10 

facilities located at Mill Creek I are a master meter system as defined by 49 CFR § 11 

191.3. 12 

Q: Please explain why Mill Creek I Apartments is a master meter system.  13 

A: Mill Creek I consists of six (6) separate residential buildings, all of which are 14 

connected by underground gas piping. The pipeline facilities at Mill Creek I 15 

consist of one rotary meter on the property owned and maintained by PECO. A 16 

pipeline connects to the rotary meter, goes underground to each building, comes 17 

up through a steel riser, and then into a pressure regulator and over pressure 18 

protection. See I&E Exhibit 39C and 39D (Confidential). The pipeline, 19 

underground piping, riser, pressure regulator, and over pressure protection at each 20 

building are owned by Westover, and thus are not maintained or serviced by 21 

PECO. The gas pipeline then continues into each building and branches out to 22 
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each apartment to supply service for the central boiler and then to each gas stove 1 

in the apartments. The gas facilities at Mill Creek I which distribute gas to the 2 

tenants are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). 3 

Westover purchases the gas from the local natural gas distribution company, 4 

PECO, and then resells the gas to the residents of Mill Creek I through rent. See 5 

I&E Exhibit 17, I&E Exhibit 38 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 6 

(Confidential). 7 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 8 

concerns at Mill Creek I Apartments? 9 

A: Yes, the pressure regulators and relief vents are located by apartment windows and 10 

the main entry doors to the apartment buildings, and I noted corrosion on the 11 

fittings. 12 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 13 

concerns regarding Mill Creek I Apartments? 14 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 *END 21 

CONFIDENTIAL* 22 
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Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 1 

Westover operate a master meter system at Mill Creek II Apartments? 2 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 3 

facilities located at Mill Creek II Apartments are a master meter system as defined 4 

by 49 CFR § 191.3. 5 

Q: Please explain why Mill Creek II Apartments is a master meter system. 6 

A: Mill Creek II consists of three (3) separate residential buildings, all of which are 7 

connected by underground gas piping. PECO-owned meters are located at each 8 

building inside a mechanical room. The pipeline, which is owned by Westover, 9 

runs from the PECO-owned meter to the central boiler. The gas facilities at Mill 10 

Creek II which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment complex. 11 

See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases the gas from PECO, and 12 

the gas is then resold to the residents of Mill Creek II through rent. See I&E 13 

Exhibit 14, I&E Exhibit 40 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential). 14 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 15 

concerns at Mill Creek II Apartments? 16 

A: No, I did not observe any safety concerns during my visit to Mill Creek II 17 

Apartments. However, Westover must allow PECO to enter the building to 18 

compete the required leak surveys pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.723 (Distribution 19 

systems: Leakage surveys, and other required inspections). This requirement is 20 

based upon the location of the meters, i.e., the meters are inside of the building 21 

and the regulators are on the outside. 22 
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Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 1 

Westover operate a master meter system at Norriton East Apartments? 2 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 3 

facilities located at Norriton East Apartments are a master meter system as defined 4 

by 49 CFR § 191.3. 5 

Q: Please explain why Norriton East Apartments is a master meter system.  6 

A: Norriton East Apartments consists of one (1) residential building. PECO has a 7 

rotary meter on the exterior of the building and then the Westover owned pipeline 8 

enters the building to service a central boiler. There is an additional Westover 9 

owned pipeline that is on the exterior of the building that supplies gas to an 10 

emergency generator. The gas facilities at Norriton East Apartments which 11 

distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 

12 (Confidential). Westover purchases the gas from PECO, and the gas is then 13 

resold to the residents of Norriton East Apartments through rent. See I&E Exhibit 14 

14, I&E Exhibit 42 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential).  15 

During my January 18, 2023 visit, Westover advised that it recently 16 

removed three sub-meters from the basement of the apartment building. I&E’s 17 

knowledge of these sub-meters is unfortunately limited to this verbal conversation 18 

and the Entech Engineering Report which confirmed the prior existence of the 19 

three sub-meters. See I&E Exhibit 43H (Confidential) and I&E Exhibit 12 20 

(Confidential)  21 

Page 505 of 628



 

53 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 1 

concerns at Norriton East Apartments? 2 

A: Yes, on my January 18, 2023 visit at Norriton East Apartments, I observed the 3 

Westover pipeline, which provided gas service to a generator, was on the ground 4 

in direct contact with soil and showing signs of corrosion. The pipeline was not 5 

protected from damage, such as from lawn mowers or other sources of damage. In 6 

short, Westover has failed to show any records or procedures which comply with 7 

the applicable sections of Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal regulations. 8 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 9 

concerns regarding Norriton East Apartments? 10 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 *END 17 

CONFIDENTIAL* 18 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 19 

Westover operate a master meter system at Oak Forest Apartments? 20 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 21 

facilities located at Oak Forest Apartments are a master meter system as defined 22 
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by 49 CFR § 191.3. 1 

Q: Please explain why Oak Forest Apartments is a master meter system.  2 

A: Oak Forest Apartments consists of seven (7) separate residential building. The gas 3 

facilities consist of a UGI-owned meter at one of the buildings which is connected 4 

to Westover-owned underground piping which connects to the other residential 5 

buildings. During my first visit on August 25, 2021, I observed a meter outside the 6 

Westover office building, the presence of which is confirmed by the Entech 7 

Report. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). However, during my January 19, 8 

2023 visit, the UGI-owned meter had since been removed. The gas facilities at 9 

Oak Forest Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the 10 

apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases gas 11 

from UGI, and then resells the gas to the residents of Oak Forest Apartments 12 

through rent. See I&E Exhibit 17, I&E Exhibit 44 (Confidential), and I&E 13 

Exhibit 58 (Confidential).  14 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 15 

concerns at Oak Forest Apartments? 16 

A: Yes, Westover does not possess any records of evidence to show that it has an 17 

Operator Qualification program in place or maintains records as required by 49 18 

CFR § 192.801 and 49 CFR §192.805. Additionally, Westover does not possess 19 

any records relating to prevention maintenance or leak surveys being conducted 20 

pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.723 or 49 CFR § 192.747 and has no current emergency 21 

plan pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.615. In short, Westover has failed to show any 22 
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evidence or records as required by 49 CFR § 192.807 and has failed to show any 1 

records or procedures which comply with the applicable sections of Part 191 and 2 

Part 192 of the federal regulations. 3 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 4 

concerns regarding Oak Forest Apartments? 5 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 *END 12 

CONFIDENTIAL* 13 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 14 

Westover operate a master meter system at Paoli Place- North? 15 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 16 

facilities located at Paoli Place- North are a master meter system as defined by 49 17 

CFR § 191.3. 18 

Q: Please explain why Paoli Place- North is a master meter system.  19 

A: The gas facilities located at 27 East Central Ave., Paoli PA consist of a PECO-20 

owned meter located in the building and Westover-owned pipeline which runs to 21 
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each unit and connects to a Westover-owned and operated sub-meter. See I&E 1 

Exhibit 14 and I&E Exhibit 46 (Confidential). 2 

Buildings L-R at this location has a slightly different set-up where the 3 

tenants are provided gas service and billed by PECO through individual PECO-4 

owned meters. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E Exhibit 14, and I&E Exhibit 46 5 

(Confidential). The gas facilities at Paoli Place which distribute gas to the tenants 6 

are limited to the apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). 7 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 8 

concerns at Paoli Place- North Apartments? 9 

A: Yes. Westover installed the sub-meters in each unit and, to the best of my 10 

knowledge, has not provided any evidence that it is maintaining the sub-meters 11 

pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.353 (Customer meters and regulator: location), 49 CFR 12 

§ 192.355 (Customer Meters and regulators: protection from damages), 49 CFR § 13 

192.357 (Customer meters and regulators: installation), and 49 CFR § 192.359 14 

(Customer meters installations: operating pressure). In addition, Westover has not 15 

provided any evidence to show that the installation of the sub-meters was 16 

completed in accordance with 49 CFR § 192.801 and 49 CFR § 192.805 as 17 

Westover maintains no records as required pursuant to 49 CFR § 192.807. This 18 

lack of records and inability to confirm that these sections of Part 192 were 19 

followed is a major safety concern because Pipeline Safety has no knowledge or 20 

information to suggest that the sub-meters were installed correctly or are currently 21 

operating in a safe manner. Moreover, Pipeline Safety cannot determine if the sub-22 
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meters installed by Westover are compatible PECO’s gas facilities. It is also 1 

unknown if the sub-meters have been or are being inspected to determine if the gas 2 

readings are accurate to potentially prevent an over pressurization event 3 

downstream to the individual units. Westover has no emergency plan as required 4 

by 49 CFR § 192.615 and has failed to show any records or procedures which 5 

comply with the applicable sections of Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal 6 

regulations. 7 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 8 

concerns regarding Paoli Place Apartments? 9 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 *END 16 

CONFIDENTIAL* 17 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 18 

Westover operate a master meter system at Paoli Place- South? 19 

A: Yes. Noting that Paoli Place-South is located at 55 South Valley Road, based on 20 

my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas facilities located at 21 

Paoli Place- South are a master meter system as defined by 49 CFR § 191.3. 22 
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Q: Please explain why Paoli Place- South is a master meter system.  1 

A: The gas facilities at Paoli Place-South consist of a PECO-owned meter located in 2 

the building with service regulators on the exterior and also an exterior PECO-3 

owned meter which connects to Westover-owned pipeline that runs to each unit 4 

and to a Westover-owned and operated sub-meter. The gas facilities at Paoli 5 

Place-South which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 6 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 13 (Confidential). There are PECO meters for some 7 

apartments that use cooking gas. Some units are all electric and there is a 8 

“HOUSE” meter that serves the central boiler. Westover purchases the gas from 9 

PECO, and the gas is then resold to the residents of Paoli Place- South through 10 

rent. See I&E Exhibit 13 (Confidential), I&E Exhibit 14, and I&E Exhibit 46 11 

(Confidential). 12 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 13 

concerns at Paoli Place- South Apartments? 14 

A: Yes. I observed corrosion on the piping owned by Westover. See I&E Exhibit 48B 15 

(Confidential). Specifically, the protective coat on the pipe was all but missing 16 

and deep pitting corrosion was observed. Also, as previously noted at the other 17 

apartment complexes, Westover has no records of any leak surveys conducted, no 18 

records of inspections, no records or procedures evidencing compliance with the 19 

applicable sections of Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal regulations. 20 
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Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 1 

Westover operate a master meter system at Paoli Place- South Valley 2 

Townhomes? 3 

A: Noting that Paoli Place- South Valley Townhomes is located at 50 South Valley 4 

Road, Paoli PA, I conclude that a master meter system does not exist at this 5 

apartment complex.  6 

Q: Please explain why Paoli Place- South Valley Townhomes is not a master 7 

meter system.  8 

A:  Paoli Place-South Valley Townhomes is not a master meter system because there 9 

is a separate PECO-owned meter for each unit and the tenants pay their gas bill 10 

directly to PECO. See I&E Exhibit 14 and I&E Exhibit 46 (Confidential). 11 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 12 

Westover operate a master meter system at Park Court Apartments? 13 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 14 

facilities located at Park Court Apartments are a master meter system as defined 15 

by 49 CFR § 191.3. 16 

Q: Please explain why Park Court Apartments is a master meter system.  17 

A: Park Court consists of four (4) residential buildings. The residential buildings are 18 

metered by two UGI-owed meters, one located at Building C which services both 19 

Buildings C and B and one located at Building D which services both Buildings D 20 

and A. Westover owns the underground pipeline which runs from Building C to 21 

Building B and from Building D to Building A. The gas facilities at Park Court 22 
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Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 1 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential) and I&E Exhibit 13 (Confidential). 2 

Westover purchases the gas from UGI and then bills the resident based upon an 3 

allocated basis related to the square footage of the unit. See I&E Exhibit 11, I&E 4 

Exhibit 13 (Confidential), I&E Exhibit 18, and I&E Exhibit 49 (Confidential). 5 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 6 

concerns at Park Court Apartments? 7 

A: Yes, Westover has failed to show any records or procedures which comply with 8 

the applicable sections of Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal regulations. 9 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 10 

concerns regarding Park Court Apartments? 11 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 *END 18 

CONFIDENTIAL* 19 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 20 

Westover operate a master meter system at Valley Stream Apartments? 21 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 22 
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facilities located at Valley Stream Apartments are a master meter system as 1 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3. 2 

Q: Please explain why Valley Stream Apartments is a master meter system.  3 

A: Valley Stream Apartments consists of twenty-two (22) residential buildings, one 4 

office, and one maintenance building. The gas facilities at Valley Stream 5 

Apartments consist of PECO-owned underground piping which connects to two 6 

PECO-owned meters located in the maintenance building. The gas then flows to a 7 

Westover-owned pipeline and manifold, through underground piping to the other 8 

buildings, then to a riser and regulator, and ultimately to each apartment. See I&E 9 

Exhibit 52A and 52B (Confidential). All of the gas facilities past the PECO-10 

owned meter are owned by Westover. The gas facilities at Valley Stream 11 

Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the apartment 12 

complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). Westover purchases the gas from 13 

PECO, and then bills the resident based upon rents. See I&E Exhibit 15, I&E 14 

Exhibit 51 (Confidential), and I&E Exhibit 58 (Confidential). 15 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 16 

concerns at Valley Stream Apartments? 17 

A: Yes, the regulators at several of the buildings were close to the soil, which could 18 

lead to the vents being blocked and preventing the release of gas in the event of an 19 

over pressurization. If the vents are blocked and the gas is not able to be released, 20 

the gas then might end up downstream in an apartment and could possibly cause 21 

an explosion. In short, Westover has failed to show any records or procedures 22 
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which comply with the applicable sections of Part 191 and Part 192 of the federal 1 

regulations. 2 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 3 

concerns regarding Valley Stream Apartments? 4 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 *END 11 

CONFIDENTIAL* 12 

Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 13 

Westover operate a master meter system at Willow Run Apartments? 14 

A: No, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 15 

system at Willow Run Apartments is not a master meter as defined by 49 CFR § 16 

191.3. 17 

Q: Please explain why Willow Run Apartments is not a master meter system.  18 

A: The gas facilities at Willow Run consist of individual PECO-owned meters at each 19 

apartment unit. The tenants are then billed for their gas usage by PECO. See I&E 20 

Exhibit 53 (Confidential).  21 
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Q: Based upon your investigation and your pipeline safety expertise, does 1 

Westover operate a master meter system at Woodland Plaza Apartments? 2 

A: Yes, based on my training, knowledge, and education, I conclude that the gas 3 

facilities located at Woodland Plaza Apartments are a master meter system as 4 

defined by 49 CFR § 191.3. 5 

Q: Please explain why Woodland Plaza Apartments is a master meter system.  6 

A: Woodland Plaza Apartments consists of seventeen (17) residential buildings. The 7 

residential buildings are metered by UGI-owed meters at each of the buildings. 8 

Westover owns the pipeline that enters the building to serve a central hot water 9 

heater and boiler. Gas is also supplied to the units for cooking. See I&E Exhibit 10 

14. Westover purchases the gas from UGI and then bills the resident based upon 11 

an allocated basis related to the square footage of the unit. See I&E Exhibit 11, 12 

I&E Exhibit 14, and I&E Exhibit 55 (Confidential). The gas facilities at 13 

Woodland Plaza Apartments which distribute gas to the tenants are limited to the 14 

apartment complex. See I&E Exhibit 12 (Confidential). 15 

Q: While completing your investigation, did you note any safety issues and/or 16 

concerns at Woodland Plaza Apartments? 17 

A: During my November 15, 2022 visit, Pipeline Safety detected the odor of natural 18 

gas while looking at the gas facilities located at Building J/K and Building H. I 19 

called UGI to report the odor of gas and a possible leak. UGI personnel arrived at 20 

Woodland Plaza Apartments and tested the facilities. I confirmed with UGI that 21 

leaks were found on the pipeline facilities and that more UGI personnel were 22 

Page 516 of 628



 

64 

enroute. I followed-up with UGI to confirm that the leaks found at Woodland 1 

Plaza were remediated. 2 

Q: Did UGI’s confirmation of the leak remediation adequately resolve Pipeline 3 

Safety’s concerns at Woodland Plaza Apartments? 4 

A: No. Through discovery, I&E was advised that Westover cleaned up the meters and 5 

also cleaned the gas lines and painted them. This statement raises safety concerns 6 

and frankly raises more questions than answers. Specifically, I am not sure how 7 

Westover cleaned the gas lines or what gas lines they are referring to. Moreover, it 8 

is unknown whether UGI was aware of these activities and whether Westover kept 9 

records of this task and who completed the task. In short, Westover has failed to 10 

show any records or procedures which comply with the applicable sections of Part 11 

191 and Part 192 of the federal regulations. 12 

Q: Did the Entech Engineering Report include any recommendations or safety 13 

concerns regarding Woodland Plaza Apartments? 14 

A: Yes, the Entech Report included *START CONFIDENTIAL*  15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 *END 21 

CONFIDENTIAL* 22 
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Westover’s Methods of Billing Tenants for Gas Service 1 

Q: In the situations where the gas service is not included in rent, does Westover 2 

bill the tenant and collect the payment for the gas service themselves? 3 

A: Westover either bills the tenant directly for gas services or utilizes a third party, 4 

MultiFamily Utility Company, Monitor Data, or NWP, to issue the gas bill and 5 

collect the payments for gas. 6 

Q: Which apartment complexes does Westover bill the tenant and collect the 7 

payment for gas service? 8 

A: After reviewing the information provided, Westover bills the tenant and collects 9 

the payment for gas services at the following apartment complexes: Concord 10 

Court Apartments, Fox Run Apartments, Gladstone Towers Apartments, 11 

Jamestown Village Apartments, Lansdale Apartments, Lansdowne Towers 12 

Apartments, Main Line Berwyn Apartments, and Paoli Place (North). 13 

Q: In 2021, how many residents at Westover’s apartment complexes received 14 

natural gas service that was resold and billed by Westover? 15 

A: The total number of tenants that received natural gas which was resold and billed 16 

by Westover was: 1st Quarter 2021: 4,180; 2nd Quarter 2021: 3,754; 3rd Quarter: 17 

1,611; and 4th Quarter: 540. See I&E Exhibit 11. I do note that this response was 18 

provided to I&E in November 2021, so the fourth quarter number does not reflect 19 

a full quarter.  20 

Q: Which apartment complexes does Westover use a third party to collect 21 

payment for gas service? 22 
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A: After reviewing the information provided, Westover uses a third party to issue 1 

bills and collect payment for gas service at Country Manor Apartments, Park 2 

Court Apartments, and Woodland Plaza Apartments. 3 

Q: As a master meter operator, what regulations or laws must Westover follow? 4 

A:  Westover must follow all sections of Part 191 and Part 192 which are applicable to 5 

master meters systems. 6 

Q: Is Westover currently in compliance with the Federal Code? 7 

A: To the best of my knowledge, Westover is not in compliance with any section of 8 

49 CFR § 191 or 49 CFR § 192 which apply to master meter systems because they 9 

have failed to demonstrate compliance. Specifically, Westover has presented no 10 

emergency plans, records, documents, maps, pressure tests, procedures, or any 11 

information that are required to be compliant with the applicable sections of 49 12 

CFR § 191 and 49 CFR § 192. 13 

Q: As a master meter operator, is Westover considered a pipeline operator 14 

under Act 127? 15 

A: Yes.  16 

Q: After completing your investigation and reviewing all the information 17 

gathered, in your pipeline safety expertise, what is your opinion on the overall 18 

safety of the apartment complexes owned by Westover which are master 19 

meter systems? 20 

A: In my opinion, there is a substantial risk to the tenants that reside at the apartment 21 

complexes owned and not properly maintained by Westover. Westover’s inability 22 
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and unwillingness to demonstrate compliance with the federal pipeline safety code 1 

requirements, which serve as a minimum requirement to safely operate a pipeline 2 

system, elevates concerns for both the probability of an incident occurring and the 3 

potential consequences associated with an incident. Specifically, Westover’s lack 4 

of records, procedures, and plans demonstrating compliance with the applicable 5 

requirements of Part 191 and Part 192 cause concern of failure and failure 6 

frequency. To the best of my knowledge, the pipeline systems at these apartment 7 

complexes have not been examined or maintained since installation, 8 

approximately 40-60 years ago. These pipelines will fail as more time passes by 9 

without maintenance, system records, and the requirement of the code sections 10 

being utilized. As explained earlier in my testimony, Pipeline Safety personally 11 

observed two (2) situations where leaks were found on the gas facilities at two (2) 12 

apartment complexes (Woodland Plaza Apartment and Gladstone Towers 13 

Apartments), and was made aware of one other leak at a different apartment 14 

complex (Hillcrest Apartments).  15 

Finally, the systems will continue to fail as they age, especially if Westover 16 

is not monitoring or maintaining these facilities. The results of a failure or possible 17 

explosion could be devastating to the safety of the residents who reside at these 18 

apartment complexes.  19 

Q: Have all your answers and responses today been based upon your personal 20 

knowledge or pipeline safety expertise?   21 

A: Yes. 22 
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Q: Does this conclude your direct testimony? 1 

A: Yes. However, I reserve the right to supplement my testimony as additional issues 2 

and facts arise during the course of the proceeding.3 
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Witness: Scott Orr 
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Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) completed courses 
completed by Scott Orr: 

PHMSA-PH2284-DL General Safety Awareness Refresher 

PHMSA-PL3PAP Public Awareness Programs for Pipeline Operators 

PHMSA-PL3DA Drug and Alcohol Testing for the Pipeline Industry 

PHMSA-PL4253 Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) Safety Technology and Inspection Course 

PHMSA-PL4LNG Fundamentals of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) 

PHMSA-PL1297 Gas Integrity Management (IM) Protocol Course 

PHMSA-PL2288 Safety Evaluation of Breakout Tanks Course 

PHMSA-PL3267-DL Fundamentals of Integrity Management 

PHMSA-PL3292 Safety Evaluation of Inline Inspection (ILI)/Pigging Programs Course 

PHMSA-PL5342 Safety Evaluation of Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) 

PHMSA-PL3SCCDA Stress Corrosion Cracking Direct Assessment 

PHMSA-PL1245 Safety Evaluation of Distribution Integrity Management Programs (DIMP) 

Course 

PHMSA-PL3PIG Fundamentals of Launching and Receiving Maintenance Pigs 

PHMSA-PL1ICDA Internal Corrosion Direct Assessment 

PHMSA-PL2294 Safety Evaluation of Hazardous Liquid Pipeline (IM) Programs 

PHMSA-PL1DIMP Introduction of Distribution Integrity Management Program 

PHMSA-PL3267 Fundamentals of Integrity Management Course 

PHMSA-PL1IPROC Integrity Management Processes 

PHMSA-PL1RA Introduction to Risk Assessment Methods 

PHMSA-PL2TANK Introduction to Aboveground Storage Tanks 

PHMSA-PL3306 External Corrosion Direct Assessment (ECDA) Field Course 

PHMSA-PL3ECDA External Corrosion Direct Assessment 

PHMSA-PL3293 Corrosion Control of Pipeline Systems Course 

PHMSA-PL3355 Safety Evaluation of Control Room Management Programs 

PHMSA-PL3ELEC Fundamentals of Basic DC Electricity 

PHMSA-PL3IC - Investigating and Managing Internal Corrosion of Pipelines 

I&E Exhibit 1 
Page 1 of 2
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PHMSA-PL3CP Fundamentals of Pipeline Corrosion and Cathodic Protection 

PHMSA-PL3257 Pipeline Safety Regulation Application and Compliance Procedures Course 

PHMSA-PL1310 Plastic and Composite Materials Course 

PHMSA-PL3PP Fundamentals of Plastic Pipe 

PHMSA-PL3256 Pipeline Failure Investigation Techniques Course 

PHMSA-PL3PAP Public Awareness Programs for Pipeline Operators 

PHMSA-PL3DA Drug and Alcohol Testing for the Pipeline Industry 

PHMSA-PL3275 General Pipeline Safety Awareness Course 

PHMSA-PL3600 Root Cause/Incident Investigation Course 

PHMSA-PL3322 Evaluation of Operator Qualification (OQ) Programs Course 

PHMSA-PL3OQ Operator Qualification 

PHMSA-PL1255 Gas Pressure Regulation and Overpressure Protection Course 

PHMSA-PL1PRESS Fundamentals of Gas Pressure Regulators 

PHMSA-PL2258 Safety Evaluation of Hazardous Liquid Pipeline Systems Course 

PHMSA-PL2FLMEC - Fundamentals of Fluid Mechanics 

PHMSA-PL2P195 Introduction to Part 195 

PHMSA-PL3242 Welding and Welding Inspection of Pipeline Materials Course 

PHMSA-PL3WELD Introduction to Pipeline Welding 

PHMSA-PL3291 Fundamentals of (SCADA) System Technology and Operation Course 

PHMSA-PL3SCADA Fundamentals of SCADA Systems 

PHMSA-PL1250 Safety Evaluation of Gas Pipeline Systems Course 

PHMSA-PL3REG Regulatory Overview 

PHMSA-PL1P192 - Introduction to Part 192 

PHMSA-PL1GLAW Introduction to Gas Laws 

PHMSA-PL1HCA High Consequence Areas 

PHMSA-PL1ODOR Natural Gas Odorization 

PHMSA-PL8000 Fundamentals of Instruction 

PHMSA-PH8001 Facilitation of Instructional Strategies 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

IN REPLY PLEASE 
REFER TO OUR FILE 

February 3, 2021 

REFERENCE: 

NC-77-20 

IREF: 13663 

VIA EMAIL DELIVERY 

Alexander Steffanelli, CFO 

Westover Company  

2501 Maryland Road 

Willow Grove, PA 19090 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli: 

On December 2, 2020 Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s Pipeline Safety 

Engineer S. Orr and Supervisor T. Cooper Smith completed inspections of facilities and/or 

records on Westover Companies in Willow Grove, PA. As a result of the inspection, the Pipeline 

Safety Section of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission has discovered that Westover 

Company is in violation of the following federal and state regulations: 

(1) 49 CFR § 192.13 What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under this

part?

(c) Each operator shall maintain, modify as appropriate, and follow the plans,

procedures, and programs that it is required to establish under this part.

(2) 49 CFR § 192.605 Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and emergencies

(a) General. Each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipeline, a manual of

written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for

emergency response. For transmission lines, the manual must also include

procedures for handling abnormal operations. This manual must be reviewed and

updated by the operator at intervals not exceeding 15 months, but at least one

each calendar year. This manual must be prepared before operations of a pipeline

system commence. Appropriate parts of the manual must be kept at locations

where operations and maintenance activities are conducted.

Code Section Inspector's Comments 

§192.13(c) Westover Companies does not have a manual required by Part 192 

§192.605(a) Westover Companies does not have a procedural manual for Operations, 

Maintenance, & Emergencies (O&M). 

Mr. Orr and Ms. Cooper Smith conducted an Operations and Maintenance (O&M) 

inspections for the Westover Companies. During the inspection, it was discovered the Westover 

Companies does not have any written O&M plans as required by 49CFR Part 192. 
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NC-77-20 

Page 2 

Therefore, you are hereby requested to submit to this office in writing, on or before  

March 17, 2021, the following: 

1) Develop and implement an Operations, Maintenance, and Emergency Response manual 

as required by 49CFR§192. 

2) Develop a process to document and track all records required by these manuals and 

procedures. 

This office is committed to ensuring that pipeline companies comply with the provisions 

of the Public Utility Code. Therefore, you are advised that, if you fail to comply with the above 

requests this office will initiate all appropriate enforcement actions pursuant to the Public Utility 

Code against the utility and its officers, agents and employees. 

Yours truly, 

 
Robert Horensky, Manager 

Safety Division 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

RH:rb 

PC: Richard Kanaskie, Director, I&E 

Terri Cooper Smith, Fixed Utility Valuation Supervisor 

Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 
P.O. BOX 3265, HARRISBURG, PA 17105-3265 

IN REPLY PLEASE 
REFER TO OUR FILE 

March 30, 2021 

REFERENCE: 

NC-08-21 

 IREF:13651 

VIA EMAIL DELIVERY 

Alexander Steffanelli CFO 

Westover Companies  

2501 Maryland Road 

Willow Grove, PA 19090 

Dear: Mr. Steffanelli 

During the calendar year 2020 and 2021 Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s 

Pipeline Safety Engineer, S. Orr has attempted to conduct inspections of facilities and/or records 

on Westover Companies in Willow Grove, PA   As a result of these inspections, the Pipeline 

Safety Section of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission has discovered that Westover 

Companies is in violation of the following federal and state regulations: 

(1) 49 CFR §190.203 Inspections and Investigations

(a) Officers, employees, or agents authorized by the Associate Administrator for

Pipeline Safety, upon presenting appropriate credentials, are authorized to enter

upon, inspect, and examine, at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner, the

records and properties of persons to the extent such records and properties are

relevant to determining the compliance of such persons with the requirements of

49 U.S.C. 60101 et seq., or regulations, or orders issued there under.

Code Section Inspector’s Comments 

§190.203(a) Westover Companies is not responding to requests for inspections on 

records and facilities. 

Westover Companies has been identified as a master meter operator in the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (also known as 

“the Pipeline Act” or Act 127 of 2011) was signed by Governor Corbett on Dec. 22, 2011 and 

went into effect on February 20, 2012. This law expands the Commission’s authority to enforce 

federal pipeline safety laws as they relate to gas and hazardous liquids pipeline equipment and 

facilities within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

On Feb. 16, 2012, the PUC adopted an Implementation Order at Docket 

M-2012-2282031. It establishes the Act 127 initiatives of creating a statewide registry for non-

public utility gas and hazardous liquids pipeline equipment and facilities within the

Commonwealth; conducting safety inspections to enforce Federal pipeline safety laws on certain

classifications of pipeline; and assessing entities for the costs.
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NC-08-21 
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ACT 127 gives the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement(I&E) authority to enforce 

federal regulations found under 49 CFR Part 190, 191, and 192 on pipeline operators in the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Specifically, 49 CFR Part 190.203(a) gives I&E Safety 

Division access to inspect records and facilities owned by the company. I&E Pipeline Safety 

inspectors met with Westover Companies in December 2020. At that time, an inspector 

discussed the requirements that the company would need to follow in operating their gas system 

after the meter with PECO. Attempts were made on December 17, December 24, and December 

30, 2020 and January 11 and January 14, 2021 to schedule follow up inspections and review 

records and procedures with no response received back from the company. 

This letter is to serve as notice of Westover Companies responsibility to respond to the 

request for meetings and inspections. Continued failure of response by Westover Companies will 

result in the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement Safety Division in taking legal action 

against the company including possibly civil penalties. Westover has yet to respond in writing to 

NC 77-20 dated February 2, 2021 and was due by March 17,2021  

Therefore, you are hereby requested to submit to this office, in writing, on or before  

April 29, 2021, the following: 

1) Respond to the request of the inspector to schedule inspections on Westover Companies 

records and facilities. 

2) Provide a written response to NC 77-20. 

This office is committed to ensuring that pipeline companies comply with the provisions 

of the Public Utility Code.  Therefore, you are advised that, if you fail to comply with the above 

requests this office will initiate all appropriate enforcement actions pursuant to the Public Utility 

Code against the utility and its officers, agents and employees. 

Yours truly, 

 
 
 
 

Robert Horensky, Manager 

Safety Division 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

RH:rb 

PC: Richard Kanaskie, Director, I&E 
  Terri Cooper Smith, Pipeline Safety Supervisor 

Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer II 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

 
BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATION 
& 

ENFORCEMENT 

June 29, 2022 
 

REFERENCE: 
NC-12-22 

 IREF:15871 
 
VIA EMAIL DELIVERY 
Alexander Steffanelli, CFO  
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
550 American Avenue, Suite 1  
King of Prussia, PA 19406 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli, 

On May 9 and 10, 2022, Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s (“Commission”) 
Pipeline Safety Engineer Scott Orr and Supervisor Terri Cooper Smith completed an inspection 
of the facilities and/or records for Hillcrest Apartments, a property in Lansdowne, PA belonging 
to Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”).1 
As a result of this inspection, the Pipeline Safety Section of the Commission has discovered that 
Westover may potentially be in violation of the following federal regulations: 

(1) 49 CFR § 192.13 What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under this 
part? 
(c) Each operator shall maintain, modify as appropriate, and follow the plans, 

procedures, and programs that it is required to establish under this part.  
(2) 49 CFR § 192.603 General provisions. 

(a) No person may operate a segment of pipeline unless it is operated in accordance 
with this subpart. 

(b)  Each operator shall keep records necessary to administer the procedures 
established under § 192.605. 

(3) 49 CFR § 192.605 Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and emergencies. 
(a) General. Each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipeline, a manual of 

written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for 
emergency response. For transmission lines, the manual must also include 
procedures for handling abnormal operations. This manual must be reviewed and 
updated by the operator at intervals not exceeding 15 months, but at least once 
each calendar year. This manual must be prepared before operations of a pipeline 

1 The Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) acknowledges that Westover disputes operating 
jurisdictional master meter systems, including those at the Hillcrest Apartments, in a pending I&E Formal 
Complaint proceeding docketed at C-2022-3030251. With regard to this matter, PECO Gas alerted I&E to the 
natural gas leak and subsequent outage at the Hillcrest Apartments that occurred on May 9 and 10, 2022. Since 
safety is I&E’s foremost concern, the I&E Pipeline Safety Division inspected the site and monitored the repairs for 
compliance with the Federal pipeline safety laws and regulations in accordance with I&E’s normal processes.  
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system commence. Appropriate parts of the manual must be kept at locations 
where operations and maintenance activities are conducted. 

 
(4) 49 CFR § 192.613 Continuing surveillance. 

(a) Each operator shall have a procedure for continuing surveillance of its facilities to 
determine and take appropriate action concerning changes in class location, 
failures, leakage history, corrosion, substantial changes in cathodic protection 
requirements, and other unusual operating and maintenance conditions. 

(b) If a segment of pipeline is determined to be in unsatisfactory condition but no 
immediate hazard exists, the operator shall initiate a program to recondition or 
phase out the segment involved, or, if the segment cannot be reconditioned or 
phased out, reduce the maximum allowable operating pressure in accordance with 
§ 192.619 (a) and (b). 

(5) 49 CFR § 192.614 Damage prevention program 
(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section, each operator of a 

buried pipeline must carry out, in accordance with this section, a written program 
to prevent damage to that pipeline from excavation activities. For the purposes of 
this section, the term "excavation activities" includes excavation, blasting, boring, 
tunneling, backfilling, the removal of aboveground structures by either explosive 
or mechanical means, and other earthmoving operations. 

(b)  An operator may comply with any of the requirements of paragraph (c) of this 
section through participation in a public service program, such as a one-call 
system, but such participation does not relieve the operator of responsibility for 
compliance with this section. However, an operator must perform the duties of 
paragraph (c)(3) of this section through participation in a one-call system, if that 
one-call system is a qualified one-call system. In areas that are covered by more 
than one qualified one-call system, an operator need only join one of the qualified 
one-call systems if there is a central telephone number for excavators to call for 
excavation activities, or if the one-call systems in those areas communicate with 
one another. An operator's pipeline system must be covered by a qualified one-
call system where there is one in place. For the purpose of this section, a one-call 
system is considered a "qualified one-call system" if it meets the requirements of 
section (b)(1) or (b)(2) of this section. 
(1) The state has adopted a one-call damage prevention program under § 

198.37 of this chapter; or 
(2) The one-call system: 

(i) Is operated in accordance with § 198.39 of this chapter; 
(ii) Provides a pipeline operator an opportunity similar to a voluntary 

participant to have a part in management responsibilities; and 
(iii) Assesses a participating pipeline operator a fee that is 

proportionate to the costs of the one-call system's coverage of the 
operator's pipeline. 
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(c) The damage prevention program required by paragraph (a) of this section must, at 
a minimum: 
(1) Include the identity, on a current basis, of persons who normally engage in 

excavation activities in the area in which the pipeline is located. 
(2) Provides for notification of the public in the vicinity of the pipeline and 

actual notification of the persons identified in paragraph (c)(1) of this 
section of the following as often as needed to make them aware of the 
damage prevention program: 
(i) The program's existence and purpose; and 
(ii) How to learn the location of underground pipelines before 

excavation activities are begun. 
(3) Provide a means of receiving and recording notification of planned 

excavation activities. 
(4) If the operator has buried pipelines in the area of excavation activity, 

provide for actual notification of persons who give notice of their intent to 
excavate of the type of temporary marking to be provided and how to 
identify the markings. 

(5) Provide for temporary marking of buried pipelines in the area of 
excavation activity before, as far as practical, the activity begins. 

(6) Provide as follows for inspection of pipelines that an operator has reason 
to believe could be damaged by excavation activities: 
(i)The inspection must be done as frequently as necessary during and after 

the activities to verify the integrity of the pipeline; and 
(ii)In the case of blasting, any inspection must include leakage surveys. 

(d) A damage prevention program under this section is not required for the following 
pipelines: 
(1) Pipelines located offshore. 
(2) Pipelines, other than those located offshore, in Class 1 or 2 locations until 

September 20, 1995. 
(3) Pipelines to which access is physically controlled by the operator. 

(e) Pipelines operated by persons other than municipalities (including operators of 
master meters) whose primary activity does not include the transportation of gas 
need not comply with the following: 
(1) The requirement of paragraph (a) of this section that the damage 

prevention program be written; and 
(2) The requirements of paragraphs (c)(1) and (c)(2) of this section. 
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(6) 49 CFR § 192.703 General 
(a) No person may operate a segment of pipeline, unless it is maintained in 
accordance with this subpart. 
(b) Each segment of pipeline that becomes unsafe must be replaced, repaired, or 
removed from service. 
(c) Hazardous leaks must be repaired promptly. 

(7) 49 CFR § 192.805 Qualification program 
Each operator shall have and follow a written qualification program. The program shall 
include provisions to: 

(a) Identify covered tasks; 

(b) Ensure through evaluation that individuals performing covered tasks are qualified; 

(c) Allow individuals that are not qualified pursuant to this subpart to perform a 
covered task if directed and observed by an individual that is qualified; 

(d) Evaluate an individual if the operator has reason to believe that the individual's 
performance of a covered task contributed to an incident as defined in Part 191; 

(e) Evaluate an individual if the operator has reason to believe that the individual is 
no longer qualified to perform a covered task; 

(f) Communicate changes that affect covered tasks to individuals performing those 
covered tasks; 

(g) Identify those covered tasks and the intervals at which evaluation of the 
individual's qualifications is needed; 

(h) After December 16, 2004, provide training, as appropriate, to ensure that 
individuals performing covered tasks have the necessary knowledge and skills to 
perform the tasks in a manner that ensures the safe operation of pipeline facilities; 
and 

(i) After December 16, 2004, notify the Administrator or a state agency participating 
under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 601 if an operator significantly modifies the program 
after the administrator or state agency has verified that it complies with this 
section. Notifications to PHMSA must be submitted in accordance with § 192.18. 
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Code Section Inspector’s Comments 
§ 192.13(c) Westover does not have a manual/plan as required by Part 192. 
§ 192.603(a)-(b) Westover operates pipeline without records showing how it administers the 

procedures established under § 192.605. 
§ 192.605(a) Westover does not have a procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance, 

& Emergencies (“O&M”).  
§ 192.613(a)-(b) Westover does not have a procedure for continuing surveillance on the 

steel risers, or a plan for identifying leaks and conducting leak surveys. 
Significant, active corrosion exists on numerous steel service risers 
throughout the apartment complex and Westover lacks a program to 
recondition or phase out the steel service risers.   

§ 192.614(b) Westover is not a member of the Pennsylvania One Call System, Inc. (“PA 
One Call”). 

§ 192.614(c)(3) Westover does not have a means of receiving and recording notifications of 
planned excavations activities.  

§ 192.614(c)(4) Westover did not give notice of its markings or provide methods to identify 
its markings to persons who provided notice of their intent to excavate in 
the area of Westover’s buried pipelines. 

§ 192.614(c)(5) Westover did not provide temporary markings of its buried pipelines prior 
to the commencement of the excavation activity. 

§ 192.614(c)(6) Westover did not inspect the pipelines that could have been damaged by 
excavation activities, including saw cutting. 

§ 192.703(a)-(b) Westover must replace, repair, or remove from service unsafe risers. 
§ 192.805 Westover does not have an Operator Qualification (“OQ”) program.  

On May 9 and 10, 2022, Pipeline Safety Engineer Scott Orr and Supervisor Terri Cooper 
Smith (“Inspectors”) conducted an outage inspection at the Hillcrest Apartments, a property 
owned by Westover in Lansdowne, PA. There, a natural gas leak occurred on Westover’s master 
meter system and consequently, the local natural gas utility shut off gas to the entire apartment 
complex until the leak was repaired. During the inspection, Inspectors inquired about Westover’s 
O&M procedures and OQ program used to facilitate the necessary repairs, and it was discovered 
that Westover does not have any written O&M, OQ, or damage prevention programs. Westover 
did not have records of corrosion inspections, maps of facilities, or leak surveys. These issues are 
in violation of the above cited code sections for §192.13, §192.603, §192.605, §192.614,  
§192.703, and §192.805. 

Also, inspectors discovered unknown markings in the excavation area, specifically 
electric (red paint) and gas mark outs (yellow paint) with no other identifiers. Westover allowed 
its contractor, Hatch Plumbing, to saw cut and excavate with a backhoe without a valid one call 
number or notification. Westover is not a member of PA One Call and does not have means to 
receive notifications and/or provide temporary markings of its gas facilities. This is a violation of 
§192.614(b), (c)(3).  

During the inspection, Inspectors observed severe corrosion on several of the steel risers 
at the soil-to-air interfaces. This corrosion is the most likely the cause of the leak that led to the 
outage. During the leak survey, the leak survey technicians also alerted Westover staff about 
severe corrosion conditions at the soil-to-air interfaces on other risers in the complex. Westover 
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has no procedures for continuing surveillance of this issue. This is a violation of §192.613(a)-(b). 
Westover is required to replace or repair unsafe service risers. This is a violation of  
§192.703(a)(b). 

Therefore, you are hereby requested to submit to this office in writing, on or before  
August 10, 2022, the following: 
1) Develop and implement Operation, Maintenance and Emergency Response manuals. 
2) Develop and implement an Operator Qualification Program.  
3) Become a member of the Pennsylvania One Call System, Inc.  
4) Develop a continuing surveillance procedure to comply with § 192.613(a)-(b), especially 

as it relates to steel service risers. Based on this leakage, develop a plan for identifying 
leaks and conducting leak surveys. 

5) Repair, replace, or remove from service all risers with severe corrosion. 
6) Maintain records of leak surveys and classifications, corrosion inspections, and other 

records required by code. 

This office is committed to ensuring that all pipeline operators subject to the Gas and 
Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. §§ 801.101 et seq. (“Act 127”), comply with Act 127, 
which adopts the Federal pipeline safety laws. Therefore, Westover is advised that, if it fails to 
comply with the above requests, this office will consider all appropriate enforcement actions, 
which include the possibility of amending I&E’s Formal Complaint at C-2022-3030251 to add 
additional counts and increased civil penalties as it relates to this matter. 

Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
Robert Horensky, Manager 
Safety Division 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

RH:rb 
PC: Richard Kanaskie, Director, I&E 
  Michael Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor – Enforcement  
  Terri Cooper Smith, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer Supervisor 
  Stephanie Wimer, I&E Senior Prosecutor – Enforcement 
  Kayla Rost, I&E Prosecutor – Enforcement  

Scott Orr, Fixed Utility Valuation Engineer II 
David P. Zambito, Esq., Counsel to Westover 
Jonathan P. Nase, Esq., Counsel to Westover 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

& 
ENFORCEMENT 

 

 

June 2, 2021 

Via Electronic Mail Only 

Mr. Alexander Steffanelli 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 

d/b/a Westover Companies 

550 American Avenue 

Suite 1 

King of Prussia, PA 19406 

alex@westovercompanies.com 

Re: Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

I&E-Enforcement Warning Letter 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli, 

The purpose of this letter is to provide Westover Property Management Company, 

L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”) with one final opportunity to respond to the

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement’s (“I&E”) request that it comply with the laws and

regulations governing its master meter system.  If compliance is not achieved within the

timeframe set forth herein, I&E is prepared to initiate a formal enforcement action before the

Commission that would seek the imposition of stiff civil penalties on Westover, up to

$225,134 per violation for each day the violation continues, subject to a maximum penalty of

$2,251,334 for a related series of violations.

On May 22 and 23, 2018, inspectors from the I&E Safety Division of the 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission1 visited a property owned and managed by 

Westover in response to a natural gas leak and service outage reported by PECO Gas.  PECO 

Gas reported that the outage impacted a master meter system at the Jamestown Village 

Apartments located at 2501 Maryland Road, Willow Grove, PA 19090.  After ensuring that 

the leak was properly repaired and service restored, the Safety Division shifted the focus of 

its investigation to examine whether the pipeline facilities at the Jamestown Village 

Apartments constitute a “master meter system” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 and subject to 

Commission oversight through the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (“Act 127”), 58 

P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq.   

On December 2, 2020, the Safety Division completed an inspection of Westover’s 

facilities and records, and concluded that Westover operates a regulated master meter system.  

During the inspection, inspectors from the Safety Division discussed with representatives 

from Westover the requirements that are necessary for Westover to comply with Act 127 and 

1 The Safety Division serves as an agent of the federal Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 

(“PHMSA”) and enforces compliance with Pennsylvania laws and regulations as well as federal pipeline safety 

laws and regulations governing the transportation of natural gas. 
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June 2, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

the federal pipeline safety regulations.  On December 17, December 24, and December 31, 

2020 as well as on January 11, and January 14, 2021, the Safety Division attempted to 

schedule a follow-up inspection with Westover that would review the manual and procedures 

that the Safety Division asked Westover to develop in order to become compliant.  Westover 

did not respond to any of the Safety Division’s attempts to communicate with it. 

 

By letter dated February 3, 2021, the Safety Division issued a non-compliance letter, 

NC-77-20, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.13 and 192.605 for failing 

to have a manual as required in Part 192 of the federal pipeline safety regulations and a 

procedural manual for Operations, Maintenance and Emergencies (“O&M Manual”).  The 

Safety Division requested that Westover respond to NC-77-20 in writing on or before March 

17, 2021, with a response that demonstrates that it developed and implemented an O&M 

Manual and a process to document and track all records required by the pertinent manuals 

and procedures.  Westover failed to respond to NC-77-20. 

 

By letter dated March 30, 2021, the Safety Division issued a second non-compliance 

letter, NC-08-21, finding Westover to be in violation of 49 CFR § 190.203(a) (permitting 

agents of PHMSA to enter and inspect the records and properties of persons to determine the 

compliance of such persons with federal pipeline safety laws and regulations).  The Safety 

Division requested that Westover respond in writing on or before April 29, 2021, with a 

response that schedules the Safety Division’s follow-up inspection of Westover’s facilities 

and records and replies to NC-77-20.  In NC-08-21, the Safety Division warned that a 

continued failure to respond would result in I&E taking legal action against Westover, 

including seeking the imposition of civil penalties.  Westover failed to respond to NC-08-21. 

 

The Safety Division referred this matter to I&E-Enforcement, which is the 

prosecutory arm of the Commission empowered to take legal action to enforce compliance 

with, inter alia, Act 127 and federal pipeline safety laws and regulations.  Prior to initiating a 

formal enforcement proceeding before the Commission, which would entail extensive 

discovery, an evidentiary hearing, potential travel for witnesses and the filing of post-hearing 

briefs, I&E-Enforcement deemed it appropriate to make one final attempt to elicit 

Westover’s compliance with the applicable law.  I&E requests that Westover perform the 

following on or before June 22, 2021:  

 

• Develop and implement an O&M Manual as required by 49 CFR Part 192; 

• Develop a process to document and track all records required by the applicable 

manuals and procedures; 

• Arrange for a follow-up inspection with Safety Division Supervisor T. Cooper 

Smith and Safety Division Engineer S. Orr at tcsmith@pa.gov and 

scoorr@pa.gov, respectively; and 

• Register as a Pennsylvania pipeline operator pursuant to Act 127. 

 

Should Westover fail to fully perform each of the above-listed items by the date 

referenced herein, I&E-Enforcement will swiftly file a formal complaint against Westover 
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that seeks the imposition of a civil penalty.  I&E-Enforcement’s requested civil penalty 

would consider Westover’s well-documented failure to cooperate with the Safety Division’s 

investigation.  Please be advised that I&E is authorized to seek a civil penalty of $225,134 

per violation for each day the violation continues, with a maximum penalty of $2,251,334 for 

a related series of violations.2  Furthermore, as a corporation, Westover is required to be 

represented by legal counsel in contested proceedings before the Commission. 

 

Thank you for your immediate attention to this important matter.   

 

Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 

Senior Prosecutor 

 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

Commonwealth Keystone Building 

400 North Street 

Harrisburg, PA 17120 

(717) 772-8839 

stwimer@pa.gov   

 

 

cc: Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

 Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

Robert D. Horensky, Manager - Safety Division (via e-mail only) 

 

 
2  See 58 P.S. § 801.502 (a); 49 CFR § 190.223, as modified by Department of Transportation; Civil Penalty 

Amounts. 86 Fed. Reg. 23241 (May 3, 2021). 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

& 
ENFORCEMENT 

 

 

July 28, 2021 

Via Electronic Mail Only 

Mr. Alexander Steffanelli 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 

d/b/a Westover Companies 

550 American Avenue 

Suite 1 

King of Prussia, PA 19406 

alex@westovercompanies.com 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 

Companies Relating to Possible Violations of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids 

Pipelines Act and Federal Pipeline Safety Laws and Regulations 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

I&E Letter 

Dear Mr. Steffanelli, 

As you are aware, the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) of the 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) has been investigating Westover 

Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”) pursuant to 

Section 801.501 of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (“Act 127”), 58 P.S. § 801.501, 

and Section 3.113 of the Commission’s regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 3.113.  This investigation 

focuses on determining which apartment complexes owned or managed by Westover meet the 

definitions of “pipeline operator” and “master meter system” set forth in 58 P.S. § 801.102 and 

49 CFR § 191.3, respectively, such that compliance with Federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations, including 49 CFR Part 192, is obligatory. 

Also, as you are aware, I&E issued a Warning Letter dated June 2, 2021, to prompt 

Westover’s compliance with Act 127 by, inter alia, registering as a pipeline operator and 

developing and implementing an Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) Manual required by 49 

CFR Part 192, prior to I&E’s initiation of a formal enforcement action that would seek civil 

penalties.  The assertions set forth in the Warning Letter were based on a preliminary 

determination by the I&E Safety Division that Westover operates a regulated master meter 

system at Jamestown Village Apartments in Willow Grove, PA. 

Subsequently, by email dated June 4, 2021, I&E clarified its Warning Letter to indicate 

that any O&M Manual that is developed by or on behalf of Westover should encompass all 

jurisdictional master meter systems operated by Westover in any of the apartment complexes that 

it manages in Pennsylvania. 

Thereafter, on June 28, 2021, Westover registered only Jamestown Village Apartments, 

LP as an Act 127 pipeline operator and reported zero jurisdictional intrastate pipeline miles.  On 

July 10, 2021, Westover provided a draft O&M Manual to I&E that included the Jamestown 

Village Apartments and not any other Westover apartment complex in Pennsylvania. 
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On July 15, 2021, the I&E Safety Division inspected Westover’s records and scheduled a 

follow-up inspection for August 24, 2021.  Prior to the August 24, 2021 inspection, the I&E 

Safety Division expects Westover to complete various tasks and prepare certain documents for 

inspection by I&E.  The following items are to be completed and electronically provided to the 

undersigned on or before August 9, 2021:   

 

1. Compile and provide a list of all Westover properties in Pennsylvania with a 

jurisdictional master meter system; 

2. Provide a list of all Westover emergency contacts, including the names of individuals 

and mobile and office numbers that can be contacted on a 24/7 basis; and 

3. File an Act 127 pipeline operator registration or registrations that include all 

jurisdictional master meter systems in Pennsylvania and provide a copy of the 

filing(s). 

The following items are to be completed and presented to the I&E Safety Division at the 

inspection scheduled for August 24, 2021: 

4. Develop and implement an O&M plan for all jurisdictional master meter locations in 

Pennsylvania and have ready for inspection a complete manual; 

5. Develop a map of all jurisdictional master meter locations in Pennsylvania that shows 

gas mains and facilities; and 

6. Develop and implement an Operator Qualification Plan. 

 

 A failure to comply with the above-listed items will subject Westover to prosecution that 

will seek the imposition of civil penalties. 

 

Thank you for your immediate attention to this important matter.   

 

Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 

Senior Prosecutor 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 

Commonwealth Keystone Building 

400 North Street 

Harrisburg, PA 17120 

(717) 772-8839 

stwimer@pa.gov   

 

cc: Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

 Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via e-mail only) 

Robert D. Horensky, Manager - Safety Division (via e-mail only) 
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The Westover Companies | 550 American Avenue, Suite 1| King of Prussia, PA 19406 
t: 610.337.3994 | f: 610.337.2206 

www.westovercompanies.com 

REFERENCE:        Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

Date: Aug 23, 2021 

Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
PAPUC 

Dear Ms. Wimer, 

On July 28, 2021, I, Mr. Alexander Stefanelli, Chief Financial Officer, Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. (Westover) received your letter associated with a Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
(PAPUC) Safety Division’s inspection of facilities and records with regards to Jamestown Village 
Apartments in Willow Grove, Pennsylvania.  As a result of that inspection, the PAPUC Safety Division 
determined that Westover jurisdictional facilities operating with a master meter were subject to Section 
801.501 of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (Act 127), 58 P.S.§ 801.501, and Section 3.113 of 
the Commission's regulations.   

As such, your letter requested the following items be completed and presented to the I&E Safety 
Division at the inspection scheduled for August 24, 2021: 

1. Develop and implement an O&M plan for all jurisdictional master meter locations in
Pennsylvania and have ready for inspection a complete manual;

2. Develop a map of all jurisdictional master meter locations in Pennsylvania that shows gas mains
and facilities; and

3. Develop and implement an Operator Qualification Plan.

Westover fully acknowledges the PAPUC’s Safety Division’s jurisdiction over certain facilities owned and 
operated by Westover.  Westover fully intends to comply with the three (3) items listed in the July 28, 
2021 letter and fully comply with all federal and state regulations applicable to a master meter operator 
for all its jurisdictional facilities.   

In order to obtain compliance, Westover has contracted with Entech Engineering and The Oak Tree 
Group.  Westover will take immediate steps to be compliant with federal regulations by providing the 
necessary compliance documents to address the three (3) items in your letter and other necessary 
compliance actions such as an Emergency Procedures and Public Awareness.   

However, Westover will require additional time to develop compliance documents, Operations and 
Maintenance Procedures, Emergency Procedures, Public Awareness and Operator Qualification.   
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Westover requests that the PAPUC Gas Safety Division and the I&E Legal Division grant a 30-day 
extension of the items listed in the July 28, 2021 letter and Westover requests a rescheduling of the 
August 24, 2021 inspection.   
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 610-337-3994. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Mr. Alexander Stefanelli  
Chief Financial Officer 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P  
d/b/a Westover Companies  
550 American Avenue Suite 1  
King of Prussia, PA 19406  
alex@westovercompanies.com 
 
 
cc: Michael L. Swindler, I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor (via e-mail only)  

Kayla L. Rost, I&E Prosecutor (via e-mail only)  
Robert D. Horensky, Manager - Safety Division (via e-mail only) 
Terri Cooper Smith, Supervisor – Safety Division (via email only) 
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From: Alexander Stefanelli <alex@westovercompanies.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 3, 2021 9:19 AM 
To: Orr, Scott <scoorr@pa.gov>; Smith, Terri <tcsmith@pa.gov> 
Cc: Peter Quercetti <pquercetti@WestoverCompanies.com>; pmetro@verizon.net; Ben Klopp 
<BKlopp@entecheng.com>; Rudy Schmehl <RSchmehl@entecheng.com> 
Subject: [External] PA PUC Meetings 

ATTENTION: This email message is from an external sender. Do not open links or attachments from unknown sources. To 
report suspicious email, forward the message as an attachment to CWOPA_SPAM@pa.gov. 

Scott and Terri, 

After further research, we currently believe that none of our sites are jurisdictional, and we have retained an attorney to 
work with Stephanie to discuss.  Until the matter is resolved all meeting request should be coordinated through 
Stephanie. 

We appreciate your patience as we work through the issues. 

Thanks 
Alex 

Alexander Stefanelli, CFO 
The Westover Companies 
550 American Avenue, Suite 1 
King of Prussia, PA  19406 
 610‐337‐3994 |  610‐337‐2206

Send me a file 
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17 North Second Street      Suite 1410      Harrisburg, PA 17101 

717.703.5900     877.868.0840     717.703.5901 Fax     cozen.com 

November 4, 2021 David P. Zambito 
 

Direct Phone 717-703-5892 
Direct Fax 215-989-4216 
dzambito@cozen.com VIA EMAIL (stwimer@pa.gov) 

Stephanie M. Wimer, Esq. 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission  
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of the Gas and Hazardous Liquids 
Pipelines Act and Federal Pipeline Safety Laws and Regulations; Bp8CaseID# 
3025977 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies’ 
Response to the July 28, 2021 Letter from the Bureau of Investigation and 
Enforcement 

Dear Senior Prosecutor Wimer: 

This correspondence is in response to your letter dated July 28, 2021 regarding the 
investigation by the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) into whether the Westover 
Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies (“Westover”) is in compliance 
with the Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act, 58 P.S. § 801.101 et seq. (“Act 127”).  You 
indicated that “[t]his investigation focuses on determining which apartment complexes owned or 
managed by Westover meet the definitions of “pipeline operator” and “master meter system” set 
forth in 58 P.S. § 801.102 and 49 CFR § 191.3, respectively, such that compliance with Federal 
pipeline safety laws and regulations, including 49 CFR Part 192, is obligatory.”   

For the reasons set forth below, Westover respectfully submits that its natural gas systems 
are not subject to regulation by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”). 

I. FACTS

Westover owns several apartment complexes in Pennsylvania.  In each complex, 
Westover purchases gas at a point in Pennsylvania from a Commission-regulated public utility (a 
natural gas distribution company (“NGDC”)) and distributes it to the tenants in the complex, 
charging them for the gas through a meter or rents in compliance with the requirements of 66 Pa. 
C.S. § 1313 (regarding “Price upon resale of public utility services”).  Westover controls who may
be a tenant through leases.  All of Westover’s gas facilities are located on Westover’s property,
and all of Westover’s natural gas customers rent their apartments from Westover.  To date,
Westover has spent in excess of $70,000 in response to the activities of I&E field inspectors.
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II. WESTOVER’S NATURAL GAS SYSTEMS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO REGULATION BY 
THE COMMISSION 

 As an agency created by the General Assembly, the Commission has only the powers 
given to it by the General Assembly, either explicitly or implicitly.  Feingold v. Bell Tel. Co. of Pa., 
383 A.2d 791 (Pa. 1977).  The question therefore is whether the Commission has authority to 
regulate Westover’s natural gas systems. 

A. The Commission does not have Authority to Regulate Westover’s Natural 
Gas Systems Pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 

 Commission regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 state that the Commission adopts, as the 
minimum safety standards for all natural gas and hazardous liquid public utilities, the safety 
standards found in 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60503 and 49 CFR Parts 191-193, 195 and 199.  
Westover, however, is not a public utility.  It is not providing natural gas to the public for 
compensation; it is only providing gas to tenants of its properties, whom it selects by contract.  
Drexelbrook Associates v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 418 Pa. 430, 212 A.2d 237 (1965) (holding that 
a landlord was not subject to Commission jurisdiction where the landlord-tenant contractual 
relationship established the only persons who could demand utility service).  Therefore, the 
Commission does not have authority to regulate Westover’s natural gas systems pursuant to this 
regulation. 

B. The Commission does not have Authority to Regulate Westover’s Natural 
Gas Systems Pursuant to Act 127 

 In 2011, the General Assembly enacted Act 127 in response to the growth of Marcellus 
Shale in Pennsylvania.  In pertinent part, Section 501(a) of Act 127, 58 P.S. § 801.501(a), gives 
the Commission the general administrative authority to supervise and regulate “pipeline 
operators” within this Commonwealth who are subject to Federal pipeline safety laws.  The 
General Assembly also empowered the Commission to adopt regulations, consistent with the 
Federal pipeline safety laws, but the Commission -- after a decade -- has not promulgated 
regulations implementing Act 127 or specifically defining its interpretation of the limits of its powers 
under Act 127.1 
 
 Act 127 gives the Commission authority to regulate Westover’s natural gas systems only 
if Westover is a pipeline operator.  A “pipeline operator” is defined as: 
 

"Pipeline operator."  A person that owns or operates equipment or facilities 
in this Commonwealth for the transportation of gas or hazardous liquids by pipeline 
or pipeline facility regulated under Federal pipeline safety laws.  The term does 
not include a public utility or an ultimate consumer who owns a service line on his 
real property. 

                                                
1  Under the Pennsylvania regulatory review process, interested parties would have had an opportunity to provide 
comments on the appropriate implementation of Act 127 and binding norms on all similarly-situated entities could have 
been developed.  Moreover, the Pennsylvania General Assembly would have had an opportunity to review the 
Commission regulations and assess consistency with the legislative intent of Act 127.  See Pa. Regulatory Review Act, 
71 P.S. §§ 745.1 - 745.15; see also Pa. Commonwealth Documents Law, 45 P.S. §§ 1102 - 1208.  Without clear binding 
norms, the risk of selective and discriminatory prosecution is greatly increased. 
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58 P.S. § 801.102 (“Definitions”) (emphasis added).2  The definition of “pipeline” in Act 127 
reiterates that Act 127 only pertains to pipelines regulated by the Federal pipeline safety laws.  

 Act 127 defines “Federal pipeline safety laws” as: 

"Federal pipeline safety laws."  The provisions of 49 U.S.C. Ch. 601 
(relating to safety), the Hazardous Liquid Pipeline Safety Act of 1979 (Public Law 
96-129, 93 Stat. 989), the Pipeline Safety Improvement Act of 2002 (Public Law 
107-355, 116 Stat. 2985) and the regulations promulgated under the acts. 

Id.   

 I&E is investigating whether Westover is a “pipeline operator” as defined in Act 127 
because it owns or operates a “master meter system,” which is allegedly regulated under the 
Federal pipeline safety laws.  The Federal pipeline safety laws define a master meter system as: 

… a pipeline system for distributing gas within, but not limited to, a definable area, 
such as a mobile home park, housing project, or apartment complex, where the 
operator purchases metered gas from an outside source for resale through a gas 
distribution pipeline system.  The gas distribution pipeline system supplies the 
ultimate consumer who either purchases the gas directly through a meter or by 
other means, such as by rents[.] 

49 CFR § 191.3 (emphasis added).  An operator, in turn, is defined as “a person who engages in 
the transportation of gas.”  Id.  Finally, the transportation of gas is defined as “the gathering, 
transmission, or distribution of gas by pipeline, or the storage of gas, in or affecting interstate 
or foreign commerce.”  Id. (emphasis added).   

 Westover does not gather, transmit or store gas.  Therefore, Westover’s distribution of gas 
by pipeline must be in or must affect interstate or foreign commerce in order for Westover to be 
an operator of a master meter system.  

 Westover’s natural gas systems clearly do not distribute gas by pipeline in interstate or 
foreign commerce.  Westover purchases gas in Pennsylvania from an Commission-regulated 
NGDC.  NGDCs are regulated by the Commission rather than by FERC (pursuant to the Hinshaw 
Amendment, 15 U.S.C. § 717(c)).  Consequently, Westover’s purchase of the gas is in intrastate 
commerce because an NGDC is considered to be an intrastate gas pipeline facility pursuant to 
the Federal pipeline safety laws.  49 U.S.C. § 60101(a)(9) (defining an “intrastate gas pipeline 
facility” as a gas pipeline facility and gas transportation within a state that is not subject to FERC 
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 717).  Westover transports the gas a short distance and sells it to tenants 
located in Pennsylvania and located on Westover’s property.  From beginning to end, Westover’s 
purchase, transportation, and sale of the gas is entirely intrastate commerce.  Consequently, 
Westover is not an “operator” as defined in the Federal pipeline safety laws, its system is not a 
“master meter system” as defined in the Federal pipeline safety laws, and Westover is not a 
“pipeline operator” as defined in Act 127 because it does not own or operate equipment or facilities 

                                                
2  The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has held that, “if the General Assembly defines words that are used in a statute, 
those definitions are binding.”  Pa. Associated Builders & Contractors, Inc. v. Dep’t of Gen. Servs., 932 A.2d 1271, 
1278 (Pa. 2007); see also Lower Swatara Twp. v. Pa. Labor Relations Bd., 208 A.3d 521 (Pa. Cmwlth. No. 1276 C.D. 
2018, filed May 2, 2019). 
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that are regulated under the Federal pipeline safety laws.  The Commission therefore lacks 
authority to regulate Westover pursuant to Act 127. 

There is also no federal jurisdiction over Westover under the negative implications of the 
Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution, also known as the Dormant Commerce 
Clause.  The Natural Gas Act, including 15 U.S.C. § 717, was intended to fill a regulatory gap and 
define the nature of federal jurisdiction over interstate and intrastate commerce.  Pub. Utils. 
Comm’n of State of Cal. v. FERC, 900 F.2d 269, 275 (D.C. Cir. 1990).  This was a reaction to the 
United States Supreme Court’s ad hoc and case-by-case definitions of federal jurisdiction over 
the gas industry under Dormant Commerce Clauses cases.  The field of federal jurisdiction under 
the Natural Gas Act is roughly the same as that determined by the Supreme Court in these 
Dormant Commerce Clause cases; however, the statute intended to make the lines between state 
and federal jurisdiction clearer.  Fed. Power Comm’n v. E. Ohio Gas Co., 338 U.S. 464, 467 
(1950). 

 
Today, when assessing what constitutes an undue burden on interstate commerce under 

the Dormant Commerce Clause, courts engage in a balancing test and consider “legitimate state 
interests” against any burden on interstate commerce that such state-level regulation imposes.  
See Arkansas Elec. Coop. Corp. v. Arkansas Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 461 U.S. 375 (1983).  Further, 
the Supreme Court has stated that “the regulation of utilities is one of the most important of the 
functions traditionally associated with the police power of the State.”  Id. at 377.  Here, while the 
analysis under the Natural Gas Act already excludes natural gas systems similar to Westover’s 
(as discussed above), any purported balancing test under the Dormant Commerce Clause would 
yield the same result because the tenuous connection to interstate commerce by Westover means 
that any unintended burden on interstate commerce would be minimal.  Because Westover 
engages entirely in intrastate commerce, the Commonwealth has a greater interest than the 
federal government in regulating its purely intrastate commerce, which outweighs the minimal 
effect on interstate commerce even where the Pennsylvania General Assembly has knowingly 
chosen not to regulate. 

 
The Pennsylvania General Assembly, in enacting Act 127, could have expressly included 

intrastate natural gas systems, such as Westover’s, within the Commission’s enforcement 
jurisdiction – but it did not.3  Instead, the General Assembly limited the Commission’s enforcement 
jurisdiction to pipeline operators who are subject to Federal pipeline safety laws.  Westover is not 
such an entity because federal law does not, under Dormant Commerce Clause jurisprudence, 
extend to Westover’s purely intrastate activity. 
 
 We have reviewed several letters from the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Pipeline 
and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration interpreting the definition of “master meter 
system” in 49 CFR § 191.3.  None of those letters addresses the question of whether the operator 
of the master meter system was engaged in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce.  As a 
result, they are of limited usefulness in addressing Westover’s situation.  In any event, those non-
legal opinion letters merely reflect the agency's current application of the regulations to the 
specific facts presented by the person requesting the clarification; they do not create legally-
enforceable rights or obligations.  They certainly do not constitute precedent binding on the 
Commission or upon Pennsylvania’s appellate courts in interpreting Act 127. 

                                                
3  See Feingold, supra (regarding limitations on Commission powers). 
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 Finally, construing 49 CFR § 191.3 as applying to landlords such as Westover would 
effectively give the PUC jurisdiction over every landlord in Pennsylvania that operates a natural 
gas master meter system to provide gas to its tenants.  There are hundreds, perhaps thousands 
of such systems.  If the General Assembly intended to effect such a dramatic change in law, by 
giving the Commission authority to regulate these entities in Act 127, it would have said so.  The 
fact that it did not do so reflects the General Assembly’s intent that these entities would not be 
regulated by the Commission. 

III. Conclusion 

 Westover appreciates the opportunity to address I&E’s concerns about whether 
Westover’s natural gas systems are in compliance with Act 127.  In the interest of resolving this 
matter without the need for litigation, I would welcome the opportunity to discuss Westover’s 
position after you have had an opportunity to review this response and conduct your own research 
on what constitutes an “operator” of a master meter system that operates exclusively in intrastate 
commerce. 

 Thank you for your consideration of this matter.  Please do not hesitate to contact me with 
any question. 

        Sincerely, 

      Cozen O'Connor 
 

 

      David P. Zambito 
 Counsel for Westover Property Management 

Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

DPZ:kmg 
 

cc: Alexander Stefanelli, CFO, Westover Companies 
 Peter Quercetti, Vice President Operations Management, Westover Companies 
 Richard A. Kanaskie, Esq., Director, I&E 
 Michael L. Swindler, Esq., Deputy Chief Prosecutor, I&E 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

COMMONWEALTH KEYSTONE BUILDING 
400 NORTH STREET, HARRISBURG, PA 17120 

BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

& 
ENFORCEMENT 

November 22, 2021 

Via Electronic Mail Only 

David P. Zambito, Esq. 

Cozen O’Connor 

17 North Second Street 

Suite 1410 

Harrisburg, PA 17101 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a 

Westover Companies Relating to Possible Violations of the Gas and 

Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act and Federal Pipeline Safety Laws and 

Regulations  

Bp8CaseID# 3025977  

I&E Letter 

Dear Attorney Zambito, 

The Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) is in receipt of your letter 

dated November 4, 2021, wherein you claim that the natural gas systems of your client, 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

(“Westover”), are not subject to pipeline safety regulation by the Pennsylvania Public 

Utility Commission (“Commission”).  For the reasons set forth herein, I&E disagrees 

with Westover’s position. 

I&E continues to maintain that the pipeline facilities at some, but not all, 

Pennsylvania apartment complexes owned or managed by Westover constitute “master 

meter systems” as defined in 49 CFR § 191.3 of the federal pipeline safety regulations 

and, consequently, are subject to Commission oversight through the Gas and Hazardous 

Liquids Pipelines Act (“Act 127”), 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq.  Therefore, I&E’s position 

that Westover is a “pipeline operator” as defined in Act 127, Section 801.102 remains 

unchanged.  58 P.S. § 801.102.  I&E has never alleged that Westover is a public utility. 

Your claim that Westover’s transportation of gas by pipeline does not affect 

interstate or foreign commerce and therefore renders Westover not to be subject to the 

federal pipeline safety regulations is incorrect.  The minimum federal pipeline safety 

standards apply broadly to both interstate and intrastate pipelines through the federal 

Pipeline Safety Act, 49 U.S.C. §§ 60101-60143 (“PSA”).   
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Pursuant to the PSA, States may assume responsibility for regulating intrastate 

pipeline facilities by submitting an annual certification to the Secretary of the U.S. 

Department of Transportation pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105.  A State that has submitted 

a certification under Section 60105(a) of the PSA may adopt additional or more stringent 

safety standards for intrastate pipeline facilities and intrastate pipeline transportation only 

if those standards are compatible with the minimum federal pipeline safety standards.  49 

U.S.C. § 60104.  Pennsylvania, through the Commission’s I&E Safety Division, is 

certified to regulate the safety of intrastate pipelines.  

 

The Pennsylvania General Assembly adopted the federal pipeline safety laws and 

regulations, as well as all amendments thereto, as the safety standards for non-public 

utility pipeline operators in Pennsylvania by enacting Act 127.  See 58 P.S. § 801.302.  

Additionally, the Pennsylvania General Assembly authorized the Commission 

to supervise and regulate pipeline operators within Pennsylvania consistent with (but not 

more stringent than) Federal pipeline safety laws.  58 P.S. § 801.501.   

 

As it relates to Westover, the regulation of intrastate master meter systems fits 

squarely within the purview of Section 191.3 of the federal pipeline safety regulations, 49 

C.F.R. § 191.3.  Intrastate gas master meter systems have for decades been subject to 

pipeline safety regulation either through PHMSA or an authorized State.  Since Act 127 

became effective, the Commission has enforced violations of Act 127 on pipeline 

operators operating master meter systems in Pennsylvania.  See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. Brookhaven MHP Management LLC, et al., 

Docket No. C-2017-2613983 (Order entered August 23, 2018). 

 

Westover’s position is contrary to well-established law and the sound policy of the 

PSA, which is to provide adequate protection against risks to life and property posed by 

pipeline transportation and facilities.   

 

I&E has attempted for nearly one-year to amicably work with Westover to aid 

Westover into becoming compliant with the minimum federal pipeline safety standards.  

Westover’s unregulated master meter systems in their current state pose a risk to 

Westover’s residents, employees, and the general public.  Should Westover refuse to 

submit to the Commission’s oversight for pipeline safety purposes, I&E will initiate an 

enforcement action and seek the imposition of civil penalties pursuant to 58 P.S.              

§ 801.502.   
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Please advise by December 13, 2021 whether Westover will submit to the 

Commission’s jurisdiction pursuant to Act 127 and finalize the steps necessary to fully 

comply with the federal pipeline safety regulations.  Should Westover respond in the 

negative and continue to disregard its responsibilities under Act 127, I&E will proceed 

with formal enforcement action and prepare and file a Formal Complaint. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer 

Senior Prosecutor, I&E 

 

 

cc: (via email only) 

Michael L. Swindler, Esq., I&E Deputy Chief Prosecutor  

 Kayla L. Rost, Esq., I&E Prosecutor  

 Terri C. Cooper Smith, Supervisor – Safety Division 

 Scott Orr, Engineer – Safety Division 
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November 22, 2021 

VIA E-MAIL 

Stephanie M. Wimer 
Senior Prosecutor 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Re: Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 
Bp8CaseID# 3025977 

Responses to Investigation & Enforcement Data Requests - Set I 

Dear Ms. Wimer: 

Enclosed please find the responses of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 

Set I.  Westover 
CONFIDENTIAL and should be maintained 

in a non-public file. 

Please contact me if you have any questions or concerns. 

Respectfully, 

Cozen O'Connor 

David P. Zambito 
Counsel for Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 

DPZ:kmg 

cc: Alexander Stefanelli 
Peter Quercetti 
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Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 
I&E Data Requests  Set I 

1. List the apartment complexes in Pennsylvania that are owned and/or managed by 
Westover where tenants receive a bill for natural gas service either from Westover 
or a third-party contractor and not directly from the NGDC or natural gas public 
utility. 

Answer: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Please see the agreement between The Westover Companies and Multifamily 
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 (CONFIDENTIAL).  Pursuant to this agreement, Multifamily 
Utility Company bills residents for water, sewer, electric and/or gas.  The chart 
above only lists the properties for which tenants receive a bill for natural gas. 

 

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli 
Date:  November 22, 2021  
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Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977
I&E Data Requests  Set I 

2. For each apartment complex listed in response to I&E Data Requests  Set I, No. 
1, provide: 

a. The name of the NGDC or natural gas public utility that provides natural 
gas to the apartment complex; 

Answer: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli 
Date:  November 22, 2021 
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b. Whether Westover or a third-party contractor purchases metered natural gas 
directly from the NGDC or natural gas public utility, i.e., pays the bill. If a 
third-party contractor exclusively performs this function, identify the name 
of and provide the contact information for the third-party contractor; 

Answer: 

In the properties identified in 1, Westover purchased the metered natural gas 
directly from the NGDC or natural gas public utility and is the customer of record 
with those entities. 

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli 
Date:  November 22, 2021 

c. Whether Westover or a third-party contractor resells the natural gas 
purchased from the NGDC or natural gas public utility to residential 
tenants, i.e., collects the money from tenants. If a third-party contractor 
exclusively performs this function, identify the name of and provide the 
contact information for the third-party contractor; 

Answer: 

Westover collects monies from tenants for utility costs identified in Lease 
Agreements with tenants. 

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli 
Date:  November 22, 2021 

d. Whether a third-party contractor provides Westover with meters or 
submeters. If answered affirmatively, identify the name of and provide the 
contact information for the third-party contractor; 
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Answer:

A third party-contractor provided submeters through meter purchase agreements to 
Westover, or to entities that owned and operated properties when the submeters 
were installed.  Multifamily Utility Company (with a mailing address of P.O. Box 
9149, San Diego, CA 92169 and a telephone number of (800) 266-0968) is the 
third-party provider of billing and hardware services.. 

Answer provided by:  Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021 

 

e. From January 1, 2021, the total number of residential tenants that received 
natural gas that is resold and billed by Westover. Provide this number on a 
calendar year quarterly basis; 

Answer: 

1st Quarter 2021: 4,180 

2nd Quarter 2021: 3,754 

3rd Quarter 2021: 1,611 

4th Quarter 2021: 540 

Answer provided by:  Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021 

f. From January 1, 2021 to the present time, any and all sample copies of 
lease agreements, contracts and/or other communications concerning 
natural gas service that Westover provided to residential tenants; 
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Answer:

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli 
Date:  November 22, 2021 

g. From January 1, 2021 to the present time, any and all sample bills for 
natural gas service that Westover provided to residential tenants; 

 
Answer: 

Upon information and belief, and after a reasonable investigation, there are no 
documents that are responsive to this request. 
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Answer provided by: Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021

h. From January 1, 2021 to the present time, the formula used by Westover to 
calculate charges on the bills that are for and/or include natural gas service that are 
sent to residential tenants. Include any fixed monthly customer charges, state tax 
charges and charges per Ccf or Mcf (such as commodity charges and distribution 
charges). 

Answer: 

750 Old Lancaster Rd (Main Line Berwyn):  
Consumption multiplied by NGDC prevailing tariffed rates; flat amount for billing 
fee (see explanation below) 

223 Scottsdale Rd (Gladstone Towers): 
Consumption multiplied by NGDC prevailing tariffed rates; flat amount for billing 
fee (see explanation below) 

2501 Maryland Rd (Jamestown Village): 
Consumption multiplied by NGDC prevailing tariffed rates; flat amount for billing 
fee (see explanation below) 

365 Newtown Rd (Fox Run): 
Consumption multiplied by NGDC prevailing tariffed rates; flat amount for billing 
fee (see explanation below) 

772 E Providence Rd (Lansdowne Towers):  
Allocated billing methodology based on occupancy and square footage of units.  
Total charges from gas providers receive a percentage deduction for common 
areas to calculate an amount to allocate. 50% of the amount to allocate is 
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multiplied by a ratio which is derived by dividing the number of occupants in a 
unit by the total number of occupants.  50% of the amount to allocate is multiplied 
by a ratio which is derived by dividing the square footage of a unit by the total 
square footage in all units.  Example: $1000 amount to allocate.  One resident in 
unit, 100 total residents.  100 sq. foot unit.  10,000 sq. feet total.  $1000/2 = $500 
to allocate for occupancy.  1/100 = .01.  Charge for unit for occupancy is $5.  $500 
to allocate for sq. footage.  100/10000 = .01.  Charge for sq. footage for unit is $5.  
Total charge is $10. 

 
219 York Ave (Lansdale Village) 
Consumption multiplied by NGDC prevailing tariffed rates; flat amount for billing 
fee (see explanation below) 

27 E Central Ave (Paoli Place Townhomes & Apts) 
Consumption multiplied by NGDC prevailing tariffed rates; flat amount for billing 
fee (see explanation below) 

28 S Water St (Park Court) 
Allocated billing methodology based on occupancy and square footage of units.  
Total charges from gas providers receive a percentage deduction for common 
areas (currently 5%) to calculate an amount to allocate.  100% of the amount to 
allocate is multiplied by a ratio which is derived by dividing the square footage of 
a unit by the total square footage in all units.  Example: $1000 amount to allocate.  
100 sq. foot unit.  10,000 sq. feet total.  100/10000 = .01.  $1000 x .01 = $10 
charge to resident 

1701 State Hill Rd (Woodland Plaza): 
Allocated billing methodology based on occupancy and square footage of units.  
Total charges from gas providers receive a percentage deduction (currently 5%) 
for common areas to calculate an amount to allocate.  50% of the amount to 
allocate is multiplied by a ratio which is derived by dividing the number of 
occupants in a unit by the total number of occupants.  50% of the amount to 
allocate is multiplied by a ratio which is derived by dividing the square footage of 
a unit by the total square footage in all units.  Example: $1000 amount to allocate.  
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One resident in unit, 100 total residents.  100 sq. foot unit.  10,000 sq. feet total.  
$1000/2 = $500 to allocate for occupancy.  1/100 = .01.  Charge for unit for 
occupancy is $5 . $500 to allocate for sq. footage. 100/10000 = .01. Charge for 
sq. footage for unit is $5.  Total charge is $10. 

 
3701 Concord Rd (Concord Court): 
Allocated billing methodology based on occupancy and square footage of units.  
Total charges from gas providers receive a percentage deduction for common 
areas to calculate an amount to allocate.  50% of the amount to allocate is 
multiplied by a ratio which is derived by dividing the number of occupants in a 
unit by the total number of occupants.  50% of the amount to allocate is multiplied 
by a ratio which is derived by dividing the square footage of a unit by the total 
square footage in all units.  Example: $1000 amount to allocate.  One resident in 
unit, 100 total residents.  100 sq. foot unit.  10,000 sq. feet total.  $1000/2 = $500 
to allocate for occupancy.  1/100 = .01.  Charge for unit for occupancy is $5.  $500 
to allocate for sq. footage.  100/10000 = .01.  Charge for sq. footage for unit is $5.  
Total charge is $10. 

Flat rates are specified in Attachment A to the agreement between The Westover 

 (CONFIDENTIAL) in the column labeled 
 

In the PECO service territory, the highest Service Fee Occupant is $10.42 per 

Service  Residential currently includes a fixed distribution charge of  $13.63 per 
month.  In addition, PECO charges residential customers several surcharges (State 
Tax Adjustment Clause, Distribution System Improvement Charge, Tax Cuts and 
Jobs Act Voluntary Surcharge, Gas Cost Adjustment Charge, Gas Procurement 
Charge, Merchant Function Charge, Balancing Service Cost and Provision for the 
Tax Accounting Repair Credit), which Westover does not charge its residents. 
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Similarly, in the UGI service territory, both Westover properties charge a Service 
Fee Occupant of $3.95 per month.  By comparison, the UGI  Gas Division
R General Service Residential currently charges a customer charge of $15.31 per 
month.  In addition, UGI charges residential customers several surcharges and 
riders (State Tax Adjustment Surcharge, Section 1307(f) Purchased Gas Cost, 
Extended Tax Cut and Jobs Act Temporary Surcharge, Merchant Function, Gas 
Procurement Charge, Universal Service Program, Energy Efficiency and 
Conservation Charge), which Westover does not charge its residents.  

 

Answer provided by: Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021  
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Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 
I&E Data Requests  Set I 

3. With regard to tenants residing in Westover properties that receive natural gas, 
provide all billing data for natural gas service billed by Westover to those tenants 
from January 2021 through October 2021. The billing data shall be provided on a 
separate spreadsheet for each month and for each of the apartment complexes 
identified in response to I&E Data Requests  Set I, No. 1. The billing data 
spreadsheet shall include identification of the customer (by name, address or 
account number), the applicable billing period, the amount of natural gas 
consumed, a column for each separate charge (such as a customer charge, state 
tax charge, commodity charge, distribution charge and any other charge per Ccf 
or Mcf or charge that is otherwise based on consumption), and the total amount 
billed. 

  
Answer: 

Please find the attached spreadsheets, indicated by property name and address in 
 

(CONFIDENTIAL), responsive to this request.  Please note that the information 
provided relates to the gas charges on resident bills.  Total invoice charges may 
include additional non-gas line items contained on resident bills.  However, all gas 
charges are presented and identified in the spreadsheets. 

Answer provided by: Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021  
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Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 
I&E Data Requests  Set I 

4. Provide all contracts, agreements or any other documentation evidencing an 
agreement between Westover and any third-party contractor named in response to 
I&E Data Requests  Set I, No. 2(b)  (d). 

 
Answer: 

Please find the attached agreement by and between Multifamily Utility Company 
and Westover Partners, L.P. (CONFIDENTIAL). 

Answer provided by: Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021 
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Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 
I&E Data Requests  Set I 

5. Explain the services provided by any third-party contractor named in response to 
I&E Data Requests  Set I, No. 2(b) - (d), as it relates to purchasing, metering or 
billing for the natural gas consumed by tenants residing in Westover properties. 

 
 

Answer: 

Multifamily Utility Company provides meter hardware sales and installation 
management services for submetering and reading systems.  Multifamily Utility 
Company additionally provides utility billing and expense management services 
for Westover.  These services include calculation and presentment of utility and 
ancillary charges to residents, pursuant to obligations contained in residential 
lease agreements.  For submetered properties, Multifamily Utility Company 

ity bills, derives charges for 
residents, prepares and sends bills to residents for payment to Westover, and 
meter maintenance and health duties.  At properties that use allocated 
methodologies, Multifamily Utility Company performs the above with the 
exception of the meter reading and maintenance portion. Additionally, 
Multifamily Utility Company provides expense management programs whereby 
Westover has its utility bills sent to a third-party that scans, analyzes, pays 
invoices, provides reporting for accounting purposes, and can provide utility 
benchmarking input services.  Multifamily Utility Company provides resident 
support services for Westover residents. 

Answer provided by: Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021  
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Investigation of Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover 
Companies Relating to Possible Violations of Chapter 13 of the Public Utility Code; 

Bp8CaseID# 3025977 
I&E Data Requests  Set I 

6. For each apartment complex listed in response to I&E Data Requests  Set I, No. 
1, indicate whether Westover receives a bill for natural gas service from an 
NGDC or natural gas public utility concerning any gas consumed in areas that are 
beyond the responsibility of residential tenants, i.e., common areas. If answered 
affirmatively, provide a copy of each bill received from January 1, 2021 to the 
present time. 

Answer: 

Please find the responsive Westover bills from NGDC and natural gas public 
utilities that contain charges for gas consumed in areas that are not in residential 
units (common areas) for the below properties attached and indicated by the 

 (CONFIDENTIAL)  

750 Old Lancaster Rd (Main Line Berwyn) 
223 Scottsdale Rd (Gladstone Towers) 
2501 Maryland Rd (Jamestown Village) 
365 Newtown Rd (Fox Run) 
772 E Providence Rd (Lansdowne Towers) 
219 York Ave (Lansdale Village) 
27 E Central Ave (Paoli Place Townhomes & Apts) 
28 S Water St (Park Court) 
1701 State Hill Rd (Woodland Plaza) 
3701 Concord Rd (Concord Court) 

Answer provided by: Michael Foote, Multifamily Utility Company 
Date:  November 22, 2021 
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17 North Second Street      Suite 1410      Harrisburg, PA 17101 

717.703.5900     877.868.0840     717.703.5901 Fax     cozen.com 

November 3, 2022 David P. Zambito 
 

Direct Phone 717-703-5892 
Direct Fax 215-989-4216 
dzambito@cozen.com VIA E-MAIL 

Stephanie M. Wimer, Esq. 
Senior Prosecutor 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street  
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

RE: Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies; Docket 
Nos. C-2022-3030251 and P-2020-3018499 

Westover Property Management Company, L.P., d/b/a Westover Companies’ 
Supplemental Answers to the Interrogatories and Requests for Production of 
Documents Set I, Nos. 3 and 4, Propounded by the Bureau of Investigation and 
Enforcement 

Dear Senior Prosecutor Wimer: 

Enclosed please find the above-referenced Supplemental Answers to Interrogatories and 
Requests for Production of Documents Set I of the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement. 

Copies have been served as shown on the attached Certificate of Service. 

Please contact me if you have any question or concern.  Thank you for your attention to this 
matter. 

Sincerely, 

COZEN O'CONNOR 

BY:  DAVID P. ZAMBITO 
Counsel for Westover Property Management, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies 

DPZ:kmg 
Enclosures 
cc: Per Certificate of Service 

Rosemary Chiavetta (Cover Letter and Certificate of Service Only) 
Peter Quercetti, Vice President of Operations Management, Westover Companies 
Alexander Stefanelli, CFO, Westover Companies 

I&E Exhibit 14 
Page 1 of 15

Page 582 of 628



 

 

BEFORE THE 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
 

v. 
 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. 
d/b/a Westover Companies 
 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
 

 
 
Docket Nos. C-2022-3030251 

  P-2021-3030002 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I have this 3rd day of November, 2022 served the foregoing Westover 
Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies’ Supplemental Answers 
to the Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents Set I, No. 3 and 4, 
Propounded by the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement, upon the parties, listed below, 
in accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 (relating to service by a party). 

VIA E-MAIL AND FIRST CLASS MAIL 

 
Stephanie M. Wimer, Esq. 
Kayla L. Rost, Esq. 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement  
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street, 2nd Floor West 
Harrisburg, PA  17120 
stwimer@pa.gov 
karost@pa.gov 
      
      

 
 

 

 

 
 

_________________________________ 
David P. Zambito, Esq. 
Counsel for Westover Property Management 
Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies 
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VERIFICATION 

I, _R_~ __ (_D_. _Q_u.SC< __ tt_·_, , hereby state that the facts set forth above are true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief and that I expect to be able to prove 

the same at a hearing held in this matter. I understand that the statements herein are made subject 

to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. § 4904 (relating to unswom falsification to authorities). 

Date: 
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INTERROGATORIES AND REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 

SET I 

 

3. In reference to Paragraph 7(B) of Westover’s January 25, 2022 Answer to I&E’s 

Complaint:   

 

a. Identify the names of the nine (9) cases where the natural gas distribution 

company delivers gas to meters on the building and Westover distributes gas 

within the building; 

 

b. For each of the cases identified above, describe the type of pipeline facilities 

that Westover operates in its distribution of gas to tenants; and 

 

c. For each of the cases identified above, describe the precise configuration of 

Westover’s pipeline facilities, starting with a description of where and how 

they connect to the natural gas distribution company meter and where and how 

they distribute gas to the tenants. 

 

Original Answer: 

 

 a.  

  1. Lansdale Village Apartments 

  2. Woodland Plaza 

  3. Concord Court Apartments 

  4. Fox Run Apartments 

  5. Paoli Place Apartment 

  6. Black Hawk Apartments 

  7. Country Manor Apartments 

  8. Mill Creek Village Apartments II 

  9. Norriton East Apartments 

 

 b.  Please see Exhibit I-3.  Also see Complete Report in Exhibit I-18.   

 

 c. Please see Exhibit I-3.  Also see Complete Report in Exhibit I-18. 

  

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli, Chief Financial Officer, The Westover Companies 

 

Date:  May 2, 2022 
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Supplemental Answer: 

 

 Westover has been working with the applicable natural gas distribution company 

(“NGDC”).  The paragraphs below describe the status of each apartment complex: 

  

  1. Lansdale Village Apartments – Westover personnel met with PECO 

personnel.  The fuel line has been dug up, inspected and painted, and a window well has been 

installed so that the pipe is not underground.   

  2. Woodland Plaza - UGI has inspected the meters.  Westover cleaned up 

the meters so that they are not sitting in dirt.  Westover also cleaned gas lines and painted 

them. 

  3. Concord Court Apartments – Westover personnel met with PECO 

personnel.  No changes were necessary. 

  4. Fox Run Apartments – Westover personnel inspected the facilities at 

Fox Run; Westover personnel have set up an inspection with PECO to inspect PECO’s 

equipment.  Building F has a gas line that has been buried with mulch over the years.  The 

gas line will be dug up, inspected and painted.   

  5. Paoli Place Apartments – To be clear, there are two properties 

associated with this complex. 

   a. 27 East Central Avenue: Westover personnel met with PECO 

personnel.  Westover will have to move the shut off valves and regulators to the outside of 

the building (they are currently inside the building). Westover may have to make a few 

windows inoperable.  A gas application has been submitted for this work. 

   b. 55 South Valley Road:  Westover personnel met with PECO 

personnel.  PECO will need to run a new gas main into the property.  At buildings A, B, C 

and D, there is a PECO gas meter at each building.  At buildings E, F &G, Westover 

currently owns underground fuel lines.  Westover has submitted a gas application and has 

been working with PECO engineers to run a new gas main and add meters at each building.  

  6. Black Hawk Apartments – Westover personnel met with PECO 

personnel.  Westover may have to make a couple boiler windows inoperable. Westover is 

also raising a couple of fuel lines to make sure they do not sit close to the dirt.    

  7. Country Manor Apartments – Westover personnel will meet with 

PECO personnel on November 2, 2022. 

  8. Mill Creek Village Apartments II - Westover personnel will meet with 

PECO personnel on November 2, 2022. 

  9. Norriton East Apartments – Westover personnel inspected the system at 

Norriton East; Westover is setting up an inspection with PECO personnel.  Westover does 

not have underground piping at this complex.  The meters are located inside the building.   

 

 

Answer provided by:  Peter Quercetti, Vice President of Operations Management, The 

Westover Companies 

 

Date:  November 3, 2022 
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Natural Gas Delivered by NGDC Meters 

(Landsdale Village Apartments, 

Woodland Plaza 

and Concord Court Apartments 

4 
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1. Natural Gas delivered by NGOC to Meters on the Building. Building has central boiler for Heat and Hot Water. Residents are billed with 

Allocation (RUBS) 

LANSDALE VILLAGE APARlMENTS 

WOODLAND PLAZA 

CONCORD COURT APARlMENTS 

Ultimate Consumer of the Natural Gas 

Heat Hot Water Cooking Resident Pays 

Westover Westover N/A (Electric) Westover via Allocation 

Westover Westover Resident Westover via Allocation 

Westover Westover N/A (Electric) Westover via Allocation 

01 

NGOC Gas Line 

Central Boiler 

• Heat 

• Hot water 

Building 

----,. I 

NGOC Building 

Meter 
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Natural Gas Delivered by NGOC Meters 

(Fox Run Apartments and 

Paoli Place Apartments} 

6 
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2. Natural Gas delivered by NGOC to Meters on the Building. Each Apartment has a submeter to calculate NG bill 

Ultimate Consumer of the Natural Gas 

Heat Hot Water Cooking Resident Pays 

FOX RUN APARlMENTS Resident Westover N/A (Electric) Westover via Meter 

PAOLI PLACE APARlMENTS 

Paoli North Bldgs. A- K Resident Westover N/A (Electric) Westover via Meter 

Paoli North Bldgs. L - R Resident Resident N/A (Electric) NDGC Direct 

Paoli South (Arms) Bldgs. A - D (w/ the 
Westover Westover Resident Included in Rent 

exception of ABOl) 

South Valley Townhomes Bldgs. A - G 
Resident Resident N/ A ( Electric) NDGC Direct 

(with the exception of VA07 & VB07) 

ABOl 

VA07 N/A (Electric) 

VB07 

---1 

NGDC Gas Line 

Building 

l -!• ■ ■ ••• 
NGOC Building 

Meter 
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Natural Gas Delivered by NGDC Meters 

(Black Hawk Apartments, 

County Manor Apartments, 

Norriton East Apartments and 

Mill Creek Village Apartments II) 

8 
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3. Natural Gas delivered by NGOC to Meters on the Building. Building has central boiler for Heat and Hot Water. Included in Rent 

Ultimate Consumer of the Natural Gas 

Heat Hot Water 

BLACK HAWK APARTMENTS 

COUNTRY MANOR APARTMENTS 

NORRITON EAST APARTMENTS 

MILL CREEK VILLAGE APARTMENTS II 

Westover 

Westover 

Westover 

Westover 

Westover 

Westover 

Westover 

Westover 

Cooking Resident Pays 

Electric Included in Rent 

Resident Included in Rent 

Resident Included in Rent 

Resident Included in Rent 

'° 

NGOC Gas Line 

Building 

NGOC Building 

Meter 
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INTERROGATORIES AND REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 

SET I 
 

4. In reference to Paragraph 7(C) of Westover’s January 25, 2022 Answer to I&E’s 

Complaint: 

 

a. Identify the names of the eight (8) cases where the natural gas distribution 

company delivers gas to a meter for the apartment complex; 

 

b. For each of the cases identified above, describe the type of pipeline facilities 

that Westover operates in its distribution of gas to tenants; and 

 

c. For each of the cases identified above, describe the precise configuration of 

Westover’s pipeline facilities, starting with a description of where and how 

they connect to the natural gas distribution company meter and where and how 

they distribute gas to the tenants. 

 

Answer: 

 

 a. 

  1. Mill Creek Village Apartments I 

  2. Oak Forest Apartments 

  3. Gladstone Towers Apartments 

  4. Main Line Berwyn Apartments 

  5. Lansdowne Towers Apartments 

  6. Hillcrest Apartments 

  7. Valley Stream Apartments 

  8. Park Court Apartments 

 

 b. Please see Exhibit I-4.  Also see Exhibit I-18. 

  

 c. Please see Exhibit I-4.  Also see Exhibit I-18. 

  

 

 

Answer provided by:  Alexander Stefanelli, Chief Financial Officer, The Westover   

    Companies 

 

Date:  May 2, 2022 
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Supplemental Answer: 

 Westover has been working with the applicable natural gas distribution company 

(“NGDC”).  The paragraphs below describe the status of each apartment complex: 

 

  1. Mill Creek Village Apartments I - PECO will install an NGDC Building 

Meter at each building, remove the NGDC Master Meter and take over the underground gas 

piping.  A gas application has been submitted.  PECO is working on the gas design. 

  2. Oak Forest Apartments - UGI will install an NGDC Building Meter at 

each building, remove the NGDC Master Meter, and take over underground gas piping.  The 

work is underway.  UGI may have to run all new piping or weld bypasses in. 

  3. Gladstone Towers Apartments – This project is in the planning stage.   

Extensive utility surveys will need to be completed by Westover for PECO design.  Westover 

has signed a contract to have a private company mark out the property.  Westover will be 

marking out the entire property so that PECO can complete its gas design.  PECO will install 

meters for each apartment, remove PECO’s master meter, and take over underground gas 

piping. 

  4. Main Line Berwyn Apartments - PECO will install an NGDC Building 

Meter at each building, remove the NGDC Master Meter, and take over underground gas 

piping.  A gas contract has been signed.  Westover is waiting for PECO to commence the work. 

  5. Lansdowne Towers Apartments - This project is in the planning stage.   

Extensive utility surveys will need to be completed by Westover for PECO design.  Westover 

has signed the contract to have a private company mark out the property.  Westover will be 

marking out the entire property so that PECO can complete its gas design.  PECO will install 

meters for each apartment, remove the PECO master meter and take over underground gas 

piping. 

  6. Hillcrest Apartments - This project is in the planning stage.   Extensive 

utility surveys will need to be completed by Westover for PECO design.  Westover has signed 

the contract to have a private company mark out the property.  Westover will be marking out 

the entire property so that PECO can complete its gas design.  PECO will install meters for 

each apartment, remove the PECO master meter and take over underground gas piping. 

  7. Valley Stream Apartments - PECO will install an NGDC Building Meter 

at each building, remove the NGDC Master Meter, and take over underground gas piping.  A 

gas application has been submitted.  PECO is working on the gas design. 

  8. Park Court Apartments - UGI has installed an NGDC Building Meter at 

each building.  Westover has signed a contract to remove any Westover-owned underground 

gas lines and re-pipe above ground.  

 

 In addition, please note that Table 7, attached to the Original Answer, contained a 

diagram of the facilities at the Carlisle Park Apartments.  Westover’s gas system at that 

apartment complex is being modified as follows: UGI will install an NGDC Building Meter at 

each building, remove the NGDC Master Meter, and take over underground gas piping.  

I&E Exhibit 14 
Page 14 of 15

Page 595 of 628



 

 

Westover personnel met with UGI personnel on November 1, 2022 and UGI is currently 

working on the gas design. 

 

 In summary, when work is completed at these apartment complexes, no complex will 

have an NGDC Master Meter (as shown on diagrams 5-8, attached to the Original Answer to 

this Interrogatory).  Instead, all apartment complexes discussed in this Supplemental Answer 

will be configured as shown in diagrams 1-3, attached to the Original Answer to Interrogatory 

Set I, No. 3.  

 

Answer provided by:  Peter Quercetti, Vice President of Operations Management, The 

Westover Companies 

 

Date:  November 3, 2022 
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I&E Statement No. 1-R 

 

Q: Please state your name. 1 

A: Scott Orr. 2 

Q: By whom are you employed and in what capacity? 3 

A: I am employed by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“PUC” or 4 

“Commission”), Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E”) as a Fixed Utility 5 

Valuation Engineer- 3 (“FUVE”) in the Pipeline Safety Section. 6 

Q: Are you the same Scott Orr who submitted pre-served written direct testimony 7 

and exhibits in this matter on February 22, 2023? 8 

A: Yes, I submitted I&E Statement No. 1 and corresponding exhibits 1-58 on February 9 

22, 2023. 10 

Q: Did you review the written direct testimony served by Westover on February 22, 11 

2023? 12 

A: Yes. I reviewed the written direct testimony of Peter Quercetti (Westover St. No. 1) 13 

and Alexander Stefanelli (Westover St. No. 2) in addition to all exhibits offered.  I am 14 

submitting this rebuttal testimony and supporting exhibit in response to the direct 15 

testimonies of Mr. Quercetti and Mr. Stefanelli, but I do note that if I do not respond 16 

to every statement made in their testimonies, that should not be interpreted as an 17 

indication that I agree with their positions. Instead, I continue to assert the positions 18 

outlined in my direct testimony and I am incorporating them into this rebuttal 19 

testimony. 20 

Q: Does your rebuttal testimony include an exhibit? 21 

A: Yes. I am attaching and incorporating I&E Exhibit 59 into my testimony. It is a 22 

summary chart of the Westover apartment complexes identified in my testimony and 23 

Page 611 of 628



I&E Statement No. 1-R 
 

2 

it includes information about the characteristics of each complex for ease of reference 1 

in this case. 2 

Overall Response to General Claims Made By Mr. Quercetti and Mr. Stefanelli 3 

Q: Do you have an overarching response to both Mr. Quercetti and Mr. Stefanelli’s 4 

analysis of Act 127 and their mutual conclusion that Westover is not a pipeline 5 

operator within the meaning of Act 127? 6 

A: Yes. First, I note that both Mr. Quercetti and Mr. Stefanelli’s testimonies contain 7 

legal analysis that reads like a brief and which continuously references “on advice of 8 

counsel” language. I am not here to offer a legal analysis of Act 127, and I will defer 9 

to counsel to address that at the appropriate time, which is not in witness testimony. 10 

Regardless, based on my pipeline safety expertise, experience, and familiarity with 11 

cited regulations and I&E’s enforcement obligations, I disagree with Mr. Quercetti 12 

and Mr. Stefanelli’s conclusions. I stand by my analysis specific to each of the 13 

Westover properties identified in my direct testimony, which contained a fact-based 14 

explanation of why each property is a master meter system subject to Act 127 (I&E 15 

St. No. 1, pp. 13-66). 16 

Q: On page 2 of his direct testimony, Mr. Stefanelli claims that Westover does not 17 

own any natural gas equipment or facilities because Westover is a property 18 

management company that manages complexes and commercial properties.  If 19 

true, would Westover’s lack of ownership change your position in this case? 20 

A: No. The critical fact here is that Westover is operating the gas facilities, not whether 21 

Westover owns those facilities. Mr. Stefanelli’s testimony acknowledges that Act 127 22 

gives the Commission authority to regulate “pipeline operators” and he admits that 23 
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3 

Westover operates the natural gas equipment and facilities at its properties (Westover 1 

St. No. 2, pp. 2-3). 2 

Q: On page 3 of his direct testimony, Mr. Stefanelli claims that Westover operates 3 

gas facilities the same way in other states and that in none of those states is 4 

Westover regulated as a master meter system.  Is Westover’s experience in other 5 

unidentified states determinative for enforcing Act 127 in Pennsylvania? 6 

A: No. This case is about the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s authority to 7 

regulate Westover’s Pennsylvania-based gas facilities in Pennsylvania. I cannot speak 8 

to Westover’s experiences in other states, but even if I could, whatever those 9 

experiences may have been would not be determinative here, nor would they be 10 

specific to Westover’s Pennsylvania facilities. To be clear, I based all of my 11 

investigations on applicable federal and Pennsylvania regulations only, and only as 12 

they relate to facilities located in Pennsylvania.  13 

Q: On pages 9-10 of his direct testimony, Mr. Stefanelli sets out a list of hurdles and 14 

challenges that apartment complexes in Pennsylvania may face if they had to 15 

become compliant with Act 127. How do you respond? 16 

A: Mr. Stefanelli’s speculation about other apartment complexes confuses the issue in 17 

this case. As I indicated in my direct testimony, I&E’s investigation into Westover 18 

was a direct result of I&E being contacted about a gas leak at one of its properties.  19 

Ultimately, that leak led to the discovery that Westover operated multiple master 20 

meter systems in Pennsylvania, and the discovery of other safety issues specific to 21 

Westover’s facilities that put the public in danger. While it is possible that Mr. 22 

Stefanelli may be correct about Act 127 compliance being burdensome for some 23 
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4 

apartment complex owners in Pennsylvania, he ignores the fact that it is the 1 

characteristics of the gas facilities, service, and charges specific to each property that 2 

will determine whether Act 127 is applicable. This is a case by case, property by 3 

property, fact-specific determination and by painting with such a broad brush, Mr. 4 

Stefanelli ignores that reality. Moreover, maintaining safe natural gas facilities 5 

outweighs any purported burden associated with becoming compliant with Act 127. 6 

General Discussion of Gas Piping and the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 7 

Administration (“PHMSA”)  8 

Q: Let’s talk about the specific gas piping in this matter. At which point does the 9 

local natural gas distribution company’s gas facilities ownership/responsibility 10 

end and Westover’s facilities begin? 11 

A: Regarding Westover’s properties in PECO Energy Company’s (“PECO”) territory 12 

and PECO’s facilities, the gas piping past the first fitting after the outlet side of 13 

PECO’s meter location is part of Westover’s gas facilities. In reference to UGI 14 

Corporation’s (“UGI”) facilities, the gas piping past the first flange after the outlet 15 

side of UGI’s meter is part of Westover’s gas facilities. This referenced piping is 16 

found underground at some properties and above ground at other properties.  17 

Q: Are there Westover apartment complexes where there is exterior, above-ground 18 

gas piping beyond the PECO/UGI facilities? 19 

A: Yes, the apartment complexes where there is exterior, above-ground gas piping 20 

downstream from the natural gas distribution company’s facilities that Westover is 21 

responsible for includes the piping at Blackhawk, Carlisle Park, Concord Court, 22 

Country Manor, Fox Run, Gladstone Towers, Hillcrest, Jamestown Village, Lansdale, 23 

Page 614 of 628



I&E Statement No. 1-R 
 

5 

Lansdowne Towers, Main Line Berwyn, Mill Creek I, Norriton East, Oak Forest, 1 

Paoli Place- South (55 South Valley Road, Buildings A-D), Park Court, Valley 2 

Stream, and Woodland Plaza. 3 

Q: Are there Westover apartment complexes where there is underground gas piping 4 

beyond the PECO/UGI facilities? 5 

A: Yes, the apartment complexes where there is underground gas piping that Westover is 6 

responsible for includes Carlisle Park, Gladstone Towers, Hillcrest, Lansdowne 7 

Towers, Main Line Berwyn, Mill Creek I, Norriton East, Oak Forest, Paoli Place- 8 

North (27 East Central Ave., Buildings L-R), Paoli Place- South (55 South Valley 9 

Road, Buildings A-D), Park Court, and Valley Stream. 10 

Q: Based upon your knowledge and experience with enforcing the regulations and 11 

requirements of Act 127 and the Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations, are 12 

exterior, above-ground gas facilities within the Commission’s jurisdiction? 13 

A: Yes, exterior, above-ground natural gas facilities are within the Commission’s 14 

jurisdiction and must comply with the applicable sections of the federal and state 15 

codes that apply to master meter systems.  16 

Q: Based upon your knowledge and experience with enforcing the regulations and 17 

requirements of Act 127 and the Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations, are 18 

underground gas facilities within the Commission’s jurisdiction? 19 

A: Yes, underground natural gas facilities are within the Commission’s jurisdiction and 20 

must comply with the applicable sections of the federal and state codes that apply to 21 

master meter systems.  22 
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6 

Q: Are you familiar with 49 U.S.C. § 60105 and 49 U.S.C. § 60106? 1 

A: Yes. 2 

Q: Can I&E selectively enforce PHMSA regulations in Pennsylvania? 3 

A: No, the Commission has received the Pipeline Safety Program certification, under 4 

section 49 U.S.C. 60105, and possesses the authority to enforce the pipeline safety 5 

laws found in 49 U.S.C.A. §§ 60101—60503 and as implemented at 49 CFR Parts 6 

191—193, 195 and 199, including all subsequent amendments thereto. 52 Pa. Code § 7 

59.33.  8 

Rebuttal to Peter Quercetti’s Direct Testimony 9 

Q: On pages 3-4 of his direct testimony, Mr. Quercetti opines that I&E has blown a 10 

gas leak at Jamestown Village “out of proportion” as no one was injured and no 11 

property was damaged. How do you respond? 12 

A: I strongly disagree with Mr. Quercetti. Under his skewed reasoning, it would 13 

apparently take an injury or property damage to occur to make things serious enough 14 

for action. I&E is not willing to wait until an injury or fatality occurs, or for property 15 

to be damaged, to enforce safety regulations. When I&E investigates a possible 16 

natural gas leak, it is not done based on whether there was an injury or fatality. 17 

Rather, the response is based on the fact that natural gas is escaping a pipeline and a 18 

determination on what measures need to be taken to keep the public safe.  19 

Q: Do you agree with Mr. Quercetti’s rendition of the events which occurred at 20 

Woodland Plaza Apartments on November 15, 2022? 21 

A: I do not agree with Mr. Quercetti’s statements relating to the events which occurred 22 

on November 15, 2022. 23 
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7 

Q: What aspects of Mr. Quercetti’s rendition are inaccurate?  1 

A: Specifically, Mr. Quercetti testified that an employee told him that I made certain 2 

statements which are not true. Notwithstanding that Mr. Quercetti did not hear these 3 

incorrect statements himself, I did not advise any Westover employee that the 4 

incident was a “Grade C Emergency,” nor did I suggest that the local fire department 5 

company should be summoned to the scene. It may have been UGI personnel that 6 

made statements to a Westover employee, but I have no knowledge whether that 7 

occurred. To be clear, UGI’s response to the odor of natural gas and any classification 8 

of leaks found are solely within the purview of UGI and its procedures. As it had been 9 

explained through the discovery process and various filings, a natural gas distribution 10 

company’s classification of gas leaks is not federally or state defined but rather based 11 

upon a company’s internal procedures. 12 

 Moreover, a gas leak, regardless if it is “minor” or not, is serious. As I stated above, I 13 

strongly disagree with Mr. Quercetti’s casual characterizations of gas leaks and 14 

complete ignorance of the lethal and property damage that could occur from a 15 

“minor” gas leak.   16 

Q: Do you agree with Mr. Quercetti’s rendition of the events which occurred at 17 

Gladstone Towers on January 19, 2023? 18 

A: No, I do not agree with Mr. Quercetti’s incorrect story related to I&E’s presence and 19 

alleged statement made during its response to the natural gas leak at Gladstone 20 

Towers. Notably, Mr. Quercetti has no personal, first-hand knowledge of what 21 

occurred or what was said at Gladstone Towers on January 19, 2023 because he was 22 

not at Gladstone Towers. Rather, I was with Mr. Quercetti at Oak Forest Apartments 23 
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and Carlisle Park Apartments to complete our last day of visual inspections. We met 1 

at Oak Forest Apartments at 9:30 a.m. on January 19, 2023 and traveled to Carlisle 2 

Park Apartments afterwards.  3 

 Moreover, Westover asked questions related to I&E’s response to the natural gas leak 4 

at Gladstone Towers through the submission of interrogatories and I&E made it clear 5 

in its responses to the interrogatories that these statements and characterizations were 6 

not true. Further, Mr. Quercetti is attempting to make statements related to alleged 7 

conversations between the I&E Safety Inspector and PECO, to which he has no first-8 

hand knowledge of and was not present during these alleged conversations.  9 

To be clear, Pipeline Safety inspectors must trust statements made by operators, but 10 

are required to verify these statements and facts to ensure that federal and state safety 11 

standards are adhered to. Thus, while it is possible that the Pipeline Safety inspector 12 

may have asked a question of a Westover employee more than once, there was no 13 

malice in repeating the question. Instead, we are trained to trust and verify, which 14 

may include asking a question a couple times to confirm the information provided.  15 

Additionally, I am not aware of what Westover means when it stated that its 16 

contractor is “federally certified.” There are no federal certifications under Part 192, 17 

just Operator Qualifications. 18 

Rebuttal to Alexander Stefanelli’s Direct Testimony 19 

Q: In reference to the written direct testimony offered by Alexander Stefanelli, Mr. 20 

Stefanelli makes a claim that landlords who operate master meter systems prior 21 

to Act 127 enactment were not subject to the Federal pipeline safety laws. What 22 

is your response to this claim? 23 
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A: Mr. Stefanelli’s claim showcases his total misunderstanding of the Federal Pipeline 1 

Safety Regulations and the effect of Act 127’s enactment. To be clear, it is I&E’s 2 

opinion that landlords who operate master meter systems, in general, are subject to 3 

the Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations pursuant to 49 CFR § 191.3. The enactment 4 

of Act 127 granted the Commission the jurisdiction to enforce the Federal Pipeline 5 

Safety Regulations as they relate to gas and hazardous liquids pipeline equipment and 6 

facilities within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 7 

Q: Mr. Stefanelli offered Exhibit 3, Act 127 of 2011, The Gas and Hazardous 8 

Liquids Pipeline Act Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs). Were you aware of 9 

this document prior to starting your investigation in November 2020? 10 

A: No, I was not aware of this document prior to starting my investigation. 11 

Q: When did you first become aware of the FAQs? 12 

A: I became aware of the document sometime in 2021 since it was attached to the 2021 13 

Petition and Westover’s Answer to I&E’s Complaint in early 2022. 14 

Q: To the best of your knowledge, did I&E have any involvement in drafting the 15 

FAQs? 16 

A: To the best of my knowledge, no. After I&E became aware of the FAQs, an email 17 

inquiry was sent to Pipeline Safety inspectors who were employed in 2014, around 18 

the time the FAQs were purportedly uploaded to the Commission’s website. To the 19 

best of my knowledge, no one from I&E was involved in the drafting of the FAQs 20 

and I&E was not aware of its existence of the document until sometime in 2021 since 21 

it was attached to the 2021 Petition and Westover’s Answer to I&E’s Complaint in 22 

early 2022. 23 
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Q: Did the FAQs have any influence or bearing on your investigation and ultimate 1 

determination of whether the gas facilities at Westover’s apartment complexes 2 

are master meter systems? 3 

A: No. My investigation and opinions were based upon the definition of master meter 4 

systems found in Part 191.3 and Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 5 

Administration (“PHMSA”) interpretation letters.  6 

Q: Do you agree with Westover’s interpretation that the FAQs somehow exempted 7 

them from complying with Act 127? 8 

A: No. I believe that Westover misconstrues the FAQs and now seeks to rely on this 9 

misinterpretation as a defense to I&E’s Complaint. Wording aside, and while I 10 

wholeheartedly disagree with Westover’s mischaracterization of the Commission’s 11 

Act 127 jurisdiction based on its faulty interpretation of the FAQ document, I do 12 

recognize that Westover claims to have relied on it, albeit incorrectly. After careful 13 

consideration of Westover’s claims regarding the FAQ document and noting the 14 

specific, unique facts and circumstances presented in this matter, I&E has now 15 

determined that it will no longer seek civil penalties from Westover in this case.   16 

Q: Is I&E’s decision not to pursue civil penalties in this case an indication that you 17 

agree with Mr. Stefanelli’s testimony about why a civil penalty is not 18 

appropriate here? 19 

A: No. I disagree with Mr. Stefanelli’s position.  20 

Q: Is I&E required, through its partnership with PHMSA or the Commission’s 21 

regulations, to educate the public and/or pipeline operators on Act 127?  22 

A:  No. The pipeline operator is required to know the Federal code and state code. 23 
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However, as an inspector, I do conduct compliance inspections and, if a violation is 1 

found, would advise the pipeline operator of the applicable Federal or state code.  2 

Q: Mr. Stefanelli makes multiple claims that I&E Safety advised Westover that the 3 

gas configuration at Jamestown Village is not a master meter system. Are these 4 

claims accurate? 5 

A: No. Early in the investigation, I&E was focusing on the other apartment complexes, 6 

and it is possible that our omission of or lack of focus on Jamestown Village in the 7 

early stages may have led to Westover making this conclusion. However, to the best 8 

of my knowledge, Ms. Cooper-Smith and I did not advise Westover that Jamestown 9 

Village was not a master meter system. I do recall advising Mr. Stefanelli that we 10 

could not determine if Jamestown Village was a master meter system until we 11 

reviewed the data, information, and records requested during our initial meeting. 12 

After reviewing the information supplied by Westover, including the Entech report, 13 

I&E concluded that Jamestown Village is a master meter system. 14 

Q: On page 19 of his testimony, Mr. Stefanelli indicates that Westover indicates that 15 

they stopped doing business with the Oak Tree Group because of the alleged 16 

coziness between I&E and Oaktree.  Do you have any comments about his 17 

claim? 18 

A: Yes. I disagree entirely with Mr. Stefanelli’s characterization of I&E employees.  It is 19 

also important to note that I&E had no role in Westover’s business decision to select 20 

the Oak Tree Group as its consultant. In fact, on pages 18-19 of his testimony, Mr. 21 

Stefanelli acknowledges that Westover relied upon a third party, Entech, who found 22 

Oak Tree and acted as an intermediary between Westover and Oak Tree.   23 
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Q: Mr. Stefanelli makes various allegations related to your discussions with Oak 1 

Tree and your understanding of what is a master meter system. Did you ask the 2 

members/employees of Oak Tree to determine which apartment complexes are 3 

master meter systems? 4 

A: No, there were never any discussions with Oak Tree asking for a determination on 5 

what is or isn’t a master meter system. 6 

Q: Did you ask Oak Tree to visit each apartment complex? If so, why did you 7 

request this action? 8 

A: No, I requested Westover to create complete, accurate maps and records of its natural 9 

gas facilities at each apartment complex. I did not specifically ask Oak Tree to visit 10 

each apartment complex. I requested this information from Westover so it could be 11 

reviewed and a determination made on which of Westover’s natural gas facilities are 12 

master meter systems consistent with the definition found in 49 CFR § 191.3. 13 

Q: Mr. Stefanelli also alleges that all of the violations listed in the Complaint are 14 

“paperwork violations.” Based upon your knowledge and pipeline expertise, are 15 

the violations listed in the Complaint merely “paperwork violations?” 16 

A: No. The violations are not merely “paperwork violations,” rather these violations 17 

relate to Westover’s failure or inability to show the work and maintenance required to 18 

safely operate its pipeline systems. To be clear, the “paperwork” is only one part of 19 

compliance, but it also demonstrates verifiable physical work performed as required 20 

by the federal and state regulations. For example, not only is a master meter system 21 

required to keep records of the leak surveys completed, the pipeline operator’s 22 

qualified individual must also actually physically complete the leak surveys.  23 
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Q: Both Westover witnesses mention that natural gas leaks were “only” found 1 

during I&E’s visual inspections, suggesting a leak-free history prior to I&E’s 2 

visits. Please explain why it only appears that leaks were only found during 3 

I&E’s visit.  4 

A: One explanation of I&E discovering natural gas leaks during its various visits at the 5 

apartment complexes is the rate of failure, or the bathtub curve. The bathtub curve is a 6 

visual representation of the failure rate of a product or group of products over time. 7 

By plotting the occurrences of failure over time, a bathtub curve maps out three (3) 8 

periods that an asset experiences within its lifetime: (1) infant mortality period; (2) 9 

normal life period; and (3) end of life period. This model, shaped like a “U,” basically 10 

explains that a system will fail in the early stages on deployment, but this failure will 11 

be immediately seen as “early failure.” An example of an early failure is a leak in a 12 

garden hose from a loose connection to the water faucet. Once the connection is 13 

tightened, the hose will function as designed. The garden hose will function as 14 

designed, normal life or useful life, until it reaches its “wear out” stage or end of life 15 

period, i.e., the hose has several holes, cracks etc., and needs to be replaced.  16 

As discussed in length in my written direct testimony, Westover’s natural gas systems 17 

have not been regularly maintained or inspected until such time that a leak is found. 18 

Any gas leak in any amount can cause a catastrophic event. All of Westover facilities 19 

that were visited by I&E contained older gas facilities, with the exception of Mill 20 

Creek II, to which Westover possesses no records to show that these older facilities 21 

have been maintained since installation. The leaks discovered during I&E’s visit are 22 

proof that the systems are getting closer to the wear out stage or end of life stage and 23 

Page 623 of 628



I&E Statement No. 1-R 
 

14 

need to be replaced.  1 

Q: Have all your answers and responses today been based upon your personal 2 

knowledge or pipeline safety expertise?   3 

A: Yes. 4 

Q: Does this conclude your rebuttal testimony? 5 

A: Yes. However, I reserve the right to supplement my testimony as additional issues 6 

and facts arise during the course of the proceeding. 7 
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Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies

Docket Nos. C-2022-3030251; P-2021-3030002

Apartment Complex Number of 
Buildings

Number of 
Units NGDC Location of NGDC 

Meter Sub-meter? Underground 
piping?

Exterior 
piping?

Interior 
piping?

Central heater 
or water 
system?

Heat Hot Water Cooking Dryers Misc. Payment 

Black Hawk 13 202 PECO outside each building yes yes yes gas gas
PECO charges Westover, 

who charges tenant through 
rents 

Carlisle Park 26 and 1 office 208 UGI 1 rotary meter on 
property, outside yes yes yes no gas gas UGI charges Westover, who 

charges tenants through rents 

Concord Court 7 84 PECO exterior of buildings yes yes yes gas gas electric
PECO charges Westover, 

who charges tenant through 
allocation

Country Manor 16 200 PECO exterior of building and 
inside building yes yes yes gas gas gas gas

PECO charges Westover, 
who charges tenant through 

allocation

Fox Run 6 and a barn 193 PECO outside each building yes yes yes water only gas gas Westover charges tenant 
based upon sub-meter reading 

Gladstone Towers 2 120 PECO outside of 1 building yes yes yes yes water only gas gas gas gas
Westover charges tenant 

based upon sub-meter reading 
and through rents 

Hillcrest 7 84 PECO 1 rotary meter on 
property, outside yes yes yes gas electric electric

PECO charges Westover, 
who charges tenant through 

rents 

Jamestown Village 9 253 PECO "cluster" of meters 
outside each building yes yes yes Westover charges tenant 

based upon sub-meter reading 

Lansdale Village 3 40 PECO outside of 1 building yes yes central boiler gas gas electric
PECO charges Westover, 

who charges tenant through 
allocation

Lansdowne Towers 5 225 PECO outside Building B yes yes yes yes hot water gas gas electric gas
Westover charges tenant 

based upon sub-meter reading 
and through rents 

Main Line Berwyn 3 and 1 office 240 PECO outside Building A yes yes yes yes hot water gas gas gas
Westover charges tenant 

based upon sub-meter reading 
and through rents 

Mill Creek I 6 and 1 office 174 PECO 1 rotary meter on 
property, outside yes yes yes central boiler gas gas gas

PECO charges Westover, 
who charges tenant through 

rents 

Mill Creek II 3 66 PECO mechnical room at each 
building yes yes gas gas gas

PECO charges Westover, 
who charges tenant through 

rents 

Norriton East 1 68 PECO 1 rotary meter on 
property, outside

removed prior to 
Jan. 18, 2023 visit yes yes central boiler gas gas gas gas generator 

PECO charges Westover, 
who charges tenant through 

rents 

Oak Forest 7 143 UGI outside of 1 building yes yes yes yes gas gas gas UGI charges Westover, who 
charges tenant through rents 

Paoli Place- North 
(27 East Central Ave) 18 163

Paoli Place- North 
(27 East Central Ave), 

Buildings A-K
PECO inside buildings yes yes central boiler gas gas gas

Westover charges tenant 
based upon sub-meter reading 

and through rents 

1 of 2
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Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. 
Westover Property Management Company, L.P. d/b/a Westover Companies

Docket Nos. C-2022-3030251; P-2021-3030002

Apartment Complex Number of 
Buildings

Number of 
Units NGDC Location of NGDC 

Meter Sub-meter? Underground 
piping?

Exterior 
piping?

Interior 
piping?

Central heater 
or water 
system?

Heat Hot Water Cooking Dryers Misc. Payment 

Paoli Place- North 
(27 East Central Ave), 

Buildings L-R
PECO exterior "meter bank" yes yes no gas gas electric PECO charges tenant based 

upon actual meter reading

Paoli Place- South 
(55 South Valley Road)

Buildings A-D
PECO yes yes yes yes yes gas gas gas

tenant pays PECO based 
upon actual meter reading; 
PECO charges Westover, 

who charges tenant through 
rents 

Paoli Place- South 
(55 South Valley Road) 

Buildings E-H
PECO yes yes gas gas gas

PECO charges Westover, 
who charges tenant through 

rents 

Park Court 4 48 UGI outside of Building C 
and Building D yes yes yes hot water gas gas gas gas

UGI charges Westover, who 
charges tenant through 

allocation

Valley Stream 22, 1 office, 1 
maintenance PECO 2 in maintenance 

building yes yes yes hot water gas gas gas gas
PECO charges Westover, 

who charges tenant through 
rents 

Woodland Plaza 17 144 UGI outside each building yes yes yes gas gas gas
UGI charges Westover, who 

charges tenant through 
allocation

2 of 2
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